

**Modulation of the immune system for treatment of atherosclerosis** Schaftenaar, F.H.

#### Citation

Schaftenaar, F. H. (2019, December 5). *Modulation of the immune system for treatment of atherosclerosis*. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/1887/81382

Version:	Publisher's Version
License:	<u>Licence agreement concerning inclusion of doctoral thesis in the</u> <u>Institutional Repository of the University of Leiden</u>
Downloaded from:	https://hdl.handle.net/1887/81382

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

Cover Page



### Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/81382</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation.

Author: Schaftenaar, F.H. Title: Modulation of the immune system for treatment of atherosclerosis Issue Date: 2019-12-05

# Modulation of the immune system for treatment of atherosclerosis

Frank Schaftenaar

Cover design: Frank Schaftenaar

Thesis lay-out: Frank Schaftenaar

Printing: Ipskamp Printing

© Frank Schaftenaar, 2019

ISBN: 978-94-028-1801-7

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any means without permission of the author.

## Modulation of the immune system for treatment of atherosclerosis

Proefschrift

Ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof. mr. C.J.J.M. Stolker, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op donderdag 5 december 2019 klokke 15.00 uur

Door

Frank Harald Schaftenaar Geboren te Utrecht, Nederland In 1986

Promotor:	Prof dr. J. Kuiper			
Co-promotor:	Dr. G.H.M van Puijvelde			

Promotiecommissie:	Prof.dr. H. Irth	-	LACDR (voorzitter)
	Prof.dr. J.A. Bouwstra	-	LACDR (secretaris)
	Dr. ing. S.C.A. de Jager	-	UMC Utrecht
	Prof.dr. M.P.J. de Winther	-	Amsterdam UMC
	Prof. dr. J. Nilsson	-	Lund University

The research described in this thesis was performed at the division of Biotherapeutics of the Leiden Academic Centre for Drug Research (LACDR), Leiden University (Leiden, The Netherlands). This research received support from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/ 2007-2013) under grant agreement VIA no. 603131, which was also supported by financial contribution from Academic and SME/industrial partners. We further acknowledge the support from the Netherlands CardioVascular Research Initiative: the Dutch Heart Foundation, Dutch Federation of University Medical Centres, the Netherlands Organisation for Health Research and Development, and the Royal Netherlands Academy of Sciences for funding the the GENIUS II project (CVON2017-2020). Financial support by the Dutch Heart Foundation for the publication of this thesis is gratefully acknowledged. The realization of this thesis was also financially supported by the Leiden University.

#### **Table of Contents**

General Introduction				
Atherosclerosis: the interplay between lipids and immune cells				
Protection from atherosclerosis induced by oxLDL tolerization is not reinforced by polyclonal Treg induction				
Vaccination with ApoB100 derived peptide p210 does not provide atheroprotection in LDLr deficient, hApoB <sup>100/100</sup> transgenic mice.				
Induction of HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell responses against ApoB100 peptides does not affect atherosclerosis in a humanized mouse model.				
Immunoproteasomal inhibition with ONX-0914 attenuates atherosclerosis and reduces white adipose tissue mass and metabolic syndrome	131			
General Discussion	175			
Nederlandse samenvatting	199			
Curriculum Vitae	215			
Scientific Publications	216			
Phd Portfolio	219			
	General Introduction Atherosclerosis: the interplay between lipids and immune cells Protection from atherosclerosis induced by oxLDL tolerization is not reinforced by polyclonal Treg induction Vaccination with ApoB100 derived peptide p210 does not provide atheroprotection in LDLr deficient, hApoB <sup>100/100</sup> transgenic mice. Induction of HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell responses against ApoB100 peptides does not affect atherosclerosis in a humanized mouse model. Immunoproteasomal inhibition with ONX-0914 attenuates atherosclerosis and reduces white adipose tissue mass and metabolic syndrome General Discussion Nederlandse samenvatting Curriculum Vitae Scientific Publications Phd Portfolio			



**General Introduction** 

#### **Cardiovascular Disease**

Over the last century, through enhanced hygiene and introduction of vaccination programs, the number of deaths caused by infectious diseases has been reduced tremendously (1-4). With resulting increased age, and changes in lifestyle, mortality due to cardiovascular diseases and cancer have become the most important causes of death in the developed world (1-4). Cardiovascular diseases are currently the number one cause of death worldwide and comprise all diseases related to the heart and vasculature. Myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke account for the vast majority of cardiovascular disease related deaths (1). For both conditions atherosclerosis is the underlying pathology (5).

Major risk factors for cardiovascular disease through induction of atherosclerosis, include dyslipidemia and hypercholesterolemia in particular, smoking, sedentary lifestyle, hypertension, obesity, and stress (6). To reduce mortality rates due to CVD, governments have imposed awareness programs, including advice on healthy food intake and lifestyle to reduce incidence of cardiovascular events. These awareness programs and introduction of cholesterol lowering drugs have reduced the number of cardiovascular deaths in Europe and the United States over the last decades (1). In recent years however, the decrease in CVD related deaths has stalled and even increased again in the United States due to enhanced incidence of obesity and type 2 diabetes (7), important risk factors for atherosclerosis. Cardiovascular diseases remain the primary cause of death worldwide and pose a great economic burden, costing \$555 billion in 2015 in the United States and expected to rise in coming years (8), and €210 billion in Europe (9).

Atherosclerosis is characterized by the accumulation of lipids, including cholesterol, in the medium to large sized arteries, forming lipid rich gruel ("athere" in Greek)-like lesions. As cholesterol accumulates in the vessel wall, immune cells are attracted to these sites and take part in a pathogenic immune response (10). Over decades of atherosclerotic lesion development, plaques can grow unnoticed in size and complexity, and can accumulate cholesterol crystals, and collagen and calcium deposits, causing hardening ("sclerosis" in Greek) of the vessel wall. Atherosclerosis becomes clinically relevant when the plaque has grown to such a volume that it directly limits blood flow towards down-stream tissues, or when atherosclerotic plaque components come in contact with the blood leading to formation of a (dissociated) thrombus which occludes an artery (10). In both cases, arterial occlusion can lead to oxygen deprivation of down-stream tissues. Severe acute obstruction of arteries by a thrombus can lead to life threatening conditions, including myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke (10).

Treatment of atherosclerosis has classically focused on adapting a healthy lifestyle and reducing cholesterol levels, ignoring the ensuing pathogenic immune response resulting from the cholesterol accumulation in the vessel wall. In line with an active atherogenic role for the

immune system in atherosclerosis continuous immune activation as present in, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), and HIV, Chlamydia pneumoniae, and even dental infection, have been suggested to be associated with atherosclerosis (11-13). Only very recently, the potential for treatment of atherosclerosis by immunomodulation was shown in humans in the CANTOS trial, in which administration of neutralizing antibodies against IL-1 $\beta$  reduced major cardiovascular events by up to 15% (14, 15). As many CVD patients, even after successful lipid lowering, have an increased risk for a cardiovascular event due to inflammation, developing strategies to control the pathogenic immune response in atherosclerosis is vital for a next step in the successful treatment of atherosclerosis (16).

#### Cholesterol

As previously indicated, arterial accumulation of cholesterol is a hallmark of atherosclerosis, playing a causal role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Cholesterol is however a vital building block of cellular membranes, determining membrane fluidity (17) and essential for formation of lipid rafts (18) which are important in cell signaling. Moreover cholesterol is an essential precursor for bile acids and steroid hormones (19). Intracellular free cholesterol is however toxic, and therefore unused intracellular is quickly esterified and overall cholesterol levels are tightly regulated. Most cells acquire cholesterol through uptake of cholesterol by uptake of cholesterol rich particles from circulation, and through de novo synthesis of cholesterol. Both pathways are promoted in cholesterol deprived cells by proteolytical activation of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2 (SREBP-2) transcription factor, upregulating the expression of proteins involved in cholesterol synthesis including the rate limiting enzyme 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase (HMGCR), and the upregulation of the LDLr which facilitates uptake of cholesterol rich particles from circulation (20). Statins, which are currently used to lower cholesterol levels act through inhibition of HMGCR, thereby reducing de novo cholesterol synthesis, leading to a low intracellular cholesterol level and consequently increasing expression of the LDL receptor and uptake of cholesterol from the blood plasma (21). When cellular cholesterol levels are high, cholesterol metabolites promote the activation of the liver X receptor (LXR) (22). Since most cells do not possess the capability to catabolize cholesterol, reduction of the cellular cholesterol level is dependent on LXR mediated upregulation of cholesterol efflux transporters, including ATPbinding cassette transporters (ABC), promoting reverse transport of cholesterol (22). LXR also promotes the 2 known pathways by which cholesterol can be eliminated from the body, namely through hepatic biliary cholesterol excretion and trans-intestinal cholesterol excretion (23).

Since cholesterol and lipids are insoluble in blood plasma, transport of cholesterol and triglycerides in the body is mediated by particles called lipoproteins. Lipoproteins consist of a single outer layer of phospholipids, and cholesterol, with hydrophilic polar groups facing outwards, and lipophilic groups facing the core of the particle which contains triglycerides

and cholesterol esters. The outer layer also contains proteins important for the function of the lipoprotein, called apolipoproteins (21). These apolipoproteins are essential for the formation of lipoproteins and aid in determining size, and structure of the lipoproteins, and harbor binding sites for receptors through which it allows the lipoprotein to deliver triglycerides and cholesterol to cells or can be taken up as a whole (21). Through the apolipoprotein and lipid content, lipoproteins are often separated into distinct groups, including chylomicrons and chylomicron remnants, Very Low Density lipoprotein (VLDL), Intermediate low density lipoprotein, low density lipoprotein (LDL), and high density lipoprotein (21).

In the small intestines, enterocytes take up dietary cholesterol and cholesterol from the bile. To transport the lipids taken up by enterocytes, enterocytes load lipids onto apolipoprotein B-48 (apoB48), forming nascent chylomicrons. Chylomicrons are the largest of lipoproteins and vary in diameter from 75 to 600 nm (24). Chylomicron size depends on the flux of triacylglycerol through the enterocyte, resulting in larger chylomicrons during fat absorption (25). The main protein constituent of chylomicrons is ApoB48, a truncated form of apolipoprotein B-100 (apoB100). In human apoB48 is solely produced in the intestines due to selective intestinal expression of apobec-1. Apobec-I is the catalytic subunit of a protein complex that executes the site specific C to U mRNA editing of ApoB100 mRNA at amino acid 2152, introducing a stop codon which results in production of the truncated 2152 amino acid long apoB48 protein, which thereby lacks the 2384 amino acid long C-terminal sequence of the full apoB100 protein (26-28). Nascent chylomicrons are released in the lymph, and after entering the circulation chylomicrons obtain apolipoprotein C-II (apoC2) and apolipoprotein E (apoE) from HDL or VLDL. Interaction of apoC2 with lipoprotein lipase (LPL), primarily bound to the endothelium of capillaries from muscle and adipose tissue, promotes the hydrolysis of triglycerides by LPL, releasing free fatty acids (FFAs) from the chylomicron for local or systemic use (29). Chylomicrons and chylomicron remnants are primarily cleared from circulation by the liver through apoE stimulated endocytosis (30-32). ApoE can interact with several molecules promoting lipoprotein clearance, including heparan sulfate proteoglycans, the LDL receptor (LDLr), the LDL receptor-related protein (LRP), and the VLDL receptor in the liver (30-33).

To ensure a steady supply of triglycerides and cholesterol to extrahepatic tissues, the liver packages triglycerides, and cholesterol, in nascent VLDL particles by loading lipids on apoB100. After the release of nascent VLDL into the bloodstream, apoC and apoE are quickly incorporated in the particle, thereby forming mature VLDL from which triglycerides can be hydrolyzed like is the case in chylomicrons (*34*). Through hydrolysis of triglycerides VLDL is transformed into a smaller and more cholesterol rich IDL particle which can be cleared from circulation through its interaction of ApoE and Apob100 with previously mentioned hepatic receptors promoting lipoprotein clearance (*30–33*). Alternatively, more TG is hydrolyzed from IDL by hepatic lipase, transforming IDL in cholesterol rich LDL particles (*35*) which also loose ApoC and ApoE in the process. The function of LDL is the delivery of cholesterol to

extrahepatic cells, which occurs through receptor mediated endocytosis of the LDL particle through interaction of apoB100 with the LDLr (*36*) and heparan sulfate proteoglycans (*33*). Although all ApoB containing particles are considered atherogenic, especially the cholesterol rich LDL particle are deleterious in atherosclerosis development (*37, 38*).

Excess cholesterol can be transported back to the liver by interaction of HDL with cellular cholesterol efflux transporters in a process called reverse cholesterol transport (22, 39). In the liver cholesterol can be repackaged in VLDL or excreted with the bile. HDL is produced in the liver and intestine through interaction of apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA1) with ATB-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1), resulting in the essential lipidation of ApoA1 and thereby forming nascent  $\beta$ -HDL (40). Through uptake of cholesterol and phospholipids the HDL particle matures and is cleared from circulation by the liver through interaction with hepatic scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) (41). Since HDL transports excess cholesterol from peripheral tissues to the liver, HDL is considered anti-atherogenic.

#### **Experimental models of atherosclerosis**

A lot of our understanding of the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis is derived from studies with in vivo experimental models. Murine models of atherosclerosis are most commonly used in experimental atherosclerosis studies, among other things due to development of atherosclerotic lesions in a relative short time frame, easy handling, cheap housing, and availability of tools that allow manipulation of murine DNA. As C57/BL6 mice do not develop atherosclerotic lesions upon feeding them a western type diet (WTD), currently used models involve ApoE (42, 43) or LDLr deficiency (44), or a functionally impaired isoform of ApoE (ApoE\*3) (45) to promote hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis.

As previously discussed, ApoE is present in chylomicrons and VLDL but not in LDL, and promotes lipoprotein clearance through interaction with multiple receptors. Deficiency or sub-optimal ApoE function therefore leads to a rise in predominantly VLDL levels but also decreases HDL levels (42, 43). Cholesterol levels in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice on chow diet are approximately 5 times higher (~400 mg/dl) than in control mice and slowly lead to atherosclerotic lesions. Plaque development can be accelerated by feeding ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice a western type diet (WTD) containing cholesterol. Since ApoE has been reported to influence antigen presentation and other inflammatory processes, LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice are better suited to study T cells and the immune system in the context of atherosclerosis (46).

Since the LDLr is the main mediator in ApoB100 mediated uptake of LDL, which is devoid of ApoE, LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice accumulate mainly LDL when being fed a western type diet (44). LDLr deficiency induces only a very modest increase in cholesterol on chow diet (~225 mg/dl), and as a consequence LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice have marginal plaque development on chow diet and depend on a WTD containing cholesterol to develop advanced atherosclerotic lesions. As LDLr surface expression is lowered by PCSK9, adenoviral induced hepatic overexpression of PCSK9 can

reduce LDLr expression in mice otherwise expressing the LDLr (47). This is particularly useful to circumvent extensive cross-breeding efforts for the assessment of the effect of certain genotypes in atherosclerosis.

To further study the function of lipoproteins and further humanize mouse models of atherosclerosis several adaptations have been made to the preexisting LDLr and ApoE based models. These experimental models include mice expressing solely ApoB48 or just ApoB100 (*36, 48*), and mice expressing human ApoB100. Since the human liver does not express Apobec-1, whereas mice do, the human liver solely produces ApoB100 containing VLDL, while mice also produce VLDL containing ApoB48. Because of this, and since thymic selection reduces the frequency of T cell clones recognizing endogenously expressed antigens, we used LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> human ApoB100 transgenic mice (HuBL mice) (*36, 48*) in Chapter 4 in which we assessed the effect of modulation of the immune response to human ApoB100 derived peptide p210 on atherosclerosis (*49*). To allow the study of CD8 epitopes relevant for vaccination in humans in the context of atherosclerosis (chapter 5), we crossbred HuBL mice with mice transgenic for the most common human MHC-I molecule (HLA-A2) (*50*).

#### Atherosclerosis development

#### **Endothelial dysfunction**

Despite the even distribution of lipoproteins throughout the arterial system, atherosclerotic lesion development occurs in well-defined areas in the arterial tree. At branches, bends, and bifurcations of medium to large sized arteries, disturbed steady laminar flow predisposes the vessel wall to the development of atherosclerosis (51). Even before initiation of atherosclerotic lesion development, thickening of the intima is visible at atherosclerosis prone region (Fig. 1A) (52) The innermost monolayer of the vessel wall, the endothelial cell layer, exerts some essential roles in vascular biology as it is involved in regulation of vascular tone, vessel remodeling, angiogenesis, nutrient permeability, coagulation, fibrinolysis, and inflammation (53), and plays a key role in the predisposition of sites with disturbed laminar flow to develop atherosclerosis. For proper endothelial function, endothelial cells need to align with the laminar flow direction. To correctly align, endothelial cells possess mechanoreceptors through which they sense direction and force of the shear stress (54). Correct alignment and constant laminar flow induces transcription factors Kruppel like factor (KLF)2, KLF4, and nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (NRF2), which in turn promote the upregulation of immunosuppressive, antioxidative, vasodilative, and antithrombotic gene expression in endothelial cells (54-56). Endothelial cells facing low, multidirectional, or oscillatory flow, as present in atherosclerosis prone areas, fail to elongate and align to the flow direction, leading to endothelial dysfunction and upregulation of pro-inflammatory genes (54). Deletion of the mechanosensory protein proteoglycan syndecan 4, essential for correct endothelial cell alignment with the laminar flow direction, induces atherosclerotic lesion formation in hypercholesterolemic mice in sites normally protected from atherosclerosis (54), stressing the importance of endothelial alignment and endothelial health to prevent atherogenesis.

Endothelial dysfunction promotes atherosclerosis in several ways. Through disturbance of intercellular connections, permeability of the endothelial layer is enhanced which allows plasma constituents to enter the subendothelial space (57, 58). Serum derived lipoproteins have been reported to be preferentially retained in the subendothelial space over other serum constituents. Preferential retention of lipoproteins in the subendothelial space has been dedicated to different mechanisms. On the one hand apolipoproteins are known to harbor sites that have proteoglycan binding properties that could tie lipoproteins to extracellular matrix proteoglycans in the subendothelial space, causing entrapment of the lipoproteins (59). On the other hand, the concentration of serum derived molecules in plaques strongly correlates with their plasma concentration and molecular size. This could indicate that the preferential accumulation of lipoproteins in the subendothelial space compared to other serum proteins is due to decreased egress of larger molecules from the subendothelial space depending on size in a process called molecular sieving (60, 61). Moreover endothelial dysfunction goes hand in hand with upregulation of chemotactic molecules on endothelial cells, including CCL2, and adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin/P-selectin, recruiting atherogenic immune cells to the vessel wall (62–64).

#### **Early atherosclerosis**

The lipoproteins entrapped in the subendothelial space are prone to undergo oxidative modifications which further activate the endothelium, which responds by upregulation of CCL2, E-selectin and P-selectin and upregulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, promoting rolling of leukocytes, and tight adherence and leukocyte transmigration respectively (65-69). In the initial stages of atherosclerosis primarily monocytes are recruited from circulation to lipid rich areas in the vessel wall, forming so called fatty streaks (Fig. 1B). Fatty streaks are asymptomatic and might be reversible by reduction of circulating cholesterol levels. Monocyte recruitment to these fatty streaks is clearly pathogenic, as lesion formation is nearly abolished by inhibition of chemokines and chemokine receptors involved in recruitment of monocytes (70). Environmental cues in the subendothelial space, including oxidized lipoproteins and pro-inflammatory cytokines derived from activated endothelium, SMCs, and other immune cells, induce differentiation of monocytes into macrophages (71-74). Oxidized LDL is a strong ligand for macrophage scavenger receptors including CD36 and SR-A1, and is often complexed with antibodies, leading to uncontrolled uptake of oxLDL by FC receptors and scavenger receptors on the phagocytic macrophages (75). When the cellular intake of cholesterol exceeds the cellular capacity of the macrophage to use or efflux cholesterol, cholesterol esters accumulate in the macrophage in lipid droplets, giving the macrophages a foamy appearance. These so called foam cells secrete a plethora of cytokines which promote the recruitment of other (immune) cells (75), including neutrophils, dendritic cells, T cells, and smooth muscle cells (SMCs).



Fig. 1 Atherosclerotic lesion development. Over decades of atherosclerosis development, atherosclerotic lesions can advance through various stages. (A) Initially atherosclerosis prone regions are marked by endothelial dysfunction and intimal thickening. (B) Endothelial dysfunction facilitates the entry of lipoproteins and monocytes into the subendothelial space. In the subendothelial space monocytes differentiate into macrophages and take up cholesterol rich lipoproteins. When more cholesterol is ingested than can be handled by the macrophage, macrophages convert to foam cells. The formation of foam cells and presence of small lipid droplets in the artery wall is characteristic for a fatty streak. (C) Foam cells attract more immune cells to the plaque, promoting further lipid accumulation in the plaque. Formation of a large lipid core marks the atheroma stage. The lipid core is shielded from the lumen by a cap structure, which prevents thrombotic events. (D) In the more progressed fibroatheroma, collagen, primarily derived from SMCs, and SMCs reinforce the cap structure. High cell-death in combination with insufficient efferocytosis leads to formation of large necrotic cores and calcifications in the advanced fibroatheroma. Over time, presence of free unesterified cholesterol in the vessel wall promotes the formation of cholesterol crystals, which are therefore more prominent in advanced atherosclerotic plaques. Another marker for advanced plaques is microvessels which are formed due to hypoxia in advanced plaques. (E) Thinning of the fibrous cap and plaque or erosion lead to the formation of vulnerable plaques. Plaque rupture and severe endothelial erosion cause plaque derived clotting factors to come in contact with coagulation factors in the blood, and leads to formation of a thrombus. Edited from: Inflammation and atherosclerosis in rheumatoid arthritis, R.J. Stevens, K.M.J. Douglas, A.N. Saratzis and G.D. Kitas. Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine (2005), vol: 7 (7) pp: 1-24. Expert reviews in Molecular Medicine (2005)

#### Advanced atherosclerosis

Often though, initial lesions are not resolved, and lipid deposition and chronic inflammation of the vessel wall persist over decades leading to growth and remodeling of the lesion, and attraction of more immune cells (Fig. 1C). When small lipid pools fuse to form a large lipid core the atherosclerotic lesion is classified as anatheroma. Initially, the lipid core is shielded from the vessel lumen by a thin layer of endothelial cells (Fig. 1C). Under influence of inflammatory cytokines released in the atheroma, SMCs dedifferentiate and migrate from the media into the lesion and secrete ECM components, including collagen, promoting stability. Furthermore, SMCs can form cell layers below the endothelial cell layer, aiding in formation of a stable fibrous cap, the hallmark feature of fibro-atheroma's (Fig. 1D). Although SMCs are mainly considered to be atheroprotective due to their plaque stabilizing features, recent reports indicate that over half of lesional foam cells in advanced atherosclerotic lesions could actually be SMC derived (76–79). The pro-inflammatory macrophage foam cell like SMCs can produce pro-inflammatory and plaque destabilizing factors, contributing to atherosclerosis (79). Uptake of excessive amounts of cholesterol by cells in the atherosclerotic lesion ultimately leads to cell death of foam cells in the lesion (80). Probably due to insufficient phagocytic uptake of apoptotic cells, called efferocytosis, the vast majority of dying cells in the advanced fibro-atheroma are necrotic (81). Cell necrosis leads to formation of calcifications and necrotic cores in the advanced fibro-atheroma (Fig. 1D). Moreover, necrotic cells release inflammatory cytokines, matrix degrading proteases and pro-angiogenic factors, promoting atherosclerosis and inducing plaque instability (Fig. 1E) (81). During atherogenesis, the accumulation of unesterified cholesterol in the lesion leads to the formation of cholesterol crystals (82), piling up in advanced atherosclerotic lesions. Superficial localization of cholesterol crystals in the plaque was found to be correlated with plaque instability (83) likely by piercing through plaque stabilizing structures. Moreover, cholesterol crystals can promote inflammation by activating the NLRP3 inflammasome (84). and thereby contribute to atherosclerosis.

The development of atherosclerotic plaques can remain asymptomatic throughout its development. Growth of the atherosclerotic lesion, protruding into the vessel lumen is initially effectively counteracted by vascular remodeling, allowing the vessel lumen to remain its original size (85). The enlargement of blood vessels is however limited by the connective tissue surrounding it. When a growing atherosclerotic lesion restricts lumen size to an extent that blood flow towards downstream tissues is very much limited, this leads to deprivation of downstream tissues from oxygen and nutrients, leading to a condition called stable angina (86). The majority of cardiovascular deaths are however not caused by stable angina. Plaque destabilizing factors including SMC and endothelial cell death, and breakdown of ECM including collagen, by matrix metalloproteinases secreted by neutrophils, macrophages, dedifferentiated SMCs, and mast cells can weaken the plaque to such an extent that the plaque ruptures (87). Alternatively, the endothelial cell layer can undergo such extensive cell death that the endothelial monolayer is unable to cover the atherosclerotic lesion in a process called plaque erosion (87). Through both mechanisms plaque constituents come in contact with blood platelets which initiates the coagulation cascade leading to thrombus formation. When the thrombus does not break away from the lesion, and does not restrict blood flow to such an extent that down-stream is deprived of oxygen, the thrombus can be resolved asymptomatically (88). Alternatively, the thrombus might occlude the artery at the atherosclerotic site or may break away from the lesion and travel with the bloodstream until it gets stuck in the narrowing arterial tree. Depending on the location of the occlusion in the arterial tree, the occlusion can lead to acute deprivation of oxygen and nutrients in Chapter 1

downstream tissues and if persistent for extended time, leads to tissue necrosis and potentially irreversible tissue damage. The acute deprivation of oxygen can be life threatening in the brain, leading to ischemic stroke, and in the heart, leading to acute myocardial infarction (89).

Since atherosclerosis can have severe consequences, treatment regimens have been established to treat atherosclerosis at all stages. To combat the acute occlusion of an artery, thrombus dissolving drugs such as recombinant tissue plasminogen activator are administered as fast as possible, or in some cases the thrombus is removed with a stent retriever to restore blood flow to the infarcted areas. Vulnerable lesions or lesions partly occluding an artery can be scooped out of the artery in a surgical procedure called endarterectomy (90). Moreover lesions that occlude an artery can be bypassed or a stent can be placed to allow steady blood flow, however both bypasses and stents are at risk for restenosis (90). The preventive measures to lower risk of (re)occurrence of major cardiovascular events predominantly evolve around lowering LDL cholesterol, and involve lifestyle changes such as dietary adaptations, regular physical exercise, and no smoking (6). If these behavioral interventions do not lower LDL-cholesterol sufficiently, statins are the first choice of treatment to lower cholesterol levels though inhibition of HMGCR, the rate limiting enzyme of de novo cholesterol synthesis (21). Statin treatment has reduced major adverse cardiovascular events (mace) by 25-40%, however in some patients statins fail to reduce cholesterol levels and other patients do not tolerate statins very well (16). Another pharmaceutical option to lower LDL-cholesterol levels is the inhibition of intestinal cholesterol absorption with ezetimibe, which inhibits the Niemann Pick C1 like 1 protein (NPC1L1) cholesterol transporter (91). Although lowering of cholesterol is effective in lowering cardiovascular risk, some patients do not respond to lipid lowering treatment and many patients carry a residual risk to cardiovascular events due to unresolved inflammation, even after successful lipid lowering (16). Administration of neutralizing antibodies against IL- $1\beta$  in the CANTOS trial reduced major cardiovascular events by up to 15% in the higher dose groups (14, 15), suggesting that there is still a world to win by modifying the immune response in atherosclerosis.

#### Immune system

Retention of oxLDL in the subendothelial space leads to a pathogenic immune response, which is the other driving force of atherosclerosis besides dyslipidemia (92). Over the course of evolution, the immune system has evolved into a sophisticated network of cells and proteins that protects the host organism from disease causing microorganisms. Key requisites of the immune system are the ability to distinguish pathogens from host derived structures and harmless molecules, such as food components and degradation products. The immune system can be divided into the innate immune system and adaptive immune system, which fundamentally differ in the way by which they recognize (pathogenic) antigens. To

identify pathogens the innate immune system relies on receptors that recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as viral double stranded RNA or bacterial lipopolysaccharides, which are not generated by the host (93, 94). Moreover, innate immune cells can sense danger and tissue damage by interaction of damage/danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) with receptors that i.e. detect endogenous molecules at aberrant locations, such as extracellular DNA (95). Depending on the PAMPs and DAMPs, and other environmental cues such as cytokines and interactions with other cells at the site of inflammation, innate immune cells can modulate their response, fitting to the type of pathogen or injury (93-95). Uptake of pathogens by (innate) immune cells, and subsequent presentation of parts of the pathogens to cells of the adaptive immune system is a pivotal step for the involvement of adaptive immune cells in the inflammatory response (96). Adaptive immune cells recognize a specific part of a specific pathogen, referred to as an antigenic epitope or epitope, with an antigen receptor that is non-variable per cell but highly variable between cells. Adaptive immune cells perform important effector and regulatory functions in the immune response and are indispensable for resolving many infections. After dealing with an infection, pools of adaptive immune cells with memory function remain, which allow for a more robust and faster immune reaction to a specific pathogen after reinfection. The antigen specific immune reaction in atherosclerosis is poorly understood (97). Since subendothelial accumulation of lipoproteins is a hallmark of atherosclerosis, and antibodies against ApoB100 and oxidized phospholipids have been detected, as well as CD4 T cell responses against ApoB100, the current paradigm is that LDL forms the main antigen in atherosclerosis for the adaptive immune system (97, 98). However, also immune reactions against other plaque components have been detected, including heat shock proteins (99) and type V collagen (100). The adaptive immune response in atherosclerosis is generally regarded to be atherogenic, as it is dominated by pro-inflammatory adaptive immune cells. Because adaptive immune cells require antigen presentation and subsequent proliferation to acquire sufficient cell levels to impact disease, the acute phase of inflammation is dominated by innate immune cells. Because in atherosclerosis accumulation of cholesterol in the vessel wall persists, a chronic inflammatory response develops which involves innate and adaptive immune cells (97, 98, 101). Although mast cells (102), eosinophils (103), NKT cells (104), NK cells (105), MDSCs (106) and ILCs (107) influence atherosclerosis development, these immune cells are beyond the scope of this thesis. Below, the relevant immune cells for this thesis will be discussed, being monocytes and macrophages, neutrophils, dendritic cells, T cells, and B cells, as well as the immunoproteasome, an immerging immune regulator.

#### Monocytes and macrophages

The initial hallmark of early atherosclerosis is the formation of foam cells in the subendothelial space of the artery vessel wall, in response to lipoprotein accumulation. In early atherosclerotic lesions, foam cells are predominantly derived from macrophages (108). Although resident macrophages are present in the adventitia of (healthy) arteries, atherogenesis is largely dependent on macrophages derived from a blood derived cell

population, called monocytes (109). Monocytes are produced in the bone marrow and can be subdivided in a pro-inflammatory/classical population (Ly6C<sup>+</sup> CCR2<sup>+</sup>CX3CR1<sup>low</sup> in mice, CCR2<sup>high</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> in humans), and an anti-inflammatory/patrolling monocyte population (Ly6C<sup>low</sup>CCR2<sup>low</sup>CX3CR1<sup>high</sup> in mice, CX3CR1<sup>high</sup>CD14<sup>dim</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> in humans) (110). Patrolling monocytes crawl over resting endothelium, remove debris from circulation, and are probably among the first cells to respond to inflammatory signals on the endothelium through their close interaction with the endothelium (111, 112). Extravasation of patrolling monocytes is reliant on CX3CL1, produced by activated endothelium (113) and neointimal smooth muscle cells (114). Upon exposure to DAMPs derived from the endothelium patrolling monocytes quickly attract neutrophils which promote necrosis of damage or infected endothelial cells, after which patrolling monocytes clean up the cellular debris (111). If inflammation persists classical monocytes are attracted by CCL2 secretion, which is secreted by neutrophils and later on in atherosclerosis predominantly secreted by activated SMCs and macrophages in the plague (115). CCL2 secretion also promotes the release of inflammatory monocytes from the bone marrow (116). Predominantly classical monocytes migrate into the atherosclerotic lesion and are considered to have a more pro-inflammatory phenotype than patrolling monocytes, however atherosclerosis studies in mice deficient for CCR2 (117) or CX3CL1 (118, 119) indicate that both monocyte populations are pro-atherogenic.

In the subendothelial space monocytes encounter stimuli that induce the differentiation of monocytes into macrophages (and monocyte derived DCs). Because of the plastic nature of monocytes (120), and presence of opposing polarizing factors in the atherosclerotic plaque environment, a heterogeneous macrophage population is present in the plaque. The macrophage population has classically been divided into a pro-inflammatory macrophage subset (M1) and an anti-inflammatory subset (M2), mainly based on in vitro polarization studies. In the atherosclerotic lesion oxidized and aggregated lipoproteins promote a pro-inflammatory macrophage phenotype by TLR4 activation (71, 72). Moreover, lesional cytokines such as granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (73), and IFN- $\gamma$  (74) promote M1 macrophage polarization. These inflammatory macrophages have been termed M1 macrophages for their ability to reinforce Th1 responses through secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1-beta, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-12, IL-18 and IL-23, and express high levels of co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86, and high MHC-II levels (121). M1 macrophages sustain inflammation, reinforce the pathogenic Th1 response observed in atherosclerosis, and are therefore detrimental in the context of atherosclerosis (110).

Immune complexes (122, 123), apoptotic cells (124), macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) (73), and complement components (125, 126) in the atherosclerotic lesion promote the development of M2 macrophages, which secrete Th2 cytokines including IL-4 and IL-13, and the immunosuppressive IL-10 and TGF-beta (121). Macrophages have a strong capacity for phagocytosis through expression of several scavenger receptors and TLRs, and take up large quantities of plaque material, including lipoproteins and dead cells (71–75, 123, 124). M2 macrophages are associated with the wound healing response and are considered anti-

**General Introduction** 

atherogenic by counteracting inflammation and by enhanced uptake of dead cells, in a process called efferocytosis (127). Since the original dichotomous delineation of M1 and M2 macrophages, several distinct M2 macrophage subsets have been recognized and a macrophage subset induced by oxidized phospholipids (Mox) (128). Mox macrophages have a distinct phenotype from M1 and M2 macrophages and comprise 30% of macrophages in advanced atherosclerotic lesions in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice, however their exact role in atherosclerosis remains to be evaluated (128). Macrophages can quickly adapt to environmental cues, and in the process completely switch phenotype (120) or adapt a phenotype with mixed characteristics.

The accumulation of macrophages in the subendothelial space sets in motion an immune response that is largely pathogenic. Atherosclerosis is dominated by macrophages with a M1 phenotype, , coinciding with the Th1 response in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. M1 macrophage plaque content has been linked to decreased stability of advanced human plaques (129). Macrophages can affect plaque stability in several ways. Through secretion of cytokines, and especially TNF- $\alpha$ , cell death is induced which promotes necrotic core formation and can affect cells with structural importance for the plaque (130, 131). Moreover, macrophages can produce metalloproteinases which degrade matrix proteins, but can also produce matrix metalloprotease inhibitors which could lead to plaque stabilization (132). Because of the central role of macrophages in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, modulation of the macrophage quantity and phenotype remain interesting treatment strategies for atherosclerosis, however may be limited due to their importance to combat infections.

#### Neutrophils

Neutrophils are produced in the bone marrow, originating from the granulocyte monocyte progenitor (GMP), from which also monocytes originate. Part of the produced neutrophils is stored in the bone marrow and can be recruited in response to inflammatory signals. Still, neutrophils are the most abundant leukocytes in circulation in humans, and are among first cells to be attracted to sites of inflammation by chemokines such as CXCL1, CXCL2, interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$  and CCL2 (133–135). At initiation of endothelial dysfunction, these chemokines would likely be predominantly derived from patrolling monocytes which are activated by DAMPs on the endothelium (111). Later in atherosclerosis development, primarily plaque neutrophils, (M1) macrophages and activated SMCs would attract (more) neutrophils to the atherosclerotic lesion-. Neutrophils possess strong phagocytic activity and carry granules in their cytoplasm, which can be secreted upon activation, which possess strong microbicidal activity. The lifespan of neutrophils is traditionally thought to be short, probably to prevent excessive inflammation, however GM-CSF, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) and TNF- $\alpha$  (136) prolong the lifetime of neutrophils. Similar to monocytes and macrophages, neutrophils adapt to environmental- cues and have been described to stimulate macrophage M2 polarization during helminth infection by secretion of IL-13 (137), facilitate wound healing of the skin (138), and can adapt a regulatory phenotype during chronic inflammation (139) but are mostly known to act pro-inflammatory and induce M1 macrophage polarization during infection (137).

In atherosclerotic lesions neutrophil numbers are generally low, probably because their short lifetime, however depletion of neutrophils with a Ly6G specific antibody (1A8) reduced atherosclerosis by 50 %, indicating that neutrophils do play a significant pro-atherogenic role. Neutrophils can potently attract classical monocytes to inflammatory sites through release of chemokines including, CXCL1, 2, 3 and 8, and can release granules containing azurocidin, which upregulate- ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin on endothelium, and enhance vascular permeability (136). In line with an important role for neutrophils in attraction of classical monocytes to sites of inflammation, depletion of neutrophils reduces classical monocyte infiltration (108). In human atherosclerotic plaques, neutrophils often co-localize with M1 macrophages in vulnerable shoulder regions of the plaque, and are often enriched in sites of plaque rupture (140, 141). Although causality of neutrophils can promote plaque rupture, as neutrophils carry granules containing MMPs which break down ECM and could thereby destabilize the plaque (140, 141).

Moreover, neutrophils have been described to induce plaque erosion, among other things through release of ROS inducing myeloperoxidase, and through neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), inducing endothelial cell death (87, 142, 143). NETs, produced in a process called NETosis, are composed of neutrophil derived granule proteins and chromatin. The NETs, form an extracellular web-like structure which can capture pathogens, but can also bind circulating platelets, coagulation factors, and VWF, promoting coagulation and thrombus formation (87). The short lifespan of neutrophils leading to low neutrophil numbers in the plaque, might have been a reason why neutrophils have been overlooked in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, however also association studies in humans suggest that neutrophils are pro-atherogenic, and clinically relevant (144)

#### **Dendritic cells**

As professional antigen presenting cells, dendritic cells play an important role in instructing adaptive immune cells. Several different DC populations are identified, being plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), type 1 and type 2 conventional DCs (cDC1/2), monocyte derived DCs (moDCs), and Langerhans cells (145, 146). DCs can roam through peripheral tissues, but can also be tissue resident. Unactivated, immature DCs are specialized at sampling the environment, taking up antigens. Upon activation by DAMPs and PAMPs, dendritic cells stop sampling and migrate to lymphoid organs where they present the molecules that they have been taken up in the periphery (147, 148). Depending on the encountered DAMPs and PAMPs, DCs can upregulate different co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory molecules and can produce a range of cytokines, skewing the adaptive T cell response following antigen presentation (149). Activation of T cells is a pivotal event in establishing an effective adaptive immune response.

DCs are able to activate CD4 T cells through effective presentation of endocytosed antigens on MHC-II molecules (149). Activation of CD8 T cells is reliant on loading of endocytosed antigens on MHC-I, and seems to be mainly reliant on the cDC1 population in vivo (150–152). Besides its involvement in effective CD8 T cell activation, cDC1s are generally considered to be tolerogenic, whereas moDCs are pro-inflammatory (145, 146).

In the healthy murine aortic intima primarily cDC1 and moDC subsets are found, which expand during atherogenesis (153, 154). In line with a tolerogenic role of cDC1s, depletion of cDC1s aggravates atherosclerosis and limited the induction of Tregs (153). As moDCs are ususally pro-inflammatory, it can be expected that moDCs have an opposing effect, and stimulate atherosclerosis. Similar to macrophages, DCs can take up oxLDL and can turn into foam cells in hyperlipidemic environments (155). Depending on the antigens presented by DCs and their tolerogenic or pro-inflammatory status, DCs are capable of promoting atheroprotective and pro-atherogenic adaptive immune reactions. In the intestinal tract DCs with a tolerogenic phenotype are located that are known to confer immune tolerance to ingested substances, preventing immune reactions against ingested non self-molecules e.g. food components. Using this tolerogenic immune population to modulate the immune response towards atherosclerosis relevant antigens, including oxLDL, collagen, and HSPs could be a powerful tool to favorably modulate the adaptive immune response in atherosclerosis.

#### **B** cells and antibodies

The adaptive immune system contains a large heterogeneous adaptive immune population that is capable of specific recognition of (extracellular) 3d structures, being B cells. Although B cells can present antigens on MHC-II to T cells and thereby function as an APC (156), and can produce inflammatory and inhibitory cytokines, probably the main function of B cells is the production of antibodies to protect the host from infection-. Antibodies recognize (extracellular) 3d structures through variable regions which are created through somatic DNA rearrangements, resulting in an astounding number of antibody specificities of over 10<sup>15</sup> that can be created (157). Besides a variable region, antibodies possess an Fc-region, which dependent on the particular antibody isotype, harbors binding sites for Fc-receptors promoting Fc-receptor mediated uptake of the antigen, and regions promoting complement activation which can lead to further opsonization and lysis of a target cell (158). Furthermore, binding of antibodies to certain regions on an antigen, can physically block specific molecular interactions. Although B cell levels in the atherosclerotic plaque are very low (159), large number of B cells can be found artery tertiary lymphoid organs in the adventitia of advanced atherosclerotic plaques (160, 161), and correlations between various serum immunoglobulin levels and atherosclerosis have been reported (162), justifying studies into the role of B cells in atherosclerosis.

Initial studies indicated that B cells are atheroprotective, as adoptive transfer of splenic B cells reversed accelerated atherosclerosis in mice that had received a splenectomy (163).

Transferred B cells derived from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice were more effective inhibiting atherosclerosis than WT B cells in this experiment, indicating that hypercholesterolemia improved the atheroprotective capacity of the B cell population. Similarly, bone marrow transfer of B cell deficient  $\mu$ MT donors into lethally irradiated mice LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> led to increased atherosclerosis compared to transfer of WT bone marrow (164), indeed indicating a atheroprotective role for the B cell population. More recent studies have indicated that the heterogeneous B cell population contains atherogenic and atheroprotective subtypes (165, 166).

The majority of B cells belong to the B2 cell lineage, which develops in the bone marrow from a common lymphoid progenitor. After somatic DNA rearrangement membrane bound immunoglobulin M (IgM) is expressed on the cell membrane, forming immature B cells (167, 168). After negative selection of immature B cells recognizing self-antigens, B2 cells are released from the bone marrow, after which they further mature into follicular (FO) B cells or marginal zone (MZ) B cells (169). B2 cells have a relatively short half-life of a couple of days, unless they are activated by antigen recognition or innate signals (170). FO B cells represent the largest group of B cells. When FO B cells encounter an antigen binding their IgM, the antigen is internalized and epitopes from the antigen presented on MHC-II while the B cell migrates to the T cell zones of lymphoid organs mediated by CCR7 upregulation (171). Depending on the signals received from T follicular helper cells recognizing the antigen presented on MHC-II, FO B cells are stimulated to proliferate, and express antibodies with another constant region in a process called class switching (172, 173). Th2 cells are very potent at promoting humoral responses, and induce class switching to IgE, murine IgG1 and human IgG4 (174–176). Th1 cells are less effective at B cell activation and promote class switching to the IgG2 isotype (174). Upon B cell activation, over multiple rounds of proliferation B cells introduce point mutations in the DNA sequence encoding the antibody variable regions in a process called somatic hypermutation (177–179). Through display of whole opsonized antigens on follicular dendritic cells, B cell clones best capable of recognizing the presented antigens are selected and are allowed to develop into high affinity antibody producing plasma cells and memory B cells (177–179). MZ B cells are located in the spleen in the marginal zones at blood interface, allowing MZ B cells to guickly react to blood born antigens by producing IgM antibodies for which no T cell help is needed (180). During atherosclerosis MZ B cells are known to accumulate. Similarly, B1 cells, which are derived from progenitors from the fetal liver and mainly reside in the peritoneal and pleural cavities, do not need T cell assistance upon antigen recognition and produce IgM in response to antigen recognition. Besides antigen evoked antibody secretion, B1 cells also constantly produce IgM with a broad specificity, called natural antibodies (181).

Depletion and adoptive transfer studies have indicated that MZ B cells (182) and B1 (166) cells are atheroprotective. In animals deficient for B1 cells, adoptive transfer of B1 cells incapable of secreting IgM did not lead to the atheroprotection observed in mice treated with WT B1 cells (166), indicating that IgM antibodies are pivotal in the atheroprotective effects of B1 cells and likely contribute to atheroprotective effects of MZ B cells. IgMs have been

reported to bind to oxidized epitopes on lipoproteins, possibly promoting clearance of damaged lipoproteins from the blood before they become entrapped in atherosclerotic plaques (183). Beside IgM secretion, marginal zone B cells were found to provide atheroprotection through regulating TFH cells and thereby reducing induction of proatherogenic FO B cells (165, 184, 185). Production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, IgG and IgE could mediate the general atherogenic properties of FO B cells (162, 165, 184, 185). Surprisingly, germinal center derived antibodies were reported to promote a more stable plaque phenotype (185). Although the enhanced stabilization was observed in larger lesions, this could also reflect a further advanced plaque phenotype induced by germinal center derived antibodies. Other recent studies have shown that induction of ApoB100 (186) and collagen (187) specific antibodies could reduce lesion size. This indicates that induction of humoral responses positively modulating pathogenic and beneficial atherosclerosis-specific molecular interactions could be an interesting vaccination strategy to treat atherosclerosis.

#### T cells

#### Naïve T cell development

T cells are important cells of the adaptive immune system, which exert important immunoregulatory and effector functions, and can provide immunological memory. T cells recognize their antigen in a fundamental different way than innate immune cells and B cells, as T cells are equipped with a T cell receptor (TCR) which recognizes a specific linearized peptide displayed on a protein scaffold, namely Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC), instead of recognizing a native 3d structure (188). TCRs are constant on a single T cell, but vary between different T cells, allowing specificity from a T cell clone for a specific MHC-peptide complex. To avoid the release of T cells in the system which do not recognize MHC-peptide complexes, or T cells that recognize self-peptides on MHC, T cell precursors are educated in the thymus, hence the name T cell. T cells develop from committed lymphoid progenitors (CLPs) originating from the bone marrow which migrate via the bloodstream to the thymus (189, 190). There, CLPs differentiate towards a committed T-cell precursor, losing the potential to develop into B-cell and natural-killer T cells (191). Then, through somatic DNA rearrangements, TCRs are created that are variable between cells, but constant on the same cell. Survival of these double positive thymocytes (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>) is dependent on strength of TCR signaling (190, 192). Very poor interaction of the TCR with self-peptide–MHC complexes results in cell death by neglect, occurring in approximately 90% of thymocytes (192). Approximately 5% of T cells recognize self-peptide-MHC complexes too well, which could cause auto-immunity if released from the thymus, and therefore undergo apoptosis in a process called negative selection (192, 193). Immature T cells that express TCRs that cause intermediate TCR signaling, so between neglect and negative selection, are positively selected and can further differentiate into naïve CD4 T cells or naïve CD8 T cells (192).

#### Antigen presentation

CD4 is a co-receptor for the TCR which promotes interaction of CD4 T cells with MCH-IIpeptide complexes (194). MHC-II is only expressed by antigen presenting cells, and is a heterodimer of 2 homogenous proteins which assemble in the ER (195). Between both protein chains of the MHC-II molecule an open peptide binding groove is present in which peptides bind which are typically between 13 and 24 amino acids long (196). To prevent endogenous peptides from binding in the peptide groove, the MHC-II peptide associates with the invariant chain which occupies the peptide binding groove and also guides the MHC-II complex to the endosomes (195, 196). In the endosome the invariant chain is proteolytically trimmed and can be exchanged with exogenous peptides that have been taken up by the APC (196). MHC-II molecules can then be transported to the cell membrane making them available for interaction with the TCR of CD4 T cells. In this way the MHC-II pathway is tailored to present exogenous peptide antigens by antigen presenting cells to CD4 T cells (196).

Specific recognition of a target cell by a CD8 T cell is established through positive interaction between the T cell receptor of the CD8 T cell, and a MHC-I-peptide complex. In contrast to MHC-II, MHC-I is ubiquitously expressed and interacts with CD8 instead of CD4 (194). The peptide binding groove of MHC-I is closed, limiting the length of peptides that can bind in the peptide groove (196). As CD8 T cell epitopes tend to be 8-10 amino acids long, most proteins need to be proteolytically cleaved in the target cell to fit onto MHC-I (source). Proteolytical cleavage of cellular proteins is largely dependent on large multi-subunit protein complexes, which are called proteasomes (197-199). Loading of peptides on MCH-I takes place in the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) of the target cell, which requires transport of cytosolic peptides over the ER membrane by specific peptide transporter proteins, namely Transporter associated with Antigen Processing 1/2 (TAP1 and TAP2) (196). As predominantly cytosolic peptides are loaded on MHC-I in the ER, mainly peptide epitopes from proteins produced in the cell itself are presented on MHC-I. Some APCs are also capable of presenting peptide epitopes, which have been taken up on MHC-I in a process called cross-presentation. Efficient cross-presentation is believed to be restricted to mainly the cDC1 population (150-152) although macrophages are also known to be capable of activating CD8 T cells (200). Crosspresentation requires that phagocytized antigens are not completely broken down in the endocytic compartment (201, 202). Two pathways for cross-presentation have been reported although the exact mechanisms which allow these DCs to cross-present are not entirely clear. In the cytosolic cross-presentation pathway, proteins/peptides from the endocytic compartment are released in the cytoplasm in which they are handled just like endogenous cytosolic proteins (201, 202). The other pathway is the vacuolar pathway, in which antigens are processed and loaded on MHC-I in the endosome or phagosome (201, 202). Crosspresentation allows antigen presenting cells to instruct naïve CD8 T cells (196, 199, 201, 202).

#### T cell priming

For a naïve T cell to mature to an effector or memory T cell it first must establish a positive interaction between its TCR and a MHC-peptide complex (203). To find a MHC-peptide complex with which it positively can interact, a naïve T cell can circulate the bloodstream and cross high endothelial venules (HEVs), passing the spleen and lymph nodes respectively, where APCs can present antigens to the T cells (204, 205). Upon establishing a positive interaction between TCR and MHC-peptide complex, naïve T cells further receive co-stimulatory or co-inhibitory signals from the APC, and receive APC derived and environment derived cytokine signals. T cells integrate the signals of TCR signaling strength (203), co-stimulation/inhibition (206), and cytokine environment (207), ultimately leading to clonal expansion and differentiation of the naïve T cell towards a particular T cell subset, equipped to deal with the situation at hand. Moreover, depending on the stimuli, short-lived, but highly functional effector populations can be generated, but also memory precursor effector cells that can transition into memory T cells, and contribute to long-lived immunological memory and protection (203, 206, 207).

#### CD4 T cell subsets in atherosclerosis

By integrating the signals derived from the APC and environment upon priming, and subsequent release of chemokines and cytokines by CD4 T cells upon secondary TCR stimulation, CD4 T cells play an important role orchestrating the immune response. CD4 T cells, derived from atherosclerotic plaques have been described to recognize LDL derived ApoB100 epitopes (186, 208), heat shock protein 60 (209), and type V collagen (100), underscoring the auto-immune character of atherosclerosis. The antigen specific CD4 T cell reaction is likely to comprise more atherosclerotic plaque components, however detecting lesional CD4 T cell antigen specificity has proven to be laborious. The majority of CD4 T cells in the atherosclerotic lesion appears to be highly activated and is predominantly of the Th1 subset. Th1 development is promoted by IL-12 and IL-18 which are secreted by M1 macrophages and inflammatory DCs (210). Th1 cells are pro-atherogenic (98), as they secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines including IFN-y and TNF- $\alpha$ , resulting in high lesional levels of IFNy and TNF- $\alpha$  (211). IFN-y promotes atherosclerosis through various mechanisms including the recruitment of immune cells through upregulation of chemokines such as CCL2 in immune and non-immune cells (70, 212). IFN-y furthermore affects transcription of a myriad of genes in macrophages (213) skewing macrophage polarization to the pathogenic M1 phenotype (214), and promotes foam cell formation (215). Demonstrating the proatherogenic actions of IFN-y, injection of recombinant IFN-y increased atherosclerotic lesion size 2-fold in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice (216) while ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> IFN- $\gamma$ R<sup>-/-</sup> mice had 60% smaller lesions than ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> animals (217). TNF- $\alpha$  also has a detrimental role in atherosclerosis, as it induces endothelial (130) and smooth muscle cell (131) dysfunction, promotes neutrophil survival (136), and promotes necrotic core formation in the atherosclerotic plaque (218).

Whereas a clear pro-atherogenic role for Th1 cells has been established, the role for Th2 and Th17 cells in atherosclerosis is much less solidly defined. Very few Th2 cells are present in mouse atherosclerotic lesions, probably indicating a limited role for Th2 cells in atherosclerosis. IL-4 drives Th2 cell differentiation and expression of Th2 transcription factor GATA-3, but also inhibits the Th1 response (*219*), through which Th2 cells were hypothesized to inhibit atherosclerosis. Typical Th2 cytokines include IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13. Through IL-4, Th2 cells promote B cell proliferation, Ig class switching and are therefore important for induction of humoral responses. Experimental studies have however described pro-atherogenic effects of IL-4 in IL-4 deficient mice (*220, 221*). Furthermore, induction of a Th2 response and humoral response against LDL, inducing IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10 did not affect atherosclerosis (*222*), despite previously reported atheroprotective effects of IL-5 (*223*) and IL-10 (*224*). Similarly, in humans, high IL-5 levels were associated with decreased mean common carotid intima-media thickness in women (*225*), and enhanced Th2 cell levels were associated with a reduced risk of acute myocardial infarction (*226*). These current data do not provide a clear picture of the role of Th2 cells in atherosclerosis.

Enhanced levels of IL-17 producing Th17 cells have been reported in murine atherosclerotic plagues (100, 227). In vitro, oxLDL exposure of dendritic cells was found to induce Th17 cells besides Th1 cells through TLR4 and CD36 mediated induction of IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  (227), providing a mechanism for Th17 generation in atherosclerosis. Th17 cells have been found to be pathogenic in multiple auto-immune diseases including rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, and were therefore hypothesized to be pathogenic in atherosclerosis. In line with a pro-atherogenic effect of Th17 cells, blockage of IL-17 and IL-17A with monoclonal antibodies reduced plaque development (228, 229) and reduced macrophage numbers in the plaque (229) (2009) compared to isotype treated controls. IL-17A knockout animals were however found to have increased atherosclerosis (230), and intraperitoneal administration of recombinant IL-17A reduced atherosclerosis (230). Moreover, IL-17 expression was found to correlate with lower macrophage content and more SMCs, and a more fibrous plaque phenotype of murine carotid plagues (231). Similarly, in human carotid plagues, expression of RORyt and IL-17A was positively correlated with SMC marker ACTA2 and with collagen I, supporting a profibrotic effect of IL-17. Besides a potential beneficial plaque stabilizing effect of IL-17, IL-17 has been reported to lower endothelial VCAM-1 expression, reducing adherence of human mononuclear cells to pre-activated human umbilical vein endothelial cells in vitro. In line with the inconclusive results of experimental studies, association studies in human of circulating IL-17 levels and various atherosclerosis parameters have not resulted in a clear picture of the role of IL-17 and Th17 cells in atherosclerosis (232–234).

In correspondence with the pro-atherogenic role of inflammation, regulatory T cells, which dampen inflammation, are known to reduce atherosclerosis. This was shown by adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> T cells, enriched for Tregs, leading to reduced atherosclerosis (235), whereas depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> or Foxp3 expressing T cells increased atherosclerosis (236, 237). CD4<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Tregs) are indispensable in the maintenance of

peripheral tolerance towards self-antigens, among other mechanisms through suppressive effects on antigen presenting cells and other effector T cells. Within the Treg population, two distinct origins are distinguished, namely the Tregs generated in the thymus and peripherally induced Tregs, refered to as natural Tregs (nTregs) and inducible Tregs (iTregs) respectively. Induction of natural Tregs is thought to be primarily dependent on strength of TCR signaling, being higher than for induction of naïve conventional CD4 T cells but below the negative selection threshold (*238*). Peripheral induction of Tregs is promoted by TGF- $\beta$  and IL-2, weak TCR stimulation (*239, 240*), weak co-stimulatory signaling (*241, 242*) and strong co-inhibitory signaling (*243*). Tregs can dampen the immune response through secretion of anti-infammatory cytokines IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ , but can also dampen the immune response with co-inhibitory molecules such as CTLA-4 in a cell contact dependent fashion.

#### Cytotoxic CD8 T cells in atherosclerosis

Upon priming, the vast majority of CD8 T cells differentiate into the cytotoxic CD8 T cell or cytotoxic lymphocyte (CTL) subset (244). The primary function of CTLs is to protect the host from intracellular pathogens (245) and tumors (246), accessing cellular proteins presented on MHC-I. MHC-I/peptide complex recognition by CTLs leads to the formation of an immunological synapse with the target cell in which granules are released which exposes Fas Ligand on the CTL surface in the synapse (247), and releases perforin and granzyme B by in the synapse, which induce apoptosis of the target cell (248). Moreover, CTL activation leads to inflammatory cytokine secretion, including TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN-y, which as previously discussed are pro-atherogenic (249, 250). Although large numbers of activated CTLs are present in human and murine atherosclerotic lesions, it is currently not known which antigens these CD8 T cells recognize and which antigens are predominantly (cross-)presented on MHC-I. Several experimental studies have indicated that depending on antigen, antigen specific CTLs can act atheroprotective (251-253) or atherogenic (254), dependent on the role of the targeted cell population in the atherosclerotic lesion. Induction of CTL reactivity towards smooth muscle cells enhanced vessel inflammation and atherosclerosis (254), whereas CD8 T cell mediated killing of macrophages (251) and activated endothelium expressing VEGFR2 (252) or CD99 (253) attenuated atherosclerosis. Recent studies however, suggest an overall pathogenic role for CTLs through secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which corresponds with observations of increased activated, and cytokine producing CD8 T cells in peripheral blood of patients with coronary artery disease (255–257). Although induction of CD8 T cells towards pro-atherogenic cell types has been found effective at reducing atherosclerosis in experimental models, the therapeutical use of such a mechanism is probably limited due to side effects that can be expected by targeting endogenous cells.

#### (Immuno)proteasomes

The majority of proteins presented on MHC-I are generated through degradation of cytosolic proteins in large barrel shaped multi-subunit protein complexes specialized in the proteolytical cleavage of proteins, called proteasomes (197). The barrel like structure of the

Chapter 1

proteasome consists of 4 stacked heptameric rings. The proteolytic activity of the proteasome is exerted by three active ( $\beta$ ) subunits, with caspase-like, chemotrypsin-like, and chymotrypsin-like activities, which are located in the middle 2 heptameric rings. The active sites of the B subunits face the lumen of the barrel, so that only proteins that have entered the barrel are degraded (*197*). Through regulatory subunits attached to the outer rings, next to the openings of the barrel, entry of substrate, including poly-ubiquitinated, misfolded and oxidized proteins, is promoted (*197*). The ubiquitously expressed constitutive proteasome is however not very potent in the production of peptides fitting on MHC-I. The immunoproteasome, which carries 3 slightly different catalytic subunits, cleaves proteins at other sites, leading to the production of more epitopes suited for MHC-I presentation (*199*, *258*). Under basal conditions this immunoproteasome is mainly expressed in cells of hematopoietic origin (*197*, *199*). During infection and inflammation however, IFN- $\gamma$  signaling can also induce expression of the immunoproteasome on cells of non-hematopoietic origin, presumably to promote antigen presentation of intracellular pathogens to CD8 T cells (*197*, *199*).

Because proteasomes are responsible for the vast majority of cellular protein degradation, proteasomes are involved in many cellular signaling pathways. Therefore (immuno)proteasomal subunit deficiency or inhibition have far more elaborate effects than just influencing MHC-I epitope generation (198, 259–261). In multiple immune cells, including T cells, B cells, and DCs, inhibition of the immunoproteasomal subunits LMP7 and LMP2 with the inhibitor ONX-0914 reduces their activation (198, 259-262). Immunoproteasomal inhibition reduced disease severity in various experimental models of autoimmunity (263-271). Therefore we assessed the effect of ONX-0914 on atherosclerosis in this thesis. In line with the immune inhibitory effect of immunoproteasomal inhibition, ONX-0914 treatment reduced atherosclerosis.

The exact mechanism in which immunoproteasomal inhibition dampens inflammation is still enigmatic, however several mechanisms have been proposed. Since proteasomes can generate biologically active peptides (272), it is possible that due to inhibition of (immuno)proteasomal subunits peptides are generated with different biological activity. Furthermore it has been reported that constitutive and immunoproteasomes are preferentially attached to different regulatory subunits (273), which was later challenged (274), but if true could lead to breakdown of different proteins by proteasomes and immunoproteasomes. Up to date, no evidence is present that differential breakdown of specific proteins or differential generation of particular biologically active peptides underlies the immunosuppressive effect of immunoproteasomal inhibition. Besides affecting degradation of specific proteins, or generating specific biologically active peptides, inhibition of (immuno)proteasomal protein degradation leads to accumulation of misfolded and ubiquitinated proteins, which activates the protein response (UPR) (262). The UPR, among other things, upregulates the expression of (constitutive) active proteasomal subunits to restore proteostasis (protein homeostasis) in the cell (275, 276). Several proteins taking part

in the UPR have been reported to mediate inhibitory effects in immune cells (262, 275, 276). This could act as a mechanism to inhibit activation of immune cells unable to maintain proteostasis and thereby unable to accurately process incoming signals. UPR activation mediated immune inhibition could protect the host from tissue damage by unfit immune cells.

#### **Thesis outline**

Epidemiological and association studies in human, and experimental studies have drawn a clear picture of active of the immune system contributing to development of atherosclerosis. While lipid lowering drugs, including statins, have been somewhat effective at reducing risk for developing a major cardiovascular event, residual inflammatory risk is often present, even after successful lipid lowering. Besides immune cells being activated by hyperlipidemia, immune cells can also affect the systemic lipid homeostasis. These interactions between lipids and immune system are reviewed in **Chapter 2**. In this thesis we have aimed to beneficially modulate the immune response to treat atherosclerosis.

Administration of antigens through the oral route is known to induce a tolerogenic response, known as oral tolerance, through presentation of the administered antigens by tolerogenic DCs. Induction of oxLDL specific inducible Tregs trough oral administration of oxLDL has proven to reduce atherosclerosis through immunosuppressive mechanisms, despite Treg levels dropping to baseline levels after 2 weeks post oxLDL administration. In **Chapter 3**, we therefore aimed to maintain high levels of oral oxLDL-induced Tregs through administration of an IL-2 complex (IL-2 coupled to an antibody). IL-2 complex treatment has been described to induce specific expansion of the Treg population and confer atheroprotection. We hypothesized that combined oxLDL and IL-2 complex treatment would have additional beneficial effects. Although in the treatment groups receiving combined or separate treatments, clear indicators of reduced inflammation, and in IL-2 complex treated groups also enhanced regulatory T cell levels were observed, only separate oral oxLDL administration significantly reduced atherosclerosis.

In **Chapter 4** we assessed different formulations of a human ApoB100 derived peptide, referred to as p210, to confer atheroprotection in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice expressing human ApoB100 (HuBl). P210 is a 20 amino acid long peptide that spans the LDLr binding site of ApoB100 and has reduced atherosclerosis in various studies using  $ApoE^{-/-}$  mice. Probably due to use of different p210 formulations and administration schemes, atheroprotective effects of p210 have been dedicated to induction of antibodies, cytotoxic CD8 T cells, and Tregs. Through coupling of p210 to cholera toxin B (CTB), known to promote mucosal uptake and tolerance, and oral administration, we aimed to induce a tolerogenic Treg response against p210. We aimed to induce antibodies and CD8 T cell responses against p210 through coupling p210 to Pan HLA DR epitope (PADRE), a CD4 T cell epitope, which can aide in T cell help for antigen

production, and alum adjuvanted immunization. Although the p210 administration schemes induced p210 IgGs, no changes in atherosclerosis development were observed in HuBI mice.

Because we did not observe (CD8) T cell responses, which were previously reported after p210 vaccination, we assessed the effect of vaccination on atherosclerosis with in silico predicted ApoB100 derived CD8 T cell epitopes in HLA-A2 (human MHC-I allele) transgenic HuBI mice, described in **Chapter 5**. Despite positive binding of the peptides to HLA-A2 and induction of strong CD8 T cell responses upon immunization, we did not observe an effect of vaccination on atherosclerotic plaque development. Discovering which antigens are responsible for CD8 T cell activation in the lesion would mean a breakthrough for studying and understanding the role of CD8 T cells in atherosclerosis.

In **Chapter 6** we assessed the effect of inhibition of the immunoproteasome with ONX-0914, an immunoproteasomal LMP7 subunit and LMP2 subunit inhibitor, on atherosclerosis. Besides producing MCH-I epitopes, immunoproteasomes are important for maintaining proteostasis, mainly in cells of hematopoieitic origin. Immunoproteasomal inhibition is known to reduce immune activation and previously reduced disease severity in multiple experimental models of auto-immunity.Treatment with ONX-0914 reduced atherosclerosis and unexpectedly also white adipose tissue mass, which we further investigated.

In **Chapter 7** data from this thesis are discussed together with concluding remarks and future perspectives.

#### References

**1**. WHO | WHO Mortality Database, WHO (2019) (available at https://www.who.int/healthinfo/ mortality\_data/en/).

**2**. V. Patel, Deaths registered in England and Wales – 21st century mortality: 2017 - Office for National StatisticsOff. Natl. Stat. (2018) (available at https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/ birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/the21stcenturymortalityfilesdeathsdataset).

3. H. Ritchie, M. Roser, Causes of Death, OurWorldInData.org (2019).

**4**. GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators, Global, regional, and national age–sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013, Lancet 385, 117–171 (2015).

**5**. C. Banerjee, M. I. Chimowitz, Stroke Caused by Atherosclerosis of the Major Intracranial Arteries, Circ. Res. 120, 502–513 (2017).

**6.** *M.* Verstraete, Risk Factors, Interventions and Therapeutic Agents in the Prevention of Atherosclerosis-Related Ischaemic Diseases, Drugs 42, 22–38 (1991).

7. H. Ni, J. Xu, Recent Trends in Heart Failure-related Mortality: United States, 2000-2014 (Hyattsville, 2015; http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db231\_table.pdf#1.).

**8**. O. Khavjou, D. Phelps, A. Leib, Projections of Cardiovascular Disease Prevalence and Costs: 2015–2035 (Research Triangle Park, 2016; https://healthmetrics.heart.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/ Projections-of-Cardiovascular-Disease.pdf).

9. European Cardiovascular Disease Statistics 2017 edition (; www.ehnheart.org).

**10.** M. Bäck, A. Yurdagul, I. Tabas, K. Öörni, P. T. Kovanen, Inflammation and its resolution in atherosclerosis: mediators and therapeutic opportunities, Nat. Rev. Cardiol., 1 (2019).

**11**. F. Pereyra, J. Lo, V. A. Triant, J. Wei, M. J. Buzon, K. V. Fitch, J. Hwang, J. H. Campbell, T. H. Burdo, K. C. Williams, S. Abbara, S. K. Grinspoon, Increased coronary atherosclerosis and immune activation in HIV-1 elite controllers, AIDS 26, 2409–2412 (2012).

**12**. G. Stojan, M. Petri, Atherosclerosis in systemic lupus erythematosus., J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 62, 255–62 (2013).

**13**. K. J. Mattila, V. V. Valtonen, M. S. Nieminen, S. Asikainen, Role of Infection as a Risk Factor for Atherosclerosis, Myocardial Infarction, and Stroke, Clin. Infect. Dis. 26, 719–734 (1998).

**14**. P. Libby, R. J. Glynn, J. G. MacFadyen, B. M. Everett, H. Shimokawa, W. Koenig, C. Ballantyne, P. M. Ridker, T. Thuren, F. Fonseca, Modulation of the interleukin-6 signalling pathway and incidence rates of atherosclerotic events and all-cause mortality: analyses from the Canakinumab Anti-Inflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes Study (CANTOS), Eur. Heart J. 39, 3499–3507 (2018).

**15**. D. Misra, V. Agarwal, CANTOS – is selective targeting of inflammation in atherosclerosis enough?, J. R. Coll. Physicians Edinb. 48, 246–247 (2018).

**16.** A. W. Aday, P. M. Ridker, Targeting Residual Inflammatory Risk: A Shifting Paradigm for Atherosclerotic Disease, Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 6, 16 (2019).

**17**. Z. Chen, R. P. Rand, The influence of cholesterol on phospholipid membrane curvature and bending elasticity, Biophys. J. 73, 267–276 (1997).

18. K. Simons, D. Toomre, Lipid rafts and signal transduction, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1, 31–39 (2000).

19. A. F. Hofmann, L. R. Hagey, Bile Acids: Chemistry, Pathochemistry, Biology, Pathobiology, and Therapeutics, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 65, 2461–2483 (2008).

**20**. B. B. Madison, Srebp2: A master regulator of sterol and fatty acid synthesis., J. Lipid Res. 57, 333–5 (2016).

21. L. Pisciotta, S. Bertolini, A. Pende, Lipoproteins, stroke and statins., Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol. 13, 202-

8 (2015).

 L. Ding, S. Pang, Y. Sun, Y. Tian, L. Yu, N. Dang, Coordinated Actions of FXR and LXR in Metabolism: From Pathogenesis to Pharmacological Targets for Type 2 Diabetes, Int. J. Endocrinol. 2014, 1–13 (2014).
J. K. Kruit, T. Plösch, R. Havinga, R. Boverhof, P. H. E. Groot, A. K. Groen, F. Kuipers, Increased fecal neutral sterol loss upon liver X receptor activation is independent of biliary sterol secretion in mice, Gastroenterology 128, 147–156 (2005).

**24**. W. J. Lossow, F. T. Lindgren, J. C. Murchio, ... G. S.-J. of lipid, undefined 1969, G. R. Stevens, L. C. Jensen, Particle size and protein content of six fractions of the Sf 20 plasma lipoproteins isolated by density gradient centrifugation., J. Lipid Res. 10, 68–76 (1969).

**25**. H. Hayashi, K. Fujimoto, J. A. Cardelli, D. F. Nutting, S. Bergstedt, P. Tso, Fat feeding increases size, but not number, of chylomicrons produced by small intestine, Am. J. Physiol. Liver Physiol. 259, G709–G719.

**26**. L. M. Powell, S. C. Wallis, R. J. Pease, Y. H. Edwards, T. J. Knott, J. Scott, A novel form of tissue-specific RNA processing produces apolipoprotein-B48 in intestine., Cell 50, 831–40 (1987).

**27**. S. G. Harris, I. Sabio, E. Mayer, M. F. Steinberg, J. W. Backus, J. D. Sparks, C. E. Sparks, H. C. Smith, Extract-specific heterogeneity in high-order complexes containing apolipoprotein B mRNA editing activity and RNA-binding proteins., J. Biol. Chem. 268, 7382–92 (1993).

**28**. S. H. Chen, G. Habib, C. Y. Yang, Z. W. Gu, B. R. Lee, S. A. Weng, S. R. Silberman, S. J. Cai, J. P. Deslypere, M. Rosseneu, Apolipoprotein B-48 is the product of a messenger RNA with an organ-specific in-frame stop codon., Science 238, 363–6 (1987).

**29**. A. Wolska, R. L. Dunbar, L. A. Freeman, M. Ueda, M. J. Amar, D. O. Sviridov, A. T. Remaley, Apolipoprotein C-II: New findings related to genetics, biochemistry, and role in triglyceride metabolism, Atherosclerosis 267, 49–60 (2017).

**30**. G. S. Getz, C. A. Reardon, Apoprotein E as a lipid transport and signaling protein in the blood, liver, and artery wall., J. Lipid Res. 50 Suppl, S156-61 (2009).

**31**. R. W. Mahley, Z. S. Ji, Remnant lipoprotein metabolism: key pathways involving cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and apolipoprotein E., J. Lipid Res. 40, 1–16 (1999).

**32**. R. L. Raffaï, A. H. Hasty, Y. Wang, S. E. Mettler, D. A. Sanan, M. F. Linton, S. Fazio, K. H. Weisgraber, Hepatocyte-derived ApoE Is More Effective than Non-hepatocyte-derived ApoE in Remnant Lipoprotein Clearance, J. Biol. Chem. 278, 11670–11675 (2003).

**33**. J. M. MacArthur, J. R. Bishop, K. I. Stanford, L. Wang, A. Bensadoun, J. L. Witztum, J. D. Esko, Liver heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate clearance of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins independently of LDL receptor family members., J. Clin. Invest. 117, 153–64 (2007).

**34**. G. F. Gibbons, D. Wiggins, A.-M. Brown, A.-M. Hebbachi, Synthesis and function of hepatic very-lowdensity lipoprotein., Biochem. Soc. Trans. 32, 59–64 (2004).

**35**. A. Zambon, S. Bertocco, N. Vitturi, V. Polentarutti, D. Vianello, G. Crepaldi, Relevance of hepatic lipase to the metabolism of triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins., Biochem. Soc. Trans. 31, 1070–4 (2003).

**36**. J. Boren, I. Lee, W. Zhu, K. Arnold, S. Taylor, T. L. Innerarity, Identification of the low density lipoprotein receptor-binding site in apolipoprotein B100 and the modulation of its binding activity by the carboxyl terminus in familial defective apo-B100., J. Clin. Invest. 101, 1084–93 (1998).

**37**. M. M. Véniant, M. A. Sullivan, S. K. Kim, P. Ambroziak, A. Chu, M. D. Wilson, M. K. Hellerstein, L. L. Rudel, R. L. Walzem, S. G. Young, Defining the atherogenicity of large and small lipoproteins containing apolipoprotein B100., J. Clin. Invest. 106, 1501–10 (2000).

**38**. M. M. Véniant, A. P. Beigneux, A. Bensadoun, L. G. Fong, S. G. Young, Lipoprotein size and susceptibility to atherosclerosis--insights from genetically modified mouse models., Curr. Drug Targets
9, 174–89 (2008).

**39**. L. R. Marques, T. A. Diniz, B. M. Antunes, F. E. Rossi, E. C. Caperuto, F. S. Lira, D. C. Gonçalves, Reverse Cholesterol Transport: Molecular Mechanisms and the Non-medical Approach to Enhance HDL Cholesterol, Front. Physiol. 9 (2018), doi:10.3389/FPHYS.2018.00526.

**40**. L. R. Brunham, J. K. Kruit, J. Iqbal, C. Fievet, J. M. Timmins, T. D. Pape, B. A. Coburn, N. Bissada, B. Staels, A. K. Groen, M. M. Hussain, J. S. Parks, F. Kuipers, M. R. Hayden, Intestinal ABCA1 directly contributes to HDL biogenesis in vivo., J. Clin. Invest. 116, 1052–62 (2006).

**41**. Y. Zhang, J. R. Da Silva, M. Reilly, J. T. Billheimer, G. H. Rothblat, D. J. Rader, Hepatic expression of scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) is a positive regulator of macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo, J. Clin. Invest. 115, 2870–2874 (2005).

**42**. A. S. Plump, J. D. Smith, T. Hayek, K. Aalto-Setälä, A. Walsh, J. G. Verstuyft, E. M. Rubin, J. L. Breslow, Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells., Cell 71, 343–53 (1992).

**43**. S. H. Zhang, R. L. Reddick, J. A. Piedrahita, N. Maeda, Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E., Science 258, 468–71 (1992).

44. S. Ishibashi, M. S. Brown, J. L. Goldstein, R. D. Gerard, R. E. Hammer, J. Herz, Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery., J. Clin. Invest. 92, 883–93 (1993).

**45**. A. M. van den Maagdenberg, M. H. Hofker, P. J. Krimpenfort, I. de Bruijn, B. van Vlijmen, H. van der Boom, L. M. Havekes, R. R. Frants, Transgenic mice carrying the apolipoprotein E3-Leiden gene exhibit hyperlipoproteinemia., J. Biol. Chem. 268, 10540–5 (1993).

**46**. G. S. Getz, C. A. Reardon, Do the Apoe-/- and Ldlr-/- Mice Yield the Same Insight on Atherogenesis?, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 36, 1734–41 (2016).

**47**. K. N. Maxwell, J. L. Breslow, Adenoviral-mediated expression of Pcsk9 in mice results in a low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout phenotype., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 7100–5 (2004).

**48**. M. F. Linton, R. V Farese, G. Chiesa, D. S. Grass, P. Chin, R. E. Hammer, H. H. Hobbs, S. G. Young, Transgenic mice expressing high plasma concentrations of human apolipoprotein B100 and lipoprotein(a)., J. Clin. Invest. 92, 3029–37 (1993).

**49**. G. N. Fredrikson, B. Hedblad, G. Berglund, R. Alm, M. Ares, B. Cercek, K.-Y. Chyu, P. K. Shah, J. Nilsson, Identification of immune responses against aldehyde-modified peptide sequences in apoB associated with cardiovascular disease., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23, 872–8 (2003).

**50**. S. Pascolo, N. Bervas, J. M. Ure, A. G. Smith, F. A. Lemonnier, B. Pérarnau, HLA-A2.1-restricted education and cytolytic activity of CD8(+) T lymphocytes from beta2 microglobulin (beta2m) HLA-A2.1 monochain transgenic H-2Db beta2m double knockout mice., J. Exp. Med. 185, 2043–51 (1997).

**51**. C. G. Caro, J. M. Fitz-Gerald, R. C. Schroter, Arterial wall shear and distribution of early atheroma in man., Nature 223, 1159–60 (1969).

**52**. Y. Nakashima, T. N. Wight, K. Sueishi, Early atherosclerosis in humans: role of diffuse intimal thickening and extracellular matrix proteoglycans, Cardiovasc. Res. 79, 14–23 (2008).

53. A. P. Fishman, Endothelium: a distributed organ of diverse capabilities., Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 401, 1–8 (1982).

54. N. Baeyens, M. J. Mulligan-Kehoe, F. Corti, D. D. Simon, T. D. Ross, J. M. Rhodes, T. Z. Wang, C. O. Mejean, M. Simons, J. Humphrey, M. A. Schwartz, Syndecan 4 is required for endothelial alignment in flow and atheroprotective signaling, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 17308–17313 (2014).

55. P. Sangwung, G. Zhou, L. Nayak, E. R. Chan, S. Kumar, D.-W. Kang, R. Zhang, X. Liao, Y. Lu, K. Sugi, H. Fujioka, H. Shi, S. D. Lapping, C. C. Ghosh, S. J. Higgins, S. M. Parikh, H. Jo, M. K. Jain, KLF2 and KLF4 control endothelial identity and vascular integrity., JCI insight 2, e91700 (2017).

**56**. N. Baeyens, C. Bandyopadhyay, B. G. Coon, S. Yun, M. A. Schwartz, Endothelial fluid shear stress sensing in vascular health and disease., J. Clin. Invest. 126, 821–8 (2016).

**57**. W. C. Aird, Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms., Circ. Res. 100, 158–73 (2007).

58. D. A. Chistiakov, A. N. Orekhov, Y. V. Bobryshev, Endothelial Barrier and Its Abnormalities in Cardiovascular Disease, Front. Physiol. 6, 365 (2015).

*59. M.* Gustafsson, J. Borén, Mechanism of lipoprotein retention by the extracellular matrix., Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 15, 505–14 (2004).

**60**. B. G. Nordestgaard, A. Tybjaerg-Hansen, B. Lewis, Influx in vivo of low density, intermediate density, and very low density lipoproteins into aortic intimas of genetically hyperlipidemic rabbits. Roles of plasma concentrations, extent of aortic lesion, and lipoprotein particle size as determinants., Arterioscler. Thromb. A J. Vasc. Biol. 12, 6–18 (1992).

**61**. E. B. Smith, Molecular interactions in human atherosclerotic plaques., Am. J. Pathol. 86, 665–74 (1977).

62. A. Hamik, Z. Lin, A. Kumar, M. Balcells, S. Sinha, J. Katz, M. W. Feinberg, R. E. Gerszten, E. R. Edelman, M. K. Jain, Kruppel-like Factor 4 Regulates Endothelial Inflammation, J. Biol. Chem. 282, 13769–13779 (2007).

**63**. S. SenBanerjee, Z. Lin, G. B. Atkins, D. M. Greif, R. M. Rao, A. Kumar, M. W. Feinberg, Z. Chen, D. I. Simon, F. W. Luscinskas, T. M. Michel, M. A. Gimbrone, G. García-Cardeña, M. K. Jain, KLF2 Is a Novel Transcriptional Regulator of Endothelial Proinflammatory Activation, J. Exp. Med. 199, 1305–1315 (2004).

**64.** A. Yurdagul, J. Chen, S. D. Funk, P. Albert, C. G. Kevil, A. W. Orr, Altered nitric oxide production mediates matrix-specific PAK2 and NF-κB activation by flow., Mol. Biol. Cell 24, 398–408 (2013).

**65**. L. Cominacini, A. F. Pasini, U. Garbin, A. Davoli, M. L. Tosetti, M. Campagnola, A. Rigoni, A. M. Pastorino, V. Lo Cascio, T. Sawamura, Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein (ox-LDL) Binding to ox-LDL Receptor-1 in Endothelial Cells Induces the Activation of NF-κB through an Increased Production of Intracellular Reactive Oxygen Species, J. Biol. Chem. 275, 12633–12638 (2000).

66. T. Collins, M. A. Read, A. S. Neish, M. Z. Whitley, D. Thanos, T. Maniatis, Transcriptional regulation of endothelial cell adhesion molecules: NF-kappa B and cytokine-inducible enhancers., FASEB J. 9, 899–909 (1995).

**67**. S. M. Dauphinee, A. Karsan, Lipopolysaccharide signaling in endothelial cells, Lab. Investig. 86, 9–22 (2006).

**68**. A. M. Lefer, X. L. Ma, Decreased basal nitric oxide release in hypercholesterolemia increases neutrophil adherence to rabbit coronary artery endothelium., Arterioscler. Thromb. A J. Vasc. Biol. 13, 771–776 (1993).

**69**. S. Ryoo, C. A. Lemmon, K. G. Soucy, G. Gupta, A. R. White, D. Nyhan, A. Shoukas, L. H. Romer, D. E. Berkowitz, Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein–Dependent Endothelial Arginase II Activation Contributes to Impaired Nitric Oxide Signaling, Circ. Res. 99, 951–960 (2006).

**70**. R. J. Aiello, P. A. Bourassa, S. Lindsey, W. Weng, E. Natoli, B. J. Rollins, P. M. Milos, Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 accelerates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19, 1518–25 (1999).

**71**. R. K. Singh, A. S. Haka, A. Asmal, V. C. Barbosa-Lorenzi, I. Grosheva, H. F. Chin, Y. Xiong, T. Hla, F. R. Maxfield, TLR4-dependent signaling drives extracellular catabolism of low-density lipoprotein aggregates, bioRxiv, 610162 (2019).

**72.** K. Yang, X. Liu, Y. Liu, X. Wang, L. Cao, X. Zhang, C. Xu, W. Shen, T. Zhou, DC-SIGN and Toll-like receptor 4 mediate oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced inflammatory responses in macrophages., *Sci. Rep.* 7, 3296 (2017).

**73**. I. Brochériou, S. Maouche, H. Durand, V. Braunersreuther, G. Le Naour, A. Gratchev, F. Koskas, F. Mach, J. Kzhyshkowska, E. Ninio, Antagonistic regulation of macrophage phenotype by M-CSF and GM-CSF: Implication in atherosclerosis, Atherosclerosis 214, 316–324 (2011).

**74**. D. Tugal, X. Liao, M. K. Jain, Transcriptional Control of Macrophage Polarization, Arter. Thromb Vasc Biol. 33, 1135–1144 (2013).

**75**. J. P. Rhoads, J. R. Lukens, A. J. Wilhelm, J. L. Moore, Y. Mendez-Fernandez, T.-D. Kanneganti, A. S. Major, Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Immune Complex Priming of the NIrp3 Inflammasome Involves TLR and FcyR Cooperation and Is Dependent on CARD9., J. Immunol. 198, 2105–2114 (2017).

**76.** S. Feil, B. Fehrenbacher, R. Lukowski, F. Essmann, K. Schulze-Osthoff, M. Schaller, R. Feil, Transdifferentiation of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells to Macrophage-Like Cells During Atherogenesis, Circ. Res. 115, 662–667 (2014).

77. D. Gomez, L. S. Shankman, A. T. Nguyen, G. K. Owens, Detection of histone modifications at specific gene loci in single cells in histological sections, Nat. Methods 10, 171–177 (2013).

**78**. Y. Wang, J. A. Dubland, S. Allahverdian, E. Asonye, B. Sahin, J. E. Jaw, D. D. Sin, M. A. Seidman, N. J. Leeper, G. A. Francis, Smooth Muscle Cells Contribute the Majority of Foam Cells in ApoE (Apolipoprotein *E*)-Deficient Mouse Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 39, 876–887 (2019).

**79**. Y. Vengrenyuk, H. Nishi, X. Long, M. Ouimet, N. Savji, F. O. Martinez, C. P. Cassella, K. J. Moore, S. A. Ramsey, J. M. Miano, E. A. Fisher, Cholesterol Loading Reprograms the MicroRNA-143/145–Myocardin Axis to Convert Aortic Smooth Muscle Cells to a Dysfunctional Macrophage-Like Phenotype, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35, 535–546 (2015).

**80**. L. Hegyi, J. N. Skepper, N. R. Cary, M. J. Mitchinson, Foam cell apoptosis and the development of the lipid core of human atherosclerosis., J. Pathol. 180, 423–9 (1996).

**81**. W. Martinet, D. M. Schrijvers, G. R. Y. De Meyer, Necrotic cell death in atherosclerosis, Basic Res. Cardiol. 106, 749–760 (2011).

**82**. R. K. Tangirala, W. G. Jerome, N. L. Jones, D. M. Small, W. J. Johnson, J. M. Glick, F. H. Mahlberg, G. H. Rothblat, Formation of cholesterol monohydrate crystals in macrophage-derived foam cells., J. Lipid Res. 35, 93–104 (1994).

**83**. M. Koide, A. Matsuo, S. Shimoo, K. Takamatsu, A. Kyodo, Y. Tsuji, K. Mera, Y. Tsubakimoto, K. Isodono, T. Sakatani, K. Inoue, H. Fujita, Cholesterol crystal depth in coronary atherosclerotic plaques: A novel index of plaque vulnerability using optical frequency domain imaging., PLoS One 12, e0180303 (2017).

84. P. Duewell, H. Kono, K. J. Rayner, C. M. Sirois, G. Vladimer, F. G. Bauernfeind, G. S. Abela, L. Franchi, G. Nuñez, M. Schnurr, T. Espevik, E. Lien, K. A. Fitzgerald, K. L. Rock, K. J. Moore, S. D. Wright, V. Hornung, E. Latz, NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals, Nature 464, 1357–1361 (2010).

85. V. A. Korshunov, S. M. Schwartz, B. C. Berk, Vascular Remodeling, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 1722–1728 (2007).

**86**. D. Tousoulis, E. Androulakis, A. Kontogeorgou, N. Papageorgiou, M. Charakida, K. Siama, G. Latsios, G. Siasos, A.-M. Kampoli, P. Tourikis, K. Tsioufis, C. Stefanadis, Insight to the pathophysiology of stable angina pectoris., Curr. Pharm. Des. 19, 1593–600 (2013).

87. T. Quillard, G. Franck, T. Mawson, E. Folco, P. Libby, Mechanisms of erosion of atherosclerotic plaques., Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 28, 434–441 (2017).

#### Chapter 1

**88**. J. H. Ip, V. Fuster, L. Badimon, J. Badimon, M. B. Taubman, J. H. Chesebro, Syndromes of accelerated atherosclerosis: role of vascular injury and smooth muscle cell proliferation., J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 15, 1667–87 (1990).

**89.** P. Libby, Mechanisms of Acute Coronary Syndromes and Their Implications for Therapy, n engl j med 21, 2004–2017 (2013).

**90**. C. D. Liapis, S. P. R. F. Bell, D. Mikhailidis, J. Sivenius, A. Nicolaides, J. Fernandes e Fernandes, G. Biasi, L. Norgren, ESVS Guidelines Collaborators, ESVS Guidelines. Invasive Treatment for Carotid Stenosis: Indications, Techniques, Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg. 37, 1–19 (2009).

**91**. A. Yamamoto, M. Harada-Shiba, M. Endo, N. Kusakabe, T. Tanioka, H. Kato, T. Shoji, The effect of ezetimibe on serum lipids and lipoproteins in patients with homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia undergoing LDL-apheresis therapy., Atherosclerosis 186, 126–31 (2006).

**92**. P. Libby, A. H. Lichtman, G. K. Hansson, Immune effector mechanisms implicated in atherosclerosis: from mice to humans., Immunity 38, 1092–104 (2013).

93. G. J. Adema, Dendritic cells from bench to bedside and back., Immunol. Lett. 122, 128–30 (2009).

**94**. T. H. Mogensen, Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses., Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 22, 240–73, Table of Contents (2009).

**95.** M. Heil, W. G. Land, Danger signals - damaged-self recognition across the tree of life., Front. Plant Sci. 5, 578 (2014).

**96**. J. M. M. den Haan, R. Arens, M. C. van Zelm, The activation of the adaptive immune system: crosstalk between antigen-presenting cells, T cells and B cells., Immunol. Lett. 162, 103–12 (2014).

97. D. Wolf, K. Ley, Immunity and Inflammation in Atherosclerosis, Circ. Res. 124, 315–327 (2019).

*98.* Z. Mallat, S. Taleb, H. Ait-Oufella, A. Tedgui, The role of adaptive T cell immunity in atherosclerosis: Fig. 1., J. Lipid Res. 50, S364–S369 (2009).

**99**. Q. Xu, R. Kleindienst, W. Waitz, H. Dietrich, G. Wick, Increased expression of heat shock protein 65 coincides with a population of infiltrating T lymphocytes in atherosclerotic lesions of rabbits specifically responding to heat shock protein 65., J. Clin. Invest. 91, 2693–702 (1993).

**100**. M. L. Dart, E. Jankowska-Gan, G. Huang, D. A. Roenneburg, M. R. Keller, J. R. Torrealba, A. Rhoads, B. Kim, J. L. Bobadilla, L. D. Haynes, D. S. Wilkes, W. J. Burlingham, D. S. Greenspan, Interleukin-17– Dependent Autoimmunity to Collagen Type V in Atherosclerosis, Circ. Res. 107, 1106–1116 (2010).

**101**. A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Cytokines in Atherosclerosis: Pathogenic and Regulatory Pathways, Physiol. Rev. 86, 515–581 (2006).

**102**. M. Hermans, J. R. van Lennep, P. van Daele, I. Bot, Mast Cells in Cardiovascular Disease: From Bench to Bedside, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20, 3395 (2019).

**103**. G. Niccoli, N. Cosentino, Eosinophils: a new player in coronary atherosclerotic disease, Hypertens. Res. 35, 269–271 (2012).

**104**. G. H. M. van Puijvelde, E. J. A. van Wanrooij, A. D. Hauer, P. de Vos, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Effect of natural killer T cell activation on the initiation of atherosclerosis., Thromb. Haemost. 102, 223–30 (2009).

 I. Bonaccorsi, C. De Pasquale, S. Campana, C. Barberi, R. Cavaliere, F. Benedetto, G. Ferlazzo, Natural killer cells in the innate immunity network of atherosclerosis, Immunol. Lett. 168, 51–57 (2015).
 A. C. Foks, G. H. M. Van Puijvelde, J. Wolbert, M. J. Kröner, V. Frodermann, T. Van Der Heijden, P. J. Van Santbrink, L. Boon, I. Bot, J. Kuiper, CD11b+ Gr-1+ myeloid-derived suppressor cells reduce atherosclerotic lesion development in LDLr deficient mice, Cardiovasc. Res. 111, 252–261 (2016).

**107**. *M.* Chalubinski, E. Luczak, K. Wojdan, P. Gorzelak-Pabis, M. Broncel, Innate lymphoid cells type 2 – emerging immune regulators of obesity and atherosclerosis, Immunol. Lett. **179**, **43–46** (2016).

**108**. O. Soehnlein, C. Weber, Myeloid cells in atherosclerosis: initiators and decision shapers, Semin. Immunopathol. 31, 35–47 (2009).

**109**. F. K. Swirski, C. S. Robbins, M. Nahrendorf, Development and Function of Arterial and Cardiac Macrophages., Trends Immunol. 37, 32–40 (2016).

**110**. P. Italiani, D. Boraschi, From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation., Front. Immunol. 5, 514 (2014).

**111**. L. M. Carlin, E. G. Stamatiades, C. Auffray, R. N. Hanna, L. Glover, G. Vizcay-Barrena, C. C. Hedrick, H. T. Cook, S. Diebold, F. Geissmann, Nr4a1-Dependent Ly6Clow Monocytes Monitor Endothelial Cells and Orchestrate Their Disposal, Cell 153, 362–375 (2013).

**112**. C. Auffray, D. Fogg, M. Garfa, G. Elain, O. Join-Lambert, S. Kayal, S. Sarnacki, A. Cumano, G. Lauvau, F. Geissmann, Monitoring of Blood Vessels and Tissues by a Population of Monocytes with Patrolling Behavior, Science (80-. ). 317, 666–670 (2007).

**113.** T. Imai, K. Hieshima, C. Haskell, M. Baba, M. Nagira, M. Nishimura, M. Kakizaki, S. Takagi, H. Nomiyama, T. J. Schall, O. Yoshie, Identification and Molecular Characterization of Fractalkine Receptor CX3CR1, which Mediates Both Leukocyte Migration and Adhesion, Cell 91, 521–530 (1997).

**114**. A. D. Lucas, C. Bursill, T. J. Guzik, J. Sadowski, K. M. Channon, D. R. Greaves, Smooth Muscle Cells in Human Atherosclerotic Plaques Express the Fractalkine Receptor CX <sub>3</sub> CR1 and Undergo Chemotaxis to the CX <sub>3</sub> C Chemokine Fractalkine (CX <sub>3</sub> CL1), Circulation 108, 2498–2504 (2003).

**115**. N. A. Nelken, S. R. Coughlin, D. Gordon, J. N. Wilcox, Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in human atheromatous plaques., J. Clin. Invest. 88, 1121–1127 (1991).

**116.** N. V Serbina, E. G. Pamer, Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2, Nat. Immunol. 7, 311–317 (2006).

**117.** L. Boring, J. Gosling, M. Cleary, I. F. Charo, Decreased lesion formation in CCR2–/– mice reveals a role for chemokines in the initiation of atherosclerosis, Nature 394, 894–897 (1998).

**118**. C. Combadière, S. Potteaux, J.-L. Gao, B. Esposito, S. Casanova, E. J. Lee, P. Debré, A. Tedgui, P. M. Murphy, Z. Mallat, Decreased Atherosclerotic Lesion Formation in CX3CR1/Apolipoprotein E Double Knockout Mice, Circulation 107, 1009–1016 (2003).

**119**. P. Lesnik, C. A. Haskell, I. F. Charo, Decreased atherosclerosis in CX3CR1-/- mice reveals a role for fractalkine in atherogenesis., J. Clin. Invest. 111, 333–40 (2003).

**120**. M. J. Davis, T. M. Tsang, Y. Qiu, J. K. Dayrit, J. B. Freij, G. B. Huffnagle, M. A. Olszewski, F. Dromer, Ed. Macrophage M1/M2 Polarization Dynamically Adapts to Changes in Cytokine Microenvironments in Cryptococcus neoformans Infection, MBio 4, e00264-13 (2013).

**121**. A. Shapouri-Moghaddam, S. Mohammadian, H. Vazini, M. Taghadosi, S.-A. Esmaeili, F. Mardani, B. Seifi, A. Mohammadi, J. T. Afshari, A. Sahebkar, Macrophage plasticity, polarization, and function in health and disease, J. Cell. Physiol. 233, 6425–6440 (2018).

**122.** X. Zhang, M. He, L. Cheng, Y. Chen, L. Zhou, H. Zeng, A. G. Pockley, F. B. Hu, T. Wu, Elevated heat shock protein 60 levels are associated with higher risk of coronary heart disease in Chinese, Circulation 118, 2687–2693 (2008).

**123.** S. Tsimikas, E. S. Brilakis, R. J. Lennon, E. R. Miller, J. L. Witztum, J. P. McConnell, K. S. Kornman, P. B. Berger, Relationship of IgG and IgM autoantibodies to oxidized low density lipoprotein with coronary artery disease and cardiovascular events., J. Lipid Res. 48, 425–33 (2007).

**124.** K. Walsh, R. C. Smith, H. S. Kim, Vascular cell apoptosis in remodeling, restenosis, and plaque ruptureCirc. Res. **87**, 184–188 (2000).

**125**. J. Patzelt, A. Verschoor, H. F. Langer, Platelets and the complement cascade in atherosclerosis., Front. Physiol. 6, 49 (2015).

**126**. K. Yasojima, C. Schwab, E. G. McGeer, P. L. McGeer, Complement components, but not complement inhibitors, are upregulated in atherosclerotic plaques., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 21, 1214–9 (2001).

**127**. Y. Kojima, I. L. Weissman, N. J. Leeper, The Role of Efferocytosis in Atherosclerosis, Circulation 135, 476 (2017).

**128**. A. Kadl, A. K. Meher, P. R. Sharma, M. Y. Lee, A. C. Doran, S. R. Johnstone, M. R. Elliott, F. Gruber, J. Han, W. Chen, T. Kensler, K. S. Ravichandran, B. E. Isakson, B. R. Wamhoff, N. Leitinger, Identification of a Novel Macrophage Phenotype That Develops in Response to Atherogenic Phospholipids via Nrf2, Circ. Res. 107, 737–746 (2010).

**129**. M. de Gaetano, D. Crean, M. Barry, O. Belton, M1- and M2-Type Macrophage Responses Are Predictive of Adverse Outcomes in Human Atherosclerosis., Front. Immunol. 7, 275 (2016).

**130**. *N.* Bergh, E. Ulfhammer, K. Glise, S. Jern, L. Karlsson, Influence of TNF-α and biomechanical stress on endothelial anti- and prothrombotic genes, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 385, 314–318 (2009).

**131**. S. Choi, M. Park, J. Kim, W. Park, S. Kim, D.-K. Lee, J. Y. Hwang, J. Choe, M.-H. Won, S. Ryoo, K.-S. Ha, Y.-G. Kwon, Y.-M. Kim, TNF-α elicits phenotypic and functional alterations of vascular smooth muscle cells by miR-155-5p–dependent down-regulation of cGMP-dependent kinase 1, J. Biol. Chem. 293, 14812–14822 (2018).

**132.** A. C. Newby, Metalloproteinase production from macrophages - a perfect storm leading to atherosclerotic plaque rupture and myocardial infarction, Exp. Physiol. 101, 1327–1337 (2016).

**133.** B. Beck-Schimmer, R. Schwendener, T. Pasch, L. Reyes, C. Booy, R. C. Schimmer, Alveolar macrophages regulate neutrophil recruitment in endotoxin-induced lung injury, Respir. Res. 6, 61 (2005). **134.** K. De Filippo, ... R. H.-T. J. of, undefined 2008, Neutrophil chemokines KC and macrophage-inflammatory protein-2 are newly synthesized by tissue macrophages using distinct TLR signaling pathways, Am Assoc Immnol (available at http://www.jimmunol.org/content/180/6/4308.short).

**135.** K. C. Barry, M. F. Fontana, J. L. Portman, A. S. Dugan, R. E. Vance, IL-1 Signaling Initiates the Inflammatory Response to Virulent Legionella pneumophila In Vivo, J. Immunol. 190, 6329–6339 (2013). **136.** T. Takano, N. Azuma, M. Satoh, A. Toda, Y. Hashida, R. Satoh, T. Hohdatsu, Neutrophil survival factors (TNF-alpha, GM-CSF, and G-CSF) produced by macrophages in cats infected with feline infectious peritonitis virus contribute to the pathogenesis of granulomatous lesions, Arch. Virol. 154, 775–781 (2009).

**137**. L. I. Pahlman, M. Morgelin, J. Eckert, L. Johansson, W. Russell, K. Riesbeck, O. Soehnlein, L. Lindbom, A. Norrby-Teglund, R. R. Schumann, L. Bjorck, H. Herwald, Streptococcal M Protein: A Multipotent and Powerful Inducer of Inflammation, J. Immunol. 177, 1221–1228 (2006).

**138**. N. Z. Cantürk, N. Esen, B. Vural, Z. Cantürk, G. Kirkali, G. Oktay, S. Solakoglu, The Relationship between Neutrophils and Incisional Wound Healing, Skin Pharmacol. Physiol. 14, 108–116 (2001).

**139**. S. de Oliveira, E. E. Rosowski, A. Huttenlocher, Neutrophil migration in infection and wound repair: going forward in reverse, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 378–391 (2016).

**140.** P. Rotzius, S. Thams, O. Soehnlein, E. Kenne, C.-N. Tseng, N. K. Björkström, K.-J. Malmberg, L. Lindbom, E. E. Eriksson, Distinct infiltration of neutrophils in lesion shoulders in ApoE-/- mice., Am. J. Pathol. 177, 493–500 (2010).

**141**. M. G. Ionita, P. van den Borne, L. M. Catanzariti, F. L. Moll, J.-P. P. M. M. De Vries, G. Pasterkamp, A. Vink, D. P. V. V de Kleijn, High Neutrophil Numbers in Human Carotid Atherosclerotic Plaques Are Associated With Characteristics of Rupture-Prone Lesions, 30, 1842–1848 (2010).

**142**. A. K. Gupta, M. B. Joshi, M. Philippova, P. Erne, P. Hasler, S. Hahn, T. J. Resink, Activated endothelial cells induce neutrophil extracellular traps and are susceptible to NETosis-mediated cell death, FEBS Lett.

584, 3193-3197 (2010).

**143.** B. Dorweiler, M. Torzewski, M. Dahm, C. Kirkpatrick, K. J. Lackner, C.-F. Vahl, Subendothelial infiltration of neutrophil granulocytes and liberation of matrix-destabilizing enzymes in an experimental model of human neo-intima, Thromb. Haemost. 99, 373–381 (2008).

**144.** L. Guasti, F. Dentali, L. Castiglioni, L. Maroni, F. Marino, A. Squizzato, W. Ageno, M. Gianni, G. Gaudio, A. Grandi, M. Cosentino, A. Venco, Neutrophils and clinical outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndromes and/or cardiac revascularisation, Thromb. Haemost. 106, 591–599 (2011).

**145**. S. C. Eisenbarth, Dendritic cell subsets in T cell programming: location dictates function, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 19, 89–103 (2019).

**146.** A. T. Satpathy, W. KC, J. C. Albring, B. T. Edelson, N. M. Kretzer, D. Bhattacharya, T. L. Murphy, K. M. Murphy, Zbtb46 expression distinguishes classical dendritic cells and their committed progenitors from other immune lineages, J. Exp. Med. 209, 1135–1152 (2012).

**147.** N. W. Palm, R. Medzhitov, Pattern recognition receptors and control of adaptive immunity, Immunol. Rev. 227, 221–233 (2009).

**148**. G. J. Randolph, J. Ochando, S. Partida-Sánchez, Migration of Dendritic Cell Subsets and their Precursors, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 26, 293–316 (2008).

**149**. P. M. Gallo, S. Gallucci, The dendritic cell response to classic, emerging, and homeostatic danger signals. Implications for autoimmunity., Front. Immunol. 4, 138 (2013).

**150**. K. Hildner, B. T. Edelson, W. E. Purtha, M. S. M. Diamond, H. Matsushita, M. Kohyama, B. Calderon, B. U. Schraml, E. R. Unanue, M. S. M. Diamond, R. D. Schreiber, T. L. Murphy, K. M. Murphy, Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity., Science 322, 1097–100 (2008).

**151**. P. Schnorrer, G. M. N. Behrens, N. S. Wilson, J. L. Pooley, C. M. Smith, D. El-Sukkari, G. Davey, F. Kupresanin, M. Li, E. Maraskovsky, G. T. Belz, F. R. Carbone, K. Shortman, W. R. Heath, J. A. Villadangos, The dominant role of CD8+ dendritic cells in cross-presentation is not dictated by antigen capture, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103, 10729–10734 (2006).

**152**. O. Schulz, C. Reis e Sousa, Cross-presentation of cell-associated antigens by CD8alpha+ dendritic cells is attributable to their ability to internalize dead cells., Immunology 107, 183–9 (2002).

**153**. J.-H. Choi, C. Cheong, D. B. Dandamudi, C. G. Park, A. Rodriguez, S. Mehandru, K. Velinzon, I.-H. Jung, J.-Y. Yoo, G. T. Oh, R. M. Steinman, Flt3 Signaling-Dependent Dendritic Cells Protect against Atherosclerosis, Immunity 35, 819–831 (2011).

**154.** W. M. Krupa, M. Dewan, M.-S. Jeon, P. J. Kurtin, B. R. Younge, J. J. Goronzy, C. M. Weyand, Trapping of misdirected dendritic cells in the granulomatous lesions of giant cell arteritis., Am. J. Pathol. 161, 1815–23 (2002).

**155.** A. S. Haka, R. K. Singh, I. Grosheva, H. Hoffner, E. Capetillo-Zarate, H. F. Chin, N. Anandasabapathy, F. R. Maxfield, Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells Upregulate Extracellular Catabolism of Aggregated Low-Density Lipoprotein on Maturation, Leading to Foam Cell Formation., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35, 2092–103 (2015).

**156.** S. L. Constant, B lymphocytes as antigen-presenting cells for CD4+ T cell priming in vivo., J. Immunol. 162, 5695–703 (1999).

**157**. Similarity and divergence in the development and expression of the mouse and human antibody repertoires, Dev. Comp. Immunol. 30, 119–135 (2006).

**158**. H. W. Schroeder, L. Cavacini, L. Cavacini, Structure and function of immunoglobulins., J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125, S41-52 (2010).

159. F. Canducci, D. Saita, C. Foglieni, M. R. Piscopiello, R. Chiesa, A. Colombo, D. Cianflone, A. Maseri,

M. Clementi, R. Burioni, A. P. Beltrami, Ed. Cross-Reacting Antibacterial Auto-Antibodies Are Produced within Coronary Atherosclerotic Plaques of Acute Coronary Syndrome Patients, PLoS One 7, e42283 (2012).

**160**. M. A. Houtkamp, O. J. de Boer, C. M. van der Loos, A. C. van der Wal, A. E. Becker, Adventitial infiltrates associated with advanced atherosclerotic plaques: structural organization suggests generation of local humoral immune responses., J. Pathol. 193, 263–9 (2001).

**161**. C. Yin, S. K. Mohanta, P. Srikakulapu, C. Weber, A. J. R. Habenicht, Artery Tertiary Lymphoid Organs: Powerhouses of Atherosclerosis Immunity, Front. Immunol. 7, 387 (2016).

**162.** D. Tsiantoulas, C. J. Diehl, J. L. Witztum, C. J. Binder, B cells and humoral immunity in atherosclerosis., Circ. Res. 114, 1743–56 (2014).

**163.** G. Caligiuri, A. Nicoletti, B. Poirier, G. K. Hansson, Protective immunity against atherosclerosis carried by B cells of hypercholesterolemic mice., J. Clin. Invest. 109, 745–53 (2002).

**164**. A. S. Major, S. Fazio, M. F. Linton, B-lymphocyte deficiency increases atherosclerosis in LDL receptornull mice., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 22, 1892–8 (2002).

**165**. T. Kyaw, C. Tay, A. Khan, V. Dumouchel, A. Cao, K. To, M. Kehry, R. Dunn, A. Agrotis, P. Tipping, A. Bobik, B.-H. Toh, Conventional B2 B cell depletion ameliorates whereas its adoptive transfer aggravates atherosclerosis., J. Immunol. 185, 4410–9 (2010).

**166**. T. Kyaw, C. Tay, S. Krishnamurthi, P. Kanellakis, A. Agrotis, P. Tipping, A. Bobik, B.-H. Toh, B1a B Lymphocytes Are Atheroprotective by Secreting Natural IgM That Increases IgM Deposits and Reduces Necrotic Cores in Atherosclerotic Lesions, Circ. Res. 109, 830–840 (2011).

167. S. Tonegawa, Somatic generation of antibody diversity, Nature 302, 575–581 (1983).

**168**. C. Brack, M. Hirama, R. Lenhard-Schuller, S. Tonegawa, A complete immunoglobulin gene is created by somatic recombination., Cell 15, 1–14 (1978).

**169**. E. Edry, D. Melamed, Receptor Editing in Positive and Negative Selection of B Lymphopoiesis, J. Immunol. 173, 4265–4271 (2004).

**170**. D. G. Osmond, Proliferation kinetics and the lifespan of B cells in central and peripheral lymphoid organs, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 3, 179–185 (1991).

**171**. R. Förster, A. Schubel, D. Breitfeld, E. Kremmer, I. Renner-Müller, E. Wolf, M. Lipp, CCR7 Coordinates the Primary Immune Response by Establishing Functional Microenvironments in Secondary Lymphoid Organs, Cell 99, 23–33 (1999).

**172.** C. G. Vinuesa, M. A. Linterman, D. Yu, I. C. M. MacLennan, Follicular Helper T Cells., Annu. Rev. Immunol. 34, 335–68 (2016).

**173**. S. Crotty, T follicular helper cell differentiation, function, and roles in disease., Immunity 41, 529–42 (2014).

**174.** R. I. Nurieva, Y. Chung, Understanding the development and function of T follicular helper cells, Cell. Mol. Immunol. 7, 190–197 (2010).

**175.** R. H. DeKruyff, L. V. Rizzo, D. T. Umetsu, Induction of immunoglobulin synthesis by CD4+ T cell clones, Semin. Immunol. 5, 421–430 (1993).

**176**. J. Punnonen, H. Yssel, J. E. de Vries, The relative contribution of IL-4 and IL-13 to human IgE synthesis induced by activated CD4+ or CD8+ T cells., J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 100, 792–801 (1997).

**177.** H. N. Eisen, G. W. Siskind, Variations in Affinities of Antibodies during the Immune Response \*, Biochemistry 3, 996–1008 (1964).

**178.** G. D. Victora, P. C. Wilson, Germinal Center Selection and the Antibody Response to Influenza, Cell 163, 545–548 (2015).

179. D. M. Tarlinton, Evolution in miniature: selection, survival and distribution of antigen reactive cells

in the germinal centre, Immunol. Cell Biol. 86, 133–138 (2008).

**180.** A. Cerutti, M. Cols, I. Puga, Marginal zone B cells: virtues of innate-like antibody-producing lymphocytes., Nat. Rev. Immunol. 13, 118–32 (2013).

**181**. N. E. Holodick, N. Rodríguez-Zhurbenko, A. M. Hernández, Defining Natural Antibodies., Front. Immunol. 8, 872 (2017).

**182**. M. Nus, A. P. Sage, Y. Lu, L. Masters, B. Y. H. Lam, S. Newland, S. Weller, D. Tsiantoulas, J. Raffort, D. Marcus, A. Finigan, L. Kitt, N. Figg, R. Schirmbeck, M. Kneilling, G. S. H. Yeo, C. J. Binder, J. L. de la Pompa, Z. Mallat, Marginal zone B cells control the response of follicular helper T cells to a high-cholesterol diet, Nat. Med. 23, 601–610 (2017).

**183**. C. J. Binder, N. Papac-Milicevic, J. L. Witztum, Innate sensing of oxidation-specific epitopes in health and disease, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 485–497 (2016).

**184**. H. Douna, J. Amersfoort, F. H. Schaftenaar, M. J. Kröner, M. G. Kiss, B. Slütter, M. A. C. Depuydt, M. N. A. Bernabé Kleijn, A. Wezel, H. J. Smeets, H. Yagita, C. J. Binder, I. Bot, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, J. Kuiper, A. C. Foks, B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator stimulation protects against atherosclerosis by regulating follicular B cells, Cardiovasc. Res. (2019), doi:10.1093/cvr/cvz129.

**185**. M. Centa, H. Jin, L. Hofste, S. Hellberg, A. Busch, R. Baumgartner, N. J. Verzaal, S. Lind Enoksson, L. Perisic Matic, S. V. Boddul, D. Atzler, D. Y. Li, C. Sun, G. K. Hansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, U. Hedin, F. Wermeling, E. Lutgens, C. J. Binder, L. Maegdesfessel, S. G. Malin, Germinal Center–Derived Antibodies Promote Atherosclerosis Plaque Size and Stability, Circulation 139, 2466–2482 (2019).

**186**. A. Gisterå, A. Hermansson, D. Strodthoff, M. L. Klement, U. Hedin, G. N. Fredrikson, J. Nilsson, G. K. Hansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, Vaccination against T-cell epitopes of native ApoB100 reduces vascular inflammation and disease in a humanized mouse model of atherosclerosis, J. Intern. Med. 281, 383–397 (2017).

**187**. J. Su, H. Zhou, X. Liu, L. Shi, Z. Li, K. Li, W. Wu, Z. Xiao, M. Zhao, Collagen Vi Antibody Induces Regression of Atherosclerosis by Activation of Monocytes/Macrophages Polarization and Lipid Efflux inApoE-/- Mice, Atheroscler. Suppl. 32, 11 (2018).

**188**. R. H. Schwartz, The role of gene products of the major histocompatibility complex in T cell activation and cellular interactions (1984).

**189**. B. A. Schwarz, A. Bhandoola, Trafficking from the bone marrow to the thymus: a prerequisite for thymopoiesis, Immunol. Rev. 209, 47–57 (2006).

**190**. T. K. Starr, S. C. Jameson, K. A. Hogquist, Positive and negative selection of T cells., Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21, 139–76 (2003).

**191**. H. R. MacDonald, F. Radtke, A. Wilson, T cell fate specification and  $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta$  lineage commitment, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 13, 219–224 (2001).

**192**. A. E. Moran, K. A. Hogquist, T-cell receptor affinity in thymic development, Immunology 135, 261–267 (2012).

**193**. P. Kisielow, H. Blüthmann, U. D. Staerz, M. Steinmetz, H. von Boehmer, Tolerance in T-cell-receptor transgenic mice involves deletion of nonmature CD4+8+ thymocytes, Nature 333, 742–746 (1988).

**194**. E. Marshall, K. S. Weber, D. Donermeyer, P. Allen, D. Kranz, Examining the role of T cell co-receptors CD4 and CD8 in T cell activation by using high-affinity T cell receptors, J. Immunol. 188, 121.28 (2012).

**195**. L. Teyton, P. A. Peterson, Assembly and transport of MHC class II molecules., New Biol. 4, 441–7 (1992).

**196**. M. Wieczorek, E. T. Abualrous, J. Sticht, M. Álvaro-Benito, S. Stolzenberg, F. Noé, C. Freund, Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Class I and MHC Class II Proteins: Conformational Plasticity in Antigen Presentation., Front. Immunol. 8, 292 (2017). **197**. K. Tanaka, The proteasome: overview of structure and functions., Proc. Jpn. Acad. Ser. B. Phys. Biol. Sci. 85, 12–36 (2009).

**198**. C. E. Rockwell, J. J. Monaco, N. Qureshi, A Critical Role for the Inducible Proteasomal Subunits LMP7 and MECL1 in Cytokine Production by Activated Murine Splenocytes, Pharmacology 89, 117–126 (2012). **199**. P. M. Kloetzel, Generation of major histocompatibility complex class I antigens: functional interplay between proteasomes and TPPII, Nat. Immunol. 5, 661–669 (2004).

**200**. C. S. Malo, M. A. Huggins, E. N. Goddery, H. M. A. Tolcher, D. N. Renner, F. Jin, M. J. Hansen, L. R. Pease, K. D. Pavelko, A. J. Johnson, Non-equivalent antigen presenting capabilities of dendritic cells and macrophages in generating brain-infiltrating CD8 + T cell responses, Nat. Commun. 9, 633 (2018).

**201**. F. M. Cruz, J. D. Colbert, E. Merino, B. A. Kriegsman, K. L. Rock, The Biology and Underlying Mechanisms of Cross-Presentation of Exogenous Antigens on MHC-I Molecules., Annu. Rev. Immunol. 35, 149–176 (2017).

**202**. M. Embgenbroich, S. Burgdorf, Current Concepts of Antigen Cross-Presentation., Front. Immunol. 9, 1643 (2018).

**203.** M. Nagaoka, Y. Hatta, Y. Kawaoka, L. P. Malherbe, Antigen Signal Strength during Priming Determines Effector CD4 T Cell Function and Antigen Sensitivity during Influenza Virus Challenge, J. Immunol. 193, 2812–2820 (2014).

**204**. J. C. Nolz, G. R. Starbeck-Miller, J. T. Harty, Naive, effector and memory CD8 T-cell trafficking: parallels and distinctions., Immunotherapy 3, 1223–33 (2011).

**205**. J. W. Griffith, C. L. Sokol, A. D. Luster, Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors: Positioning Cells for Host Defense and Immunity, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 32, 659–702 (2014).

**206**. T. Liechtenstein, I. Dufait, C. Bricogne, A. Lanna, J. Pen, K. Breckpot, D. Escors, PD-L1/PD-1 Co-Stimulation, a Brake for T cell Activation and a T cell Differentiation Signal., J. Clin. Cell. Immunol. S12 (2012), doi:10.4172/2155-9899.S12-006.

**207**. M. E. Martinez-Sanchez, L. Huerta, E. R. Alvarez-Buylla, C. Villarreal Luján, Role of Cytokine Combinations on CD4+ T Cell Differentiation, Partial Polarization, and Plasticity: Continuous Network Modeling Approach., Front. Physiol. 9, 877 (2018).

**208**. S. Stemme, B. Faber, J. Holm, O. Wiklund, J. L. Witztum, G. K. Hansson, T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 3893–7 (1995).

**209**. M. Benagiano, M. M. D'Elios, A. Amedei, A. Azzurri, R. van der Zee, A. Ciervo, G. Rombola, S. Romagnani, A. Cassone, G. Del Prete, Human 60-kDa Heat Shock Protein Is a Target Autoantigen of T Cells Derived from Atherosclerotic Plaques, J. Immunol. 174, 6509–6517 (2005).

**210**. R. Elhage, J. Jawien, M. Rudling, H.-G. Ljunggren, K. Takeda, S. Akira, F. Bayard, G. K. Hansson, Reduced atherosclerosis in interleukin-18 deficient apolipoprotein E-knockout mice., Cardiovasc. Res. 59, 234–40 (2003).

**211.** I. Voloshyna, M. J. Littlefield, A. B. Reiss, Atherosclerosis and interferon-y: new insights and therapeutic targets., Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 24, 45–51 (2014).

**212**. Z. H. Zhou, P. Chaturvedi, Y. L. Han, S. Aras, Y. S. Li, P. E. Kolattukudy, D. Ping, J. M. Boss, R. M. Ransohoff, IFN-gamma induction of the human monocyte chemoattractant protein (hMCP)-1 gene in astrocytoma cells: functional interaction between an IFN-gamma-activated site and a GC-rich element., J. Immunol. 160, 3908–16 (1998).

**213.** S. Ehrt, D. Schnappinger, S. Bekiranov, J. Drenkow, S. Shi, T. R. Gingeras, T. Gaasterland, G. Schoolnik, C. Nathan, Reprogramming of the macrophage transcriptome in response to interferongamma and Mycobacterium tuberculosis: signaling roles of nitric oxide synthase-2 and phagocyte oxidase., J. Exp. Med. 194, 1123-40 (2001).

**214**. D. M. Mosser, J. P. Edwards, Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation., Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8, 958–69 (2008).

**215**. X.-H. Yu, J. Zhang, X.-L. Zheng, Y.-H. Yang, C.-K. Tang, Interferon-γ in foam cell formation and progression of atherosclerosis, Clin. Chim. Acta 441, 33–43 (2015).

**216.** S. C. Whitman, P. Ravisankar, H. Elam, A. Daugherty, Exogenous interferon-gamma enhances atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice., Am. J. Pathol. 157, 1819–24 (2000).

**217.** S. Gupta, A. M. Pablo, X. c Jiang, N. Wang, A. R. Tall, C. Schindler, IFN-gamma potentiates atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice., J. Clin. Invest. 99, 2752–61 (1997).

**218**. L. S. M. Boesten, A. S. M. Zadelaar, A. van Nieuwkoop, M. J. J. Gijbels, M. P. J. de Winther, L. M. Havekes, B. J. M. van Vlijmen, Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes atherosclerotic lesion progression in APOE\*3-Leiden transgenic mice., Cardiovasc. Res. 66, 179–85 (2005).

**219**. C. A. Lazarski, J. Ford, S. D. Katzman, A. F. Rosenberg, D. J. Fowell, IL-4 attenuates Th1-associated chemokine expression and Th1 trafficking to inflamed tissues and limits pathogen clearance., PLoS One 8, e71949 (2013).

**220.** V. L. King, S. J. Szilvassy, A. Daugherty, Interleukin-4 deficiency decreases atherosclerotic lesion formation in a site-specific manner in female LDL receptor-/- mice., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 22, 456–61 (2002).

**221**. P. Davenport, P. G. Tipping, The Role of Interleukin-4 and Interleukin-12 in the Progression of Atherosclerosis in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice, Am. J. Pathol. 163, 1117–1125 (2003).

**222**. D. Engelbertsen, S. Rattik, A. Knutsson, H. Björkbacka, E. Bengtsson, J. Nilsson, Induction of T helper 2 responses against human apolipoprotein B100 does not affect atherosclerosis in ApoE-/- mice, Cardiovasc. Res. 103, 304–312 (2014).

**223**. C. J. Binder, K. Hartvigsen, M. Chang, M. Miller, IL-5 links adaptive and natural immunity specific for epitopes of oxidized LD ..., Library (Lond). 114 (2004), doi:10.1172/JCI200420479.The.

**224**. G. Caligiuri, M. Rudling, V. Ollivier, M.-P. Jacob, J.-B. Michel, G. K. Hansson, A. Nicoletti, Interleukin-10 Deficiency Increases Atherosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Low-density Lipoproteins in Apolipoprotein E Knockout Mice, Mol. Med. 9, 10–17 (2003).

**225.** A. Silveira, O. McLeod, R. J. Strawbridge, K. Gertow, B. Sennblad, D. Baldassarre, F. Veglia, A. Deleskog, J. Persson, K. Leander, B. Gigante, J. Kauhanen, R. Rauramaa, A. J. Smit, E. Mannarino, P. Giral, S. Gustafsson, S. Söderberg, J. Öhrvik, S. E. Humphries, E. Tremoli, U. de Faire, A. Hamsten, Plasma IL-5 concentration and subclinical carotid atherosclerosis, Atherosclerosis 239, 125–130 (2015).

**226**. D. Engelbertsen, L. Andersson, I. Ljungcrantz, M. Wigren, B. Hedblad, J. Nilsson, H. Björkbacka, T-Helper 2 Immunity Is Associated With Reduced Risk of Myocardial Infarction and Stroke, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 33, 637–644 (2013).

**227**. H. Lim, Y. U. Kim, H. Sun, J. H. Lee, J. M. Reynolds, S. Hanabuchi, H. Wu, B.-B. Teng, Y. Chung, Proatherogenic Conditions Promote Autoimmune T Helper 17 Cell Responses In Vivo, Immunity 40, 153–165 (2014).

**228.** C. Erbel, M. Akhavanpoor, D. Okuyucu, S. Wangler, A. Dietz, L. Zhao, K. Stellos, K. M. Little, F. Lasitschka, A. Doesch, M. Hakimi, T. J. Dengler, T. Giese, E. Blessing, H. A. Katus, C. A. Gleissner, IL-17A Influences Essential Functions of the Monocyte/Macrophage Lineage and Is Involved in Advanced Murine and Human Atherosclerosis, J. Immunol. 193, 4344–4355 (2014).

**229.** C. Erbel, L. Chen, F. Bea, S. Wangler, S. Celik, F. Lasitschka, Y. Wang, D. Böckler, H. A. Katus, T. J. Dengler, Inhibition of IL-17A attenuates atherosclerotic lesion development in apoE-deficient mice., J. Immunol. 183, 8167–75 (2009).

**230**. K. Danzaki, Y. Matsui, M. Ikesue, D. Ohta, K. Ito, M. Kanayama, D. Kurotaki, J. Morimoto, Y. Iwakura, H. Yagita, H. Tsutsui, T. Uede, Interleukin-17A Deficiency Accelerates Unstable Atherosclerotic Plaque Formation in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 32, 273–280 (2012).

**231**. S. Taleb, M. Romain, B. Ramkhelawon, C. Uyttenhove, G. Pasterkamp, O. Herbin, B. Esposito, N. Perez, H. Yasukawa, J. Van Snick, A. Yoshimura, A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Loss of SOCS3 expression in T cells reveals a regulatory role for interleukin-17 in atherosclerosis., J. Exp. Med. 206, 2067–77 (2009).

**232**. T. Simon, S. Taleb, N. Danchin, L. Laurans, B. Rousseau, S. Cattan, J.-M. Montely, O. Dubourg, A. Tedgui, S. Kotti, Z. Mallat, Circulating levels of interleukin-17 and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction, Eur. Heart J. 34, 570–577 (2013).

**233**. R. E. Eid, D. A. Rao, J. Zhou, S. L. Lo, H. Ranjbaran, A. Gallo, S. I. Sokol, S. Pfau, J. S. Pober, G. Tellides, Interleukin-17 and Interferon-γ Are Produced Concomitantly by Human Coronary Artery–Infiltrating T Cells and Act Synergistically on Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells, Circulation 119, 1424–1432 (2009).

**234**. X. Cheng, X. Yu, Y. Ding, Q. Fu, J. Xie, T. Tang, R. Yao, Y. Chen, Y. Liao, The Th17/Treg imbalance in patients with acute coronary syndrome, Clin. Immunol. 127, 89–97 (2008).

**235**. A. Mor, D. Planer, G. Luboshits, A. Afek, S. Metzger, T. Chajek-Shaul, G. Keren, J. George, Role of Naturally Occurring CD4 + CD25 + Regulatory T Cells in Experimental Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 893–900 (2007).

**236**. R. Klingenberg, N. Gerdes, R. M. Badeau, A. Gisterå, D. Strodthoff, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, A. M. Lundberg, M. Rudling, S. K. Nilsson, G. Olivecrona, S. Zoller, C. Lohmann, T. F. Lüscher, M. Jauhiainen, T. Sparwasser, G. K. Hansson, Depletion of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells promotes hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis, J. Clin. Invest. 123, 1323–1334 (2013).

**237**. H. Ait-Oufella, B. L. Salomon, S. Potteaux, A.-K. L. Robertson, P. Gourdy, J. Zoll, R. Merval, B. Esposito, J. L. Cohen, S. Fisson, R. A. Flavell, G. K. Hansson, D. Klatzmann, A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Natural regulatory T cells control the development of atherosclerosis in mice, Nat. Med. 12, 178–180 (2006).

**238**. C.-S. Hsieh, H.-M. Lee, C.-W. J. Lio, Selection of regulatory T cells in the thymus, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 12, 157–167 (2012).

**239**. K. Kretschmer, I. Apostolou, D. Hawiger, K. Khazaie, M. C. Nussenzweig, H. von Boehmer, Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen, Nat. Immunol. 6, 1219–1227 (2005).

**240**. R. A. Gottschalk, E. Corse, J. P. Allison, TCR ligand density and affinity determine peripheral induction of Foxp3 in vivo, J. Exp. Med. 207, 1701 (2010).

**241**. K. Semple, A. Nguyen, Y. Yu, H. Wang, C. Anasetti, X.-Z. Yu, Strong CD28 costimulation suppresses induction of regulatory T cells from naive precursors through Lck signaling, Blood 117, 3096–3103 (2011).

**242**. Y. Zheng, A. Chaudhry, A. Kas, P. deRoos, J. M. Kim, T.-T. Chu, L. Corcoran, P. Treuting, U. Klein, A. Y. Rudensky, Regulatory T-cell suppressor program co-opts transcription factor IRF4 to control TH2 responses, Nature 458, 351–356 (2009).

**243**. L. M. Francisco, V. H. Salinas, K. E. Brown, V. K. Vanguri, G. J. Freeman, V. K. Kuchroo, A. H. Sharpe, PD-L1 regulates the development, maintenance, and function of induced regulatory T cells, J. Exp. Med. 206, 3015–3029 (2009).

**244**. H.-W. Mittrücker, A. Visekruna, M. Huber, Heterogeneity in the Differentiation and Function of CD8+ T Cells, Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz). 62, 449–458 (2014).

**245.** J. T. Harty, A. R. Tvinnereim, D. W. White, CD8+ T Cell Effector Mechanisms in Resistance to Infection, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 18, 275–308 (2000).

**246.** J. Reiser, A. Banerjee, Effector, Memory, and Dysfunctional CD8(+) T Cell Fates in the Antitumor Immune Response., J. Immunol. Res. 2016, 8941260 (2016).

**247.** M. Lettau, J. Qian, A. Linkermann, M. Latreille, L. Larose, D. Kabelitz, O. Janssen, The adaptor protein Nck interacts with Fas ligand: Guiding the death factor to the cytotoxic immunological synapse., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 5911–6 (2006).

**248**. S. Halle, O. Halle, R. Förster, Mechanisms and Dynamics of T Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity In Vivo., Trends Immunol. 38, 432–443 (2017).

**249**. T. Kyaw, A. Winship, C. Tay, P. Kanellakis, H. Hosseini, A. Cao, P. Li, P. Tipping, A. Bobik, B.-H. Toh, Cytotoxic and Proinflammatory CD8+ T Lymphocytes Promote Development of Vulnerable Atherosclerotic Plaques in ApoE-Deficient Mice, Circulation 127, 1028–1039 (2013).

**250.** C. Cochain, M. Koch, S. M. Chaudhari, M. Busch, J. Pelisek, L. Boon, A. Zernecke, CD8 + T Cells Regulate Monopoiesis and Circulating Ly6C <sup>high</sup> Monocyte Levels in Atherosclerosis in MiceNovelty and Significance, Circ. Res. 117, 244–253 (2015).

**251**. K.-Y. Chyu, X. Zhao, P. C. Dimayuga, J. Zhou, X. Li, J. Yano, W. M. Lio, L. F. Chan, J. Kirzner, P. Trinidad, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, F. Dieli, Ed. CD8+ T Cells Mediate the Athero-Protective Effect of Immunization with an ApoB-100 Peptide, PLoS One 7, e30780 (2012).

**252**. A. D. Hauer, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, N. Peterse, P. de Vos, V. van Weel, E. J. A. van Wanrooij, E. A. L. Biessen, P. H. A. Quax, A. G. Niethammer, R. A. Reisfeld, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Vaccination Against VEGFR2 Attenuates Initiation and Progression of Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 2050–2057 (2007).

**253**. E. J. A. van Wanrooij, P. de Vos, M. G. Bixel, D. Vestweber, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Vaccination against CD99 inhibits atherogenesis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice, Cardiovasc. Res. 78, 590–596 (2008).

**254**. B. Ludewig, S. Freigang, M. Jaggi, M. O. Kurrer, Y.-C. Pei, L. Vlk, B. Odermatt, R. M. Zinkernagel, H. Hengartner, Linking immune-mediated arterial inflammation and cholesterol-induced atherosclerosis in a transgenic mouse model, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97, 12752–12757 (2000).

**255**. I. Bergström, K. Backteman, A. Lundberg, J. Ernerudh, L. Jonasson, Persistent accumulation of interferon-γ-producing CD8+CD56+ T cells in blood from patients with coronary artery disease, Atherosclerosis 224, 515–520 (2012).

**256.** Y. Hwang, H. T. Yu, D.-H. Kim, J. Jang, H. Y. H. C. Kim, I. Kang, H. Y. H. C. Kim, S. Park, W.-W. Lee, Expansion of CD8+ T cells lacking the IL-6 receptor  $\alpha$  chain in patients with coronary artery diseases (CAD), Atherosclerosis 249, 44–51 (2016).

257. D. Kolbus, I. Ljungcrantz, L. Andersson, B. Hedblad, G. N. Fredrikson, H. Björkbacka, J. Nilsson, Association between CD8 + T-cell subsets and cardiovascular disease, J. Intern. Med. 274, 41–51 (2013).
258. B. J. Van den Eynde, S. Morel, Differential processing of class-I-restricted epitopes by the standard proteasome and the immunoproteasome, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 13, 147–153 (2001).

**259.** C. D. Klaassen, C. E. Rockwell, M. Zhang, P. E. Fields, T Cells + Th2 Skewing by Activation of Nrf2 in CD4, (2012), doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101712.

**260**. D. de Verteuil, T. L. Muratore-Schroeder, D. P. Granados, M.-H. Fortier, M.-P. Hardy, A. Bramoullé, É. Caron, K. Vincent, S. Mader, S. Lemieux, P. Thibault, C. Perreault, Deletion of Immunoproteasome Subunits Imprints on the Transcriptome and Has a Broad Impact on Peptides Presented by Major Histocompatibility Complex I molecules, Mol. Cell. Proteomics 9, 2034–2047 (2010).

**261**. D. A. de Verteuil, A. Rouette, M.-P. Hardy, S. Lavallée, A. Trofimov, É. Gaucher, C. Perreault, Immunoproteasomes shape the transcriptome and regulate the function of dendritic cells., J. Immunol. 193, 1121–32 (2014).

**262**. C. Schmidt, T. Berger, M. Groettrup, M. Basler, Immunoproteasome Inhibition Impairs T and B Cell Activation by Restraining ERK Signaling and Proteostasis., Front. Immunol. 9, 2386 (2018).

**263**. M. Basler, M. M. Lindstrom, J. J. LaStant, J. M. Bradshaw, T. D. Owens, C. Schmidt, E. Maurits, C. Tsu, H. S. Overkleeft, C. J. Kirk, C. L. Langrish, M. Groettrup, Co-inhibition of immunoproteasome subunits LMP2 and LMP7 is required to block autoimmunity, EMBO Rep. 19, e46512 (2018).

**264.** T. Muchamuel, M. Basler, M. A. Aujay, E. Suzuki, K. W. Kalim, C. Lauer, C. Sylvain, E. R. Ring, J. Shields, J. Jiang, P. Shwonek, F. Parlati, S. D. Demo, M. K. Bennett, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, A selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 blocks cytokine production and attenuates progression of experimental arthritis., Nat. Med. 15, 781–7 (2009).

**265**. M. Basler, S. Mundt, T. Muchamuel, C. Moll, J. Jiang, M. Groettrup, C. J. Kirk, Inhibition of the immunoproteasome ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EMBO Mol. Med. 6, 226–238 (2014).

**266**. K. W. Kalim, M. Basler, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, Immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 deficiency and inhibition suppresses Th1 and Th17 but enhances regulatory T cell differentiation., J. Immunol. 189, 4182–93 (2012).

**267**. R.-T. Liu, P. Zhang, C.-L. Yang, Y. Pang, M. Zhang, N. Zhang, L.-T. Yue, X.-L. Li, H. Li, R.-S. Duan, ONX-0914, a selective inhibitor of immunoproteasome, ameliorates experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis by modulating humoral response, J. Neuroimmunol. 311, 71–78 (2017).

**268.** Y. Nagayama, M. Nakahara, M. Shimamura, I. Horie, K. Arima, N. Abiru, Prophylactic and therapeutic efficacies of a selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome for Hashimoto's thyroiditis, but not for Graves' hyperthyroidism, in mice, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 168, 268–273 (2012).

**269.** H. T. Ichikawa, T. Conley, T. Muchamuel, J. Jiang, S. Lee, T. Owen, J. Barnard, S. Nevarez, B. I. Goldman, C. J. Kirk, R. J. Looney, J. H. Anolik, Beneficial effect of novel proteasome inhibitors in murine lupus via dual inhibition of type i interferon and autoantibody-secreting cells, Arthritis Rheum. 64, 493–503 (2012).

**270**. *M*. Basler, M. Dajee, C. Moll, M. Groettrup, C. J. Kirk, Prevention of experimental colitis by a selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome., J. Immunol. 185, 634–41 (2010).

**271**. J. Li, J. Koerner, M. Basler, T. Brunner, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, Immunoproteasome inhibition induces plasma cell apoptosis and preserves kidney allografts by activating the unfolded protein response and suppressing plasma cell survival factors., Kidney Int. 95, 611–623 (2019).

**272.** K. V Ramachandran, S. S. Margolis, A mammalian nervous-system-specific plasma membrane proteasome complex that modulates neuronal function, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 24, 419–430 (2017).

**273.** B. Fabre, T. Lambour, L. Garrigues, F. Amalric, N. Vigneron, T. Menneteau, A. Stella, B. Monsarrat, B. Van den Eynde, O. Burlet-Schiltz, M. Bousquet-Dubouch, B. Van den Eynde, O. Burlet-Schiltz, M.-P. Bousquet-Dubouch, Deciphering preferential interactions within supramolecular protein complexes: the proteasome case, Mol. Syst. Biol. 11, 771 (2015).

**274**. G. Schmidtke, R. Schregle, G. Alvarez, E. M. Huber, M. Groettrup, The 20S immunoproteasome and constitutive proteasome bind with the same affinity to  $PA28\alpha\beta$  and equally degrade FAT10, Mol. Immunol. (2017), doi:10.1016/J.MOLIMM.2017.11.030.

**275**. *M.* Pajares, A. Cuadrado, A. I. Rojo, Modulation of proteostasis by transcription factor NRF2 and impact in neurodegenerative diseases., Redox Biol. 11, 543–553 (2017).

**276.** J. Grootjans, A. Kaser, R. J. Kaufman, R. S. Blumberg, The unfolded protein response in immunity and inflammation., Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 469–84 (2016).



## Atherosclerosis: the interplay between lipids and immune cells

F.H. Schaftenaar<sup>1</sup>, V. Frodermann<sup>1</sup>, J. Kuiper<sup>1</sup>, and E. Lutgens<sup>2,3</sup>

Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 27, 209-15 (2016)

<sup>1</sup> Division of Biopharmaceutics, Leiden Academic Centre for Drug Research, Leiden University, Leiden
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Biochemistry, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands
 <sup>3</sup> Institute for Cardiovascular Prevention (IPEK), Ludwig Maximilians University, Munich, Germany.

#### **Purpose of review**

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of mortality worldwide. The underlying cause of the majority of cardiovascular disease is atherosclerosis. In the past, atherosclerosis was considered to be the result of passive lipid accumulation in the vessel wall. However, today's picture of the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis is much more complex, with a key role for immune cells and inflammation in conjunction with hyperlipidemia, especially elevated (modified) LDL levels. Knowledge on immune cells and immune responses in atherosclerosis has progressed tremendously over the past decades, and the same is true for the role of lipid metabolism and the different lipid components. However, it is largely unknown how lipids and the immune system interact. In this review, we will describe the effect of lipids on immune cell development and function, and the effects of immune cells on lipid metabolism.

### **Recent findings**

Recently, novel data have emerged that show that immune cells are affected, and behave differently in a hyperlipidemic environment. Moreover, immune cells have reported to be able to affect lipid metabolism.

#### Summary

In this review, we will summarize the latest findings on the interactions between lipids and the immune system, and we will discuss the potential consequences of these novel insights for future therapies for atherosclerosis.

#### Keywords

atherosclerosis, immune system, lipids

### **Key points**

- Dyslipidemia affects the adaptive immune response.
- T cells specific for modified lipoproteins aggravate atherosclerosis.
- The adaptive immune response modulates lipoprotein metabolism.
- Immune responses and lipid metabolism interact in a unique metabolic pathway underlying atherosclerosis.

### Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of mortality worldwide, accounting for 16.7 million deaths each year. The underlying cause of the majority of CVD is atherosclerosis, a disease that is characterized by the formation of lipid and (immune)-cell containing plagues in the intima of large and mid-sized arteries (1). In the past decades, it was found that the immune system plays a crucial role in the development and progression of atherosclerotic plagues. By transforming immune cells into proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory chemokine and cytokine producing units, and by guiding the interactions between the different immune cells, the immune system decisively influences the propensity of a given plaque to rupture and cause clinical symptoms like myocardial infarction and stroke (1-3). Although knowledge on immune cells and immune responses has progressed tremendously over the past decades, and has provided novel insights for many diseases, including atherosclerosis, it has become clear that atherosclerosis is not a 'standard' immunological disease. Recently, novel data have emerged that show that immune cells are affected, and behave differently in a hyperlipidemic environment. In this review, we will summarize the current knowledge on the effects of hyperlipidemia, and especially hypercholesterolemia and the effects of modified LDL, on immune cell development and function. The way the mature immune system reacts to challenges such as inflammation is largely defined by the selfrenewal and multilineage capacity of a rare population of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs), defined as Lin<sup>-</sup>Sca<sup>+</sup>cKit<sup>+</sup> cells, in the bone marrow (4, 5). These HSPCs differentiate into leukocytes (including lymphocytes), dendritic cells, erythrocytes, and platelets, but also to endothelial progenitor cells. The self-renewal capacity and differentiation of HSPCs into mature blood cell lineages and the subset distribution of these separate blood lineages are tightly regulated by a combination of intrinsic and extrinsic signals such as growth factors, chemokines, and cell cycle proteins (6). HSPCs are located in specialized microenvironments: the bone marrow niche. The bone marrow niche is composed of many cell types, including mesenchymal stem cells, CXCL12-abundant reticular (CAR) cells, osteoclasts, osteoblasts, adipocytes, and endothelial cells. The niche plays a critical role in the regulation of HSPC self-renewal, quiescence, and differentiation during hematopoiesis (7). HSPCs are also activated during immunological challenges to replenish exhausted immune effector cells. These HSPC responses include expansion, mobilization, and differentiation and are regulated by systemic (cytokines, chemokines) and local, nichederived signals (chemokines, growth factors) (6, 8, 9). In hypercholesterolemic ApoE -/- and LdIr-/mice, hyperlipidemia induces a substantial increase in the number of HSPCs, and a preference for myeloid skewing, which results in aggravated atherosclerosis (10–12). Hypercholesterolemia causes HSPCs to lose their guiescence, characterized by increased proliferation and expression of cell cycle proteins such as cyclin B1, C1, and D1 (10). Moreover, when hypercholesterolemia-primed HSPCs are transplanted into normocholesterolemic mice, they maintain their proliferative capacity and their preference to differentiate towards the myeloid lineage, resulting in monocytosis and granulocytosis (10, 11). Likewise, when normal HSPCs are transplanted into hypercholesterolemic mice, which contain a hypercholesterolemia-primed bone marrow niche, similar results were observed, proving that priming of either the HSPC itself or the bone marrow niche induces these effects (10). Surprisingly, hypercholesterolemia also induces extramedullary hematopoiesis, and increased myelopoiesis was also found in the spleen (13). Surprisingly, important mediators of HSPC biology are lipid mediators. For example, a predominant role for the cholesterol efflux pathways (ATP binding cassette transporters A1 and G1) and HDL was found for the maintenance of HSPC quiescence. Absence of ABCA1 and G1 induces HSPC mobilization, proliferation, and differentiation towards the myeloid lineage, and results in extramedullary hematopoiesis, revealing that disruption of cholesterol-efflux mechanisms play a major role in HSPC biology (14). Moreover, this process is also mediated via proteoglycan bound apolipoprotein E that promotes cholesterol efflux via ABCA1 and ABCG1, thereby inhibiting HSPC proliferation (11).

### Lipids and innate immune responses

#### Monocytes

As described above, increased numbers of circulating monocytes are found in patients suffering from hyperlipidemia and atherosclerosis, as well as in experimental animal models of atherosclerosis, and are correlated with plaque size and plaque stage (15–18). Monocytes can be divided into inflammatory monocytes (characterized by the expression of CD14<sup>++</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> or CD14<sup>++</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> in humans and Ly6C<sup>high</sup> in mice) and patrolling monocytes (which are CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>++</sup> in humans and Ly6C<sup>low</sup> in mice) (19). Hypercholesterolemia causes a profound increase in Lv6C<sup>high</sup> and CD14<sup>++</sup> monocytes, which is partly generated via extramedullary hematopoiesis (10, 16-18, 20). Their fate to differentiate towards Ly6Chigh monocytes is driven by high cholesterol levels, as competitive bone marrow transplantation studies show that hypercholesterolemia-primed HSPC or a hypercholesterolemia primed bone marrow niche results in an increased fraction of Ly6C<sup>high</sup> monocytes (10). Increasing evidence points out that the Ly6C<sup>high</sup>/CD14<sup>++</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> monocytes do not only increase in number, they are also the monocyte subset that preferentially adheres to the endothelium, infiltrates the arterial wall, and is responsible for the generation of plaque macrophages. The role for the patrolling, Ly6C<sup>low</sup>/ CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>+/+</sup> monocytes is less clear. They are longer-lived, scan the endothelium for activation markers, and pathogens are able to phagocytose oxidative lipids, but do not seem to infiltrate atherosclerotic plagues (17, 18).

#### Macrophages

Once monocytes have infiltrated the arterial wall, they differentiate into macrophages and become a key component of the atherosclerotic plaque. When exposed to a hyperlipidemic milieu, macrophages ingest and process (modified) lipids, predominantly modified LDL, which is a complex mixture of oxidation products and proteins, and store it in lipid droplets in their cytoplasm (1). The uptake of LDL is mainly mediated by scavenger receptors such as

scavenger receptor A and CD36, and the efflux is mediated by ABC transporters, in particular, ABCA1 and G1 (21). When lipid uptake exceeds efflux, or efflux is disturbed, lipids accumulate and macrophages become 'foam cells'. Initially, lipid uptake including oxLDL and phospholipids results in the activation of macrophages via pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPS), predominantly using TLR2 and TLR4, resulting in the release of a myriad of proinflammatory (i.e. interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-6, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, TNF-a, MCP-1) and anti-inflammatory (i.e. IL-10, TGF-b) cytokines and growth factors, thereby initiating/enhancing an inflammatory response which further regulates immune cell infiltration into the atherosclerotic lesion (1, 22). Although many studies have found that proinflammatory cytokines prevail upon lipid loading (1, 22), others claim that macrophage foam cell formation is associated with an anti-inflammatory response. Spann et al. (23) found that desmosterol plays a key role in the homeostatic response of peritoneal macrophages upon lipid loading, including activation of LXR target genes, inhibition of SREBP target genes, and suppression of inflammatory response genes. These results imply that macrophage activation in atherosclerosis results from extrinsic stimuli such as (lipid) debris, and inflammatory mediators derived from other cell types in the arterial wall. However, the stage of foam cell formation and the environment may also exert differential roles in macrophage activation. After massive uptake of lipids, cholesterol crystals can form in the macrophage foam cells. This crystalline material, but also the increased oxidative stress can lead to the formation of an inflammasome complex in macrophages. Inflammasome formation leads to activation of caspase-1 that rapidly cleaves pro-IL1b and pro-IL18 into their mature forms, which are both pathogenic inflammatory cytokines that drive atherosclerosis. Cholesterol crystals induce the nlrp3 inflammasome, which has been found to play a major role in atherosclerosis (24). Within the atherosclerotic lesion, macrophages are exposed to sustained inflammation and oxidative stress, resulting in activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress pathways resulting in macrophage apoptosis and necrosis. The unfolded protein response (UPR), with factors like CCAAT-enhancerbinding protein homologous protein, Ca2<sup>+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II, signal transducer and activator of transcription 1, and nitric oxides, play a major role in this process. Necrosis and apoptosis, and the subsequent defective efferocytosis of macrophage cell-rich and lipid-rich, sometimes crystalline, debris results in the formation of a necrotic lipid core and sustained atherosclerotic plaque inflammation (25).

### Lipids and adaptive immune responses

In addition to innate immune responses, hyperlipidemia can also trigger adaptive immune responses as illustrated by the presence of activated T cells in the atherosclerotic lesion as well as by the T-cell dependent induction of antibody production by B cells towards modified LDL (1). Adaptive immune responses are initiated through antigen presentation, and in atherosclerosis, the antigen is often considered to be a (neo-)epitope of modified LDL.

Another proof that modified LDL drives adaptive immune responses is the existence of oxLDL specific T cells in experimental animal models and in patients (1).

#### **Dendritic cells**

Although part of the innate immune system, dendritic cells have an important role in initiating the adaptive immune response towards atherosclerosis related antigens. In addition, dendritic cells also take up lipids (via scavenger receptors and efferocytosis) and form foam cells, contributing to atherosclerotic lesion development (26-28). As they share phenotypic and functional properties with macrophages, which attain a dendritic cell-like phenotype upon foam cell formation (29), it is complicated to dissect the role of dendritic cells and macrophages in the lesion. The uptake of oxLDL results in dendritic cells maturation, migration, and antigen presentation to T cells in the draining lymph nodes (30, 31). On the other hand, oxidized phospholipids can impair maturation of dendritic cells (32), possibly limiting excessive dendritic cell Interplay between lipids and immune activation (32), and desmosterol may induce an anti-inflammatory response via LXR activation (23, 33). Interestingly, circulating cholesterol levels and dendritic cells numbers do correlate as shown in DC-hBcl2 mice, which express the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 under the CD11c promoter (34). Conversely, reduced levels of dendritic cells in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice result in enhanced systemic cholesterol levels Conventional dendritic cells at the crossroads between immunity and cholesterol homeostasis in atherosclerosis (34), whereas lesional lipid accumulation decreases (27). The mechanisms behind this effect of dendritic cells on cholesterol metabolism have yet to be identified. Dendritic cells have been frequently used to modify the outcome of atherosclerosis. Adoptive transfer of dendritic cells pulsed with modified LDL into atherogenic mice may aggravate atherosclerosis via activation of T cells (35), but may also inhibit atherosclerosis via the induction of antibodies specific for modified LDL. In addition adoptive transfer of tolerogenic dendritic cells (ApoB100-pulsed) can protect against atherosclerosis (36). Similarly, transfer of oxLDL-induced apoptotic dendritic cells may form a novel therapy for both initial and advanced atherosclerosis since it induces tolerogenic dendritic cells, enhances regulatory T cells (Treg) numbers, and reduces inflammatory monocyte responses. T cells Initial reports on the presence of T cells in human atherosclerotic lesions initiated research into the role of T cells in atherosclerosis. T cells can differentiate into various subsets of T cells and a main driving force into their activation is the presentation of antigen by dendritic cells within the lymph nodes and their reactivation within the atherosclerotic lesion by the interaction of effector T cells with macrophages presenting antigen, which often is a (neo)-epitope of (modified) LDL.

#### Th1 cells

The predominant type of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (37–39) within the atherosclerotic lesion is the Th1 cell. Th1 cells produce a plethora of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF-a, IFN-g, IL-2, and IL-12) and express the transcription factor T-bet. IFN-g promotes vascular inflammation by activating antigen-presenting cells (APCs), enhancing their lipid uptake, reducing collagen production by smooth muscle cells, and enhancing leukocyte recruitment (40–43). Th1 cells have been suggested to drive antigen specific immune responses in the atherosclerotic lesion and both oxidized LDL and heat shock proteins have been suggested as antigens (44, 45). Initial reports show that oxLDL is recognized by T cells in human lesions, while in addition the adoptive transfer of T cells from atherogenic mice aggravates atherosclerosis. In line with the observation that these CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells recognize oxLDL in a human leukocyte antigen-antigen D related restricted manner, Paulsson et al. (46, 47) described the oligoclonal expansion of T cells in atherosclerotic lesions indicating the response towards modified LDL. More recent data identify T cells expressing TRBV31 that react to native LDL and ApoB100, possibly more than to modified LDL (48). Interestingly next to antigen specific activation, hyperlipidemia may lead to lipid accumulation in T cells and activation of LXR leading to a decrease in the production of proinflammatory cytokines (49).

#### Th2 cells

Th2 cells are known for their B cell help and the presence of immunoglobulin (Ig)G that recognizes native and modified LDL implies that T cells actively support isotype switching from IgM to IgG in B cells (50). Isotype switching is also dependent on the co-stimulatory IL-4 and OX40-OX40L pathway and blockade of this pathway reduces atherosclerosis (51). The importance of this pathway is demonstrated by the identification of immune response network associated with blood lipid levels (52). This network shows a gene module, the lipid leukocyte module, which is replicated in T cells. Genetic variation driving lipid leukocyte module expression associate with serum IgE levels, which relate to mast cell activity. Lesional mast cell numbers and their activity are strongly related to the complexity of lesions and the outcome of CVD (53). In addition to their effect on isotype switching, Th2 cells produce IL-5 and IL-13. IL-5 has been shown to be anti-atherogenic by promoting the development of B-1 cells that produce protective IgM antibodies, resulting in reduced atherosclerosis (54). Recently anti-IL-5 autoantibodies have been shown to be associated with human atherosclerosis (55). IL-13 has also been shown to reduce atherosclerotic lesion development by skewing macrophages towards an M2 phenotype (56). Tregs Tregs are regulators of immune responses and their main function is inhibition of self-reactive T cells in the periphery, but Tregs have also a distinct effect on hyperlipidemia. Low levels of Tregs are associated with increased risk for myocardial infarction (57) and coronary syndromes (58) and during murine atherosclerosis Treg numbers significantly decrease with lesion progression (59, 60). Interestingly, oxLDL negatively affects the suppressive capacity of Tregs (59, 60). On the other hand, Tregs specific for oxLDL or peptides derived from apoB100 can be induced via oral or nasal tolerance induction and these induced Tregs inhibit lesion formation and progression. Overexpression of IL-10, a hallmark cytokine of Tregs reduces VLDL and LDL levels in serum of LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice (61). Recent studies have revealed a direct role for Tregs in cholesterol metabolism because depletion of Tregs using DEREG mice significantly increases atherosclerosis associated with a 1.7-fold increase in plasma cholesterol levels. More specifically, VLDL levels were increased because the clearance of VLDL and chylomicron remnants was inhibited in the absence of Tregs. They found reduced expression of sortilin-1 in the liver and increased plasma enzyme activity of lipoprotein lipase, hepatic lipase, and phospholipid transfer protein in Treg-depleted mice. In addition, Treg expansion in a regression model of atherosclerosis significantly reduced cholesterol levels when compared with control mice (62).

#### **B** cells

Mature B cells can be categorized into B1 cells and B2 cells. The former are innate T-cell independent B cells capable of producing natural IgM antibodies. Conventional B2 cells are T-cell dependent and are important in adaptive immunity by production of specific IgG antibodies to their cognate antigen. OxLDL is highly immunogenic and anti-oxLDL antibodies can be detected in atherosclerotic plaques as well as in the circulation of mice and men. OxLDL-specific IgM titers, produced by natural antibodies, are associated with protection against atherosclerosis (*54*). In experimental animal models, this protective role of natural anti-oxLDL antibodies produced by B1 cells was found to be mediated by IL-5 (*63*). In contrast to B1 cells, B2 cells, T-cell-dependent antibody-producing cells, promote atherosclerosis, which is in line with the aforementioned role of the co-stimulatory OX40-OX40L pathway and the role of Th2 cells (*51*). When B2 cells are depleted using anti-CD20, atherosclerosis increases (*64*). This also is consistent with the observation that anti-oxLDL IgG antibodies, derived from B2 cells correlate with the presence of CVD (54, 65).

### Lipid-induced epigenetic changes in immune cells

In the past decade, it has become increasingly clear that many epigenetic pathways govern differentiation and activation patterns of immune cells. It was found that chromatin modifying enzymes, such as histone deacetylases (HDACs) or histone methyltransferases (HMTs) can modify lipid metabolism and inflammatory responses of macrophages upon oxLDL exposure (66). For example, myeloid specific deletion of HDAC3 results in an antiinflammatory macrophage phenotype that produces high amounts of TGF-b and thereby induces collagen production by SMCs and fibrous cap formation in an in-vivo atherosclerosis model (67). Interestingly, when HSPCs, monocytes, and macrophages are exposed to oxLDL or hypercholesterolemia in vivo (10, 68), differentiated macrophages exhibit a higher inflammatory status than the unexposed control groups. This 'trained immunity' response could be reversed bv pretreatment with the methyltransferase inhibitor methylthioadenosine, suggesting an important role for epigenetic histone modifications in this process (68). Also other epigenetic modulators such as micro-RNAs (69) and long noncoding RNAs (70) can be modulated upon lipid loading in monocytes/macrophages. Similar findings have been reported for other immune cells, such as T cells (71), suggesting that lipid challenges induce epigenetic changes in immune cells that can mediate their differentiation, polarization or activation status, and thereby affect atherosclerosis (see also: Heijmans et al.,

The multifaceted interplay between circulating lipids and epigenetics. Curr Opin Lipidol, pp. 288–294).

### Conclusion

In this review, we have outlined the current knowledge on how hyperlipidemia, and especially modified LDL, affects the immune system, and vice versa. As has become clear during the last decades, the immune system reacts to lipids and lipid modifiers, which drives the progression of atherosclerosis. However, although we know that both lipids and the immune system are major determinants of atherosclerosis, the majority of the mechanisms and pathways mediating the crosstalk between lipids and immune cells have still not been identified. However, understanding how the immune system is regulated in hyperlipidemic conditions and in the different stages of atherosclerosis, and how immune cells regulate lipid metabolism is of utmost importance to identify potential therapeutic targets to prevent or stabilize the disease process. During the last decades, treatment of atherosclerosis was predominantly focused on lipid lowering. Although our insights in cholesterol metabolism and the development of lipid lowering drugs, in particular 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-CoA reductase inhibitors (statins), has helped to lower the incidence of CVD, a substantial part of the population still suffers from CVD notwithstanding optimal lipid-modulating therapy (72). Therefore, next to lipid lowering strategies, developing and testing of new anti-inflammatory protocols is needed in the future therapeutic approach of atherosclerosis. It may be anticipated that specific immunomodulatory therapies may not only correct derailed immune responses, but also correct dyslipidemia. Current therapies using statins effectively lower plasma LDL cholesterol but are also reported to have an anti-inflammatory effect, such as reducing intimal inflammation, lowering the lesional macrophage content (73). From a scientific viewpoint it is interesting to dissect whether the anti-inflammatory effects of statins are the consequence of their lipid lowering effect or the consequence of, for example, inhibiting the mevalonate pathway. In this respect it will be of major interest to determine the effect of the strong lipid-lowering anti-PCSK9 treatment on the inflammatory status of patients. At present, various clinical trials are ongoing that directly focus on inhibiting the low-grade inflammation in CVD patients, which is illustrated by enhanced levels of IL-1, IL-6, and high sensitivity C reactive protein (hsCRP) (1). The strategies include the use of a low dose of methotrexate or colchicine, comparable to the approach taken for the treatment of, for example, rheumatoid arthritis (74). Currently the largest trial, the CANTOS trial (trial.gov: NCT01327846), is focusing on blocking IL-1b using canakinumab (75). Experimental mouse data have shown that IL-1b blockade does diminish atherosclerosis and mechanistically it may be that reduction in IL-1b leads to lower IL-6 and hsCRP levels (76). It is anticipated that once we understand the interactions between lipids and the immune system, the current anti-inflammatory approaches to address the low-grade inflammation will be combined with lipid lowering approaches to provide optimal treatment regimens for atherosclerosis.

### Acknowledgements

None.

### Financial support and sponsorship

The authors acknowledge the support from the Netherlands CardioVascular Research Initiative, the Dutch Heart Foundation, Dutch Federation of University Medical Centres, the Netherlands Organisation for Health Research and Development and the Royal Netherlands Academy of Sciences for the GENIUS project 'Generating the best evidence-based pharmaceutical targets for atherosclerosis' (CVON2011-19; to J.K. and E.L.); the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research, NWO (VICI grant to E.L.), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinde (SFB 1123, A5 to E.L.), and the European Research Council (ERC-Cons to E.L.). The research leading to these results has received support from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/ 2007-2013) under grant agreement VIA no. 603131. The VIA project is also supported by financial contribution from Academic and SME/industrial partners (F.S., J.K.). This work was supported by the Dutch Heart Foundation (Grant 2009B093, V.F.).

## **Conflicts of interest**

There are no conflicts of interest.

### References

**1**. P. Libby, A. H. Lichtman, G. K. Hansson, Immune effector mechanisms implicated in atherosclerosis: from mice to humans., Immunity 38, 1092–104 (2013).

**2**. G. K. Hansson, A. Hermansson, The immune system in atherosclerosis, Nat. Immunol. 12, 204–212 (2011).

**3**. B. Legein, L. Temmerman, E. A. L. Biessen, E. Lutgens, Inflammation and immune system interactions in atherosclerosis, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 70, 3847–3869 (2013).

**4**. S. Massberg, P. Schaerli, I. Knezevic-Maramica, M. Köllnberger, N. Tubo, E. A. Moseman, I. V Huff, T. Junt, A. J. Wagers, I. B. Mazo, U. H. von Andrian, Immunosurveillance by hematopoietic progenitor cells trafficking through blood, lymph, and peripheral tissues., Cell 131, 994–1008 (2007).

**5**. *M.* T. Baldridge, K. Y. King, M. A. Goodell, Inflammatory signals regulate hematopoietic stem cells, Trends Immunol. 32, 57–65 (2011).

**6**. A. Mendelson, P. S. Frenette, Hematopoietic stem cell niche maintenance during homeostasis and regeneration, Nat. Med. 20, 833–846 (2014).

**7**. L. D. Wang, A. J. Wagers, Dynamic niches in the origination and differentiation of haematopoietic stem cells., Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 12, 643–55 (2011).

**8**. K. Y. King, M. A. Goodell, Inflammatory modulation of HSCs: viewing the HSC as a foundation for the immune response., Nat. Rev. Immunol. 11, 685–92 (2011).

**9**. A. Wilson, E. Laurenti, G. Oser, R. C. van der Wath, W. Blanco-Bose, M. Jaworski, S. Offner, C. F. Dunant, L. Eshkind, E. Bockamp, P. Lió, H. R. Macdonald, A. Trumpp, Hematopoietic stem cells reversibly switch from dormancy to self-renewal during homeostasis and repair., Cell 135, 1118–29 (2008).

**10**. T. Seijkens, M. A. Hoeksema, L. Beckers, E. Smeets, S. Meiler, J. Levels, M. Tjwa, M. P. J. de Winther, E. Lutgens, Hypercholesterolemia-induced priming of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells aggravates atherosclerosis, FASEB J. 28, 2202–2213 (2014).

**11**. A. J. Murphy, M. Akhtari, S. Tolani, T. Pagler, N. Bijl, C.-L. Kuo, M. Wang, M. Sanson, S. Abramowicz, C. Welch, A. E. Bochem, J. A. Kuivenhoven, L. Yvan-Charvet, A. R. Tall, ApoE regulates hematopoietic stem cell proliferation, monocytosis, and monocyte accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions in mice., J. Clin. Invest. 121, 4138–49 (2011).

**12**. Y. Feng, S. Schouteden, R. Geenens, V. Van Duppen, P. Herijgers, P. Holvoet, P. P. Van Veldhoven, C. M. Verfaillie, G. P. Fadini, Ed. Hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation is differentially regulated by high-density and low-density lipoproteins in mice., PLoS One 7, e47286 (2012).

**13**. C. S. Robbins, A. Chudnovskiy, P. J. Rauch, J.-L. Figueiredo, Y. Iwamoto, R. Gorbatov, M. Etzrodt, G. F. Weber, T. Ueno, N. van Rooijen, M. J. Mulligan-Kehoe, P. Libby, M. Nahrendorf, M. J. Pittet, R. Weissleder, F. K. Swirski, Extramedullary hematopoiesis generates Ly-6C(high) monocytes that infiltrate atherosclerotic lesions., Circulation 125, 364–74 (2012).

**14**. L. Yvan-Charvet, T. Pagler, E. L. Gautier, S. Avagyan, R. L. Siry, S. Han, C. L. Welch, N. Wang, G. J. Randolph, H. W. Snoeck, A. R. Tall, ATP-Binding Cassette Transporters and HDL Suppress Hematopoietic Stem Cell Proliferation, Science (80-. ). 328, 1689–1693 (2010).

**15**. K. S. Rogacev, S. Seiler, A. M. Zawada, B. Reichart, E. Herath, D. Roth, C. Ulrich, D. Fliser, G. H. Heine, CD14++CD16+ monocytes and cardiovascular outcome in patients with chronic kidney disease, Eur. Heart J. 32, 84–92 (2011).

**16**. K. E. Berg, I. Ljungcrantz, L. Andersson, C. Bryngelsson, B. Hedblad, G. N. Fredrikson, J. Nilsson, H. Björkbacka, Elevated CD14++CD16- monocytes predict cardiovascular events., Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet. 5, 122–31 (2012).

**17**. F. Tacke, D. Alvarez, T. J. Kaplan, C. Jakubzick, R. Spanbroek, J. Llodra, A. Garin, J. Liu, M. Mack, N. van Rooijen, S. A. Lira, A. J. Habenicht, G. J. Randolph, Monocyte subsets differentially employ CCR2, CCR5, and CX3CR1 to accumulate within atherosclerotic plaques., J. Clin. Invest. 117, 185–94 (2007).

**18**. F. K. Swirski, P. Libby, E. Aikawa, P. Alcaide, F. W. Luscinskas, R. Weissleder, M. J. Pittet, Ly-6Chi monocytes dominate hypercholesterolemia-associated monocytosis and give rise to macrophages in atheromata., J. Clin. Invest. 117, 195–205 (2007).

**19**. F. Geissmann, S. Jung, D. R. Littman, Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties., Immunity 19, 71–82 (2003).

**20**. F. K. Swirski, M. Nahrendorf, M. Etzrodt, M. Wildgruber, V. Cortez-Retamozo, P. Panizzi, J.-L. Figueiredo, R. H. Kohler, A. Chudnovskiy, P. Waterman, E. Aikawa, T. R. Mempel, P. Libby, R. Weissleder, M. J. Pittet, Identification of splenic reservoir monocytes and their deployment to inflammatory sites., Science 325, 612–6 (2009).

**21**. M. Westerterp, A. E. Bochem, L. Yvan-Charvet, A. J. Murphy, N. Wang, A. R. Tall, ATP-binding cassette transporters, atherosclerosis, and inflammation., Circ. Res. 114, 157–70 (2014).

22. A. R. Tall, L. Yvan-Charvet, Cholesterol, inflammation and innate immunity, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 15, 104–116 (2015).

23. N. J. Spann, L. X. Garmire, J. G. McDonald, D. S. Myers, S. B. Milne, N. Shibata, D. Reichart, J. N. Fox, I. Shaked, D. Heudobler, C. R. H. Raetz, E. W. Wang, S. L. Kelly, M. C. Sullards, R. C. Murphy, A. H. Merrill, H. A. Brown, E. A. Dennis, A. C. Li, K. Ley, S. Tsimikas, E. Fahy, S. Subramaniam, O. Quehenberger, D. W. Russell, C. K. Glass, Regulated accumulation of desmosterol integrates macrophage lipid metabolism and inflammatory responses., Cell 151, 138–52 (2012).

24. P. Duewell, H. Kono, K. J. Rayner, C. M. Sirois, G. Vladimer, F. G. Bauernfeind, G. S. Abela, L. Franchi, G. Nuñez, M. Schnurr, T. Espevik, E. Lien, K. A. Fitzgerald, K. L. Rock, K. J. Moore, S. D. Wright, V. Hornung, E. Latz, NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals., Nature 464, 1357–61 (2010).

25. K. J. Moore, I. Tabas, Macrophages in the Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis, Cell 145, 341–355 (2011).
26. M. Subramanian, I. Tabas, Dendritic cells in atherosclerosis, Semin. Immunopathol. 36, 93–102 (2014).

**27**. K. E. Paulson, S.-N. Zhu, M. Chen, S. Nurmohamed, J. Jongstra-Bilen, M. I. Cybulsky, Resident intimal dendritic cells accumulate lipid and contribute to the initiation of atherosclerosis., Circ. Res. 106, 383–90 (2010).

**28**. Y. V Bobryshev, T. Watanabe, Subset of vascular dendritic cells transforming into foam cells in human atherosclerotic lesions., Cardiovasc. Pathol. 6, 321–31 (1997).

**29**. H. J. Cho, P. Shashkin, C. A. Gleissner, D. Dunson, N. Jain, J. K. Lee, Y. Miller, K. Ley, Induction of dendritic cell-like phenotype in macrophages during foam cell formation., Physiol. Genomics 29, 149–60 (2007).

**30**. L. Perrin-Cocon, F. Coutant, S. Agaugué, S. Deforges, P. André, V. Lotteau, Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Promotes Mature Dendritic Cell Transition from Differentiating Monocyte, J. Immunol. 167, 3785–3791 (2001).

**31**. C. J. J. Alderman, P. R. Bunyard, B. M. Chain, J. C. Foreman, D. S. Leake, D. R. Katz, Effects of oxidised low density lipoprotein on dendritic cells: a possible immunoregulatory component of the atherogenic micro-environment?, Cardiovasc. Res. 55, 806–19 (2002).

**32**. S. Blüml, S. Kirchberger, V. N. Bochkov, G. Krönke, K. Stuhlmeier, O. Majdic, G. J. Zlabinger, W. Knapp, B. R. Binder, J. Stöckl, N. Leitinger, Oxidized phospholipids negatively regulate dendritic cell maturation induced by TLRs and CD40., J. Immunol. 175, 501–8 (2005).

**33**. R. Geyeregger, M. Zeyda, W. Bauer, E. Kriehuber, M. D. Säemann, G. J. Zlabinger, D. Maurer, T. M. Stulnig, Liver X receptors regulate dendritic cell phenotype and function through blocked induction of the actin-bundling protein fascin., Blood 109, 4288–95 (2007).

**34**. E. L. Gautier, T. Huby, F. Saint-Charles, B. Ouzilleau, J. Pirault, V. Deswaerte, F. Ginhoux, E. R. Miller, J. L. Witztum, M. J. Chapman, P. Lesnik, Conventional dendritic cells at the crossroads between immunity and cholesterol homeostasis in atherosclerosis., Circulation 119, 2367–75 (2009).

**35**. C. Hjerpe, D. Johansson, A. Hermansson, G. K. Hansson, X. Zhou, Dendritic cells pulsed with malondialdehyde modified low density lipoprotein aggravate atherosclerosis in Apoe-/- mice, Atherosclerosis 209, 436–441 (2010).

**36**. A. Hermansson, D. K. Johansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, J. Andersson, X. Zhou, G. K. Hansson, Immunotherapy With Tolerogenic Apolipoprotein B-100-Loaded Dendritic Cells Attenuates Atherosclerosis in Hypercholesterolemic Mice, Circulation 123, 1083–1091 (2011).

**37.** G. K. Hansson, J. Holm, L. Jonasson, Detection of activated T lymphocytes in the human atherosclerotic plaque., Am. J. Pathol. 135, 169–75 (1989).

**38**. J. Frostegård, A. K. Ulfgren, P. Nyberg, U. Hedin, J. Swedenborg, U. Andersson, G. K. Hansson, Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: dominance of pro-inflammatory (Th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines., Atherosclerosis 145, 33–43 (1999).

**39**. X. Zhou, G. Paulsson, S. Stemme, G. K. Hansson, Hypercholesterolemia is associated with a T helper (Th) 1/Th2 switch of the autoimmune response in atherosclerotic apo E-knockout mice., J. Clin. Invest. 101, 1717–25 (1998).

**40**. E. Laurat, B. Poirier, E. Tupin, G. Caligiuri, G. K. Hansson, J. Bariéty, A. Nicoletti, In vivo downregulation of T helper cell 1 immune responses reduces atherogenesis in apolipoprotein E-knockout mice., Circulation 104, 197–202 (2001).

**41**. C. Buono, C. J. Binder, G. Stavrakis, J. L. Witztum, L. H. Glimcher, A. H. Lichtman, T-bet deficiency reduces atherosclerosis and alters plaque antigen-specific immune responses., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 1596–601 (2005).

**42**. S. Gupta, A. M. Pablo, X. c Jiang, N. Wang, A. R. Tall, C. Schindler, IFN-gamma potentiates atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice., J. Clin. Invest. 99, 2752–61 (1997).

**43.** I. Voloshyna, M. J. Littlefield, A. B. Reiss, Atherosclerosis and interferon-γ: new insights and therapeutic targets., Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 24, 45–51 (2014).

**44**. S. Stemme, B. Faber, J. Holm, O. Wiklund, J. L. Witztum, G. K. Hansson, T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 3893–7 (1995).

**45**. Q. Xu, R. Kleindienst, W. Waitz, H. Dietrich, G. Wick, Increased expression of heat shock protein 65 coincides with a population of infiltrating T lymphocytes in atherosclerotic lesions of rabbits specifically responding to heat shock protein 65., J. Clin. Invest. 91, 2693–702 (1993).

**46**. X. Zhou, A. Nicoletti, R. Elhage, G. K. Hansson, Transfer of CD4(+) T cells aggravates atherosclerosis in immunodeficient apolipoprotein E knockout mice., Circulation 102, 2919–22 (2000).

**47**. G. Paulsson, Zhou X, E. Törnquist, G. Hansson, Oligoclonal T cell expansions in atherosclerotic lesions of apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. - PubMed - NCBI, (available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=.+Paulsson+G%2C+Zhou+X%2C+To¨rnquist+E%2C+Han sson+GK.+Oligoclonal+T+cell+expansions+in+atherosclerotic+lesions+of+apolipoprotein+E-deficient+mice).

**48**. A. Hermansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, D. Strodthoff, M. Wurm, E. M. Hansson, A. Nicoletti, G. Paulsson-Berne, G. K. Hansson, Inhibition of T cell response to native low-density lipoprotein reduces atherosclerosis., J. Exp. Med. 207, 1081–93 (2010).

**49**. D. Walcher, A. Kümmel, B. Kehrle, H. Bach, M. Grüb, R. Durst, V. Hombach, N. Marx, LXR activation reduces proinflammatory cytokine expression in human CD4-positive lymphocytes., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26, 1022–8 (2006).

**50**. S. Ylä-Herttuala, W. Palinski, S. W. Butler, S. Picard, D. Steinberg, J. L. Witztum, Rabbit and human atherosclerotic lesions contain IgG that recognizes epitopes of oxidized LDL., Arterioscler. Thromb. a J. Vasc. Biol. 14, 32–40 (1994).

**51**. A. C. Foks, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, I. Bot, M. N. D. ter Borg, K. L. L. Habets, J. L. Johnson, H. Yagita, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Interruption of the OX40-OX40 ligand pathway in LDL receptor-deficient mice causes regression of atherosclerosis., J. Immunol. 191, 4573–80 (2013).

52. M. Inouye, K. Silander, E. Hamalainen, V. Salomaa, K. Harald, P. Jousilahti, S. Männistö, J. G. Eriksson, J. Saarela, S. Ripatti, M. Perola, G.-J. B. van Ommen, M.-R. Taskinen, A. Palotie, E. T. Dermitzakis, L. Peltonen, G. S. Barsh, Ed. An immune response network associated with blood lipid levels., PLoS Genet. 6, e1001113 (2010).

**53**. S. Willems, A. Vink, I. Bot, P. H. A. Quax, G. J. de Borst, J.-P. P. M. de Vries, S. M. van de Weg, F. L. Moll, J. Kuiper, P. T. Kovanen, D. P. V. de Kleijn, I. E. Hoefer, G. Pasterkamp, Mast cells in human carotid atherosclerotic plaques are associated with intraplaque microvessel density and the occurrence of future cardiovascular events, Eur. Heart J. 34, 3699–3706 (2013).

54. D. Tsiantoulas, C. J. Diehl, J. L. Witztum, C. J. Binder, B cells and humoral immunity in atherosclerosis., Circ. Res. 114, 1743–56 (2014).

**55**. T. Ishigami, K. Abe, I. Aoki, S. Minegishi, A. Ryo, S. Matsunaga, K. Matsuoka, H. Takeda, T. Sawasaki, S. Umemura, Y. Endo, Anti-interleukin-5 and multiple autoantibodies are associated with human atherosclerotic diseases and serum interleukin-5 levels., FASEB J. 27, 3437–45 (2013).

**56**. L. Cardilo-Reis, S. Gruber, S. M. Schreier, M. Drechsler, N. Papac-Milicevic, C. Weber, O. Wagner, H. Stangl, O. Soehnlein, C. J. Binder, Interleukin-13 protects from atherosclerosis and modulates plaque composition by skewing the macrophage phenotype., EMBO Mol. Med. 4, 1072–86 (2012).

**57**. M. Wigren, H. Björkbacka, L. Andersson, I. Ljungcrantz, G. N. Fredrikson, M. Persson, C. Bryngelsson, B. Hedblad, J. Nilsson, Low levels of circulating CD4+FoxP3+ T cells are associated with an increased risk for development of myocardial infarction but not for stroke., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 32, 2000–4 (2012).

**58**. A. Mor, G. Luboshits, D. Planer, G. Keren, J. George, Altered status of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells in patients with acute coronary syndromes., Eur. Heart J. 27, 2530–7 (2006).

**59**. A. Mor, D. Planer, G. Luboshits, A. Afek, S. Metzger, T. Chajek-Shaul, G. Keren, J. George, Role of Naturally Occurring CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD25 <sup>+</sup> Regulatory T Cells in Experimental Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 893–900 (2007).

**60**. E. Maganto-García, M. L. Tarrio, N. Grabie, D. Bu, A. H. Lichtman, Dynamic changes in regulatory T cells are linked to levels of diet-induced hypercholesterolemia., Circulation 124, 185–95 (2011).

**61**. J. H. Von Der Thüsen, J. Kuiper, M. L. Fekkes, P. De Vos, T. J. Van Berkel, E. A. Biessen, Attenuation of atherogenesis by systemic and local adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of interleukin-10 in LDLr-/-mice., FASEB J. 15, 2730–2 (2001).

**62**. A. C. Foks, V. Frodermann, M. ter Borg, K. L. L. Habets, I. Bot, Y. Zhao, M. van Eck, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, Differential effects of regulatory T cells on the initiation and regression of atherosclerosis, Atherosclerosis 218, 53–60 (2011).

**63**. C. J. Binder, K. Hartvigsen, M.-K. Chang, M. Miller, D. Broide, W. Palinski, L. K. Curtiss, M. Corr, J. L. Witztum, IL-5 links adaptive and natural immunity specific for epitopes of oxidized LDL and protects from

atherosclerosis., J. Clin. Invest. 114, 427–37 (2004).

**64**. H. Ait-Oufella, O. Herbin, J.-D. Bouaziz, C. J. Binder, C. Uyttenhove, L. Laurans, S. Taleb, E. Van Vré, B. Esposito, J. Vilar, J. Sirvent, J. Van Snick, A. Tedgui, T. F. Tedder, Z. Mallat, B cell depletion reduces the development of atherosclerosis in mice, J. Exp. Med. 207, 1579–1587 (2010).

**65**. D. Tsiantoulas, A. P. Sage, Z. Mallat, C. J. Binder, Targeting B cells in atherosclerosis: closing the gap from bench to bedside., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35, 296–302 (2015).

66. J. Van den Bossche, A. E. Neele, M. A. Hoeksema, M. P. J. de Winther, Macrophage polarization: the epigenetic point of view., Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 25, 367–73 (2014).

**67**. M. A. Hoeksema, M. J. Gijbels, J. Van den Bossche, S. van der Velden, A. Sijm, A. E. Neele, T. Seijkens, J. L. Stöger, S. Meiler, M. C. Boshuizen, G. M. Dallinga-Thie, J. H. Levels, L. Boon, S. E. Mullican, N. J. Spann, J. P. Cleutjens, C. K. Glass, M. A. Lazar, C. J. de Vries, E. Al Biessen, M. J. Daemen, E. Lutgens, M. P. de Winther, Targeting macrophage Histone deacetylase 3 stabilizes atherosclerotic lesions., EMBO Mol. Med. 6, 1124–32 (2014).

**68**. S. Bekkering, J. Quintin, L. A. B. Joosten, J. W. M. van der Meer, M. G. Netea, N. P. Riksen, Oxidized low-density lipoprotein induces long-term proinflammatory cytokine production and foam cell formation via epigenetic reprogramming of monocytes., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 34, 1731–8 (2014).

69. M. W. Feinberg, K. J. Moore, MicroRNA Regulation of Atherosclerosis., Circ. Res. 118, 703–20 (2016).
70. Y. Dai, G. Condorelli, J. L. Mehta, Scavenger receptors and non-coding RNAs: relevance in atherogenesis., Cardiovasc. Res. 109, 24–33 (2016).

**71**. M. J. Jacobsen, C. M. J. Mentzel, A. S. Olesen, T. Huby, C. B. Jørgensen, R. Barrès, M. Fredholm, D. Simar, Altered Methylation Profile of Lymphocytes Is Concordant with Perturbation of Lipids Metabolism and Inflammatory Response in Obesity., J. Diabetes Res. 2016, 8539057 (2016).

**72**. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaborators, The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with statin therapy in people at low risk of vascular disease: meta-analysis of individual data from 27 randomised trials, Lancet 380, 581–590 (2012).

**73**. G. K. Sukhova, J. K. Williams, P. Libby, Statins reduce inflammation in atheroma of nonhuman primates independent of effects on serum cholesterol., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 22, 1452–8 (2002).

74. P. M. Ridker, T. F. Lüscher, Anti-inflammatory therapies for cardiovascular disease., Eur. Heart J. 35, 1782–91 (2014).

**75**. P. M. Ridker, B. M. Everett, T. Thuren, J. G. MacFadyen, W. H. Chang, C. Ballantyne, F. Fonseca, J. Nicolau, W. Koenig, S. D. Anker, J. J. P. Kastelein, J. H. Cornel, P. Pais, D. Pella, J. Genest, R. Cifkova, A. Lorenzatti, T. Forster, Z. Kobalava, L. Vida-Simiti, M. Flather, H. Shimokawa, H. Ogawa, M. Dellborg, P. R. F. Rossi, R. P. T. Troquay, P. Libby, R. J. Glynn, CANTOS Trial Group, Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease, N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 1119–1131 (2017).

**76**. V. Bhaskar, J. Yin, A. M. Mirza, D. Phan, S. Vanegas, H. Issafras, K. Michelson, J. J. Hunter, S. S. Kantak, Monoclonal antibodies targeting IL-1 beta reduce biomarkers of atherosclerosis in vitro and inhibit atherosclerotic plaque formation in Apolipoprotein E-deficient mice., Atherosclerosis 216, 313–20 (2011).



# Protection from atherosclerosis induced by oxLDL tolerization is not reinforced by polyclonal Treg induction

F.H. Schaftenaar<sup>1\*</sup>, J. Amersfoort<sup>1</sup>, H. Douna<sup>1</sup>, M.J. Kröner<sup>1</sup>,

G.H.M van Puijvelde<sup>1</sup>, I. Bot<sup>1</sup>, J. Kuiper<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of BioTherapeutics, Leiden Academic Centre for Drug Research, Leiden, The Netherlands

### Abstract

Atherosclerosis is characterized by lipid accumulation in the arterial wall and an ensuing pathogenic immune response. Induction of immune tolerance towards oxidized LDL, through oral administration of oxLDL, was effective at reducing atherosclerosis in line with our previous results. As oral administration of oxLDL was found to induce Tregs and levels of Tregs returned to baseline levels within weeks after treatment, we hypothesized that the effect of oral oxLDL treatment on atherosclerosis could be improved by polyclonal stimulation of Tregs and to that end LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated with IL-2 complexes after oral tolerance induction towards oxLDL. Only oral oxidized LDL administration reduced atherosclerosis, while trends towards reduced atherosclerosis were observed in the mice treated with IL-2 complex separately or IL-2 complex and oxidized LDL combined, compared to control treated mice. Our study suggest that specific tolerization towards plaque antigens is more beneficial than polyclonal Treg induction, and that a combination of both antigen specific tolerization and polyclonal Treg induction does necessarily lead to an additive beneficial effect on protection from atherosclerosis.

### Introduction

Atherosclerosis is characterized by the retention of cholesterol rich low density lipoprotein (LDL) particles in the arterial wall. In the arterial wall LDL undergoes oxidative modifications which initiates local inflammation and attracts immune cells to the subendothelial space. Uptake of oxidized LDL (oxLDL) particles by antigen presenting cells (APCs), including macrophages and dendritic cells, results in processing of oxLDL derived proteins and presentation of oxLDL derived peptides on MHC-I and MHC-II molecules. T cell receptor (TCR) recognition of (ox)LDL derived peptide/MHC complexes induces activation and proliferation of (ox)LDL specific T cells , resulting in (ox)LDL reactive T cells in the atherosclerotic lesion (1, 2).

Especially the induction of CD4 T helper 1 (Th1) cells, which are found at high levels in atherosclerotic lesions and mainly produce the inflammatory cytokines IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-12, and IL-2, have been found pathogenic in the context of atherosclerosis (*3*). Inhibition of the inflammatory Th1 response would therefore be an interesting option to treat atherosclerosis. CD4<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Tregs) are pivotal in the maintenance of peripheral tolerance towards self-antigens, among other mechanisms through suppressive effects on antigen presenting cells and other effector T cells, and were found effective at inhibiting autoimmune Th1 responses in experimental myasthenia (*4*) and autoimmune gastritis (*5*). Supporting a therapeutic potential of Tregs for treatment of atherosclerosis, adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> T cells, enriched for Tregs, reduced atherosclerotic lesion development (*6*) whereas depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> or Foxp3 expressing T cells increased atherosclerosis (*7*, *8*).

Within the Treg population, two distinct origins are distinguished, namely the Tregs generated in the thymus and peripherally induced Tregs, referred to as natural Tregs (nTregs) and inducible Tregs (iTregs), respectively. Since antigen specific Tregs were found more potent at preventing autoimmune diabetes than polyclonal Tregs (*9*), it can be therapeutically interesting to induce disease antigen specific Tregs to treat auto-immune diseases instead of increasing overall Treg levels. Antigen specific iTregs can be induced by delivery of a low quantity of antigen via oral administration. Presentation of antigen by the intestinal tolerogenic CD11C<sup>+</sup>CD103<sup>+</sup> DC population, which expresses high levels of TGF- $\beta$ , RALDH, and IDO promotes the induction of antigen specific immune suppressive regulatory B cells, Th3, Tr1 and Tregs (*10*). Our group has previously shown that atherosclerosis could be inhibited through oral administration of oxLDL, a relevant antigen for atherosclerosis (*1, 2*), inducing relatively low levels of oxLDL responsive inducible Tregs (*11*).

Regulatory T cells can be polyclonally expanded in vivo by administration of IL-2, on which Tregs depend for optimal growth and survival. Complexing IL-2 with an IL-2 specific antibody (JES6-1A12) still allows IL-2 to bind to the high affinity IL-2 receptor which is mainly expressed on Tregs, but inhibits binding of IL-2 to moderate and low affinity IL-2 receptors, specifically expanding Tregs in vivo when administered repeatedly (12, 13). Our group has previously

shown that atherosclerosis can also be inhibited through expansion of the entire Treg pool using IL-2 complexes (14), leading to substantially higher Treg levels than observed after oral oxLDL tolerance induction. Since oral oxLDL treatment yields low levels but antigen specific Tregs and IL-2c treatment expands the overall Treg pool we hypothesized that combining both treatment regimens could lead to enhanced atheroprotection than separate treatment regimens.

### Results



#### IL-2c treatment induces enhanced levels of Tregs

Fig. 1 **IL-2c treatment induces elevated levels of Tregs in several compartments. A**) Study outline: 10-12 week old male LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice were fed WTD for 9 weeks. In the first 8 days of WTD, tolerance towards oxLDL was induced by 4 oral administrations of oxLDL ( $30\mu g$ ) in oxLDL groups. Polyclonal expansion of Tregs was induced with 3 IL-2c injections in consecutive days starting 2 days after final oral gavage in IL-2c groups. After the last of the 3 consecutive IL-2c administrations, mice in the IL-2c group received a single IL-2c injection every 10 days. Vehicle injections served as control treatment. B) Quantification of FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory CD4 T cells in circulation at the indicated timepoints as assessed by flow cytometry. **C**) Quantification of FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory CD4 T cells in the blood, spleen, mediastinal and mesenteric lymph nodes after sacrifice measured by flow cytometry. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, B) two way ANOVA **C**) one-way ANOVA with Sidak posttest, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\*\* p < 0.001.

Since our lab has shown that non-specific Treg and oxLDL specific Treg induction, through intraperitoneal IL-2 complex administration and oral oxLDL administration of oxLDL reduced atherosclerosis we compared a combination of both treatments could complement each other by IL-2c mediated expansion of oral oxLDL induced oxLDL specific Tregs.

To induce oxLDL specific Tregs, tolerance to oxLDL was induced by oral administration of oxLDL ( $30 \mu g$ ) 4 times in 8 days and atherosclerosis was induced by subsequent WTD feeding of male LDLr KO mice for 8 weeks. To induce polyclonal expansion of Tregs, mice received intraperitoneal IL-2 complex injections ( $1\mu g$  IL-2,  $5\mu g$  anti IL-2 mAb, clone JES6-1A12) for 3 consecutive days, 2 days after the final oral oxLDL or oral control/PBS administration. To prevent elevated Treg levels from declining after the 3 consecutive days of IL-2c administration, mice received IL-2c injections every 10 days after the 3 initial IL-2c injections (Fig. 1A).

To assess whether treatment with IL-2c induced regulatory T cells we assessed Treg levels by flow cytometry in the blood, spleen, mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) which drain the intestines, and mediastinal lymph nodes (HLN) which drain the heart. In the blood the Treg content of the CD4 T cell population increased over two-fold upon IL-2c treatment 3 weeks in the experiment, and slightly declined towards the end of the experiment (Fig. 1B). Furthermore IL-2c treatment successfully raised Treg levels in spleen, MLN and HLN at sacrifice, showing that we were indeed able to systemically enhance Treg levels by our IL-2c treatment regimen (Fig. 1C). Induction was observed in the control treted group and the oxLDL tolerance induced group. We did not observe enhanced Treg levels after oral oxLDL treatment alone in any of the assessed tissues/organs (Fig. 1C), in line with the previous oxLDL study in which elevated Tregs were measured maximally 14 days after final oxLDL administration in spleen and MLN (*11*).

#### IL-2c and oxLDL treatment induce overall immune suppression

To assess whether the administration of oxLDL and IL-2c acted immunosuppressively, we assessed immune populations in circulation, spleen, HLN and MLN. IL-2c treatment alone reduced white blood cell counts (-37.7%, p = 0.0001) compared to the control treated group, similar to oxLDL treatment alone (-33.9%, p = 0.0005) (Fig. 2A). Combined oxLDL and IL-2c treatment (-58.0%, p = 0.0001) had an additional effect (vs oxLDL, p = 0.0209; vs IL-2c, p = 0.0593) on reduction of overall circulating leukocyte numbers (Fig. 2A). In all treatment groups a significant decrease in circulating neutrophils (Fig. 2B), classical monocytes (Fig. 2B) and B cells (Fig. 2D) was observed. Separate IL-2c administration induced patrolling monocyte and eosinophil levels (Fig. 2B). Overall CD4 T cells and CD4 Tem cells were significantly reduced in IL-2c+oxLDL treated mice and a trend towards reduction of CD4 T cells and CD4 Tem cells was observed in the oxLDL and IL-2c treatment groups, compared to control treated mice (Fig. 2C). In all treatment groups CD4 Tcm cell numbers were reduced compared to control treated mice, whereas naïve CD4 T cell levels were not affected (Fig. 2C). CD8 T cell
numbers were significantly reduced in the two IL-2c treated groups (Fig. 2E), with a trend towards reduction in the oxLDL treated group compared to control treated. Unlike in the CD4 T cell population, combined IL-2c and oxLDL also reduced naïve CD8 T cells and a trend towards reduction of naïve CD8 T cells was observed in IL-2c or oxLDL treated groups compared to PBS (Fig. 2C). Furthermore IL-2c treated groups had significantly reduced CD8 Tem and Tcm cell numbers in circulation, with a trend towards decrease for oxLDL treated (Fig. 2C).



Fig. 2 **IL-2c and oxLDL treatment induce overall immune suppression.** At sacrifice blood was collected and **A**) total white blood cell count was determined for all mice. On half of the mice flow cytometric analysis was performed and WBC counts were used to quantify the number of circulating **B**) major myeloid cell populations, **C**) CD4 T cells, **D**) B cells and **E**) CD8 T cells. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, one-way ANOVA with Sidak posttest, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.



Fig. 3 Only separate oral oxLDL administration reduces aortic root plaque size. To assess the effect of oral oxLDL and IL-2c administration aortic root sections were assessed. A) Representative microscopic images of neutral lipid staining with ORO used for B) quantification of atherosclerotic lesion size and vessel occlusion. C) Representative microscopic images of staining of collagen with Masson's Trichrome staining for the determination of plaque stability through D) quantification of collagen content. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, one-way ANOVA with Tukey posttest, \*\* p < 0.01.

The effect of oxLDL and IL-2c treatment on T cells was less evident in the lymphoid organs than in circulation. Neither treatment did alter overall splenocyte numbers or CD4 or CD8 T cell levels compared to control in the spleen (Fig. S1BC). oxLDL treatment alone significantly reduced the percentage of CD4 Tem cells and increased Th0 cells compared to all other experimental groups (Fig. S1B). Furthermore in all treatment groups a slight trend towards increased naïve CD8 T cells and reduced CD8 Tem and Tcm cells was observed, indicative of immune suppression by oxLDL and IL-2c treatment in the spleen (Fig. S1C). Furthermore we assessed T cell maturation in mesenteric lymph nodes and mediastinal lymph nodes but oxLDL and/or IL-2c treatment did not significantly impact the proportion of naïve, central memory, and effector memory T cells compared to control probably because the vast majority of T cells in the lymph nodes was already naïve in the control group (data not shown). Overall these data indicate that oxLDL and IL-2c treatment successfully induced immune suppression as seen from reduced circulating immune cell levels and reduced memory T cell populations in the IL-2c and oxLDL treated groups, compared to control treated mice.

# Only separate oral tolerance induction to oxLDL significantly reduces aortic root plaque size.

To assess whether the immunosuppressive effects of the different treatment regimens translated in reduced atherosclerosis, aortic root tissue sections were stained with oil red o (ORO) and trichrome to assess plague size and stability. The average lesion size in the control group was small (167,582  $\pm$  84,079  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) (Fig. 3AB) and low in collagen content (4.13  $\pm$  2.78 %) (Fig. 3CD), characteristic for early atherosclerotic lesions. Surprisingly, despite increased Treg levels and clear signs of immunosuppression in IL-2c treated groups, only separate oral oxLDL treatment significantly reduced plaque size compared to the PBS group (48.2%, 86675  $\pm$  45311 µm<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.0095) (Fig. 3AB). A trend towards decreased plaque size was observed in IL-2c treated group (27.5%, 121342  $\pm$  49079  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.2255), and the IL-2c + oxLDL combined group (33.9%, 110527  $\pm$  39027  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, p = 0.1034) compared to control treated (Fig. 3AB). Plaque size of the oxLDL treated group was not significantly different from that of the IL-2c treatment group (p=0.4714) or the IL-2c + oxLDL treatment group (p=0.7602) (Fig. 3AB). Collagen content of the lesions was very similar in all groups (Fig. 3CD), indicating that at this early point of lesion development IL-2c and oxLDL treatment did not affect plaque stability (p = > 0.9 for all comparisons). Neither treatment did significantly affect body weight or cholesterol levels (Fig. S2).

#### IL-2c treatment induces pro-atherogenic cell populations.

Since treatment with IL-2c induced high levels of Tregs, and appeared to have induced immune suppression, we assessed whether IL-2c administration induced expansion of cell populations that could explain why IL-2c treatment was not more effective than oxLDL treatment and did not provide an additional beneficial effect when combined with oral oxLDL

treatment. Among other cell populations, IL-2c treatment increased the NK<sup>+</sup> cell number, comprised of the atherogenic NKT and NK cell populations (15–17), and increased the number of atherogenic eosinophils (18, 19) in the blood (Fig. 4A). IL2c treatment also increased conventional DC (20) and patrolling monocyte (21) levels in the spleen (Fig. 4A), albeit their role in atherosclerosis is less clear cut. Furthermore we performed a peritoneal lavage to assess cell numbers at the site of IL-2c administration, and found increased leukocyte numbers in the peritoneal cavity (figure). Since these cells were not CD4<sup>+</sup>, also in the peritoneal cavity IL-2c administration had off-target effects. The off-target induction of pro-atherogenic cell populations by IL-2c are likely to have contributed to the inability of IL-2c treatment to improve the atheroprotective effect of oral tolerance induction towards oxLDL.



Fig. 4 **IL-2c treatment induces other cell populations besides Tregs. A**) Quantification of the flow cytometric analysis of splenocyte populations increased by IL-2c treatment. **B**) Total count of cells obtained by peritoneal lavage. **C**) Quantification of the number of CD4 T cells in the peritoneal lavage fluid as determined by flow cytometric analysis. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, one-way ANOVA with Tukey posttest, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

## Discussion

Atherosclerosis is characterized by lipid accumulation and a chronic auto-immune like response in the vessel wall. Uptake of LDL, oxidized in the vessel wall, by macrophages is one of the hallmarks of atherosclerosis. Presentation of peptide epitopes from (ox)LDL derived ApoB100 by APCs is known to activate T cells leading to induction autoreactive (ox)LDL specific T cells. It is well established that the inflammatory response in atherosclerosis is skewed towards a Th1 response (*3, 22*), resulting in high IFN-y and TNF-a levels in the atherosclerotic lesion (*23*).

FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells have been shown to be able to inhibit pathogenic Th1 skewed immune reactions in various experimental models of auto-immune disease (4, 5), and therefore form an interesting treatment option. Antigen specificity is an important determinant for suppressive potential of Tregs (9), however inducing and maintaining high levels of antigen specific Tregs has proven to be challenging (24). In previous studies our lab has shown that oxLDL specific inducible Tregs and polyclonal Treg induction, induced through oral administration of oxLDL (11) and administration of IL-2c (14) respectively, effectively

inhibited atherosclerosis. Oral oxLDL administration led to increased Treg levels in MLN and spleen up to 2 weeks after final oxLDL administration but elevated Treg levels were not detected at sacrifice (11). Therefore we hypothesized that maintaining or even increasing oxLDL specific Tregs with IL-2c could have an additional beneficial effect on atherosclerosis. Surprisingly only separate oxLDL administration significantly reduced atherosclerosis by 48.2%. A trend towards reduced plaque size of 27.5% and 33.9% was observed in the separate IL-2c, and IL-2c + oxLDL combination group respectively. Collagen content of the lesions was very similar in all groups, indicating that at this early point of lesion development, IL-2c and/or oxLDL treatment did not affect plaque stability. Similarly, treatment with IL-2c was only found to improve plaque stability in more advanced stages of atherosclerosis (14).

Although in the IL-2c treated groups atherosclerosis was not significantly inhibited, we did observe enhanced CD4<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Treg levels in circulation, spleen, mesenteric lymph nodes, and mediastinal lymph nodes, indicating that IL-2c treatment had been effective. Furthermore lowered numbers of circulating immune cells were observed after IL-2c treatment, indicative that IL-2c treatment resulted in induction of functionally suppressive Tregs. In the group treated with only oxLDL we did not detect enhanced Treg levels in line with the aforementioned oxLDL tolerization study (11). Oral oxLDL administration reduced white blood cell numbers compared to control treated similar to IL-2c treatment, indicative of ongoing immune suppression at sacrifice. This suggests that the suppressive capacity induced by oral oxLDL was not inferior to the suppressive capacity induced by IL-2c treatment, despite higher Treg levels in the IL-2c group than in the oxLDL group. The observation that antigen specific Tregs were found to have superior suppressive capacity compared to polyclonal Tregs (9) could explain this. The IL-2c mediated induction of atherogenic cell populations, including NK(T) cells (15–17) and eosinophils (21), are likely to have inhibited the atheroprotective effect of IL-2c mediated Treg induction. In a previous study by Mahr et al., treatment with JES6-1A12 - IL-2 complexes for 3 consecutive days doubled splenic cell numbers and enhanced NK cell, NKT cell, FoxP3<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cell, CD8 T cell, and B cell levels, 2 days after final injection, preventing engraftment of adoptively transferred bone marrow (25). This suggests that over the course of the study the off-target effects of IL-2c treatment would have been even bigger than we observed at sacrifice and likely directly affected atherogenesis.

Furthermore it is possible that IL-2c administration interfered with the immune response induced by oral oxLDL administration which was likely dependent on oxLDL specific iTregs (10, 11). Because of the plastic nature of Tregs (26), IL-2c mediated induction of immune populations capable of secreting large amounts of cytokines, like eosinophils, could have affected the suppressive capacity and tissue distribution iTreg population. Furthermore we cannot exclude that IL-2c treatment expanded more specifically nTregs rather than iTregs in vivo, because these Treg populations cannot reliably be distinguished (27), although in vitro both iTreg and nTreg populations are expanded by IL-2. Since adoptive transfer of nTregs led

to reduced iTregs (28), it is possible that IL-2c mediated expansion of nTregs could have reduced iTreg numbers instead of expanding iTregs by IL-2c treatment. A difference in iTreg/nTreg balance would not only impact antigen specificity affecting immune suppression (9), Treg subset specialization is dependent on environmental cues and is vital to suppress certain immune reactions (29–31). Because of the different environmental origin of iTregs and nTregs, the function and tissue distribution of iTregs and nTregs are likely to be different. The observations that both iTregs and nTregs were needed to successfully suppress experimental colitis (28), and that iTregs were more effective at inhibiting experimental asthma than nTregs (32), indeed indicates functional differences between iTregs and nTregs. Therefore it would be interesting to assess whether iTregs and nTregs are similarly induced by IL-2c administration when reliable population specific markers are identified.

Treatment of autoimmune diseases using Tregs is among other things dependent on Treg antigen specificity and Treg quantity (9, 24). Generating and maintaining high levels of antigen specific Tregs has proven to be challenging (24). In this study we aimed to improve atheroprotection mediated by oral tolerance induction towards oxLDL through expanding and maintaining oral oxLDL induced Tregs by IL-2c administration in vivo. IL-2c administration did not improve efficacy of oral oxLDL administration despite enhancing Treg numbers.

### **Materials and Methods**

#### Animals

All animal work was approved by the Leiden University Animal Ethics Committee and the animal experiments were performed conform the guidelines from Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes. LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice were originally purchased from Jackson Laboratories, and further bred in house. The mice were housed in groups of 2-4 animals in open cages with aspen bedding and were fed chow diet prior to the study. Mice were 10-12 weeks old at the start of the experiment and randomized based on age and weight (n=12).

#### Induction of atherosclerosis

LDLr<sup>-/-</sup>mice were fed a Western-type diet (WTD) containing 0.25% cholesterol and 15% cocoa butter (Special Diet Services, Witham, Essex, UK) to induce atherosclerosis, and were provided with food and water at libitum. Directly after the first oral administration of oxLDL/PBS, mice were fed this WTD until sacrifice, 9 weeks later.

#### **OxLDL** tolerization

To induce oral tolerance mice were fasted for 4h with access to water, after which 2 mg of soybean trypsin inhibitor (Sigma) was administered orally to prevent antigen degradation. 10 minutes later mice orally received phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) or 30  $\mu$ g of oxLDL. Induction of tolerance was repeated 3 times to a total of 4 injections in 8 days (11). LDL was

isolated from blood plasma of a healthy volunteer by density gradient ultracentrifugation (33), and oxidized with CuSO<sub>4</sub> (10  $\mu$ M, 37°C, 20 hours) (34).

#### **Polyclonal Treg induction**

To polyclonally induce Tregs mice intraperitoneally received IL-2c for 3 consecutive days, 2 days after final oral oxLDL administration. IL-2 complexes were generated by mixing recombinant IL-2 (1ug, Peprotech) with anti -IL-2 mAb (5  $\mu$ g, JES6-1A12, R&D Systems) in sterile PBS and incubation at 37 °C for 30 minutes (12–14).

#### Blood withdrawal and sacrifice

At intermediate timepoints blood was drawn by lateral tail cut and collected in EDTA coated capillary tubes (Microvette, Sarstedt). At the end-point of the study, mice were anesthetized by subcutaneous injection with a mix of ketamine (100 mg/mL), sedazine (25 mg/mL) and atropine (0.5 mg/mL), retro-orbitally exsanguinated, and perfused with PBS. TC levels were assessed with a commercially available kit (Roche) with precipath as an internal standard.

#### Histology

Hearts were cut in half and fixated in formalfix overnight. Hearts were incubated with OCT medium for at least an hour before cryosectioning (10  $\mu$ m thick sections) and collected on Superfrost Plus<sup>TM</sup> Adhesion Microscope Slides (ThermoFisher). Neutral fats were stained with Oil Red O to assess lesion size in five subsequent sections of the heart at 70  $\mu$ m intervals within the aortic root valve area. Collagen content of the lesions was quantified based on Masson's trichrome staining (Sigma-Aldrich). QWin software (Leica) was used to analyze the microscopic images (Leica DM2000).

#### **Flow Cytometry**

Cells from half of the animals (n=6 / treatment group) were stained extracellularly for 30 minutes in FACS buffer (PBS supplemented with 4% FCS) at 4° with the following antibodies (eBioscience/ThermoFisher Scientific): CD3-PerCP/Cy5.5 (145-2C11), CD4-PB (RM4-5), CD8-PE (53-6.7), FoxP3-PE (NRRF-30), CD25-FITC (PC61.5), CD44-FITC (IM7), CD62L-APC (MEL-14), CD19-PE (1D3), NK1.1-APC (PK136), CD11b-Pacific Blue (M1/70.15), Ly6C-PE (HK1.4), Ly6G-FITC (1A8), CD11c-FITC (N418), MHC-II- Pacific Blue (AF6-120.1). Cells were measured with a FACSCanto II (BD) flow cytometer. Analysis of flow cytometry data was performed with FlowJo software (Tree Star, inc.).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed with Graphpad Prism. Multiple group comparisons for a single timepoint were performed with a standard one-way ANOVA. For comparisons of multiple treatment groups with multiple timepoints, a standard two-way ANOVA was used.

The Tukey posttest was used to correct for multiple testing. A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

### References

**1**. A. Hermansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, D. Strodthoff, M. Wurm, E. M. Hansson, A. Nicoletti, G. Paulsson-Berne, G. K. Hansson, Inhibition of T cell response to native low-density lipoprotein reduces atherosclerosis, J. Exp. Med. 207, 1081–1093 (2010).

**2**. S. Stemme, B. Faber, J. Holm, O. Wiklund, J. L. Witztum, G. K. Hansson, T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 3893–7 (1995).

**3**. Z. Mallat, S. Taleb, H. Ait-Oufella, A. Tedgui, The role of adaptive T cell immunity in atherosclerosis: Fig. 1., J. Lipid Res. 50, S364–S369 (2009).

**4**. R. Liu, Q. Zhou, A. La Cava, D. I. Campagnolo, L. Van Kaer, F.-D. Shi, Expansion of regulatory T cells via IL-2/anti-IL-2 mAb complexes suppresses experimental myasthenia, Eur. J. Immunol. 40, 1577–1589 (2010).

**5**. G. H. Stummvoll, R. J. DiPaolo, E. N. Huter, T. S. Davidson, D. Glass, J. M. Ward, E. M. Shevach, Th1, Th2, and Th17 Effector T Cell-Induced Autoimmune Gastritis Differs in Pathological Pattern and in Susceptibility to Suppression by Regulatory T Cells, J. Immunol. 181, 1908–1916 (2008).

**6**. A. Mor, D. Planer, G. Luboshits, A. Afek, S. Metzger, T. Chajek-Shaul, G. Keren, J. George, Role of Naturally Occurring CD4 + CD25 + Regulatory T Cells in Experimental Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 893–900 (2007).

7. R. Klingenberg, N. Gerdes, R. M. Badeau, A. Gisterå, D. Strodthoff, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, A. M. Lundberg, M. Rudling, S. K. Nilsson, G. Olivecrona, S. Zoller, C. Lohmann, T. F. Lüscher, M. Jauhiainen, T. Sparwasser, G. K. Hansson, Depletion of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells promotes hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis, J. Clin. Invest. 123, 1323–1334 (2013).

**8**. H. Ait-Oufella, B. L. Salomon, S. Potteaux, A.-K. L. Robertson, P. Gourdy, J. Zoll, R. Merval, B. Esposito, J. L. Cohen, S. Fisson, R. A. Flavell, G. K. Hansson, D. Klatzmann, A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Natural regulatory T cells control the development of atherosclerosis in mice, Nat. Med. 12, 178–180 (2006).

9. Q. Tang, K. J. Henriksen, M. Bi, E. B. Finger, G. Szot, J. Ye, E. L. Masteller, H. McDevitt, M. Bonyhadi, J. A. Bluestone, In Vitro–expanded Antigen-specific Regulatory T Cells Suppress Autoimmune Diabetes, J. Exp. Med. 199, 1455–1465 (2004).

10. H. L. Weiner, A. P. da Cunha, F. Quintana, H. Wu, Oral tolerance, Immunol. Rev. 241, 241–259 (2011).
11. G. H. M. van Puijvelde, A. D. Hauer, P. de Vos, R. van den Heuvel, M. J. C. van Herwijnen, R. van der Zee, W. van Eden, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Induction of oral tolerance to oxidized low-density lipoprotein ameliorates atherosclerosis., Circulation 114, 1968–76 (2006).

**12**. O. Boyman, M. Kovar, M. P. Rubinstein, C. D. Surh, J. Sprent, Selective stimulation of T cell subsets with antibody-cytokine immune complexes., Science 311, 1924–7 (2006).

**13**. K. E. Webster, S. Walters, R. E. Kohler, T. Mrkvan, O. Boyman, C. D. Surh, S. T. Grey, J. Sprent, In vivo expansion of T reg cells with IL-2-mAb complexes: induction of resistance to EAE and long-term acceptance of islet allografts without immunosuppression., J. Exp. Med. 206, 751–60 (2009).

**14**. A. C. Foks, V. Frodermann, M. ter Borg, K. L. L. Habets, I. Bot, Y. Zhao, M. van Eck, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, Differential effects of regulatory T cells on the initiation and regression of atherosclerosis, Atherosclerosis 218, 53–60 (2011).

**15**. G. S. Getz, C. A. Reardon, Natural killer T cells in atherosclerosis, Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 14, 304–314 (2017).

**16**. A. Selathurai, V. Deswaerte, P. Kanellakis, P. Tipping, B.-H. Toh, A. Bobik, T. Kyaw, Natural killer (NK) cells augment atherosclerosis by cytotoxic-dependent mechanisms, Cardiovasc. Res. 102, 128–137 (2014).

**17**. G. H. M. van Puijvelde, E. J. A. van Wanrooij, A. D. Hauer, P. de Vos, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Effect of natural killer T cell activation on the initiation of atherosclerosis., Thromb. Haemost. 102, 223–30 (2009).

**18**. S. P. HOGAN, H. F. ROSENBERG, R. MOQBEL, S. PHIPPS, P. S. FOSTER, P. LACY, A. B. KAY, M. E. ROTHENBERG, Eosinophils: Biological Properties and Role in Health and Disease, Clin. Exp. Allergy 38, 709–750 (2008).

**19**. N. G. Kounis, G. D. Soufras, G. Tsigkas, G. Hahalis, White Blood Cell Counts, Leukocyte Ratios, and Eosinophils as Inflammatory Markers in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease, Clin. Appl. Thromb. 21, 139–143 (2015).

E. K. Koltsova, K. Ley, How dendritic cells shape atherosclerosis., Trends Immunol. 32, 540–7 (2011).
 G. Thomas, R. Tacke, C. C. Hedrick, R. N. Hanna, Nonclassical patrolling monocyte function in the vasculature., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35, 1306–16 (2015).

**22**. A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Cytokines in Atherosclerosis: Pathogenic and Regulatory Pathways, Physiol. Rev. 86, 515–581 (2006).

**23.** *I.* Voloshyna, M. J. Littlefield, A. B. Reiss, Atherosclerosis and interferon-γ: new insights and therapeutic targets., Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 24, 45–51 (2014).

**24**. B. Arellano, D. J. Graber, C. L. Sentman, Regulatory T cell-based therapies for autoimmunity., Discov. Med. 22, 73–80 (2016).

**25**. B. Mahr, L. Unger, K. Hock, N. Pilat, U. Baranyi, C. Schwarz, S. Maschke, A. M. Farkas, T. Wekerle, IL- $2/\alpha$ -IL-2 Complex Treatment Cannot Be Substituted for the Adoptive Transfer of Regulatory T cells to Promote Bone Marrow Engraftment., PLoS One 11, e0146245 (2016).

**26.** R. Qiu, L. Zhou, Y. Ma, L. Zhou, T. Liang, L. Shi, J. Long, D. Yuan, Regulatory T Cell Plasticity and Stability and Autoimmune Diseases., Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol. , 1–19 (2018).

**27**. S. Dohnke, M. Schreiber, S. Schallenberg, M. Simonetti, L. Fischer, A. I. Garbe, A. Chatzigeorgiou, K. Kretschmer, Approaches to Discriminate Naturally Induced Foxp3+ Treg cells of Intra- and Extrathymic Origin: Helios, Neuropilin-1, and Foxp3RFP/GFP, J. Clin. Cell. Immunol. 09, 540 (2018).

28. D. Haribhai, W. Lin, B. Edwards, J. Ziegelbauer, N. H. Salzman, M. R. Carlson, S.-H. Li, P. M. Simpson, T. A. Chatila, C. B. Williams, A central role for induced regulatory T cells in tolerance induction in experimental colitis., J. Immunol. 182, 3461–8 (2009).

**29**. M. A. Koch, G. Tucker-Heard, N. R. Perdue, J. R. Killebrew, K. B. Urdahl, D. J. Campbell, The transcription factor T-bet controls regulatory T cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation, Nat. Immunol. 10, 595–602 (2009).

**30**. Y. Zheng, A. Chaudhry, A. Kas, P. deRoos, J. M. Kim, T.-T. Chu, L. Corcoran, P. Treuting, U. Klein, A. Y. Rudensky, Regulatory T-cell suppressor program co-opts transcription factor IRF4 to control TH2 responses, Nature 458, 351–356 (2009).

**31**. A. Chaudhry, D. Rudra, P. Treuting, R. M. Samstein, Y. Liang, A. Kas, A. Y. Rudensky, CD4+ Regulatory T Cells Control TH17 Responses in a Stat3-Dependent Manner, Science (80-. ). 326, 986–991 (2009).

**32**. H. Huang, Y. Ma, W. Dawicki, X. Zhang, J. R. Gordon, Comparison of induced versus natural regulatory T cells of the same TCR specificity for induction of tolerance to an environmental antigen., J. Immunol. 191, 1136–43 (2013).

**33**. T. G. Redgrave, D. C. K. Roberts, C. E. West, Separation of plasma lipoproteins by density-gradient ultracentrifugation, Anal. Biochem. 65, 42–49 (1975).

**34**. T. J. Van Berkel, Y. B. De Rijke, J. K. Kruijt, Different fate in vivo of oxidatively modified low density lipoprotein and acetylated low density lipoprotein in rats. Recognition by various scavenger receptors on Kupffer and endothelial liver cells., J. Biol. Chem. 266, 2282–9 (1991).



# **Supplementary figures**

Fig. S1 **Naïve and memory T cell subsets in the spleen. A**) Representative plots of the flow cytometric analysis of splenic naïve, Tem and Tcm of **B**) the CD4 T cell population and **C**) CD8 T cell population. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, one-way ANOVA with Tukey posttest, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01.



Fig. S2 **Body weight and cholesterol are not affected by IL-2c or oxLDL treatment. A**) Over the course of the experiment body weight was monitored and cholesterol levels in blood plasma were determined. **B**) Cholesterol levels in blood plasma at sacrifice. Expressed as mean ± SEM, **A**) two-way ANOVA **B**) oneway ANOVA with Tukey posttest.



# Vaccination with ApoB100 derived peptide p210 does not provide atheroprotection in LDLr deficient, hApoB<sup>100/100</sup> transgenic mice.

F.H. Schaftenaar<sup>1\*</sup>, J. Amersfoort<sup>1</sup>, H. Douna<sup>1</sup>, M.J. Kröner<sup>1</sup>, P.J. van Santbrink<sup>1</sup>, A.C. Foks<sup>1</sup>, G.H.M van Puijvelde<sup>1</sup>, I. Bot<sup>1</sup>, J. Kuiper<sup>1\*</sup>

Submitted

<sup>1</sup> Division of BioTherapeutics, Leiden Academic Centre for Drug Research, Leiden, The Netherlands

# Abstract

Several vaccination strategies using ApoB100-derived peptide p210 have been found to be capable of reducing atherosclerosis. The atheroprotective mechanism of p210 vaccination is however disputed, and has been dedicated to induction of p210 antibodies, regulatory B cells and CD4 T cells, and cytolytic CD8 T cells. In this study we aimed to induce tolerance towards p210 through oral delivery of p210 coupled to the cholera toxin B-subunit (CTB), and aimed to stimulate a humoral and cellular response against p210 through subcutaneous alumadjuvanted vaccination of p210 coupled to Pan DR-epitope (PADRE), in LDLr deficient, hApoB<sup>100/100</sup> transgenic (HuBL) mice.

CTB-p210 and PADRE-p210 administrations induced p210 IgG, and CTB-p210 also induced IL-10 producing regulatory B cells. We did not observe a significant impact of either p210 treatment on the CD4 T cell and CD8 T cell populations previously reported to mediate the atheroprotective effects of p210. The MHC binding properties of p210 make it unlikely that p210 effectively induces p210 specific T cells, however enhanced cell death in CTB-p210 but not in CTB or p210 stimulated splenocyte cultures is suggestive of adjuvant properties of p210, which could explain the divergent effects reported of vaccination with p210.

We did not observe reduced atherosclerosis upon p210 treatment, however as p210 is part of the LDLr binding site in ApoB100, it is possible that p210 antibodies affect atherosclerosis through modulation of the interaction between ApoB100 and the LDLr, which effect would have been missed with the LDLr deficient model used in this study. Alternatively, adjuvant properties of p210 could have induced atheroprotection in previous studies.

## Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is still the primary cause of death in the world (1). Atherosclerosis is the dominant underlying pathology of cardiovascular deaths. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis is hallmarked by retention and accumulation of cholesterol rich LDL in the vessel wall of middle to large sized arteries. In the arterial wall LDL undergoes oxidative modifications, forming oxLDL, which triggers a chronic local immune response. Early atherosclerosis is dominated by the influx of monocytes in the atherosclerotic lesions which differentiate to macrophages and take up large quantities of oxLDL (2). Presentation of LDL by dendritic cells and macrophages (antigen presenting cells, APCs) induces humoral and cellular adaptive immune responses to LDL, resulting in a pathogenic Th1 skewed immune response (3, 4). Classically treatment of atherosclerosis has been focused on lowering lipid levels. This has been effective, however many patients carry a residual risk to cardiovascular events due to unresolved inflammation, even after successful lipid lowering (5). Administration of neutralizing antibodies against IL-1 $\beta$  in the CANTOS trial reduced major cardiovascular events by up to 15% in the higher dose groups (6, 7), supporting the rationale of reducing inflammation for treatment of atherosclerosis.

Since LDL has been identified as a major auto-antigen in atherosclerosis, multiple research groups have modulated the immune response towards LDL in preclinical models, successfully reducing atherosclerosis (8). The clinical application of apoB100, the main protein in LDL, is hampered because of its large size and heterogeneous nature, and researchers have attempted to identify immunogenic epitopes in LDL for clinical purposes. The 20 amino acid long p210 peptide is one of the LDL ApoB100 derived antigens that in multiple different formulations and vaccination strategies, has proven to be capable of reducing atherosclerosis (9-12). The protective mechanism(s) by which p210 vaccination induces atheroprotection are however still disputed (8), which may hamper the clinical use of p210 vaccination. The p210 peptide was originally described as an antigen that is recognized by antibodies in serum of cardiovascular patients (13), identifying p210 as an antibody epitope. In line with this, the atheroprotective effects of p210 have been attributed to induction of p210 specific antibodies (12). However other papers have dedicated the atheroprotective properties of p210, utilizing several different formulations, administration routes and administration schedules, to induction of Bregs (10), CD4 Tregs (9, 10), and cytotoxic CD8 T cells (11, 14).

In this study we aimed to further delve into the effects of p210 vaccination on the immune system and its atheroprotective effects. Since it is generally accepted that atheroprotection can be accomplished by induction of a regulatory response towards intact (ox)LDL (15) or parts of LDL (16, 17), we first aimed to induce a tolerogenic response towards p210 by oral administration of p210 coupled to cholera toxin B (CTB). Repeated low dose antigen administration via the oral route is known to induce regulatory antigen specific adaptive immune cells, inducing so called oral tolerance (18). CTB can induce tolerogenic dendritic

cells (19) and B cells (10, 20), and enhances mucosal delivery of coupled antigens through interaction with GM1 gangliosides, greatly enhancing antigen specific regulatory CD4 T cell numbers in vivo (21). To investigate the atheroprotective potential of p210 antibodies and p210 specific conventional effector T cells, we intraperitoneally vaccinated mice with p210 coupled to PADRE, adjuvanted with alum.

Since p210 is not completely homologous to the corresponding murine sequence in ApoB100 (90% homology, accession NP\_033823.2 vs p210), we aimed to use a preclinical model with endogenous expression of human ApoB100, which could impact thymic selection of T cell clones specific for human apoB100 and p210, and in vivo presentation of the cognate antigen for specific T cell clones. Furthermore in all published studies regarding p210 immunization in atherosclerosis ApoE deficient mice were utilized. Since p210 is part of the LDL receptor binding site A in ApoB100 (22, 23), we wondered whether the protective effect of p210 vaccination still was observed in the absence of LDLr. Therefore we used LDLr deficient and human ApoB<sup>100/100</sup> transgenic (HuBL) mice (23, 24) in the experiments described in this paper.

## Results

#### Oral vaccination with CTB-p210 induces Bregs, and p210-specific IgG and IgA

To establish a regulatory response towards p210, female HuBL mice received an oral gavage with CTB-p210 (30  $\mu$ g) every other day in the first week (4 times), after which p210-CTB was orally administered weekly to maintain a p210 specific immune response. In parallel to CTB-p210 administration, the control group orally received CTB (same molar amount). From the start of treatment animals were fed a\_western type diet to induce atherosclerosis, until sacrifice 8 weeks later. Since previously CTB-p210 was found to induce Bregs in vitro (10), we assessed the splenic B cell population for IL-10<sup>+</sup> Bregs (B10 cells) with flow cytometric analysis of splenocyte cultures incubated with PMA/ionomycin and Monensin for 5h (Fig. 1B). The overall levels of splenic B cells (prior to culture) did not differ between CTB and CTB-p210 treatment increased B10 cell levels compared to CTB treatment (Fig. 1C). Because p210 was initially identified as an antibody epitope (13), we assessed the effect of oral CTB-p210 administration on the B cell population and p210 specific antibody levels. Oral CTB-p210 administration increased IgA and IgG levels, but not IgM levels, against native p210 (Fig. 1D) and malondialdehyde (MDA) modified p210 (Fig. 1E) compared to CTB administration.

#### Oral CTB-p210 administration does not induce Tregs

Because nasal CTB-p210 administration was previously found to induce CD4 Tregs in vivo (9) and CTB-p210 pulsed B cells induced CD4 Tregs in vitro (10), we assessed Treg levels in several lymphoid organs. We did not observe enhanced levels of FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells (Fig. 2A) and FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells (Fig. 2C) in freshly isolated splenocytes, or enhanced levels of IL-10<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells (Fig. 2B) and IL-10<sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells (Fig. 2D) in PMA/ionomycin stimulated

splenocyte cultures of P210-CTB treated mice. Since after oral administration of CTB-OVA the highest levels of Tregs were measured in the Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes draining the intestines (25), we also assessed FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+/-</sup> CD4 T cell levels in Peyer's Patches (Fig. S1A) and mesenteric lymph nodes (Fig. S1B), and atherosclerosis relevant mediastinal lymph nodes (Fig. S1D), draining the aortic arch, and in circulation (Fig. S1C). In neither of the assessed organs we observed enhanced Treg levels, suggesting that oral CTB-p210 administration did not enhance Treg levels over oral CTB administration. Moreover, we did not observe a difference in IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD4 T cells between CTB and CTB-p210 treated (Fig. 2B), indicating that the atherogenic Th1 response was not significantly altered by CTB-p210 compared to CTB administration.



Fig. 1 **Oral CTB-p210 administration induces B10 cells and anti-p210 IgA and IgG antibodies.** A) Quantification of B cell content in spleen as assessed by flow cytometry. **B**) Representative flow cytometry plots of the CD19<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> population of splenocytes cultures incubated with PMA/IONO, and Brefeldin A and Monensin for 5h. **C**) Quantification of IL-10<sup>+</sup> cells in the B cell population of PMA/IONO stimulated splenocytes cultures. Quantification of ELISA measurements of IgM, IgA, and IgG antibodies against **D**) native p210, and **E**) malondialdehyde (MDA)-modified p210, in blood serum (1:50 dilution) obtained at sacrifice. Represented as mean ± SEM, unpaired two-tailed T test, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001.

Vaccination with ApoB100 derived peptide p210 does not provide atheroprotection in LDLr deficient, hApoB100/100 transgenic mice

#### Oral CTB-p210 administration induces splenocyte reactivity towards oxLDL

To assess whether vaccination with CTB-p210 had affected the immune reactivity towards oxLDL, we subjected splenocytes to a thymidine incorporation assay. Surprisingly, both basal proliferation (Fig. 3A) and oxLDL induced proliferation (Fig. 3B) were increased in splenocyte cultures from CTB-p210 treated mice compared to splenocyte cultures from CTB treated mice. Furthermore overall thymidine incorporation was similar in  $\alpha$ CD3/ $\alpha$ CD28 cultures from both treatment groups (Fig. 2C), indicating that overall proliferative capacity of splenic T cells was similar in CTB-p210 and CTB treated mice. In an effort to quantify CTB-p210 treatment groups to freshly isolated LDL (5 µg/ml), copper oxidized oxLDL (5 µg/ml), p210 (2 µM), CTB (2 µM), or CTB-p210 (2 µM) for 5h after which levels of IL-2, IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  producing CD4 and CD8 T cells were assessed by flow cytometry. We did not observe significant changes in cytokine production between the treatment groups (data not shown), however we did observe reduced cell viability in splenocytes cultured with CTB-p210 irrespective of in vivo treatment (Fig. 3DE).



Fig. 2 Splenic regulatory T cell and Th1 cell levels are not affected by oral CTB-p210 administration. A) Representative flow cytometry plots of the gating of regulatory CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> cells and quantification in the splenic CD4 T cell population and C) CD8 T cell population. B)  $2*10^6$  splenocytes per well were incubated with PMA, ionomycin, Monensin and Brefeldin A for 5h after which IFN- $\gamma^+$  and IL-10<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells and D) CD8 T cells were flow cytometrically assessed and quantified. Represented as mean ± SEM,

Chapter 4



Fig. 3 **CTB-p210 induces oxLDL reactivity in ex vivo splenocyte cultures and causes cell death in vitro. A)** Basal splenocyte proliferation **B)** oxLDL (5 µg/ml) induced proliferation and **C**)  $\alpha$ CD3/ $\alpha$ CD28 induced T cell proliferation as assessed by a thymidine incorporation assay in splenocyte cultures from CTB and CTB-p210 treated mice. **D**) Representative flow cytometry plots of the singlet population of splenocyte cultures (2\*10<sup>6</sup> cells/well) from the same CTB treated mice, incubated for 5 hours with p210 (2 µM), CTB (2 µM), or CTB-p210 (2 µM), and gating for viable cells. **E**) Quantification of culture viability of splenocyte cultures from CTB and CTB-p210(2 µM), DLL (5 µg/ml),  $\alpha$ CD3/ $\alpha$ CD28, or PMA+Ionomycin, and Brefeldin A and Monensin, as assessed with flow cytometry. Represented as mean ± SEM, **A-C**) unpaired two-tailed T test, **E**) One-Way ANOVA with Holm-Šídák posttest, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\*\* p < 0.001.

# Antibodies against p210 are not protective in LDLr deficient hApoB100tg mice.

To assess the effect of CTB-p210 vaccination on atherogenesis we histologically assessed the atherosclerotic lesion size in the aortic root (Fig. 4A) and brachiocephalic artery (Fig. 4C). The average aortic root lesion size was not different between the CTB treated group (636667 ± 170356  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) and the CTB-p210 treated group (693083 ± 135938  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) (Fig. 4B). Similarly brachiocephalic average lesion size and lesion volume did not differ between CTB (avg. lesion: 139790 ± 73282  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>; volume: 1.48\*10<sup>8</sup> ± 1.29\*10<sup>8</sup>  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) and CTB-p210 treated (avg. lesion: 94512 ± 69641  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>; volume: 9.46\*10<sup>7</sup> ± 8.46\*10<sup>7</sup> $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) (Fig. 4D). Moreover, there was no correlation between the atherosclerotic lesion size in the aortic root and IgM, IgA, and IgG levels against native p210 (Fig. S2A) and MDA-modified p210 (Fig. S2B).



Fig. 4 Oral CTB-p210 vaccination does not reduce atherosclerotic plaque size in HuBL mice. A) Transverse sections of the aortic root stained with oil red o B) and quantification of the average lesion size in the aortic root. C) Sections of the brachiocephalic artery stained with H&E and D) quantification of the average lesion size and lesion volume in the brachiocephalic artery. Represented as mean ± SEM, unpaired two-tailed T test.

The only p210 specific response we could detect after oral CTB-p210 administration was the induction of p210 specific antibodies. To ensure that we did not underestimate the atheroprotective effect of p210 antibodies, possible due to induction of insufficient levels of p210 antibodies to significantly impact atherogenesis, we performed an additional experiment. In this experiment we subcutaneously immunized HuBL mice with p210 coupled to PADRE (Pan-DR-epitope), a strong MHC-II epitope which promotes T cell dependent antigen production (*26*), and used alum as an adjuvant to stimulate a humoral response (*27*) and a conventional effector CD4 and CD8 T cell response against p210. Since a p210 specific atheroprotective CD8 T cell response was reported after alum adjuvanted vaccination with cBSA-p210, we were also cautious of a possible CD8 T cell response induced by our vaccination scheme.



Fig. 5 PADRE-p210 vaccination induces high p210 specific IgG levels but does not act atheroprotective in HuBL mice. A) Experimental setup and p210 IgG levels blood plasma (1:1000 dilution). B) Representative transverse sections of the aortic root stained with ORO, C) used for the quantification of the average atherosclerotic lesion size in the aortic root (AR). D) Correlation analysis of p210 antibody levels in blood serum obtained at sacrifice from PADRE-p210 treated animals, and the average atherosclerotic lesion size in the atherosclerotic root. Represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, A) Two-Way ANOVA with Holm-Šídák posttest, significance of control vs PADRE-p210 treatment depicted by (\*) and of PADRE vs PADRE p210 by (°), \* p < 0.05, \*\*/00 p < 0.01, 000 p < 0.001 \*\*\*\*/0000 p < 0.0001. C) One-Way ANOVA with Holm-Šídák posttest. D) Scatter dot plot depicted with trend line (solid line), 95% Confidence interval (dotted lines).

Mice were subcutaneously vaccinated 3 times in 37 days with PADRE-p210 (25  $\mu$ g, 6.7 nmol) in alum, PADRE (9.1  $\mu$ g, 6.7 nmol) in alum, or PBS (Fig. 5A). Increased levels of p210 IgG antibodies were observed in the p210-PADRE treated group compared to PADRE and PBS treated groups after the second immunization and were further boosted with a third vaccination, after which mice received WTD until sacrifice (Fig. 5A). We did not detect differences between treatment groups in levels of CD8 T cells, Ki67<sup>+</sup> proliferating CD8 T cells, CD44<sup>+</sup> antigen experienced CD8 T cells, and FoxP3<sup>+</sup> CD8 Tregs in mediastinal lymph nodes (data not shown) and spleen (Fig. S3A). The effect of PADRE-p210 on atherosclerosis was assessed by histological analysis of aortic root tissue sections (Fig. 5B) p210-PADRE treatment did not affect aortic root lesion size (Fig. 5C) (PBS: 490517 ± 118811  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> PADRE: 495962 ± 154416  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> PADRE-p210: 436183 ± 102236  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>). Anti-p210 IgG levels of PADRE-p210 treated mice.

## Discussion

Cardiovascular disease is the primary cause of death in the world with atherosclerosis as its main underlying pathology (1). Atherosclerosis is driven by dyslipidemia and inflammation. The main focus of atherosclerosis treatment has classically been the normalization of circulating lipid levels. Normalizing lipid levels in circulation has reduced cardiovascular events by reducing the deposition and accumulation of cholesterol rich LDL in the artery wall (28, 29). Furthermore normalization of lipid levels also reduces inflammation, however in many CVD patients in which treatment of dyslipidemia is successful, inflammation is not completely resolved and poses a residual risk for a CV event (5). Recently, results from the CANTOS trial, in which a human IL-1 $\beta$  neutralizing antibody was used to dampen inflammation, provided proof that inhibition of inflammation is clinically effective in human, reducing major cardiovascular events by 15% (7).

Preclinical studies have shown that inflammation in context of atherosclerosis can also be inhibited through modulation of the adaptive response to plaque constituents, including HSPs (30, 31), complete (ox)LDL (15) and parts of (ox)LDL (32), which lead to a reduction in atherosclerosis. Because LDL is heterogeneous containing lipids and a single, large apolipoprotein B-100, research groups have put effort into identifying immunogenic epitopes in the ApoB100 protein to use for modulating the immune response against LDL (13, 16, 33). One of the epitopes that was identified by a peptide library screen for antibody binding derived from human pooled blood is p210 (13). Since then, multiple immunization studies with p210 have been performed resulting in reduced atherosclerosis in ApoE deficient mice, although the mechanism of action is still disputed (34, 35). To obtain new insights into the immunological mechanism of action of p210 we aimed to assess the effect of p210 vaccination on atherosclerosis and the immune system in an LDL receptor deficient mouse model with endogenous expression of human ApoB100, the HuBL mouse model.

Because p210 mediated atheroprotection has been suggested to originate from the induction of regulatory CD4 T cells (9), regulatory B cells (10), conventional effector CD8 T cells (11, 14), and p210 specific antibodies (12) depending on formulation and mode of administration, we employed two vaccination strategies to promote induction of adaptive responses against p210. On the one hand, we opted to deliver p210 fused to the tolerogenic adjuvant CTB (21) and administered via the oral route to induce oral tolerance, which is known to induce regulatory B cells, and antigen-specific Tregs (18). On the other hand, p210 was coupled to PADRE, adjuvanted with alum and injected subcutaneously to maximize p210 specific antibody production and induce conventional T cell responses.

Both vaccination approaches used in our study resulted in the induction of p210 specific antibodies in the treatment groups containing p210, indicating that both protocols broke tolerance towards a part of the endogenous protein apoB100. We did not observe an

Chapter 4

atheroprotective effect of induction of antibodies against p210. In a recent study however, immunization with p210, and administration of antibodies against MDA-modified p210 resulted in reduced atherosclerosis due to p210-antibody mediated altered lipid handling and reduced inflammation (12). Similarly, atheroprotection was observed in nasal CTB-p210 treated mice, inducing anti-p210 antibodies and CD4 Tregs (9). The discrepancy in the observed atheroprotective effect of p210 immunization between the studies of Klingenberg and Zeng, and our study can be the result of the use of ApoE deficient mice in the previous studies, and the use of LDLr deficient animals in our study since p210 is part of LDLr binding site A in ApoB100 (22, 23). In line with a role for the LDLr in the atheroprotective effects of p210 antibodies, LDLr mediated uptake of LDL by adipocytes was inhibited in vitro by p210 antibodies (36). In macrophage cultures incubated with oxLDL, addition of p210 antibodies inhibited the formation of foam cells (36) and upregulated the expression of cholesterol efflux genes (12), beneficial in the context of atherosclerosis. Induction of p210 and LDL crossreactive antibodies with a p210 mimotope, was found to prevent high fat diet induced weight gain and liver steatosis in wild type C57BL/6 mice (36), showing that anti-p210 antibodies can also improve lipid handling in vivo in WT animals. Through immunization with a p210 mimotope in the study of Kim, a peptide with a different amino acid sequence than p210 but capable of inducing antibodies cross reactive with p210 and LDL, the possibility that p210 specific T cells were induced and affected lipid handling was excluded. Moreover in humans, anti p210 IgM and IgG levels were correlated with improved carotid intima-media thickness parameters (37), indicating atheroprotective properties of p210 antibodies in human. Interestingly the inverse correlations between anti-p210 IgG levels and baseline composite measures of carotid intima-media thickness disappeared when adjusted for known risk factors (37), suggesting that improved lipid handling induced by anti-p210 antibodies (12, 36) might also occur in human.

Besides induction of protective antibodies, the protective effect of vaccination with p210 formulations has been dedicated to the induction of atheroprotective T cell populations (9, 11, 14). However, after neither of the p210 immunizations we detected alterations in CD4 T cell or CD8 T cell populations, nor did we detect an atheroprotective effect which, if T cell dependent, should not have been affected by the use of an LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> or ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> model. Furthermore, immunomodulation using ApoB100 derived CD4 T cell epitopes was shown to be capable of reducing atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice (16) and LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice (17) before. It would be interesting to assess whether this favorable immunomodulation can still be achieved when commenced at later stages of atherosclerosis development, when immune tolerance towards plaque antigens like ApoB100 might have been eroded (38). Lack of robust demonstration of p210 specific T cells is in line with in silico prediction tools of MHC binding which indicate that it is very unlikely that p210 itself or p210 derived peptides bind murine MHC-II (IAb) (35), or MHC-I (H-2Kb and H-2Db) (Supplementary Table 1). This suggests that the previously observed T cell responses after p210 vaccination are likely dependent on an indirect mechanism. Similarly we observed enhanced cell death in splenocyte cultures

incubated with CTB-p210 irrespective of the treatment group, which was unlikely the result of a cytotoxic T cell response or regulatory T cell response towards CTB-p210, because flow cytometric analysis of the cultures did not reveal enhanced IFN- $\gamma^+$  or IL10<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells or CD8 T cells, nor did p210 or CTB induce enhanced cell death. It is therefore conceivable that p210 potentiated the known pro-apoptotic properties of CTB (*39*).

Adjuvant properties of p210 could explain the divergent immunological effects which have been described upon administration of different p210 formulations. As a matter of fact, the heparan sulfate proteoglycan and LDLr binding properties of the LDLr binding sites of ApoB100 were previously utilized to promote the uptake of the SIINFEKL peptide, promoting cross priming of CD8 T cells (22). Furthermore, an enhanced FITC signal was detected in DCs cultured with p210-FITC but not in DCs incubated with FITC alone (11), strongly suggestive that p210 can promote uptake of coupled proteins via heparan sulfate proteoglycans and the LDLr. Enhanced p210 mediated uptake and cross-presentation of cBSA, containing T cell epitopes, could therefore explain the observed induction of CD8 T cell activity in CTB-p210 vaccinated mice (11). Due to the 70% homology between bovine albumin and murine albumin (accession M73993.1 vs accession BC049971.1), enhanced cBSA presentation is likely to cause induction of alloreactive and auto-reactive CD4 and CD8 T cell clones, and cross-reactive antibodies against murine albumin which is present in large quantities in atherosclerotic plaques (40). Since immunization with cBSA reduces atherosclerosis (41), the proposed adjuvant properties of p210 could therefore explain the atheroprotective effect of cBSA-p210 vaccination. Similarly, enhanced p210 mediated uptake of CTB, enhancing its tolerogenic activity, could also explain the enhanced induction of regulatory TGF- $\beta^+$  B cells in vitro with CTB-p210 compared to CTB-OVA (10) and the enhanced regulatory B10 cells that we observed in spleens of CTB-p210 treated mice.

In our immunization studies with CTB-p210 and PADRE-p210 we did not observe any improvement in plaque parameters after vaccination with p210. We did not observe previously reported atheroprotective CD4 and CD8 T cell responses, likely due to absence of T cell epitopes in p210. We did observe induction of anti-p210 antibodies. Failure of anti-p210 antibodies to modulate atherosclerosis in LDLr deficient HuBL mice used in this study, support the notion that anti-p210 antibodies act through modulation of the interaction of LDL with the LDLr. A conceivable explanation for the divergent immunological effects of vaccination with p210 which have been reported, are the strong indications that p210 possesses adjuvant properties and could thereby promote the activity of p210-coupled adjuvants and promote immune reactions against p210-coupled antigens.

## Materials and methods

#### Animals

All animal work was approved by the Leiden University Animal Ethics Committee and the animal experiments were performed conform the guidelines from Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes. Breeding pairs from human ApoB100 transgenic LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> (HuBl) mice (23, 24) were a kind gift from prof. Jan Nilsson (Lund University), and further bred in house. HuBl mice were housed in individual ventilated cages with aspen bedding, in groups of 2-4 mice. Prior to inclusion of mice in experiments, expression of human ApoB100 was confirmed in blood plasma with a human ApoB100 ELISA (Mabtech). Mice were fed a regular chow diet prior to initiation of the *in vivo* experiments after which they were fed a Western-type diet (WTD) containing 0.25% cholesterol and 15% cocoa butter (Special Diet Services, Witham, Essex, UK). Purified p210 (human apoB-100 amino acids 3136 to 3155; KTTKQSFDLSVKAQYKKNKH) (13), p210 gene fusion proteins with CTB and PADRE, and CTB and PADRE, derived from cytoplasmic inclusion bodies in E. coli like previously described (42), were a kind gift from dr. Lebens, (University of Gothenburg), and administered as indicated in the results section. At the end-point of the studies, mice were anesthetized by subcutaneous injection with а mix of ketamine (100 mg/mL), sedazine (25 mg/mL) and atropine (0.5 mg/mL), retro-orbitally exsanguinated, and perfused with PBS.

#### In vitro assays

Basal splenocyte proliferation and proliferation in response to oxLDL (5ug/ml) or anti-CD3e (1 µg/mL) and anti-CD28 (0.5 µg/mL) (both from Thermo Fischer) were assessed by a <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine incorporation assay. Splenocytes (2\*10<sup>5</sup> cells/well) were cultured for 72h in RPMI (Lonza; supplemented with 10% FCS (GE Life Sciences), pen/strep Lonza) with mentioned stimuli or PBS (control) and incubated with 0.5 µCi/well <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine (Perkin Elmer) for the last 16 h. Cells were thoroughly washed with PBS and thereafter lysed with natriumhydroxide and taken up in Emulsifier-Safe<sup>TM</sup> (Perkin Elmer). <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine incorporation was measured using a liquid scintillation analyzer (Tri-Carb 2900R). Responses are expressed as the mean disintegrations per minute (dpm). The stimulation index (s.i.) was defined by dividing the dpm of stimulated conditions by the dpm of the PBS condition per mouse. Moreover, responsiveness of splenic CD4 T cells, CD8 T cells, and B cells, towards p210 (2 µM), CTB(2 µM), CTB-p210(2 µM), LDL (5 µg/ml), oxLDL (5 µg/ml),  $\alpha$ CD3 (1 µg/mL)/ $\alpha$ CD28(0.5 µg/mL), or PMA+Ionomycin, was assessed by incubation of splenocytes (2\*10<sup>6</sup> cell /well) with the indicated stimuli or PBS and incubation with Monensin and Brefeldin (Biolegend) for 5 hours, after which splenocyte cultures were assessed with flow cytometry.

#### Flow Cytometry

Extracellular staining (ECS) of single cell suspensions was performed in PBS with 2% FCS and aCD16/32 antibody (93, Biolegend) and eBioscience<sup>™</sup> Fixable Viability Dye eFluor<sup>™</sup> 780

(ThermoFisher) to discriminate between living and dead cells for 30 minutes at 4°C. For intracellular transcription factor staining after ECS, cells were fixed and permeabilized with the FoxP3 transcription factor buffer set (Thermofisher/eBioscience) according to manufacturer's instructions, and incubated with flow cytometry antibodies for 45 minutes at 4°C. Spleen and lymph nodes were mashed over a 70  $\mu$ m cell strainer (Greiner) to obtain single cell suspensions and red blood cells were lysed with ACK lysis buffer if necessary.

The following antibodies were purchased at BD biosciences: The following antibodies were purchases at BD Biosciences: CD4 PerCP and Pacific Blue (RM4-5), CD44 PE/Cy7 (IM7) Biolegend: CD8 BV510 and APC (53-6.7); eBioscience/Thermofisher scientific: CD19 Pacific Blue and FITC (eBio1D3), CD19 PE/Cy7 (eBio1D3), CD25 APC (PC61.5), CD25 FITC (PC61.5), CD8-APC (16-10A1), FoxP3-PE (NRRF-30), IFN-y (XMG1.2), IL-2 APC (JES6-5H4), IL-10 PE (JES5-16E3), Ki67 FITC (SolA15). Compensation measurements were performed using UltraComp eBeads (ThermoFisher) and ArC Amine-Reactive Compensation Beads (ThermoFisher). Cells were measured with a FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences) and a Cytoflex S flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, inc.).

#### P210 autoantibody determination

Native p210 and MDA-modified p210 (MDA-p210) antibodies were determined with an ELISA approach. MDA-p210 was obtained through incubation of p210 with 0.5M MDA for 3h at 37°C, and dialysis with PBS containing 1mM EDTA. High protein binding plates (Corning Costar) were coated with native p210 (20ug/ml) and MDA-p210 (20ug/ml) in PBS overnight at 4°C. Coated plates were washed with 0.01% Tween-20 (PBS-T) and blocked with PBS-T with 1% BSA for 1-2h at RT. Thereafter plates were incubated with plasma diluted 50 times with PBS-T (CTB-p210 study), or 1000 times with TBS-T + 1% BSA (PADRE-p210 study) for 2h at RT. Thereafter plates were incubated Goat anti mouse IgM, IgA, and IgG antibodies (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 1-2h at RT. A color reaction was developed with TMB substrate solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific), which was stopped with sulfuric acid (0.16M) and measured at 450nm using a spectrophotometer (Powerwave 340, Biotek).

#### Histology

Hearts were transversally cut in half and incubated in OCT medium for 30 minutes. After 30 minutes hearts were fast frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80°C until cryosections (10  $\mu$ m) of the aortic root were made on collected on Superfrost Plus<sup>TM</sup> Adhesion Microscope Slides (ThermoFisher) and analyzed at 70  $\mu$ m intervals. Neutral fats were stained with Oil Red O to determine the average lesion size of five subsequent sections of the aortic root containing 3 valvular leaflets with largest plaque area, as a measure of atherosclerotic lesion size.

#### **Murine MHC-I binding prediction**

The immune epitope database and analysis resource (iedb.org) was used to predict binding capacity of peptide sequences in the p210 peptide to H-2Db and H-2Kb. The 5 peptides with

the highest predicted binding affinity for H-2Db and H-2Kb according to the artificial neural network binding model (43–46) were depicted in the table. There is a strong correlation between binding MHC-I binding affinity and the capacity of peptides to induce a CTL response, with a proposed affinity threshold of 500 nM (47).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed with Graphpad Prism. For comparisons of multiple treatment groups with a control group a one-way ANOVA was performed. For comparisons of data from multiple treatment groups and multiple time points, a two-way ANOVA was used. The Holm-Šídák posttest was used to correct for multiple comparisons. An unpaired two-tailed T test was used for pairwise comparisons. A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### References

**1**. World Health Organization, Global Health Estimates 2015: Deaths by Cause, Age, Sex, by Country and by Region, 2000-2015. Evid. Res. (2016), doi:10.1016/j.mpmed.2016.06.006.

**2**. J. L. Witztum, A. H. Lichtman, The Influence of Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses on Atherosclerosis, Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis. 9, 73–102 (2014).

**3**. Z. Mallat, S. Taleb, H. Ait-Oufella, A. Tedgui, The role of adaptive T cell immunity in atherosclerosis: Fig. 1., J. Lipid Res. 50, S364–S369 (2009).

**4**. A. D. Hauer, C. Uyttenhove, P. de Vos, V. Stroobant, J. C. Renauld, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. van Snick, J. Kuiper, Blockade of Interleukin-12 Function by Protein Vaccination Attenuates Atherosclerosis, Circulation 112, 1054–1062 (2005).

**5.** A. W. Aday, P. M. Ridker, Targeting Residual Inflammatory Risk: A Shifting Paradigm for Atherosclerotic Disease, Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 6, 16 (2019).

**6**. P. Libby, R. J. Glynn, J. G. MacFadyen, B. M. Everett, H. Shimokawa, W. Koenig, C. Ballantyne, P. M. Ridker, T. Thuren, F. Fonseca, Modulation of the interleukin-6 signalling pathway and incidence rates of atherosclerotic events and all-cause mortality: analyses from the Canakinumab Anti-Inflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes Study (CANTOS), Eur. Heart J. 39, 3499–3507 (2018).

**7**. D. Misra, V. Agarwal, CANTOS – is selective targeting of inflammation in atherosclerosis enough?, J. R. Coll. Physicians Edinb. 48, 246–247 (2018).

**8**. T. Kimura, K. Tse, A. Sette, K. Ley, Vaccination to modulate atherosclerosis, Autoimmunity 48, 152–160 (2015).

**9**. R. Klingenberg, M. Lebens, A. Hermansson, G. N. Fredrikson, D. Strodthoff, M. Rudling, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, N. Gerdes, J. Holmgren, J. Nilsson, G. K. Hansson, Intranasal immunization with an apolipoprotein B-100 fusion protein induces antigen-specific regulatory T cells and reduces atherosclerosis., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 30, 946–52 (2010).

**10**. S. Rattik, P. T. Mantani, I. Yao Mattisson, I. Ljungcrantz, L. Sundius, H. Björkbacka, M. Terrinoni, M. Lebens, J. Holmgren, J. Nilsson, M. Wigren, G. Nordin Fredrikson, B cells treated with CTB-p210 acquire a regulatory phenotype in vitro and reduce atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E deficient mice, Vascul. Pharmacol. 111, 54–61 (2018).

**11**. K.-Y. Chyu, X. Zhao, P. C. Dimayuga, J. Zhou, X. Li, J. Yano, W. M. Lio, L. F. Chan, J. Kirzner, P. Trinidad, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, F. Dieli, Ed. CD8+ T Cells Mediate the Athero-Protective Effect of Immunization with an ApoB-100 Peptide, PLoS One 7, e30780 (2012).

**12**. Z. Zeng, B. Cao, X. Guo, W. Li, S. Li, J. Chen, W. Zhou, C. Zheng, Y. Wei, Apolipoprotein B-100 peptide 210 antibody inhibits atherosclerosis by regulation of macrophages that phagocytize oxidized lipid., Am. J. Transl. Res. 10, 1817–1828 (2018).

**13**. G. N. Fredrikson, B. Hedblad, G. Berglund, R. Alm, M. Ares, B. Cercek, K.-Y. Chyu, P. K. Shah, J. Nilsson, Identification of immune responses against aldehyde-modified peptide sequences in apoB associated with cardiovascular disease., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23, 872–8 (2003).

14. P. C. Dimayuga, X. Zhao, J. Yano, W. M. Lio, J. Zhou, P. M. Mihailovic, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, K. Chyu, Identification of apoB-100 Peptide-Specific CD8+ T Cells in Atherosclerosis, J. Am. Heart Assoc. 6, e005318 (2017).

**15**. G. H. M. van Puijvelde, A. D. Hauer, P. de Vos, R. van den Heuvel, M. J. C. van Herwijnen, R. van der Zee, W. van Eden, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Induction of oral tolerance to oxidized low-density lipoprotein ameliorates atherosclerosis., Circulation 114, 1968–76 (2006).

16. K. Tse, A. Gonen, J. Sidney, H. Ouyang, J. L. Witztum, A. Sette, H. Tse, K. Ley, Atheroprotective

Vaccination with MHC-II Restricted Peptides from ApoB-100., Front. Immunol. 4, 493 (2013).

**17**. N. Benne, J. van Duijn, F. Lozano Vigario, R. J. T. Leboux, P. van Veelen, J. Kuiper, W. Jiskoot, B. Slütter, Anionic 1,2-distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol (DSPG) liposomes induce antigen-specific regulatory T cells and prevent atherosclerosis in mice, J. Control. Release 291, 135–146 (2018).

H. L. Weiner, A. P. da Cunha, F. Quintana, H. Wu, Oral tolerance, Immunol. Rev. 241, 241–259 (2011).
 A. D'Ambrosio, M. Colucci, O. Pugliese, F. Quintieri, M. Boirivant, Cholera toxin B subunit promotes the induction of regulatory T cells by preventing human dendritic cell maturation, J. Leukoc. Biol. 84, 661–668 (2008).

**20**. J.-B. Sun, C.-F. Flach, C. Czerkinsky, J. Holmgren, B lymphocytes promote expansion of regulatory T cells in oral tolerance: powerful induction by antigen coupled to cholera toxin B subunit., J. Immunol. 181, 8278–87 (2008).

**21**. J.-B. Sun, C. Czerkinsky, J. Holmgren, Mucosally induced Immunological Tolerance, Regulatory T Cells and the Adjuvant Effect by Cholera Toxin B Subunit, Scand. J. Immunol. 71, 1–11 (2010).

**22**. N. Sakamoto, A. S. Rosenberg, Apolipoprotein B binding domains: evidence that they are cellpenetrating peptides that efficiently deliver antigenic peptide for cross-presentation of cytotoxic T cells., 186, 5004–11 (2011).

**23**. J. Boren, I. Lee, W. Zhu, K. Arnold, S. Taylor, T. L. Innerarity, Identification of the low density lipoprotein receptor-binding site in apolipoprotein B100 and the modulation of its binding activity by the carboxyl terminus in familial defective apo-B100., J. Clin. Invest. 101, 1084–93 (1998).

**24**. M. F. Linton, R. V Farese, G. Chiesa, D. S. Grass, P. Chin, R. E. Hammer, H. H. Hobbs, S. G. Young, Transgenic mice expressing high plasma concentrations of human apolipoprotein B100 and lipoprotein(a)., J. Clin. Invest. 92, 3029–37 (1993).

**25**. J. Sun, S. Raghavan, A. Sjoling, S. Lundin, J. Holmgren, Oral Tolerance Induction with Antigen Generates Both Foxp3+CD25+ and Foxp3- Conjugated to Cholera Toxin B Subunit CD25- CD4+ Regulatory T Cells, J. Immunol. 177, 7634–7644 (2006).

**26**. M. F. del Guercio, J. Alexander, R. T. Kubo, T. Arrhenius, A. Maewal, E. Appella, S. L. Hoffman, T. Jones, D. Valmori, K. Sakaguchi, H. M. Grey, A. Sette, Potent immunogenic short linear peptide constructs composed of B cell epitopes and Pan DR T helper epitopes (PADRE) for antibody responses in vivo., Vaccine 15, 441–8 (1997).

**27.** A. M. Glenny, C. Pope, C. H. Waddington, U. Falacce, GLENNY, A. T., The antigenic value of toxoid precipitated by potassium alum (1926; https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10010181083/), pp. 38–45.

28. C. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaboration, C. Baigent, L. Blackwell, J. Emberson, L. E. Holland, C. Reith, N. Bhala, R. Peto, E. H. Barnes, A. Keech, J. Simes, R. Collins, Efficacy and safety of more intensive lowering of LDL cholesterol: a meta-analysis of data from 170,000 participants in 26 randomised trials., Lancet (London, England) 376, 1670–81 (2010).

**29**. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaborators, The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with statin therapy in people at low risk of vascular disease: meta-analysis of individual data from 27 randomised trials, Lancet 380, 581–590 (2012).

**30**. G. H. M. Van Puijvelde, T. Van Es, E. J. A. Van Wanrooij, K. L. L. Habets, P. De Vos, R. Van Der Zee, W. Van Eden, T. J. C. Van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Induction of oral tolerance to HSP60 or an HSP60-peptide activates t cell regulation and reduces atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 2677–2683 (2007).

**31**. R. Maron, G. Sukhova, A.-M. Faria, E. Hoffmann, F. Mach, P. Libby, H. L. Weiner, Mucosal Administration of Heat Shock Protein-65 Decreases Atherosclerosis and Inflammation in Aortic Arch of Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Deficient Mice, Circulation 106, 1708–1715 (2002).

**32**. G. N. Fredrikson, I. Söderberg, M. Lindholm, P. Dimayuga, K.-Y. Chyu, P. K. Shah, J. Nilsson, Inhibition of Atherosclerosis in ApoE-Null Mice by Immunization with ApoB-100 Peptide Sequences, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23, 879–884 (2003).

**33**. A. Gisterå, A. Hermansson, D. Strodthoff, M. L. Klement, U. Hedin, G. N. Fredrikson, J. Nilsson, G. K. Hansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, Vaccination against T-cell epitopes of native ApoB100 reduces vascular inflammation and disease in a humanized mouse model of atherosclerosis, J. Intern. Med. 281, 383–397 (2017).

**34**. K.-Y. Chyu, P. C. Dimayuga, P. K. Shah, Vaccine against arteriosclerosis: an update, Ther. Adv. Vaccines 5, 39–47 (2017).

35. K. Tse, H. Tse, J. Sidney, A. Sette, K. Ley, T cells in atherosclerosis., Int. Immunol. 25, 615–22 (2013).

**36.** H. J. Kim, H. J. Lee, J. S. Choi, J. Han, J. Y. Kim, H. K. Na, H.-J. Joung, Y. S. Kim, B. Binas, An apolipoprotein B100 mimotope prevents obesity in mice., Clin. Sci. (Lond). 130, 105–16 (2016).

**37**. O. McLeod, A. Silveira, G. N. Fredrikson, K. Gertow, D. Baldassarre, F. Veglia, B. Sennblad, R. J. Strawbridge, M. Larsson, K. Leander, B. Gigante, J. Kauhanen, R. Rauramaa, A. J. Smit, E. Mannarino, P. Giral, S. E. Humphries, E. Tremoli, U. de Faire, J. Ohrvik, J. Nilsson, A. Hamsten, J. Öhrvik, J. Nilsson, A. Hamsten, Plasma autoantibodies against apolipoprotein B-100 peptide 210 in subclinical atherosclerosis, Atherosclerosis 232, 242–248 (2014).

**38**. M. L. Dart, E. Jankowska-Gan, G. Huang, D. A. Roenneburg, M. R. Keller, J. R. Torrealba, A. Rhoads, B. Kim, J. L. Bobadilla, L. D. Haynes, D. S. Wilkes, W. J. Burlingham, D. S. Greenspan, Interleukin-17– Dependent Autoimmunity to Collagen Type V in Atherosclerosis, Circ. Res. 107, 1106–1116 (2010).

**39**. M. Dastjerdi, M. Salahshoor, M. Mardani, B. Hashemibeni, S. Roshankhah, The effect of CTB on P53 protein acetylation and consequence apoptosis on MCF-7 and MRC-5 cell lines, Adv. Biomed. Res. 2, 24 (2013).

**40**. A. J. Lepedda, A. Cigliano, G. M. Cherchi, R. Spirito, M. Maggioni, F. Carta, F. Turrini, C. Edelstein, A. M. Scanu, M. Formato, A proteomic approach to differentiate histologically classified stable and unstable plaques from human carotid arteries., Atherosclerosis 203, 112–8 (2009).

**41**. D. Kolbus, M. Wigren, I. Ljungcrantz, I. Söderberg, R. Alm, H. Björkbacka, J. Nilsson, G. N. Fredrikson, Immunization with cationized BSA inhibits progression of disease in ApoBec-1/LDL receptor deficient mice with manifest atherosclerosis, Immunobiology 216, 663–669 (2011).

**42**. H. Sadeghi, So. Bregenholt, D. Wegmann, J. S. Petersen, J. Holmgren, M. Lebens, Genetic fusion of human insulin B-chain to the B-subunit of cholera toxin enhances in vitro antigen presentation and induction of bystander suppression in vivo, Immunology 106, 237–245 (2002).

**43**. S. Buus, S. L. Lauemøller, P. Worning, C. Kesmir, T. Frimurer, S. Corbet, A. Fomsgaard, J. Hilden, A. Holm, S. Brunak, Sensitive quantitative predictions of peptide-MHC binding by a "Query by Committee" artificial neural network approach., Tissue Antigens 62, 378–84 (2003).

**44**. C. Lundegaard, O. Lund, M. Nielsen, Accurate approximation method for prediction of class I MHC affinities for peptides of length 8, 10 and 11 using prediction tools trained on 9mers, Bioinformatics 24, 1397–1398 (2008).

**45**. C. Lundegaard, K. Lamberth, M. Harndahl, S. Buus, O. Lund, M. Nielsen, NetMHC-3.0: accurate web accessible predictions of human, mouse and monkey MHC class I affinities for peptides of length 8-11., Nucleic Acids Res. 36, W509-12 (2008).

**46**. M. Nielsen, C. Lundegaard, P. Worning, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. L. Lauemøller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, Reliable prediction of T-cell epitopes using neural networks

with novel sequence representations, Protein Sci. 12, 1007–1017 (2003).

**47**. A. Sette, A. Vitiello, B. Reherman, P. Fowler, R. Nayersina, W. M. Kast, C. J. Melief, C. Oseroff, L. Yuan, J. Ruppert, J. Sidney, M. F. del Guercio, S. Southwood, R. T. Kubo, R. W. Chesnut, H. M. Grey, F. V Chisari, The relationship between class I binding affinity and immunogenicity of potential cytotoxic T cell epitopes., J. Immunol. 153, 5586–92 (1994).



# **Supplementary figures**

Supplementary Fig. S1 **Oral CTB-p210 administration does not affect CD4 Treg levels.** Quantification of CD4 T cell levels, and FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> and FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> cell content of the CD4 T cell population based on flow cytometry measurements, of **A**) Peyers patches, **B**) mesenteric lymph nodes, **C**) the blood, and **D**) mediastinal lymph nodes. Represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two-tailed T test.



Supplementary Fig. S2 Anti-p210 antibody levels do not correlate with lesion size in CTB-p210 treated HuBL mice. Correlation analysis of the average atherosclerotic lesion size in the aortic root and A) anti-p210 antibody levels and B) anti-MDA modified p210 antibody levels in blood serum from CTB-p210 treated animals obtainded after sacrifice. The trend line (solid line), 95% confidence interval (dotted lines), and p value (bottom right) are depicted in the scatter plots.

Allele	Sequence	IC50 (ANN)	Allele	Sequence	IC50 (ANN)
H-2Kb	QSFDLSVKA	3986.06	H-2Db	TTKQSFDLSV	32470.27
H-2Kb	TKQSFDLSV	5484.41	H-2Db	TTKQSFDL	34542.56
H-2Kb	TTKQSFDLSV	9584.8	H-2Db	KTTKQSFDLSV	40485.33
H-2Kb	KTTKQSFDL	9731.83	H-2Db	KQSFDLSVKA	41053.05
H-2Kb	KTTKQSFDLSV	14409.83	H-2Db	KTTKQSFDLS	42345.55

Supplementary Table 1 Best predicted H-2Kb and H-2Db binding peptides in p210



Supplementary Fig. S3 Alum adjuvanted vaccination with PADRE-p210 does not change splenic CD8 T cell populations. A) Splenic overall CD8 T cell levels, antigen experienced CD8 T cells (CD44<sup>+</sup>), proliferating CD8 T cells (Ki67<sup>+</sup>), and regulatory CD8 T cell populations (FoxP3<sup>+</sup>) were quantified by flow cytometric analysis. Represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, One-Way ANOVA with Holm-Šídák posttest, p values


## Induction of HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell responses against ApoB100 peptides does not affect atherosclerosis in a humanized mouse model.

F.H. Schaftenaar<sup>1\*</sup>, J. Amersfoort<sup>1</sup>, H. Douna<sup>1</sup>, M.J. Kröner<sup>1</sup>, A.C. Foks<sup>1</sup>, I. Bot<sup>1</sup>,
 B.A. Slütter<sup>1</sup>, G.H.M. van Puijvelde<sup>1</sup>, J.W. Drijfhout<sup>2</sup>, J. Kuiper<sup>1\*</sup>

Scientific Reports, Accepted

<sup>1</sup> Division of BioTherapeutics, Leiden Academic Centre for Drug Research, Leiden, The Netherlands <sup>2</sup> Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands

### Abstract:

Cardiovascular diseases form the most common cause of death worldwide, with atherosclerosis as main etiology. Atherosclerosis is marked by cholesterol rich lipoprotein deposition in the artery wall, evoking a pathogenic immune response. Characteristic for the disease is the pathogenic accumulation of macrophages in the atherosclerotic lesion, which become foam cells after ingestion of large quantities of lipoproteins. We hypothesized that, by inducing a CD8 T cell response towards lipoprotein derived apolipoprotein-B100 (ApoB100), lesional macrophages, that are likely to cross-present lipoprotein constituents, can specifically be eliminated. Based on in silico models for protein processing and MHC-I binding, 6 putative CD8 T cell epitopes derived from ApoB100 were synthesized. HLA-A2 binding was confirmed for all peptides by T2 cell binding assays and recall responses after vaccination with the peptides proved that 5 of 6 peptides could induce CD8 T cell responses. Induction of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells did not impact plaque size and cellular composition in HLA-A2 and human ApoB100 transgenic LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice. No recall response could be detected in cultures of cells isolated from the aortic arch, which were observed in cell cultures of splenocytes and mesenteric lymph nodes, suggesting that the atherosclerotic environment impairs CD8 T cell activation.

### Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of death in the western world with atherosclerosis as the most common etiology (1). Atherosclerosis is characterized by lipid deposition in the intima of medium to large-sized arteries, evoking immune infiltration in the vessel wall and inflammation. Among the immune cells attracted to the atherosclerotic lesions are CD8 T cells (2). CD8 T cells in atherosclerotic lesions appear highly activated (3) suggesting a pathogenic role for CD8 T cells atherosclerosis. Recent studies indeed support the notion of an overall pro-atherogenic role of CD8 T cells in atherosclerosis through the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (4–6). Nonetheless, atheroprotective effects of CD8 T-cells in the lesion have been reported as well (7).

These conflicting reports may result from the fact that CD8 T cells form a heterogeneous population consisting of different subsets and cells recognizing different antigens. The largest CD8 T cell subset is the cytotoxic CD8 T cell or cytotoxic lymphocyte (CTL) (8). The primary function of CTLs is to protect the host from intracellular pathogens (9) and tumors (10). Specific recognition of a target cell is established through positive interaction between the T cell receptor of the CTL, which is variable between individual CD8 T cells, and MHC-I complexed with a particular antigen derived peptide on the target cell. MHC-I/peptide complex recognition results in TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  production by CTLs and leads to FAS ligand or perforin and granzyme B mediated cell death of the target cell (11). The specificity of the TCR heavily impacts its pathogenicity, as depending on target antigen, vaccination induced CTLs can be atheroprotective (12-15) or atherogenic (16). Induction of CTL reactivity towards vascular cells like smooth muscle cells, enhanced vessel inflammation and atherosclerosis (16). As suppressing apoptosis of macrophages was found to enhance atherosclerosis (17, 18) and the absence of MHCI molecules aggravates atherosclerosis (19) we hypothesize that CD8 T cell mediated killing of macrophages is an essential process controlling progression of atherosclerosis. Intra-lesional TLR activation (20) and presence of apoptotic bodies (21), both potent inducers of cross presentation (22, 23), are likely to induce cross presentation of plaque antigens by lesion macrophages. Presumable cross-presentation of LDL derived apolipoprotein-B100 (ApoB100) epitopes on MHC-I by lesional phagocytes, suggests that inducing ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells could lead to killing of lesional macrophages and reduce atherosclerosis.

Since only a very small fraction of peptides binds to MHC-I (24), we set out to identify CD8 T cell epitopes in ApoB100 to test this hypothesis. With *in silico* prediction models for HLA binding and antigen processing, human HLA-A2 restricted epitopes derived from human ApoB100 were predicted for translational relevancy. 6 ApoB100 derived peptides were selected and synthesized and binding of all peptides to HLA-A2 was confirmed with HLA-A2 assays in T2 cells (25). Thereafter we performed vaccination studies using these peptides, inducing substantial levels of peptide specific memory CD8 T cells in HLA-A2 and human

ApoB100 transgenic LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Although ApoB100 specific CTLs were induced by ApoB100 peptide vaccination, these CD8 T cells did not change cellular plaque composition, plaque collagen content, and plaque size, indicating that induction of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells does not affect atherosclerosis.

### Results

# Predicted HLA-A2 restricted epitopes stabilize HLA-A2 and induce peptide specific CD8 T cell responses after DC vaccination.

To target CD8 T cells towards plaque macrophages which are likely to cross-present plaque derived antigens, we predicted putative HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell epitopes in human ApoB100 using in silico models for immunoproteasomal processing and TAP binding (26–28) and HLA-A2 binding models (28–35). We synthesized 6 peptides with the highest putative HLA-A2 binding and processing score (Table 1).

Peptide	Amino Acid Sequence	NetMHCpan (IC50)	Consensus percentile	Processing Score	Final Score
ApoB <sub>2356-2364</sub>	VLMDKLVEL	2.95	0.2	2.32	1.85
ApoB <sub>406-414</sub>	LLIDVVTYL	2.48	0.2	1.9	1.5
ApoB <sub>406-417</sub>	LLIDVVTYLVAL	3.96	0.2	1.89	1.3
ApoB <sub>2524-2532</sub>	YQMDIQQEL	5.19	0.5	1.9	1.19
ApoB <sub>3070-3078</sub>	FLNNYALFL	4.75	0.3	1.86	1.18
ApoB <sub>4531-4539</sub>	FLIYITELL	4.76	0.4	1.8	1.12

Table 1: ApoB100 derived CD8 T cell epitope processing and HLA-A2 binding

To establish the binding of the ApoB100 peptides to HLA-A2 *in vitro*, T2 cells were incubated overnight with ascending amounts of ApoB100 peptides and thereafter the expression of HLA-A2 on the T2 cells with flow cytometry was assessed (Supplementary Fig. S1). Because T2 cells are deficient for TAP1 and TAP2 expression, cytosolic peptide transport into the ER is reduced in T2 cells, reducing endogenous peptide loading onto MHC-I in the ER. MHC-I not complexed with a peptide is inefficiently transported to the cell membrane and is less stable, therefore leading to lowered expression of HLA-A2 on the cell membrane of T2 cells. Exogenous addition of peptides, forming MHC-I/peptide complexes on the cell surface, enhances MHC-I stability on the plasma membrane which increases expression of HLA-A2 on the T2 cell surface *(25)*. All 6 ApoB100 peptides increased HLA-A2 expression in a concentration dependent manner (Fig. 1A), confirming that these peptides bind to HLA-A2.

To test the immunogenicity of the peptides we vaccinated HLA-A2 transgenic animals (HHD mice) (*36*) with HHD bone marrow derived DCs ( $2*10^6$  cells), which were overnight stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) and pulsed with a single peptide (10  $\mu$ M). One week after vaccination,



Figure 1: Predicted HLA-A2 restricted epitopes stabilize HLA-A2 and induces peptide specific CD8 T cell responses after DC vaccination. (A) Binding of in silico predicted CD8 T cell epitopes was assessed using T2 cells. T2 cell cultures (n=3 / peptide) were incubated overnight with a range of peptide concentrations or vehicle control (DMSO) and assessed for HLA-A2 expression by flow cytometry. (B) Next we assessed whether these ApoB100 derived peptides could induce an HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell response. HLA-A2tg mice (n=2 per peptide), not expressing human ApoB100, were vaccinated with 2\*10<sup>6</sup> HLA-A2tg bone marrow derived DCs pulsed with a single peptide (30uM). A week after vaccination splenocytes were ex vivo incubated with the peptide against they were vaccinated. Graphs of peptide specific T cell responses a measured by flow cytometry through gating for CD44 and IFN- $\gamma$  double positive T cells. Statistical analysis of A was performed with 2-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posttest, displayed as mean with SEM. For B, samples stimulated with peptide were compared to the unstimulated control of the same animal with contingency chi-square tests and Bonferroni posttest (corrected for 96 pairwise comparisons), individual samples are plotted. \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

we assessed the induction of peptide-specific CTLs through flow cytometric measurement of IFN- $\gamma$  positive antigen experienced (CD44<sup>+</sup>) CD4 and CD8 T cells (Supplementary Fig. S1), in splenocyte cultures which were incubated for 4h with escalating concentrations of the

ApoB100 peptide against which the particular animal was vaccinated, and Brefeldin A. For all peptides, except for ApoB<sub>2524-2532</sub>, the percentage of IFN-y positive antigen experienced CD8 T cells was increased over no peptide control, while the vaccinations did not affect CD4 T cell IFN-y production (Fig. 1B). This indicates that 5 of 6 peptides can induce HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell responses *in vivo*.

# Peptide vaccination induces peptide responsive CD8 T cells in spleen and mediastinal lymph nodes

A suitable experimental model to assess the role of human ApoB100 specific T cells in the context of atherosclerosis was generated by crossbreeding HHD mice, transgenic for HLA-A2 and deficient in expression of murine MHC-I molecules (*36*), with HuBL mice, expressing human ApoB100 and deficient for the LDLr (*37, 38*). HLA-A2 and human ApoB100 transgenic mice, which were LDLr deficient to allow atherosclerosis development, and either with normal expression (HuBL-A2<sup>m+</sup>) or devoid of murine MHC-I expression (HuBL-A2<sup>m+</sup>). Because immunization with the ApoB100 peptides in both mouse strains yielded similar immunological results and effect on plaque parameters in the atherosclerosis studies, only the results obtained with HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup>are shown.

HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup> mice received western type diet for 9 weeks starting from 15 weeks of age. Mice of the treatment group were i.v. vaccinated with HHD DCs (2\*10<sup>6</sup> cells) pulsed with a mixture of the 6 ApoB100 derived peptides (10  $\mu$ M / peptide) at the start of western type diet. Mice were i.v. boosted a week later with peptides (30  $\mu$ M/peptide) adjuvanted with anti-CD40 (50  $\mu$ g) and poly(I:C) (50  $\mu$ g), previously shown to induce long lasting high levels of antigenspecific memory CD8 T cells (39-41). Control animals received unpulsed control DCs (2\*106 cells) at WTD initiation and a week later adjuvant without peptides (vehicle group), or received two PBS injections (PBS group). At the end of the experiment we determined whether vaccination induced peptide specific CD8 T cells. To that end, CD8 T cell recall responses were assessed with flow cytometry in cell cultures of the spleen (2\*10<sup>6</sup> cells) and mediastinal lymph nodes (1\*10<sup>6</sup> cells), which drain from the atherosclerosis prone aortic arch, incubated for 4h with the ApoB100 derived peptides (10  $\mu$ M/peptide) and Brefeldin A. The CD8 T cell percentage was significantly higher in the peptide-treated group compared to the PBS group and trended to be higher compared to the unpulsed DC/vehicle group in spleen (Fig. 2A) and blood (Supplementary Fig. S2) but not in mediastinal lymph nodes (Fig. 2G). Incubation of splenocytes with ApoB406-414, ApoB3070-3078 or ApoB4531-4539 enhanced the percentage of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  double positive CD8 T cells in the splenocytes cultures of the peptide-treated group, indicative of successful long-term induction of memory CD8 T cells for these peptides (Fig. 2B,C). In cell cultures from the mediastinal lymph nodes, incubated with a combination of all peptides, also a higher percentage of IFN- $\gamma^+$  and TNF- $\alpha^+$  double positive CD8 T cells was observed in the peptide vaccinated group (Fig. 2E,F), although at a much lower percentage than in the spleen. In circulation, a strong increase in effector memory CD8 T cells and a reduction in naïve CD8 T cells were observed in the peptide-treated group compared to both control groups (Supplementary Fig. S2), suggesting that vaccination also resulted in peptide specific CD8 T-cells in circulation.



Figure 2 **Peptide vaccination induces peptide responsive CD8 T cells. (A)** Quantification of splenic CD8 T cell percentage. (**B**) Representative flow cytometry plots of splenic CD8 T cell activation by  $ApoB_{406-414}$  in the different treatment groups. (**C**) Quantification of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  double positive cells % from CD8 T cells. (**D**) Quantification of CD8 T cell percentage after ex vivo peptide stimulation mediastinal lymph nodes. (**E**) Representative flow cytometry plots of mediastinal lymph node CD8 T cell activation and (**F**) quantification of the IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  double positive cell % from CD8 T cells after combined peptide stimulation. Statistical analysis was performed with 1-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Depicted as mean with SEM, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.001.



**Figure 3: Vaccination with ApoB100 derived CD8 epitopes does not affect lesion size and composition** (**A**) Representative microscopic images of ORO staining of aortic root tissue sections. (**B**) Quantification of average plaque size and average vessel occlusion. (**C**) Plaque stability was assessed by collagen content determination through analysis of Sirius red stained tissue slides. Representative microscopic images of aortic root tissue sections stained with Sirius red. (**D**) Quantification of collagen content of atherosclerotic lesions in the aortic root. (**E**) Representative microscopic images of tissue slides stained with MOMA-2 staining (**F**) and quantification of MOMA-2 surface area and plaque content. Statistical analysis was performed with 1-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Plotted as mean with SEM.

## Vaccination with ApoB100 derived CD8 epitopes does not affect atherosclerotic lesion size and composition

To assess the effect of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cell induction on atherosclerotic lesion development, we stained neutral lipids in aortic root sections with ORO (Fig. 3A), and quantified plaque size (control 4.18±1.79\*10<sup>5</sup>, vehicle 4.55±1.32\*10<sup>5</sup>, treated 5.57±2.35\*10<sup>5</sup>) and vessel occlusion (Fig. 3B). To assess the stability of the plaques we stained aortic root sections with Masson's Trichrome (Fig. 3C), and quantified the absolute area of plaque collagen and collagen content of the plaques (Fig. 3D). Finally, with immunohistochemical

staining with MOMA-2 antibody (Fig. 3E), we quantified the absolute macrophage area and macrophage content of aortic root atherosclerotic plaques (Fig. 3F). None of the mentioned plaque parameters were significantly changed by induction of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells.

# ApoB100 peptide vaccination enhances aortic root CD8 T cell content but not peptide reactivity or other aortic root cell populations

Because the induced ApoB100 peptide specific CD8 T cells were hypothesized to reduce atherosclerosis through killing of plaque phagocytes cross-presenting the ApoB100 peptides, we assessed the number of peptide specific CD8 T cells in the aortic arch with flow cytometry (Supplementary Fig. S3). Aorta's from three mice from the same treatment group were pooled, digested, and cells were isolated and cultured for 4h with all peptides combined (10  $\mu$ M / peptide) and Brefeldin A. The percentage of CD8 T cells was significantly increased in the peptide treated group over PBS treated, and a trend towards increase (p = 0.0573) was observed compared to the vehicle treated (Fig. 4A). In contrast to the observed recall responses in the spleens and mediastinal lymph nodes from mice vaccinated with the ApoB100 peptides, we did not observe a recall response in the cell cultures from the aortic arch of the mice vaccinated with ApoB100 peptides (Fig. 4B,C). Besides the CD8 T cell population, we assessed multiple myeloid and lymphoid cell populations in the aortic arch cultures (Supplementary Fig. S3A). In line with a lack of CD8 T cell responsiveness towards ApoB100 peptides in the cultures of the aortic arch, no differences were observed between treatment groups in percentage of other immune populations (Fig. S3B). Thus, our data suggest that the atherosclerotic plaque environment reduces antigen specific CD8 T cell responses, probably rendering induction of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells incapable of affecting atherosclerosis.



Figure 4 Vaccination with ApoB100 peptides does enhance CD8 T cell levels but not reactivity towards ApoB100 peptides in the aortic root (A) Quantification of CD8 T cell percentage in aortic cultures. (B) Representative flow cytometry plots of aortic CD8 T cell activation and (C) quantification of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  double positive cell % from CD8 T cells after restimulation with a mix of all peptides. Statistical analysis was performed with 1-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Depicted as mean with SEM, \* P < 0.05.

## Discussion

The role of CD8 T cells in atherosclerosis is complex, with different roles for different CD8 T cell subsets and CD8 T cells with different antigen specificities. Recent studies suggest an overall pathogenic role for CTLs through secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (4, 5), which seems to correlate with observations of increased activated and cytokine producing CD8 T cells in peripheral blood of patients with coronary artery disease (42–44). However, depending on target antigen, atherogenic and also atheroprotective (12–14) antigen specific CD8 T cells responses have been reported. Because the suppression of macrophage apoptosis enhanced atherosclerosis (17, 18) and the absence of MHCI molecules aggravates atherosclerosis (19), we reasoned that promoting CD8 T cell mediated killing of macrophages could act atheroprotective. As the inflammatory plaque environment is likely to promote cross-presentation of plaque antigens by lesional macrophages through vaccination with ApoB100 derived CD8 T cell epitopes, which was proposed to be the atheroprotective mechanism behind vaccination with ApoB100 derived peptide p210 (13, 15).

To be applicable for vaccination in men, the CD8 epitopes have to be capable of binding human MHC-I. Therefore we predicted human HLA-A2 binding affinity and immunoproteasomal processing of peptide sequences present within ApoB100 with in silico prediction tools (26–35). In line with a high accuracy of MHC-I binding models at predict MHC binders and non-binders (45), all 6 predicted peptides were found to bind HLA-A2 in T2 cell binding assays. Subsequently we assessed the immunogenicity of the peptides in HLA-A2 transgenic HHD mice (36). Vaccination of HHD mice with HHD DCs pulsed with a single ApoB100 derived peptide, led to robust peptide specific recall responses a week after vaccination for all peptides except for ApoB2524-2532, confirming immunogenicity for all ApoB100 derived peptides except ApoB2524-2532. Through utilization of mice and DCs without murine MHC-I expression, the observed CD8 T cell responses had to be restricted to HLA-A2 (36). To induce long lasting peptide specific CTLs in the atherosclerosis studies, HuBL-A2<sup>m+/-</sup> mice were primed with peptide pulsed HHD DCs, and then boosted after a week with peptide adjuvanted with poly (I:C). In experimental cancer models this vaccination approach induces CTLs that are effective in penetrating and killing tumor cells, indicating that this vaccination approach yields migratory and functional CTLs (39-41). Moreover multivalent vaccination enhanced the anti-tumor effect of this immunization approach (41). For ApoB<sub>406-414</sub>, ApoB<sub>3070-</sub> 3078, and ApoB<sub>4531-4539</sub>, robust recall responses were detected in the spleens of ApoB100 peptide vaccinated HuBL-A2<sup>m+/-</sup> mice, indicating successful vaccination. The vast majority of the ApoB100 specific CD8 T-cells made more than one cytokine (IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ) suggesting they are functional CTLs (46). Interestingly no CD8 T cell recall response could be detected for ApoB<sub>406-417</sub> and ApoB<sub>2356-2364</sub>, suggesting thymic negative selection or peripheral tolerance induction towards ApoB406-417 and ApoB2356-2364 in the human ApoB100 expressing HuBL-A2<sup>m</sup>-/\* mice. Besides enhanced levels of ApoB100 peptide specific CD8 T cells in the spleen, we observed peptide specific CD8 T cells in the mediastinal lymph nodes, more effector CD8 T cells in the circulation and increased CD8 T cell levels in the aorta of ApoB100 vaccinated mice.

Despite induction of this relatively large antigen specific CD8 T cell response compared to studies in which p210 coupled to cationic BSA (p210-cBSA) was reported to reduce atherosclerosis through CD8 T cell induction (13, 15), we did not observe an atheroprotective effect of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cell induction. Although in silico prediction models suggest that p210 does not harbor CD8 T cell epitopes (murine H2Db and H2Kb MHC-I alleles), CD8 T cell involvement in the atheroprotective effect of p210-cBSA was shown by the transfer of atheroprotection by CD8 T cell transfer from p210-cBSA vaccinated donors to recipients, not observed in recipients from CD8 T cells of vehicle treated donors (13). In our hands however, various vaccination protocols including vaccination of alum adjuvanted p210 coupled to PADRE (Pan-DR epitope), resulted in antibodies against p210 but did not affect the CD8 T cell population in human ApoB100 transgenic LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> (unpublished results). As FITC-p210 was more effectively taken up by DCs than unconjugated FITC (13), this suggests that p210 possesses adjuvant properties. The LDLr binding sites of ApoB100, including p210, were also used in a construct with CD8 T cell epitope SIINFEKL to promote cross-presentation of SIINFEKL and induce SIINFEKL specific CD8 T cell activation (47). As the antigen specificity of CD8 T cells after cBSA-p210 immunization was not assessed, this could imply that p210 acted as adjuvant for cBSA and enhanced uptake and (cross-) presentation of cationic BSA. As immunization with cationic BSA was previously reported to reduce atherosclerosis (48), enhancing the immune response against cBSA could underlie the atheroprotective effect of cBSA-p210 vaccination.

As we observed strong recall responses towards 3 ApoB100 derived peptides, it is unlikely that the quality and quantity of the induced CD8 T cell response was insufficient to modulate atherosclerosis. Although TLR induction and engulfment of apoptotic bodies induce cross presentation (23, 49), other lesional factors could have hampered cross-presentation, such as oxidized lipids which cause disturbance of lipid bodies (50) which were found essential for cross presentation in DCs (51, 52). The observation that profoundly reduced cross priming capacity in batf3<sup>-/-</sup> chimeras does not affect atherosclerosis, suggests that cross presentation is not important in atherosclerosis (53). In our restimulation assays however, cross presentation is circumvented by exogenous addition of peptide which externally bind MHC-I. Despite enhanced CD8 T cell levels in the aortas of ApoB peptide treated mice, we did not observe peptide responsiveness in the cultures with cells derived from the aortic root, suggesting that the atherosclerotic environment reduces the ability of CD8 T cells to respond to TCR stimuli. It is possible that this lack in responsiveness is CD8 T cell intrinsic, e.g. due to chronic antigen exposure in the plaque leading to CD8 T cell exhaustion (54, 55). In line with CD8 T cell exhaustion in atherosclerosis, upregulation of the co-inhibitory PD-1 expression was observed in atherosclerosis patients (56). On the other hand, plaque cells could inhibit CD8 T cell activation, e.g. PD-L1 was found upregulated on macrophages in human lesions (Watanabe et al., 2017), which could provide a co-inhibitory signal to plaque CD8 T cells. Moreover it was recently shown that CD8 T-cells in the atherosclerotic lesion significantly downregulate cytokine production as a result of local adenosine signaling (57). Therefore it is possible that impaired antigen specific activation of plaque CD8 T cells, could have rendered induction of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells ineffective.

MHC-I epitope elution from plaque material and single cell TCR sequencing of lesional CD8 T cells could greatly enhance understanding of CTL biology in atherosclerosis, especially since new bioinformatics avenues are opening up that allow linking of TCR sequences to antigens (58–60). Identification of these antigens could help unravel atherogenic and atheroprotective CTL mediated immune responses, uncovering treatment options of atherosclerosis through vaccination of antigen specific CLTs.

In conclusion, here we assessed the effect of vaccination with ApoB100 derived CD8 T cell epitopes on atherosclerosis development. We could generate and maintain a very robust CD8 T cell response against 3 epitopes over 8 weeks, however in contrast to other studies which report CD8 T cell mediated protection from atherosclerosis resulting from vaccination with ApoB100 derived peptides (13, 15), boosting CD8 T cell immunity towards ApoB100 did not reduce atherosclerosis.

### **Materials and Methods**

In silico HLA-A2 restricted human ApoB100 CD8 T cell epitope prediction With use of the immune epitope database and analysis resource (iedb.org), putative human ApoB100 derived HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell epitopes were predicted. First top 1% predicted binders were selected using NetMHCpan (29) which was reported to be the best prediction model for HLA-A2(61). Thereafter the Proteasomal cleavage/TAP transport/MHC class I combined predictor was used to rank the remaining peptides based on proteasomal cleavage and TAP transport (26, 27) and a consensus binding prediction(28) combining Artificial neural network (ANN) (31–34), Stabilized matrix method (SMM) (30), and Scoring Matrices derived from Combinatorial Peptide Libraries (CombLib) models (35). The 6 top peptides were synthesized (IHB, Leiden University Medical Centre).

#### **HLA-A2** binding assay

10 mM peptide stocks were prepared in DMSO because of poor water solubility of the peptides and further diluted into complete IMDM. T2 cells, a kind gift from dr. Heemskerk (Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden) were incubated with peptide concentrations ranging from 0.01 - 50uM overnight and 3µg/ml  $\beta$ -2 microglobulin (Sigma-Aldrich), and HLA-A2 expression was assessed with flow cytometry.

#### Animals

All animal work was approved by the Leiden University Animal Ethics Committee and the animal experiments were performed conform the guidelines from Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes. Human HLA-A2 transgenic (HHD), H-2D<sup>b-/-</sup>  $\beta$ 2m<sup>-/-</sup> C57BL/6 mice (36), a kind gift from dr. Lemonnier (Institut Pasteur, Paris), were crossbred with human ApoB100 transgenic LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> C57BL/6 mice (37, 38), a kind gift from dr. Nilsson (Lund University, Lund), to generate human ApoB100 and HLA-A2 transgenic H-2D<sup>b-/-</sup> β2m<sup>-/-</sup> LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> (without murine MHC-I expression, HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup> ) and hApoB100 and HLA-A2 transgenic H-2D<sup>b+/+-</sup>  $\beta$ 2m<sup>+/+-</sup> LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice (with murine MHC-I expression, HuBL-A2<sup>m+</sup>). Expression of ApoB100 in blood plasma, was determined with the ApoB100 ELISA developer kit (Mabtech) according to manufacturer's protocol. Expression of HLA-A2, H2Db and H2Kb on peripheral white blood cells was assessed with flow cytometry using HLA-A2-APC (BB7.2, Biolegend), H2Db-FITC (28-14-8, ThermoFisher) and H2Kb-BV421 (AF6-88.5, BD Biosciences) antibodies respectively. Blood for fenotyping purposes was obtained by lateral tail cut and collected in EDTA coated capillary tubes (Microvette®, Sarstedt). LDLr deficiency was assessed with PCR (Primers: forward-common; CAGTGCTCCTCATCTGACTTG, reverse-WT; CATCTCCCCGCAGTTTGTGT, reverse-KO; CGCCTTCTTGACGAGTTCTTCTG). All mice were kept in individual ventilated cages with aspen bedding, in groups of 2–4 mice per cage and were fed a regular chow diet or a 'Western-type' diet (WTD) containing 0.25% cholesterol and 15% cocoa butter (Special Diet Services, Witham, Essex, UK). All mice used in experiments were 12–20 weeks of age. Animals were randomized based on age, weight, plasma Apob100 levels, HLA-A2, H2Db and H2Kb expression. Diet and water were available ad libitum. At sacrifice, mice were anesthetized by a subcutaneous injection (120  $\mu$ l) of a cocktail containing ketamine (40 mg/ml), atropine (50  $\mu$ g/ml) and sedazine (6.25 mg/ml). Subsequently, the mice were euthanized and exsanguinated by femoral artery transection and perfusion with PBS through the left cardiac ventricle.

#### Immunization

Briefly, bone marrow was harvested from femurs and tibia from HHD mice. Bone marrow cells were cultured in complete IMDM (Lonza), IMDM supplemented with 8% FCS (GE Healthcare), 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin (Lonza), 2 mM Glutamax (Invitrogen) supplemented with 20ng/ml GM-CSF (ImmunoTools) in non-culture treated petri dishes at a concentration of  $0.8*10^6$  cells/ml (10 ml per plate). After 3 days 10 ml fresh complete IMDM with 20ng/ml GM-CSF was added to the petridishes. On day 6, 10 ml medium was carefully aspirated avoiding removal of cells, and replaced with complete IMDM with 20ng/ml GM-CSF. At day 9 non/slightly adherent DCs were harvested and cultured overnight with  $25\mu g/ml$  high molecular weight poly (I:C) (Invivogen) in complete IMDM in non-culture treated petri dishes. DCs were harvested and pulsed with peptides ( $10 \mu M$ ) or vehicle (DMSO) for 2 hours at  $37^{\circ}$ C in complete IMDM in 50 ml falcon tubes ( $10*10^6$  cells/ml) under constant agitation

to avoid sticking to the plastic. DCs were washed twice with PBS and  $2*10^6$  cells were intravenously infused through the lateral tail vein.

In the atherosclerosis studies mice received an i.v. booster vaccination consisting of PBS (control group), or PBS with 5% DMSO and 50µg high molecular weight Poly (I:C) (VacciGrade<sup>™</sup>, Invivogen) and 50µg aCD40 (FGK4.5, BioXcell) (vehicle group), or PBS with 5% DMSO and 30 µM peptide (approximately 67 µg/peptide) and 50 ug high molecular weight Poly (I:C) and 50 ug aCD40 (vehicle group), in a total volume of 200µl, a week after DC vaccination.

#### **Primary cell preparation**

For restimulation culture and flow cytometric analysis of lesional immune cells, aorta's were isolated from just above the heart until at the height of the heart apex and cleaned from adipose tissue. Aorta's were minced using scissors and digested in 0.5ml PBS containing 400 U/ml collagenase type I (Sigma-Aldrich) and 120 U/ml collagenase type XI (Sigma-Aldrich) from *Clostridium histolyticum*, 60 U/ml type I-s hyaluronidase from bovine testes (Sigma-Aldrich) and 60 U/ml DNase 1 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 minutes at 37°C under constant agitation. Aorta digests of 3 mice were pooled and mashed over 70µm strainers in RPMI to obtain single cell suspensions. Spleens and mediastinal lymph nodes were harvested and mashed over 70µm strainers to obtain single cell suspensions. At sacrifice, blood was obtained through terminal retro-orbital bleeding. Red blood cells from blood were lysed twice and splenocytes suspensions once, through incubation with 1 ml ACK lysis buffer (NH<sub>4</sub>Cl 150 mM, KHCO<sub>3</sub> 10mM, Na<sub>2</sub>EDTA 0.1 mM) for 30 seconds at room temperature.

#### Evaluation of peptide specific immune responses

For measurement of antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses, approximately  $2.5*10^6$  splenocytes were incubated with indicated concentrations of individual peptides in U bottom plates. For assessment of specific CD8 T cells in mediastinal lymph nodes, approximately  $1.5*10^6$  cells were incubated with  $10\mu$ M of all peptides combined in U bottom plates. For measurement of peptide specific CD8 T cell responses in aorta, cells from 3 aorta digests were combined, approximately  $20*10^5$  viable CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (flow cytometric analysis), and incubated with with  $10\mu$ M of all peptides combined in V-bottom plates. Cells were incubated with peptides for 4h together with Brefeldin A (BD Biosciences) and Monensin (BD Biosciences) in RPMI (Lonza), supplemented with 8% FCS, 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin and 2 mM Glutamax.

#### **Flow Cytometry**

Extracellular staining of single cell suspensions was performed in PBS with 2% FCS and aCD16/32 antibody (93, Biolegend) and eBioscience<sup>™</sup> Fixable Viability Dye eFluor<sup>™</sup> 780 (ThermoFisher) to discriminate between living and dead cells at 4°C for 30 minutes. For intracellular cytokine staining, cells were incubated in Cytofix/Cytoperm<sup>™</sup> Buffer (BD Biosciences) for 15 minutes at 4°C after extracellular staining, then washed twice with

Perm/Wash Buffer (BD Biosciences) and stained in Perm/Wash Buffer for 45 minutes at 4°C. The following antibodies were purchased at BD biosciences: IL-17-FITC (TC11-18H10), F4/80-BV421 (BM8), CD4-V500 (RM-4-5), CD19 PE-Cy7 (1D3). CD3 V500 (500A2). The following antibodies were purchased at Biolegend: CD8-BV510 (53-6.7), NK1.1-BV650 (PK136), CD4-PerCP (RM4-5), CD45-AF700 (30-F11), CD11b-PE/Dazzle 594 (M1/70), Thy1.2-PE-Cy7 (53-2.1), TNF-α-PE (MP6-XT22), CD11c-FITC (N418), Ly6G-PerCP (1A8), Ly6C-APC (HK1.4). The following antibodies were purchases at ThermoFisher: IFN-Y-eFluor 450 (XMG1.2), IL-10-APC (JES5-16E3), CD11b –eVolve 605 (M1/70), MHCII-eVolve 655 (M5/114.15.2), CD19-PE (eBio1D3), CD8-PE-TR (5H10), CD62L-PerCP/Cy5.5 (MEL-14), CD44-APC (IM7). Compensation measurements were performed using UltraComp eBeads (ThermoFisher) and ArC Amine-Reactive Compensation Beads (ThermoFisher). Cells were analyzed with a Cytoflex S flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter) with Cytexpert 2.0 software (Beckman Coulter) and further analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, inc.).

#### Histology

Hearts were cut in half and incubated in OCT medium for 30 minutes. After 30 minutes hearts were fast frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80°C before cryosections (10 µm) of the aortic root were collected on Superfrost Plus<sup>™</sup> Adhesion Microscope Slides (ThermoFisher) at 70 µm intervals (7 slides/mice). Neutral fats were stained with Oil Red O to assess lesion size in five subsequent sections of the heart within the three aortic valve area. Lesion collagen content was determined with Masson trichrome staining (Sigma-Aldrich). Corresponding sections analyzed for plaque area and collagen content were immunohistochemically stained for macrophages with MOMA-2 antibody (Sanbio, 1:1000 dilution). Slides were blocked with 5% milk powder before primary antibody was added for 2h at RT, after which primary antibody was incubated overnight at 4°C. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubating slides in 0.3% Hydrogen peroxide for 30 minutes at RT. Then slides were incubated for 1h at RT with a polyclonal Rabbit Anti-Rat Ig HRP (DAKO), after which VECTASTAIN ABC HRP Kit (Vector Laboratories) was used. Stained with NovaRed (Vector Laboratories).

### **Author contributions**

**FHS** and **JK** devised the study, and designed the experiments. **JWD** synthesized and purified the peptides. **FHS**, **JA**, **HD**, **MJK**, **BAS**, **GHMvP**, **IB**, and **ACF**, carried out the experiments. **FHS** analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. **JWD**, **BAS**, **JK** contributed to revisions of the manuscript.

### Funding

**FHS**, **HD**, and **JK** were funded by European Union's Seventh Framework [grant number 603131], by contributions from Academic and SME/industrial partners. **FHS** and **JK** are additionally supported by the Royal Netherlands Academy of Sciences for the GENIUS II project "Generating the best evidence-based pharmaceutical targets and drugs for

atherosclerosis" (CVON2017-20). **AF** is supported by the Dutch Heart Foundation [grant number 2016T008 to AF].

## **Competing interests**

The author (s) declare no competing interests

## **Data Availability**

The data generated and analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### References

**1**. GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators, Global, regional, and national age–sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013, Lancet 385, 117–171 (2015).

**2**. J. Gewaltig, M. Kummer, C. Koella, G. Cathomas, B. C. Biedermann, Requirements for CD8 T-cell migration into the human arterial wall, Hum. Pathol. 39, 1756–1762 (2008).

**3**. J.-C. Grivel, O. Ivanova, N. Pinegina, P. S. Blank, A. Shpektor, L. B. Margolis, E. Vasilieva, Activation of T Lymphocytes in Atherosclerotic Plaques, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 31, 2929–2937 (2011).

**4**. T. Kyaw, A. Winship, C. Tay, P. Kanellakis, H. Hosseini, A. Cao, P. Li, P. Tipping, A. Bobik, B.-H. Toh, Cytotoxic and Proinflammatory CD8+ T Lymphocytes Promote Development of Vulnerable Atherosclerotic Plaques in ApoE-Deficient Mice, Circulation 127, 1028–1039 (2013).

**5**. C. Cochain, M. Koch, S. M. Chaudhari, M. Busch, J. Pelisek, L. Boon, A. Zernecke, CD8 <sup>+</sup> T Cells Regulate Monopoiesis and Circulating Ly6C <sup>high</sup> Monocyte Levels in Atherosclerosis in MiceNovelty and Significance, Circ. Res. 117, 244–253 (2015).

*6. J. van Duijn, J. Kuiper, B. Slütter, The many faces of CD8+ T cells in atherosclerosis, Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 29, 1 (2018).* 

**7**. J. van Duijn, E. Kritikou, N. Benne, T. van der Heijden, G. H. van Puijvelde, M. J. Kröner, F. H. Schaftenaar, A. C. Foks, A. Wezel, H. Smeets, H. Yagita, I. Bot, W. Jiskoot, J. Kuiper, B. Slütter, CD8+ T-cells contribute to lesion stabilization in advanced atherosclerosis by limiting macrophage content and CD4+ T-cell responses, Cardiovasc. Res. 115, 729–738 (2019).

**8**. H.-W. Mittrücker, A. Visekruna, M. Huber, Heterogeneity in the Differentiation and Function of CD8+ T Cells, Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz). 62, 449–458 (2014).

**9**. J. T. Harty, A. R. Tvinnereim, D. W. White, CD8+ T Cell Effector Mechanisms in Resistance to Infection, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 18, 275–308 (2000).

**10.** J. Reiser, A. Banerjee, Effector, Memory, and Dysfunctional CD8(+) T Cell Fates in the Antitumor Immune Response., J. Immunol. Res. 2016, 8941260 (2016).

**11**. S. Halle, O. Halle, R. Förster, Mechanisms and Dynamics of T Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity In Vivo., Trends Immunol. 38, 432–443 (2017).

**12**. A. D. Hauer, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, N. Peterse, P. de Vos, V. van Weel, E. J. A. van Wanrooij, E. A. L. Biessen, P. H. A. Quax, A. G. Niethammer, R. A. Reisfeld, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Vaccination Against VEGFR2 Attenuates Initiation and Progression of Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 2050–2057 (2007).

**13**. K.-Y. Chyu, X. Zhao, P. C. Dimayuga, J. Zhou, X. Li, J. Yano, W. M. Lio, L. F. Chan, J. Kirzner, P. Trinidad, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, F. Dieli, Ed. CD8+ T Cells Mediate the Athero-Protective Effect of Immunization with an ApoB-100 Peptide, PLoS One 7, e30780 (2012).

**14**. E. J. A. van Wanrooij, P. de Vos, M. G. Bixel, D. Vestweber, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Vaccination against CD99 inhibits atherogenesis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice, Cardiovasc. Res. 78, 590–596 (2008).

**15**. P. C. Dimayuga, X. Zhao, J. Yano, W. M. Lio, J. Zhou, P. M. Mihailovic, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, K. Chyu, Identification of apoB-100 Peptide-Specific CD8+ T Cells in Atherosclerosis, J. Am. Heart Assoc. 6, e005318 (2017).

**16**. B. Ludewig, S. Freigang, M. Jaggi, M. O. Kurrer, Y.-C. Pei, L. Vlk, B. Odermatt, R. M. Zinkernagel, H. Hengartner, Linking immune-mediated arterial inflammation and cholesterol-induced atherosclerosis in a transgenic mouse model, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97, 12752–12757 (2000).

17. S. Yamada, Y. Ding, A. Tanimoto, K.-Y. Wang, X. Guo, Z. Li, T. Tasaki, A. Nabesima, Y. Murata, S.

Shimajiri, K. Kohno, H. Ichijo, Y. Sasaguri, Apoptosis Signal-Regulating Kinase 1 Deficiency Accelerates Hyperlipidemia-Induced Atheromatous Plaques via Suppression of Macrophage Apoptosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 31, 1555–1564 (2011).

**18**. J. Liu, D. P. Thewke, Y. R. Su, M. F. Linton, S. Fazio, M. S. Sinensky, Reduced Macrophage Apoptosis Is Associated With Accelerated Atherosclerosis in Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Null Mice, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25, 174–9 (2004).

**19**. A. I. Fyfe, J. H. Qiao, A. J. Lusis, Immune-deficient mice develop typical atherosclerotic fatty streaks when fed an atherogenic diet., J. Clin. Invest. 94, 2516–2520 (1994).

**20**. L. K. Curtiss, P. S. Tobias, Emerging role of Toll-like receptors in atherosclerosis., J. Lipid Res. 50 Suppl, S340-5 (2009).

**21.** E. A. Van Vre, H. Ait-Oufella, A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Apoptotic Cell Death and Efferocytosis in Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 32, 887–893 (2012).

**22**. D. Corridoni, A. Simmons, Innate immune receptors for cross-presentation: The expanding role of NLRs, Mol. Immunol. (2017), doi:10.1016/J.MOLIMM.2017.11.028.

**23**. M. Bellone, G. lezzi, P. Rovere, G. Galati, A. Ronchetti, M. P. Protti, J. Davoust, C. Rugarli, A. A. Manfredi, Processing of engulfed apoptotic bodies yields T cell epitopes., J. Immunol. 159, 5391–9 (1997).

**24**. J. W. Yewdell, J. R. Bennink, IMMUNODOMINANCE IN MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX CLASS I–RESTRICTED T LYMPHOCYTE RESPONSES, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 17, 51–88 (1999).

**25**. G. Stuber, S. Modrow, P. Höglund, L. Franksson, J. Elvin, H. Wolf, K. Kärre, G. Klein, Assessment of major histocompatibility complex class I interaction with Epstein-Barr virus and human immunodeficiency virus peptides by elevation of membrane H-2 and HLA in peptide loading-deficient cells, Eur. J. Immunol. 22, 2697–2703 (1992).

**26**. B. Peters, S. Bulik, R. Tampe, P. M. Van Endert, H.-G. Holzhütter, Identifying MHC class I epitopes by predicting the TAP transport efficiency of epitope precursors., J. Immunol. 171, 1741–9 (2003).

27. S. Tenzer, B. Peters, S. Bulik, O. Schoor, C. Lemmel, M. M. Schatz, P.-M. P.-M. Kloetzel, H.-G. H.-G. Rammensee, H. Schild, H.-G. H.-G. Holzhütter, Modeling the MHC class I pathway by combining predictions of proteasomal cleavage, TAP transport and MHC class I binding., Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 62, 1025–37 (2005).

**28**. M. Moutaftsi, B. Peters, V. Pasquetto, D. C. Tscharke, J. Sidney, H.-H. Bui, H. Grey, A. Sette, A consensus epitope prediction approach identifies the breadth of murine TCD8+-cell responses to vaccinia virus, Nat. Biotechnol. 24, 817–819 (2006).

**29**. M. Nielsen, C. Lundegaard, T. Blicher, K. Lamberth, M. Harndahl, S. Justesen, G. Røder, B. Peters, A. Sette, O. Lund, S. Buus, E. Kallas, Ed. NetMHCpan, a Method for Quantitative Predictions of Peptide Binding to Any HLA-A and -B Locus Protein of Known Sequence, PLoS One 2, e796 (2007).

**30**. *B.* Peters, A. Sette, Generating quantitative models describing the sequence specificity of biological processes with the stabilized matrix method., BMC Bioinformatics 6, 132 (2005).

**31**. S. Buus, S. L. Lauemøller, P. Worning, C. Kesmir, T. Frimurer, S. Corbet, A. Fomsgaard, J. Hilden, A. Holm, S. Brunak, Sensitive quantitative predictions of peptide-MHC binding by a "Query by Committee" artificial neural network approach., Tissue Antigens 62, 378–84 (2003).

**32**. C. Lundegaard, O. Lund, M. Nielsen, Accurate approximation method for prediction of class I MHC affinities for peptides of length 8, 10 and 11 using prediction tools trained on 9mers, Bioinformatics 24, 1397–1398 (2008).

33. M. Nielsen, C. Lundegaard, P. Worning, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. L. Lauemøller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S.

Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. L. Lauemøller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, Reliable prediction of T-cell epitopes using neural networks with novel sequence representations, Protein Sci. 12, 1007–1017 (2003).

**34**. C. Lundegaard, K. Lamberth, M. Harndahl, S. Buus, O. Lund, M. Nielsen, NetMHC-3.0: accurate web accessible predictions of human, mouse and monkey MHC class I affinities for peptides of length 8-11., Nucleic Acids Res. 36, W509-12 (2008).

**35**. J. Sidney, E. Assarsson, C. Moore, S. Ngo, C. Pinilla, A. Sette, B. Peters, Quantitative peptide binding motifs for 19 human and mouse MHC class I molecules derived using positional scanning combinatorial peptide libraries., Immunome Res. 4, 2 (2008).

**36**. S. Pascolo, N. Bervas, J. M. Ure, A. G. Smith, F. A. Lemonnier, B. Pérarnau, HLA-A2.1-restricted education and cytolytic activity of CD8(+) T lymphocytes from beta2 microglobulin (beta2m) HLA-A2.1 monochain transgenic H-2Db beta2m double knockout mice., J. Exp. Med. 185, 2043–51 (1997).

**37**. J. Boren, I. Lee, W. Zhu, K. Arnold, S. Taylor, T. L. Innerarity, Identification of the low density lipoprotein receptor-binding site in apolipoprotein B100 and the modulation of its binding activity by the carboxyl terminus in familial defective apo-B100., J. Clin. Invest. 101, 1084–93 (1998).

**38**. M. F. Linton, R. V Farese, G. Chiesa, D. S. Grass, P. Chin, R. E. Hammer, H. H. Hobbs, S. G. Young, Transgenic mice expressing high plasma concentrations of human apolipoprotein B100 and lipoprotein(a)., J. Clin. Invest. 92, 3029–37 (1993).

**39**. K. Barrios, E. Celis, TriVax-HPV: an improved peptide-based therapeutic vaccination strategy against human papillomavirus-induced cancers, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 61, 1307–1317 (2012).

**40.** H.-I. Cho, E. Celis, Optimized Peptide Vaccines Eliciting Extensive CD8 T-Cell Responses with Therapeutic Antitumor Effects, Cancer Res. 69, 9012–9019 (2009).

**41**. H.-I. Cho, S.-H. Jung, H.-J. Sohn, E. Celis, T.-G. Kim, An optimized peptide vaccine strategy capable of inducing multivalent CD8+ T cell responses with potent antitumor effects, Oncoimmunology 4, e1043504 (2015).

**42**. I. Bergström, K. Backteman, A. Lundberg, J. Ernerudh, L. Jonasson, Persistent accumulation of interferon-γ-producing CD8+CD56+ T cells in blood from patients with coronary artery disease, Atherosclerosis 224, 515–520 (2012).

**43**. Y. Hwang, H. T. Yu, D.-H. Kim, J. Jang, H. Y. H. C. Kim, I. Kang, H. Y. H. C. Kim, S. Park, W.-W. Lee, Expansion of CD8+ T cells lacking the IL-6 receptor  $\alpha$  chain in patients with coronary artery diseases (CAD), Atherosclerosis 249, 44–51 (2016).

44. D. Kolbus, I. Ljungcrantz, L. Andersson, B. Hedblad, G. N. Fredrikson, H. Björkbacka, J. Nilsson, Association between CD8 + T-cell subsets and cardiovascular disease, J. Intern. Med. 274, 41–51 (2013).
45. W. Zhao, X. Sher, Systematically benchmarking peptide-MHC binding predictors: From synthetic to naturally processed epitopes., PLoS Comput. Biol. 14, e1006457 (2018).

**46**. S. A. Ghanekar, L. E. Nomura, M. A. Suni, L. J. Picker, H. T. Maecker, V. C. Maino, Gamma interferon expression in CD8(+) T cells is a marker for circulating cytotoxic T lymphocytes that recognize an HLA A2-restricted epitope of human cytomegalovirus phosphoprotein pp65., Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. 8, 628–31 (2001).

**47**. N. Sakamoto, A. S. Rosenberg, Apolipoprotein B binding domains: evidence that they are cellpenetrating peptides that efficiently deliver antigenic peptide for cross-presentation of cytotoxic T cells., 186, 5004–11 (2011).

**48**. D. Kolbus, M. Wigren, I. Ljungcrantz, I. Söderberg, R. Alm, H. Björkbacka, J. Nilsson, G. N. Fredrikson, Immunization with cationized BSA inhibits progression of disease in ApoBec-1/LDL receptor deficient mice with manifest atherosclerosis, Immunobiology 216, 663–669 (2011). **49**. S. M. Mäkelä, P. Osterlund, I. Julkunen, TLR ligands induce synergistic interferon-β and interferon-λ1 gene expression in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells., Mol. Immunol. 48, 505–15 (2011).

**50**. F. Veglia, V. A. Tyurin, D. Mohammadyani, M. Blasi, E. K. Duperret, L. Donthireddy, A. Hashimoto, A. Kapralov, A. Amoscato, R. Angelini, S. Patel, K. Alicea-Torres, D. Weiner, M. E. Murphy, J. Klein-Seetharaman, E. Celis, V. E. Kagan, D. I. Gabrilovich, Lipid bodies containing oxidatively truncated lipids block antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cells in cancer, Nat. Commun. 8, 2122 (2017).

**51**. M. H. den Brok, C. Büll, M. Wassink, A. M. de Graaf, J. A. Wagenaars, M. Minderman, M. Thakur, S. Amigorena, E. O. Rijke, C. C. Schrier, G. J. Adema, Saponin-based adjuvants induce cross-presentation in dendritic cells by intracellular lipid body formation, Nat. Commun. 7, 13324 (2016).

**52**. L. Bougnères, J. Helft, S. Tiwari, P. Vargas, B. H.-J. Chang, L. Chan, L. Campisi, G. Lauvau, S. Hugues, P. Kumar, A. O. Kamphorst, A.-M. L. Dumenil, M. Nussenzweig, J. D. MacMicking, S. Amigorena, P. Guermonprez, A Role for Lipid Bodies in the Cross-presentation of Phagocytosed Antigens by MHC Class I in Dendritic Cells, Immunity 31, 232–244 (2009).

**53**. B. Legein, E. M. Janssen, T. L. Theelen, M. J. Gijbels, J. Walraven, J. S. Klarquist, C. M. Hennies, K. Wouters, T. T. P. Seijkens, E. Wijnands, J. C. Sluimer, E. Lutgens, M. Zenke, K. Hildner, E. A. L. Biessen, L. Temmerman, Ablation of CD8α+ dendritic cell mediated cross-presentation does not impact atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice, Sci. Rep. 5, 15414 (2015).

 54. C. L. Day, D. E. Kaufmann, P. Kiepiela, J. A. Brown, E. S. Moodley, S. Reddy, E. W. Mackey, J. D. Miller, A. J. Leslie, C. DePierres, Z. Mncube, J. Duraiswamy, B. Zhu, Q. Eichbaum, M. Altfeld, E. J. Wherry, H. M. Coovadia, P. J. R. Goulder, P. Klenerman, R. Ahmed, G. J. Freeman, B. D. Walker, PD-1 expression on HIVspecific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression, Nature 443, 350–354 (2006).
 55. D. L. Barber, E. J. Wherry, D. Masopust, B. Zhu, J. P. Allison, A. H. Sharpe, G. J. Freeman, R. Ahmed, Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection, Nature 439, 682–687 (2006).

56. M.-K. Qiu, S.-C. Wang, Y.-X. Dai, S.-Q. Wang, J.-M. Ou, Z.-W. Quan, PD-1 and Tim-3 Pathways Regulate CD8+ T Cells Function in Atherosclerosis., PLoS One 10, e0128523 (2015).

**57**. J. van Duijn, M. van Elsas, N. Benne, M. Depuydt, A. Wezel, H. Smeets, I. Bot, W. Jiskoot, J. Kuiper, B. Slütter, CD39 identifies a microenvironment-specific anti-inflammatory CD8+ T-cell population in atherosclerotic lesions, Atherosclerosis 285, 71–78 (2019).

58. M. Shugay, D. V Bagaev, I. V Zvyagin, R. M. Vroomans, J. C. Crawford, G. Dolton, E. A. Komech, A. L. Sycheva, A. E. Koneva, E. S. Egorov, A. V Eliseev, E. Van Dyk, P. Dash, M. Attaf, C. Rius, K. Ladell, J. E. McLaren, K. K. Matthews, E. B. Clemens, D. C. Douek, F. Luciani, D. van Baarle, K. Kedzierska, C. Kesmir, P. G. Thomas, D. A. Price, A. K. Sewell, D. M. Chudakov, VDJdb: a curated database of T-cell receptor sequences with known antigen specificity., Nucleic Acids Res. 46, D419–D427 (2018).

**59**. P. Dash, A. J. Fiore-Gartland, T. Hertz, G. C. Wang, S. Sharma, A. Souquette, J. C. Crawford, E. B. Clemens, T. H. O. Nguyen, K. Kedzierska, N. L. La Gruta, P. Bradley, P. G. Thomas, Quantifiable predictive features define epitope-specific T cell receptor repertoires, Nature 547, 89–93 (2017).

**60**. J. Glanville, H. Huang, A. Nau, O. Hatton, L. E. Wagar, F. Rubelt, X. Ji, A. Han, S. M. Krams, C. Pettus, N. Haas, C. S. L. Arlehamn, A. Sette, S. D. Boyd, T. J. Scriba, O. M. Martinez, M. M. Davis, Identifying specificity groups in the T cell receptor repertoire, Nature 547, 94–98 (2017).

**61**. W.-J. Shen, Y. T. Wei, X. Guo, S. Smale, H.-S. Wong, S. C. Li, MHC binding prediction with KernelRLSpan and its variations., J. Immunol. Methods 406, 10–20 (2014).



(**B**) Representative flow cytometry plots of the gating strategy of ex vivo CD4 and CD8 T cell stimulation as exemplified by ApoB406-414 splenocyte stimulation. First small debris and large cell aggregates were gated out based on FSC-A and SSC-A. Next single cells were gated based on FSC-A and FSC-H, after which T cells were gated based on Thy1.2 expression. Subsequently CD4 and CD8 T cells were gated. Peptide specific T cell responses were assessed by gating for CD44 and IFN-y double positive cells.



Supplementary Fig. S2: Peptide vaccination enhances effector memory CD8 T cells in circulation. (A) CD8 T cells were gated based on expression of CD3 and CD8 with flow cytometry and quantified. (B) Representative flow cytometry plot of the CD8 T cell population for the gating of CD44<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>-</sup> effector memory CD8 T cells, CD44<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> central memory CD8 T cells, and CD62L<sup>+</sup>CD44 naïve<sup>-</sup> CD8 T cells. (C) Quantification of memory and naïve CD8 T cell populations. Statistical analysis was performed with 1-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Depicted as mean with SEM, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001..

Chapter 5



**Figure S3: Gating strategy for aortic arch immune cell populations**. (**A**) Representative flow cytometry plots of the gating of aortic cell populations. Cell populations in peptide stimulation cultures of mesenteric lymph nodes and spleen were gated similarly. Singlets were gated based on FSC-W and FSC-*A*. Viable cells were gate based on size (FSC-A) and low fluorescent viability dye (FVD) fluorescence. Immune cells were selected through gating on CD45<sup>+</sup> cells. (1) A CD11b<sup>+</sup>SSC<sup>high</sup> was gated. From the CD11b<sup>+</sup>SSC<sup>high</sup> negative a Thy1.2<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup> (2), a Thy1.2<sup>-</sup>NK1.1<sup>+</sup> (3) and Thy1.2<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>-</sup> were gated. From the Thy1.2<sup>-</sup>NK1.1<sup>-</sup> population CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells were gated (4), and from the Thy1.2<sup>+</sup>NK1.1<sup>-</sup> population CD4<sup>+</sup>SSC<sup>low</sup> cells were gated, being CD4 T cells. Fig. 3A). From the CD8<sup>+</sup>SSC<sup>low</sup> negative population CD4<sup>+</sup>SSC<sup>low</sup> cells were gated, being CD4 T cells. The CD4 T cell and CD8 T cell populations were then assessed for cytokine expression in IFN-γ vs TNF-α, and IL-17 vs IL-10 plots. (**B**) Quantifications of cell populations in cell cultures of the aortic arch as assessed by flow cytometry. Statistical analysis of B was performed with 1-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test, plotted as mean with SEM.



## Immunoproteasomal inhibition with ONX-0914 attenuates atherosclerosis and reduces white adipose tissue mass and metabolic syndrome

F.H. Schaftenaar<sup>1\*</sup>, A.D. van Dam<sup>2</sup>, G. de Bruin<sup>3</sup>, J. Amersfoort<sup>1</sup>, H. Douna<sup>1</sup>,
M.J. Kröner<sup>1</sup>, P.J. van Santbrink<sup>1</sup>, A.C. Foks<sup>1</sup>, G.H.M van Puijvelde<sup>1</sup>, I. Bot<sup>1</sup>,
B.I. Florea<sup>3</sup>, H.S. Overkleeft<sup>3</sup>, P.C.N. Rensen<sup>2</sup>, J. Kuiper<sup>1\*</sup>

Submitted

<sup>1</sup> Division of BioTherapeutics, Leiden Academic Centre for Drug Research, Leiden, The Netherlands <sup>2</sup> Department of Medicine, Division of Endocrinology, and Einthoven Laboratory for Experimental Vascular Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands <sup>3</sup> Leiden Institute of Chemistry, Chemical Biology, Leiden, The Netherlands

## Abstract

Atherosclerosis is the major underlying pathology of cardiovascular disease, and is driven by hyperlipidemia and inflammation. Cells of hematopoietic origin, including immune cells, express high levels of the immunoproteasome. Inhibition of immunoproteasomal catalytic subunits LMP7 and LMP2 with ONX-0914 has been shown to have immunosuppressive effects and was effective in treating various autoimmune diseases in preclinical models, while its effects on atherosclerosis have not been studied yet. We found that intraperitoneal ONX-0914 treatment reduced atherosclerosis and dendritic cell levels and activation, and levels of antigen experienced T cells in various immune organs. Additionally, ONX-0914 reduced white adipose tissue (WAT) mass, which surprisingly coincided with neutrophil and macrophage accumulation in WAT. We found that primary mature murine adipocytes express immunoproteasomal subunits and upregulate CCL2 after incubation with ONX-0914, providing a mechanism for ONX-0914 induced immune infiltration. ONX-0914 reduced intestinal triglyceride uptake, which was likely the primary cause of the reduction in WAT mass, as ONX-0914 did not increase energy expenditure or reduce food intake. Intraperitoneal treatment with clodronate liposomes to deplete macrophages abolished the inhibitory effect of ONX-0914 on intestinal lipid uptake, indicating involvement of intraperitoneal macrophages in ONX-0914 mediated lipid uptake reduction. Concomitant with a reduction in WAT mass upon ONX-0914 treatment, we observed improvements in markers of metabolic syndrome, including lowered blood triglyceride levels, insulin levels, and fasting blood glucose. These data indicate that immunoproteasomal inhibition could be a useful tool to treat atherosclerosis, obesity, and metabolic syndrome, major health issues in the developed world.

## Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of death in the Western world with atherosclerosis as the most common underlying pathology (1). Atherosclerosis is characterized by lipid deposition in the intima of medium to large sized arteries, which evokes immune infiltration in the vessel wall and inflammation. The inflammatory response in atherosclerosis is characterized by a pro-inflammatory and pathogenic Th1 immune response (2). Current treatment of atherosclerosis has however mainly been focused on treating dyslipidemia in patients, which has led to a decrease in cardiovascular events (1). However, as evidenced by the CANTOS trial, immune modulating treatment combined with lipid management can lead to an additional lowering of the risk for major cardiovascular events (3, 4).

An interesting immune regulator is the immunoproteasome, a proteasome variant mainly basally expressed in cells of hematopoietic origin (5) and a variant of the constitutive proteasome which is basally expressed in all cells. Proteasomes are responsible for the degradation of the vast majority of cellular proteins and are involved in regulation of cellular processes via targeted degradation of polyubiquitinated proteins (5). Structurally, proteasomes are comprised of a large barrel-like protein complex, the 20S proteasome, which is formed through axial stacking of two heptameric outer a-rings and two heptameric inner  $\beta$ -rings. Regulatory protein subunits can bind to the  $\alpha$ -rings and are responsible for binding and unfolding of client proteins and open up the a-ring, which is otherwise almost completely closed restricting untargeted protein entry into the 20S proteasome (5). Client proteins that enter the proteasome are proteolytically cleaved by the lumen facing active sites of the 3 distinct catalytically active  $\beta$ -subunits present per  $\beta$ -ring, which differ between the different proteasome variants. These catalytic subunits exert caspase-like, trypsin-like, and chymotrypsin-like activities which are executed by the  $\beta$ 1,  $\beta$ 2 and  $\beta$ 5 subunit in the constitutive proteasome respectively, and  $\beta_{1i}$  (LMP2),  $\beta_{2i}$  (MECL-1) and  $\beta_{5i}$  (LMP7) subunit in the immunoproteasome respectively (6).

The constitutive- and immunoproteaosomal catalytic subunits diverge in the amino acids after which they proteolytically cleave proteins, resulting in different protein cleavage products (7). Through these divergent protein cleavage patterns, immunoproteasomes were found superior in the generation of MHC-I epitopes, important for the induction of CD8 T cell responses. IFN- $\gamma$  promotes the expression of the immunoproteasomal subunits, causing inducible immunoproteaome expression also in cells of non-hematopoietic origin. In addition to the generation of MHC-I epitopes, more recent studies suggest that the immunoproteasome also has a more general pro-inflammatory role, inducing proinflammatory gene expression in DCs (8). How immunoproteasomal activity induces this proinflammatory gene expression is still subject of speculation. Several studies using the immunoproteasomal LMP7 and LMP2 specific inhibitor ONX-0914 (formerly known as PR-957) (9, 10) have confirmed the pro-inflammatory role of the immunoproteasome and have demonstrated the involvement of the immunoproteasome in regulation of multiple inflammatory processes in different immune in cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. As such, LMP7 inhibition reduced inflammatory cytokine secretion in PBMCs and T cells (9, 11). Furthermore ONX-0914 was found to impact T cell differentiation, as ONX-0914 inhibited CD4 T cell differentiation towards the pro-inflammatory Th1 and Th17 helper T cells, and promoted differentiation towards Tregs *in vitro* (12). LMP7 inhibition was also found to affect DC functionality, inhibiting the capacity of DCs to prime T cells (8). In various experimental murine models of auto-immune diseases, such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), and arthritis, LMP7 inhibition with ONX-0914 reduced disease severity (9–17).

Since the effects of LMP7 inhibition described thus far are potentially beneficial for the outcome of cardiovascular disease, we studied the effect of ONX-0914 on atherosclerosis in LDLr deficient animals. Our results show that on top of reducing atherosclerosis by altering the innate and adaptive immune response, ONX-0914 treatment reduced intestinal lipid uptake, reduced white adipose tissue mass, and improved markers of metabolic syndrome. Our data indicate that immunoproteasomal inhibition using specific inhibitors may be a highly useful to combat atherosclerosis, obesity, and metabolic syndrome.

### Results

#### **ONX-0914 treatment reduces atherosclerosis**

Pharmacological inhibition of the immunoproteasomal active subunit LMP7 has reduced inflammation in experimental models of autoimmune diseases, thereby reducing disease severity (9–17). To assess the effect of LMP7 inhibition on atherosclerosis development, 12-14 week old female LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice were treated 3 times weekly with ONX-0914 (10 mg/kg intraperitoneally) for 7 weeks while being fed a Western-type diet (WTD). We analyzed the atherosclerotic lesions in the aortic root (Fig. 1A) and observed a 28.4% reduction (p=0.0054) in lesion size in the ONX-0914 treated group ( $2.8\pm0.5 \times 10^5 \mu m^2$ ) compared to the vehicle treated group ( $3.8\pm0.7 \times 10^5 \mu m^2$ ), and a trend towards reduced vessel occlusion (p=0.0975) (Fig. 1B). In addition we analyzed the accumulation of macrophages in the atherosclerotic lesions by immunohistochemistry (Fig. 1C) and found that the macrophage area in the lesions was reduced by 26.6%, but the relative macrophage area in the plaque was not affected upon LMP7 inhibition (Fig. 1D). Furthermore we assessed collagen buildup in the plaque by Masson's trichrome staining (Fig. 1E), and found a reduced absolute collagen area and a trend towards relative collagen content of the plaque (p=0.0538) in the ONX-0914 treated group

(Fig. 1F), which indicates a less progressed plaque phenotype in the ONX-0914 treated group than in the control group.



Fig. 1 **ONX-0914 treatment reduces atherosclerosis in aortic root.** 12-14 week old Female LDLr<sup>-/-</sup>mice (n=15) were fed WTD for 7 weeks during which ip injections with ONX-0914 (10 mg/kg) or control injections were administered three times weekly. **A**) Lipids in the aortic root were stained with oil red O **B**) to quantify atherosclerotic lesion area and vessel occlusion. **C**) Aortic root sections were immunohistochemically stained using MOMA-2 antibody **D**) to determine macrophage area and macrophage content of the plaque. **E**) Masson's Trichrome staining was used to assess **F**) collagen area and collagen content of the plaque. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01.

#### ONX-0914 reduces dendritic cell levels and activation

DCs have a pivotal role in atherosclerosis and enhanced activation of dendritic cells induces atherogenesis and mediates CD4 and CD8 T cell activation (18), whereas vaccination with

ApoB100 loaded DCs is atheroprotective and inhibits Th1 and Th2 immunity to ApoB100 (19, 20). It was previously reported that immunoproteasomal deficiency hampers DC functionality (8). Therefore, we assessed the effect of LMP7 inhibition on dendritic cell levels and their activation status with flow cytometry (Fig. 2A) in the spleen, cervical lymph nodes draining from the plaque (21) and disease unrelated mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN). ONX-0914 treatment significantly reduced the numbers of conventional CD11c<sup>+</sup>MHC-II<sup>+</sup> DCs in all three lymphoid organs (Fig. 2B). Activation of conventional DCs was unaltered in the spleen (Fig. 2C) but slightly lowered in the CLNs (Fig. 2D) and MLNs (Fig. 2E) upon LMP7 inhibition, as judged by the expression of CD86.



Fig. 2 **ONX-0914 lowers conventional DC levels and activation in lymphoid organs. A)** Representative flow cytometry plots from spleen, with gating depicted of cDCs based on expression of CD11c and MHC-II. **B**) Quantification of cDC levels in spleen, CLN, and MLN. Representative histograms of expression and quantification of median fluorescent intensity (MFI) of CD86 on cDCs in **C**) spleen, **D**) CLN, and **E**) MLN. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

To assess the direct effect of ONX-0914 on DCs, bone marrow derived DCs (BMDCs) were exposed overnight to ONX-0914 (200 nM) and assessed by flow cytometry (Fig. S1A). ONX-0914 incubation reduced DC viability (Fig. S1B), which could have accounted for the lowered DC levels that were observed in vivo. We did not observe a significant decrease in CD86 expression on DCs *in vitro*, probably due to a low sample size (Fig. S1B). Strikingly, stimulation of BMDCs with LPS reduced cell death caused by ONX-0914 treatment (50-100nM) (Fig. S1C). The observed upregulation in gene expression of constitutive and immunoproteasomal catalytic subunits in LPS-stimulated BMDCs compared to unstimulated DCs (Fig. S1D) likely rendered LPS-stimulated BMDCs less susceptible to ONX-0914 induced cell death. Furthermore, *in vitro* exposure to ONX-0914 (50-100 nM) upregulated expression of the

proteasome subunit  $\beta$ 5 in BMDCs (Fig. S1D), much like the previously reported upregulation of the constitutive proteasomal subunit  $\beta$ 5 subunit in T cells and B cells treated with ONX-0914 (22). Concomitant with the upregulation of the constitutive  $\beta$ 5 subunit, the subunits  $\beta$ 1 and  $\beta$ 2 were upregulated (Fig. S1D). In contrast to the upregulation of constitutive proteasomal subunits, all immunoproteasomal catalytic subunits and PA28 $\alpha$  and PA28 $\beta$ , subunits from the immunoproteasomal PA28 $\alpha\beta$  regulator, were downregulated by incubation with both concentrations of ONX-0914 in the presence of LPS (Fig. S1D). Since immunoproteasomal deficiency was found to reduce inflammatory gene expression in DCs and DC functionality (8), enhanced expression of constitutive proteasomes over immunoproteasomes in ONX-0914 exposed DCs might explain the suppressive effect of ONX-0914 on DCs. Since pro-inflammatory DCs promote atherogenesis, the observed reduction in DC levels and activation are likely to have contributed to reduce atherosclerosis.

#### **ONX-0914 treatment reduces memory T cell levels**

Because atherosclerosis is marked by a pathogenic Th response (2), we assessed whether ONX-0914 treatment skewed T helper differentiation away from Th1 cells towards atheroprotective Tregs, conform previously described *in vitro* and *in vivo* data (12). To assess whether Tregs were induced by ONX-0914 treatment we assessed CD4<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+/-</sup> cells by flow cytometry (Fig. S2A) in the spleen (Fig. S2B), blood (Fig. S2C), cervical lymph nodes (Fig. S2D) and mesenteric lymph nodes (Fig. S2E), however no enhanced Treg levels were found. To assess whether proliferative capacity of T cells and T cell differentiation were altered by ONX-0914 treatment, splenocyte cultures were stimulated with  $\alpha$ CD3 and  $\alpha$ CD28, and thymidine incorporation and the cytokine profile in supernatant were assessed. ONX-0914 did not affect thymidine incorporation (Fig. S3A) or IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-17a and IL-10 levels in culture supernatant (Fig. S3B), indicating that splenic T cell proliferation and splenic T cell differentiation towards Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg were unaffected by ONX-0914 treatment.

In line with these data we did not observe changes in CD4 (Fig. S3C) and CD8 T cell (Fig. S3E) levels, and central memory (Tcm), effector memory (Tem) and naïve (Th0/Tc0) T cell levels after ONX-0914 treatment in the spleen (Fig. S3D/F). Similarly, no differences in the CD4 population were observed in the cervical lymph nodes (Fig. S4A/B). The overall CD8 T cell percentage was, however, significantly increased in the CLN of ONX-0914 treated mice (Fig. S4C) but did not coincide with increases in any of the memory CD8 T cell subpopulations (Fig. S4D). These data suggest that enhanced CD8 T cell levels in the CLN were not the result of enhanced priming of CD8 T cells in the CLN. In mesenteric lymph nodes, however, ONX-0914 treatment caused an overall reduction of CD4 T cell levels (Fig. 3A) and a trend (p=0.14) towards reduction in CD4 Tem cells (Fig. 3B). Furthermore LMP7 inhibition reduced CD8 Tem and Tcm cells in the mesenteric lymph nodes (Fig. 3D) while overall CD8 T cell levels were unchanged (Fig. 3C). In the blood overall CD4 and CD8 T cell levels were not significantly

altered (Fig. 3E,G) but CD4 Th0 cell levels were increased (Fig. 3F), and CD8 Tc0 cells were increased coinciding with lowered CD8 Tem cells (Fig. 3H). These data indicate that even though ONX-0914 did not induce Tregs, induction of memory T cells was inhibited by ONX-0914 treatment. This is in line with the previously reported suppressive effect of ONX-0914 on T cells (*12, 22*). ONX-0914 treatment reduced DC levels and activation, and locally reduced memory CD4 and CD8 T cell levels, which are likely to have contributed to the lowered atherosclerotic lesion size observed upon LMP7 inhibition.



Fig. 3 **ONX-0914 treatment attenuates maturation of T cells in vivo.** Quantification of flow cytometric analysis of **A**) CD4 T cell and (C) CD8 T cell content of MLN. Representative flow cytometry plots and quantification of CD62L<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>-</sup> naïve, CD44<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>-</sup> effector memory, and CD44<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> central memory **B**) CD4 T cells and **D**) CD8 T cells from MLN. Quantification of **E**) CD4 T cells and **G**) CD8 T cells and naïve and effector memory **F**) CD4 T cells and **H**) CD8 T cells in circulation based on flow cytometric analysis. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.001.

# ONX-0914 reduces markers of metabolic syndrome while inducing innate immune activation

Since ONX-0914 was reported to suppress pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion/production (11, 12), a yet additional beneficial effect in the context of atherosclerosis, we assessed the serum cytokine profile in serum of ONX-treated mice using multiplex ELISA. Surprisingly, elevated levels of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , and a trend towards increased IL-1 $\beta$  levels were detected in serum of ONX-0914 treated mice (Fig. 4A, Fig. S5A for remainder of assessed cytokines). We observed a profound increase in neutrophil levels in blood (Fig. 4B), indicative of innate inflammation, but circulating classical monocyte levels remained stable, and patrolling monocyte populations were reduced (Fig. 4B). Furthermore ONX-0914 treatment reduced body weight (Fig. 4C), virtually depleting gonadal white adipose tissue (gWAT, visual observation), and lowered triglyceride (TG) levels but not cholesterol levels in blood plasma (Fig. 4D).



Fig. 4 **ONX-0914** induces unexpected beneficial metabolic effects and signs of innate inflammation. **A**) Quantification of cytokine levels in blood plasma and **B**) quantification of most abundant myeloid cell populations in circulation based on flow cytometric analysis at sacrifice at sacrifice. **C**) Body weight over the course of the experiment. **D**) Total cholesterol and triglyceride levels in blood plasma at sacrifice. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, ABD unpaired two tailed t-test, C two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

Lowered body weight and TG levels as a result of ONX-0914 treatment have not been described previously, therefore we further investigated the mechanisms through which ONX-0914 improved these markers of metabolic syndrome. LMP7 deficiency was previously found to reduce preadipocyte differentiation into mature adipocytes *(23, 24)*. Since ONX-0914 treatment virtually depleted gonadal WAT and reduced body weight, we suspected that ONX-0914 besides possibly affecting preadipocytes, also affected preexistent fat mass. To assess the effect of ONX-0914 on preexisting fat mass, male LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice were fed a WTD for 4 weeks, after which mice were randomized for body weight and age. At this point the baseline group was sacrificed, while the remaining animals were vehicle treated or ONX-0914 treated for 7 weeks.



Fig. 5 ONX-0914 treatment decreases pre-existing white adipose tissue and improves metabolic parameters. To assess the effect of ONX-0914 treatment on pre-existing fat mass, male 12-14 week old LDLrKO males (n=8) were fed a WTD for 4 weeks. At this point the baseline group was sacrificed and treatment with ONX-0914 (10 mg/kg, three times weekly) or control was commenced and continued for 7 weeks after which the control and treated groups were sacrificed. A) Gain in body weight of the control and ONX-0914 treated group over the course of treatment. B) gWAT and C) Liver weight at time of sacrifice. D) Blood glucose, triglyceride and total cholesterol levels in blood plasma after 4h fasting after 3.5 weeks of treatment. (E) Insulin and leptin concentrations in serum at sacrifice determined with multiplex ELISA. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, A) two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, D) two tailed t-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

Chapter 6

ONX-0914 treatment resulted in an immune phenotype similar to the previous study in respect to DCs (Fig. S6A-D), CD4 and CD8 T cells (Fig. S7) and neutrophil levels (Fig. S8A/B) compared to vehicle treated mice. Body weight declined from the start of ONX-0914 treatment and stabilized after 4-5 weeks of treatment (Fig. 5A). Consistent with the body weight gain, gWAT weight increased compared to baseline in the vehicle group, and declined nearly 4 fold in ONX-0914 treated animals compared to baseline (Fig. 5B). Liver weight was reduced in ONX-0914 treated animals (Fig. 5C), indicative of less steatosis (25). After 4 weeks of treatment and 40h after ONX-0914 administration, mice were fasted for 4h after which blood glucose, TG and cholesterol levels were determined. Blood glucose was significantly lowered, and a trend towards reduced TG levels was found in the ONX-0914 treated group compared to the vehicle treated group while total cholesterol levels remained stable (Fig. 5D). Furthermore multiplex analysis of metabolism related hormone and cytokine levels in serum after 7 weeks of treatment, revealed increased insulin levels in the vehicle treated group, indicative of insulin resistance, while insulin levels were similar to baseline in ONX-0914 treated animals (Fig. 5E). Leptin levels, correlating with gWAT weight, were lowered in ONX-0914 treated animals compared to vehcicle control group (Fig. 5E). To confirm that weight loss was not due to an off target (hepato)toxic effect of ONX-0914 treatment, we determined the activity of the liver-derived enzymes alanine aminotransaminase (ALAT) and aspartate aminotransferase (ASAT) in blood serum, and hepatic gene expression of Cyp3A11, as readout for PXR activation. We did not observe differences in ALAT and ASAT activities (Fig. S9A) nor in expression of Cyp3A11 (Fig. S9B) between the vehicle and treated group, indicating that ONX-0914 treatment did not induce liver toxicity or PXR activation.

## ONX-0914 mediated reduction of white adipose tissue mass is accompanied by neutrophil and macrophage accumulation in gWAT

In humans a homozygous missense mutation in PSMB8, encoding for LMP7, causes lipodystrophy, adipose inflammation and enhanced IL-6 levels (23). Since the phenotype observed in individuals with dysfunctional LMP7 is remarkably similar to the reduced WAT mass and enhanced inflammatory markers we observed when LMP7 (and LMP2) activity in mice was inhibited with ONX-0914, we assessed whether reduced WAT mass was accompanied by immune infiltration in gWAT. To that end we treated mice, which had been fed WTD for 6 weeks already to induce adiposity, with ONX-0914 for 1 week (4 ONX-0914 injections) or 1 day (3 PBS injections followed by 1 ONX-0914 injection), or with vehicle injections (4 PBS injections) to assess the immune response in WAT. 18h after final ip injection, mice were sacrificed and gWAT was isolated. Besides mature adipocytes, NAT is comprised of blood vessels, immune cells, and precursors of mature adipocytes, namely adipose stem cells and preadipocytes, forming the stromal vascular fraction (SVF). To assess the composition of gWAT, gWAT was digested and its SVF was isolated and analyzed by flow


Fig. 6 LMP7 inhibition induces CCL2 expression in gWAT and mature adipocytes and promotes innate immune infiltrate. A) Representative flow cytometry plots of the CD45<sup>+</sup> immune fraction of the SVF from gWAT, showing the gating for CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages and CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>-</sup> neutrophils. B) Quantification of total immune cells, neutrophils and macrophages in SVF from gWAT. C) Representative flow cytometry plots for the gating of CD34<sup>+</sup>CD45<sup>+</sup> cells, containing D) the SCA-I<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>+</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup> adipose stem cells, and SCA-I<sup>+</sup>CD105<sup>-</sup>CD31<sup>-</sup> preadipocytes. E) Gene expression of the floating cell fraction from digested gWAT. F) Correlation analysis between CD68 and CCL2 expression of the floating cell fraction of the ONX-0914 treated group. G) Gene expression of proteasomal active subunits in freshly isolated mature adipocytes and H) splenocytes from control treated mice. I) Gene expression of mature adipocytes isolated from gWAT, ex vivo cultured without or with ONX-0914 (200nM) for 24h under basal, lipolytic (10  $\mu$ M isoproterenol), and lipogenic (100 nM insulin) conditions. Expressed as mean ± SEM, BI) 1-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, C) unpaired two tailed t-test, F) Pearson correlation, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

cytometry (Fig. 6A). A single injection of ONX-0914 already led to infiltration of CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>-</sup> cells, most likely neutrophils (Fig. 6B). A week of ONX-0914 treatment led to increased overall immune cell counts (CD45<sup>+</sup>CD34<sup>-</sup>) and accumulation of CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> monocytes/macrophages (Fig. 6B), confirming the infiltration of immune cells upon ONX-0914 treatment. Furthermore, treatment with ONX-0914 for a week massively reduced the number of adipose stem cells and preadipocytes in gWAT SVF (Fig. 6CD).

To assess in more detail whether ONX-0914 affected the mature adipocyte population and how ONX-0914 caused the innate immune infiltrate in gWAT and reduction in gWAT mass, RNA was isolated from the adipocyte cell fraction after 1 week of treatment with ONX-0914. UCP-1 expression was not increased (Fig. 6E), suggesting that beiging of white adipose tissue due to ONX-0914 treatment did not underlie a reduction in body weight in ONX-0914 treated mice. Surprisingly PPAR-y expression, a marker for mature adipocytes, was decreased approximately 3-fold with a concomitant increase in CCL-2 and CD68 expression (Fig. 6E), indicating the presence of macrophages in the adipocyte cell fraction. Correlation analysis of CCL2 expression and CD68 of the ONX-0914 treated group, suggests that CCL2 expression was unlikely to be derived from solely macrophages ( $r^2 = 0.4494$ , p = 0.1451) (Fig. 6F). Therefore we determined whether mature adipocytes could have been a source of CCL2 expression in the adipocyte fraction of ONX-0914 treated mice. To assess this, mature adipocytes were isolated from gWAT of 40 week old female ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> animals on chow diet, and we determined whether immunoproteasomal subunits were expressed in mature adipocytes by gPCR. Freshly isolated mature adipocytes did express immunoproteasomal PSMB8 (LMP7), PSMB9 (LMP-2) and PSMB10 (MECL-1) (Fig. 6G), although expression of immunoproteasomal subunits was low compared to expression of proteasomal subunits PSMB5 ( $\beta$ 5), PSMB6 ( $\beta$ 1) PSMB7 ( $\beta$ 2), and expression of immunoproteasomal subunits in splenocytes (Fig. 6H). Exposure of mature adipocytes overnight to ONX-0914 (200 nM) did not reduce the expression of PPAR-y, but significantly induced CCL-2 expression in insulin and isoproterenol treated adipocytes (Fig. 6I), indicating that ONX-0914 treatment can directly affect mature adipocytes, causing CCL2 induction, which could lead to WAT inflammation.

## ONX-0914 reduces intestinal lipid uptake through a macrophage dependent mechanism

To further investigate the mechanism of ONX-0914 mediated reduction of gWAT mass, we assessed whether LMP7 inhibition influenced energy expenditure using metabolic cages. Since TG levels were lowered by LMP7 inhibition we also studied the effect of ONX-0914 on clearance of iv injected VLDL-like particles with radiolabeled [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesteryl oleate and glycerol tri[<sup>3</sup>H]oleate (26). Because our initial studies in LDLr deficient mice may have prevented a cholesterol-lowering effect due to the absence of a functional LDLr (27), we

opted to use APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice in this experiment. After 3 weeks of WTD feeding, ONX-0914 treatment was started for 2.5 weeks (10 mg/kg, 3 times weekly).

Two weeks of treatment of APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice with ONX-0914 led to reduced body weight gain compared to control treatment (Fig. 7A). Similar to the studies using LDLr KO mice, ONX-0914 reduced fat mass but not lean mass as assessed by EchoMRI (Fig. 7B), while overall food intake throughout the study was similar (Fig. 7C). Unexpectedly, locomotor activity (Fig. 7E) and energy expenditure (Fig. 7F) were decreased during the dark phase after treatment. Carbohydrate oxidation decreased directly after ONX-0914 treatment (Fig. 7G) and was accompanied by increased fat oxidation after treatment (Fig. 7H). The night after treatment (29-41h after treatment) locomotor activity normalized (Fig. 7E) and fat oxidation decreased (Fig. 7G) whilst carbohydrate oxidation tended to increase (Fig. 7H). Because locomotor activity was lowered and fat combustion was increased after treatment, we hypothesized that food intake could be reduced directly after treatment, and was compensated for during the 24h after that. Because this should be reflected in the fecal output, feces was collected the first 18h after treatment and the subsequent 24h. ONX-0914 treatment reduced total fecal weight in the first 18h and increased in the 18h-42h timeframe (Fig. 7D), suggesting that food intake may indeed be inhibited directly upon ONX-0914 treatment. TG and total nonHDL-cholesterol levels were lowered by LMP7 inhibition (Fig. S10A/B). Clearance of [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesteryl oleate and glycerol tri[<sup>3</sup>H]oleate levels from iv injected VLDL-like particles was slightly slower in ONX-0914 treated animals (Fig. S10C), indicating that lowered TG and TC levels were not due to a faster uptake from the blood.

Similar to the results in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice, macrophage accumulation was detected in gWAT, marked by enhanced CD68 gene expression upon ONX-0914 treatment (Fig. S11A). M1 macrophage markers SOCS3, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6, and M2 macrophage markers Arginase-I and IL-10 gene expression were increased to a similar extent upon LMP7 inhibition (Fig. S11A), indicating that the accumulated macrophages were not skewed towards a particular phenotype (Fig. S11B). Unlike in the previous experiments in which we assessed immune infiltrate in gWAT after shorter periods of ONX-0914 treatment, we did not find neutrophil accumulation in gWAT after 2.5 weeks of ONX-0914 treatment (Fig. S11C), and like previous experiments we did not find T cell accumulation in gWAT (Fig. S11C). No accumulation of macrophages was observed in interscapular brown adipose tissue tissue (iBAT) (Fig. S11D/E) or liver (Fig. S11F), suggesting that macrophage accumulation was WAT specific.

Because it was previously reported that intestinal lipid uptake was reduced in LMP7 deficient mice (28) we wondered whether lipid uptake was affected in ONX-0914 treated mice, and whether macrophages, consistently found to accumulate in gWAT after ONX-0914 treatment, were involved in this process. To assess involvement of the accumulated



**Fig. 7 ONX-0914 mediated weight loss is mediated by reduced intestinal lipid uptake A**) Body weight change over the course of the the metabolic cage study and its experimental setup. Dotted lines indicate control and ONX-0914 injections. **B**) At day -3 and 13 body composition was analyzed by EchoMRI. From day 5-13 animals were single housed in metabolic cages in which **C**) food intake, **E**) activity, **F**) energy expenditure and **H**) glucose and **G**) lipid utilization were determined. **D**) Feces was collected from the bedding of group housed animals at day 15 (0-18h after treatment) and day 16 (18-42h after treatment), and weighed. **I**) Baseline TG levels in blood plasma, obtained just before oral gavage with olive oil ( $200 \mu$ L). (**J**) Change in blood plasma TG levels at several timepoints after oral gavage with olive oil (left panel), and area under the curve of the change in TG levels (panel right). Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, **A**, **D**-**H**, **J**) (left panel) two-way paired ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, **B**) (day 13) and **C**) two-tailed T-test, **I**, **J**) (right panel) multiple two-tailed T-test with Holm-Sidak posttest, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*\*p < 0.001.

macrophages, intraperitoneal macrophages were depleted with ip injections of clodronate

liposomes a day prior to control or ONX-0914 treatment and compared to mice injected with empty liposomes. ONX-0914 treatment (10 mg/kg, 4 injections every other day) enhanced macrophage and neutrophil numbers in gWAT like previously after a week of ONX-0914 S12A-D). Clodronate liposome treatment successfully reduced treatment (Fig. CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD206<sup>+</sup> adipose tissue resident macrophage levels (Fig. S12A/B), and reduced accumulation of CD206<sup>-</sup> macrophages (Fig. S12A/B) and neutrophils (Fig. S12C/D) after ONX-0914 treatment. After three ONX-0914 injections mice were fasted overnight after which blood was collected, and mice received an oral bolus of 200 µl olive oil after which blood was collected at several time points to assess TG levels. Macrophage depletion increased baseline TG levels (Fig. 7G) in line with previous data (29), whilst only in the control liposome/ONX-0914 treated group triglyceride uptake was decreased (Fig. 7H), suggesting that ONX-0914 acted through a macrophage population to reduce intestinal lipid uptake. In LMP7 deficient animals, reduced intestinal lipid uptake was believed to be the result of a lower expression of fat digesting lipases, pancreatic lipase (Pnlip) and pancreatic lipase-related protein 2-like (Pnliprp2) (28), however we did not observe this (Fig. S13A) nor did we observe reduced expression of proteins involved in intestinal lipid uptake (Fig. S13B).

To further investigate the mechanism through which macrophages are involved in ONX-0914 induced weight loss, we performed a literature search for macrophage derived factors known to temporarily reduce food intake and activity, as seen in our metabolic cage study, and known to reduce body weight. From this literature search, we identified GDF15 which was recently described to induce similar metabolic profile as we observed with LMP7 inhibition *(30)*. GDF15 levels were indeed increased in blood plasma from ONX-0914 treated mice from multiple studies, shown for the initial atherosclerosis study (Fig. S14A). Therefore, we assessed whether induction of GDF15 upon treatment with ONX-0914 was the cause of the reduced body weight and treated GDF15<sup>-/-</sup> mice with the LMP7 inhibitor. Since already after a week of treatment a strong trend towards weight loss was observed in GDF15<sup>-/-</sup> mice treated with ONX-0914 (Fig. S14B), it is unlikely that GDF15 mediated ONX-0914-induced weight loss.

Besides reducing atherosclerosis through its immunosuppressive properties, ONX-0914 thus reduces white adipose tissue weight but not lean mass through reduced intestinal lipid uptake, and causes macrophage accumulation in gWAT. Macrophages appear to be involved in ONX-0914 mediated reduction in intestinal lipid uptake, however the exact mechanism in which intestinal lipid uptake is affected by LMP7 inhibition remains to be elucidated.

## Discussion

ONX-0914 mediated LMP7 and LMP2 inhibition (10) has proven to be effective in reducing disease severity in various auto-immune animal models through immune inhibition, but had not yet been tested in the context of atherosclerosis. In this study we show that ONX-0914 treatment reduced atherosclerosis in female LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a WTD. Unexpectedly LMP7/LMP2 inhibition also reduced body weight by reducing WAT and substantially improved markers of metabolic syndrome.

Atherosclerosis is characterized by lipid accumulation in vessel wall and subsequent chronic immune activation of the vessel wall, aggravating the disease. Oxidation and aggregation of LDL in the subendothelial space promotes uptake of LDL by macrophages and other APCs and results in activation of autoreactive (ox)LDL specific T cells. The inflammatory response in atherosclerosis is marked by a Th1 response (2, 31), resulting in production of the atherogenic Th1 cytokines IFN-y (32–36) and TNF $\alpha$  (37, 38). Because of the detrimental effects of the Th1 response in atherosclerosis (2, 39, 40) we aimed to inhibit this response. Inhibition of the immunoproteasomal LMP7 subunit with ONX-0914 was previously described to inhibit Th1 and Th17 development (9, 11), reduce secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (9, 41), and reduce various auto-immune diseases in experimental models. Therefore, we were interested to study the effect of ONX-0914 on atherosclerosis.

Treatment with ONX-0914 reduced atherosclerosis in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed WTD for 7 weeks. At this time point we did not observe reductions in Th1 cytokines in serum and in supernatant of  $\alpha$ CD3/ $\alpha$ CD28 stimulated splenocytes, but did observe an overall decrease in CD4 and CD8 Tem and Tcm cell populations in different lymphoid compartments, confirming the inhibitory effect of LMP7/LMP2 inhibition on T cell function. Circulating effector memory T cells were previously found to correlate with carotid intima-media thickness independent of classical CVD risk factors in human, and were increased in patients with stable angina and acute myocardial infarction compared to controls (42), indicating that is likely that ONX-0914 mediated reduction in circulating effector T cells helped reducing atherosclerosis.

Besides direct inhibition of T cells, ONX-0914 treatment also reduced the cDC content in the spleen and reduced cDC content and activation in mesenteric lymph nodes and cervical lymph nodes which drain the peritoneal cavity and intestines (atherosclerosis unrelated) (42) and drain the aorta and supra-aortic arteries (atherosclerosis related) (43) respectively, providing an indirect way to inhibit T cell activation. This is in line with the finding that immunoproteasome deficient DCs are inferior at priming T cell responses compared to wild type DCs (8). Enhanced activation of dendritic cells previously proofed to be atherogenic and led to increased CD4 and CD8 T cell activation (18), therefore the reduced DC numbers and activation are likely to have contributed to the smaller lesions observed after ONX-0914

treatment. We found that overnight incubation of bone marrow derived DCs with ONX-0914 reduced DC viability and led to a trend towards reduced BMDC activation, indicating that reduced DC levels and activation in vivo were most likely a direct result of ONX-0914 treatment.

The exact molecular mechanisms by which immune cells are inhibited by proteasomal inhibition are largely unknown, however have been proposed to involve the unfolded protein response (UPR) pathway (17) which is activated in response to accumulation of unfolded and misfolded proteins in the ER, inducing ER stress (44). Presumably the primary task of the UPR is regulating the expression of numerous genes aimed to regain homeostasis in the ER or induce apoptosis if ER stress remains unresolved (44). An important secondary task of the UPR in immune cells may also be the inhibition of activation of immune cells which cannot accurately process incoming signals due to accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins, preventing uncontrolled tissue damage. In light of such a protective mechanism, it is fitting that Nrf2 (nuclear factor erythroid-derived 2-related factor 2), which under normal circumstances is very rapidly degraded by the proteasome but stabilized upon proteasome inhibition (45), upregulates gene expression of proteasomal subunits to regain healthy protein homeostasis (46), and is known to suppress the immune system (47–53).

Next to developing atherosclerosis, LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice on WTD develop obesity, obesity associated metabolic syndrome, and insulin resistance (54, 55). In addition to reducing atherosclerosis, ONX-0914 consistently reduced body weight in WTD fed LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice and APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice, markedly reducing WAT mass while preserving lean mass, and inducing improved metabolic parameters such as lowered insulin levels, lowered fasting blood glucose, lowered TG levels, and in APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice, also lowered cholesterol levels. To ensure that weight loss in ONX-0914 treated mice was not caused by (hepato)toxicity, we assessed the activity of liver enzymes ALAT and ASAT in the blood, and Cyp3A11 expression in the liver. ALAT and ASAT activity, and Cyp3A11 expression were not elevated, indicating no toxic side-effects of ONX-0914 treatment. To our knowledge this is the first study to show that LMP7 inhibition using the LMP7 specific inhibitor ONX -0914 has metabolic effects in addition to its immunomodulatory effects, which is likely the consequence of the use of a WTD in our study, leading to the substantial accumulation of WAT mass and development of metabolic syndrome, versus the use of lean mice on chow diet in previous studies applying ONX-0914 (9–17). In addition, disease-related weight loss due to induction of colitis (12), EAE (11) or arthritis (9), may have masked the metabolic effects of ONX-0914 in these disease models.

We found that ONX-0914 reduced WAT mass, not through increased energy expenditure or reduced overall food intake, but through reduced intestinal uptake of lipids, similar to

Chapter 6

findings in LMP7 deficient animals (28). In the study of Kimura et al. reduced intestinal lipid uptake in LMP7 deficient mice was attributed to lowered expression of pancreatic lipases Phlip and Phlrp2 (28), however pharmacological inhibition of LMP7/LMP2 did not lead to lowered expression of Pnlip and Pnlrp2 in our study. Indeed, intestinal uptake of lipids is minimally affected in Pnlip (56) or Pnlrp2 deficient mice (57). Instead, we found that ONX-0914 initially induced neutrophil infiltration and subsequently macrophage accumulation in gWAT. We found that ONX-0914 mediated inhibition of lipid absorption was peritoneal macrophage dependent, as intestinal lipid uptake was not affected in animals treated with ONX-0914 intraperitoneally administered clodronate liposomes. From a literature search, we found GDF15 as a macrophage derived factor which is known to (temporarily) reduce food intake and induce weight loss (30). ONX-0914 treatment upregulated GDF15 levels in the blood, but as GDF15<sup>-/-</sup> mice also lost weight when treated with ONX-0914, GDF15 did not appear to mediate ONX-0914 induced weight loss in ONX-0914 treated mice. More research is needed to assess the exact mechanism in which ONX-0914 induces loss of WAT mass. Other macrophage derived products, including IL-1 $\beta$  (58) and IL-15 (59), were previously found to reduce intestinal lipid uptake.

Moreover, the innate inflammatory response in gWAT is most likely responsible for the enhanced TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 levels in blood upon ONX-0914 treatment. Interestingly, patients with a loss of function mutation in PSMB8, coding for LMP7, present themselves with similar symptoms including elevated serum IL-6 levels, white adipose tissue inflammation, and lipodystrophy (23). These effects of dysfunctional LMP7 were attributed to dependency of preadipocytes on LMP7 for differentiation towards mature adipocytes. Moreover, Psmb8<sup>-/-</sup> mice have lowered preadipocytes and adipose stem cell numbers (23, 24). In line with these findings, we found that ONX-0914 treatment severely reduced preadipocyte and adipose stem cell numbers in gWAT. Since we found that isolated mature adipocytes express immunoproteasomal catalytic subunits and upregulate CCL2 in response to overnight exposure to ONX-0914, this provides a direct mechanism for ONX-0914 induced innate immune infiltrate in gWAT. Similar to LMP7/LMP2 inhibition in immune cells, ONX-0914 is likely to have affected proteostasis in adjpocytes. UPR activation in multiple cell types of non-hematopoietic origin was found to induce CCL2 expression (60-62), which may explain CCL2 expression in adipocytes and gWAT in response to LMP7 inhibition. The presence of macrophages in the buoyant adipocyte fraction after gWAT digestion in the ONX-0914 treated group, indicates either tight interaction between macrophages and adipocytes, or enhanced uptake of lipids by gWAT macrophages through uptake of free fatty acids or efferocytosis of apoptotic adipocytes which could have contributed to the lowered TG levels in blood plasma of ONX-0914 treated mice.

In contrast to our studies with ONX-0914, no immune infiltrate was observed in gWAT from LMP7 deficient mice (28), and no effect of LMP7 deficiency was found on body weight and atherosclerosis in LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> animals on WTD for 6 weeks and 24 weeks (63). It was argued that in the LMP7/LDLr dKO mice the lowered expression of the immunoproteasome constituents LMP2 and MECL-I was effectively compensated by enhanced constitutive proteasome expression leading to similar overall caspase-like, trypsin like, and chymotrypsin-like proteolytic activities in BMDM cell lysates from LMP7 deficient and sufficient animals (63). In line with the discrepancy between LMP7 deficiency (63) and ONX-0914 treatment in our study with respect to atherosclerosis, similar data were observed in experimental autoimmune EAE, where LMP7 deficiency did not affect disease whereas treatment with ONX-0914 did reduce disease severity (11). These data seem to correlate with the recent discovery that ONX-0914 acts through inhibition of not only LMP7, but also through inhibition of LMP2 inhibition, and that inhibition of both subunits was needed to ameliorate experimental colitis and EAE (10).

Treatment of mice with ONX-0914 reduces atherosclerosis and considerably reduces WAT mass in obese mice fed a WTD, concomitantly improving parameters of metabolic syndrome. Because atherosclerosis is still the primary cause of death, and the obesity epidemic is feeding metabolic syndrome related diseases worldwide, immunoproteasomal inhibition could be a valuable therapeutic tool for the western world to combat both. Identification of the mechanisms behind ONX-0914 reduced weight loss could allow more specific treatment options.

## **Materials and Methods**

#### Animals

All animal work was approved by the Leiden University Animal Ethics Committee and the animal experiments were performed conform the guidelines from Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes. Mice were housed in individual ventilated cages with aspen bedding, in groups of 2–4 mice per cage except for the duration of the metabolic cage measurements, during which mice were single housed. Mice were fed a regular chow diet prior to initiation of the *in vivo* experiments after which LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> (Jackson Laboratory; original purchase, further bred in house), and GDF15<sup>-/-</sup> (a generous gift from dr. ing. S. de Jager, University Medical Center Utrecht) were fed a WTD containing 0.25% cholesterol 15% cocoa butter (Special Diet Services, Witham, Essex, UK), and APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice (64) were fed a WTD containing 0.1% cholesterol, 15% cocoa butter, and 1% corn oil (HopeFarms, Woerden, The Netherlands) for indicated durations. In the week prior to initiation of treatment mice were randomized based on age and weight. APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice were additionally randomized based on lean and fat mass, and TC

and TG levels. Mice were intraperitoneally treated with ONX-0914 (65) (synthesized by the Leiden Institute of Chemistry) at a concentration of 10 mg/kg, 3 times weekly for the indicated durations. ONX-0914 was solubilized in DMSO after which it was diluted in PBS (37°C) to prevent precipitation of ONX-0194 (4% DMSO). 4% DMSO in PBS served as control treatment. Macrophages were depleted in the indicated experiment with 110 mg/kg clodronate liposomes or treated with an equivalent amount of empty liposomes (both purchased at clodronateliposomes.org. Vrije University, Netherlands). At the end-point of the studies using LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> and GDF15<sup>-/-</sup> mice, mice were anesthetized by subcutaneous iniection with mix of ketamine (100 mg/mL), sedazine а (25 mg/mL)and atropine (0.5 mg/mL) and retro-orbitally exsanguinated, and perfused with PBS. Directly after the final blood withdrawal after the kinetic study with radiolabeled VLDL-like particles in APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice, mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation and perfused with PBS to remove radiolabels that had not been taken up by organs.

#### Indirect calorimetry

After 3 days of acclimatization, O<sub>2</sub> consumption, CO<sub>2</sub> production, and food intake were measured for 6 consecutive days in fully automatic metabolic cages (LabMaster System, TSE Systems, Bad Homburg, Germany). Total EE was estimated from the VO<sub>2</sub> and resting energy Carbohydrate calculated requirement. oxidation was using the formula  $((4.585*VCO_2)-(3.226*VO_2))*4$ , in which the 4 represents the conversion from mass per time unit to kcal per time unit (66). Similarly, fat oxidation was calculated using the formula  $((1.695*VO_2) - (1.701*VCO_2))*9$ . Physical activity was monitored using infrared sensor frames. Metabolic cage data from the first 5 h directly after injection at 1 PM with ONX-0914 or vehicle ('Day of treatment', light phase) were analyzed and compared to the same 5-h period 24 h later ('Day after treatment', light phase). For calculations of averages during the dark phase (night on 'Day of/after treatment'), 12 h periods of time were used for analysis.

#### Preparation of VLDL-like TG-rich emulsion particles and clearance assay

VLDL-like TG-rich emulsion particles (80 nm) containing radiolabeled glycerol tri[<sup>3</sup>H]oleate (TO) and [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesteryl oleate (CO) were synthesized like previously (*67*). In brief, emulsion particles were obtained by sonicating a mixture of TO (70 mg), egg yolk phosphatidylcholine (22.7 mg), CO (3.0 mg), lysophosphatidylcholine (2.3 mg), and cholesterol (2.0 mg), containing [<sup>3</sup>H]TO (100  $\mu$ Ci) and [<sup>14</sup>C]CO (10  $\mu$ Ci) tracers, at 54°C using a Soniprep 150 (MSE Scientific Instruments, UK) set at 10  $\mu$ m output. VLDL-like particles were obtained through density gradient ultracentrifugation using a Beckman SW 40 Ti rotor. First, chylomicron-like particles were discarded by removing the top fraction after centrifugation (20,000 r.p.m., 27 min, 20°C), thereafter the remainder was centrifuged (40,000 r.p.m., 27 min, 20 °C) and VLDL-like particles were isolated and stored at 4 °C under argon and used within 5 days.

To study the *in vivo* clearance of cholesteryl oleate and glycerol trioleate, APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice treated with ONX-0914 or vehicle for 2.5 weeks were fasted for 4 h directly after a final ONX-0914 injection after which a baseline blood sample was drawn, and 200  $\mu$ L VLDL-like emulsion particles (1.0 mg TG per mouse) were administered iv. Blood samples were obtained 2, 5, 10, and 15 minutes after administration of the emulsion particles by tail bleeding into paraoxon (Sigma)-coated heparinized capillary tubes (Hawksley, Sussex, England). <sup>3</sup>H- and <sup>14</sup>C -activity was determined in plasma. Total plasma volume was estimated by multiplying body weight (g) with 0.04706 *(26, 68)*. Half-life times were derived from the half-life constant which was calculated using the log values for <sup>3</sup>H and <sup>14</sup>C measurements for t = 2, 5, and 10 minutes.

#### Oral TG loading test, plasma lipoprotein analysis

Mice were fasted overnight, after which a baseline blood sample was drawn. Mice received an oral bolus of 200µl olive oil (Bertolli), and blood was drawn 30, 60, 120, 180, and 240 minutes after that. Blood was collected in Microvette CB300 Lithium-Heparin coated capillary tubes (Sarstedt).

TG and TC levels in blood plasma from the oral TG loading test and other experiments were assessed with commercially available kits (Roche). HDL-cholesterol (HDL-C) levels were determined in supernatant from blood plasma of APOE\*3-Leiden mice, upon precipitation of ApoB-containing lipoproteins by addition of 20% polyethylene glycol in 200 mM glycine buffer (pH 10) and measurement of TC in the supernatant. The activity of Aspartate Aminotransferase and Alanine Aminotransferase in blood plasma were assessed with activity assay kits (Sigma, MAK055 and MAK052, respectively) according to manufacturer's protocols.

#### Thymidine incorporation assay

Splenocytes (200,000 cells/well) were stimulated with anti-CD3e (1  $\mu$ g/mL) and anti-CD28 (0.5  $\mu$ g/mL) (both from Thermo Fischer) for 72 h and incubated with 0.5  $\mu$ Ci/well <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine (Perkin Elmer) for the last 16 h, or remained unstimulated. Cells were thoroughly washed with PBS and thereafter lysed with natriumhydroxide and taken up in Emulsifier-Safe<sup>TM</sup> (Perkin Elmer). (<sup>3</sup>H-thymidine incorporation was measured using a liquid scintillation analyzer (Tri-Carb 2900R). Responses are expressed as the mean disintegrations per minute (dpm). The stimulation index (s.i.) was defined by dividing the dpm under activated conditions by the dpm under non-activated conditions per mouse.

# gWAT digestion, SVF and primary adipocyte isolation, and primary adipocyte culture

After perfusion with PBS, gonadal white adipose tissue was excised, and minced in DPBS (Lonza) supplemented with 0.5% BSA (Sigma). Thereafter minced adipose tissue was

incubated in DPBS with 10 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, and 4 mg/mL collagenase type II derived from Clostridium Histolyticum (Sigma) at 37°C, while gently agitated in a rotational shaker. Adipose tissue homogenates were passed over a 300-µm mesh (Elko, Fisher Scientific) and thereafter centrifuged at 150 x g for 10 min at RT. Infranatant was removed, saved for assessment of stromal vascular fraction (SVF) cell populations with flow cytometry or discarded, and remaining floating adipocytes were washed twice with DPBS (Gibco) supplemented with 0.5% BSA. Adipocytes were either directly taken up in GTC and stored at -80°C for gene expression analysis, or cultured overnight in DMEM (Lonza) supplemented with 10% FCS (GE Healthcare Life Sciences), 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) and 2mM L-glutamine (Thermo fisher Scientific).

#### Histology

Hearts were transversally cut in half and incubated in OCT medium for 30 minutes. After 30 minutes hearts were fast frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80oC before cryosections (10 µm) of the aortic root were collected on Superfrost Plus<sup>™</sup> Adhesion Microscope Slides (ThermoFisher) and analyzed at 70 µm intervals (7 slides/mice). Neutral fats were stained with Oil Red O to determine the average lesion size of five subsequent sections of the aortic root containing 3 valvular leaflets, as a measure of atherosclerotic lesion size. Lesion collagen content was determined with Masson trichrome staining (Sigma-Aldrich) for 3 subsequent sections in 3 sections containing the aortic root valvular leaflets. Corresponding sections were immunohistochemically stained for macrophages with MOMA-2 antibody (Sanbio, 1:1000 dilution). Slides were blocked with 5% milk powder before primary antibody was added for 2h at RT, after which primary antibody was incubated overnight at 4oC. Then slides were incubated with Goat anti-rat Ig alkaline phosphatase (A8438, Sigma-Aldrich) for 1h at RT, after which BCIP/NBT Substrate (DAKO) was used to stain macrophages blue. Blinded histological analysis was performed using a Leica DM-RE microscope and LeicaQwin software (Leica Imaging Systems, Cambridge, UK).

#### Flow Cytometry

Extracellular staining (ECS) of single cell suspensions was performed in PBS with 2% FCS and aCD16/32 antibody (93, Biolegend) and eBioscience<sup>™</sup> Fixable Viability Dye eFluor<sup>™</sup> 780 (ThermoFisher) to discriminate between living and dead cells for 30 minutes at 4°C. For intracellular transcription factor staining after ECS, cells were fixed and permeabilized with the FoxP3 transcription factor buffer set (Thermofisher/eBioscience) according to manufacturer's instructions, and incubated with flow cytometry antibodies for 45 minutes at 4°C. Spleen and lymph nodes were mashed over a 70 µm cell strainer (Greiner) to obtain single cell suspensions and red blood cells were lysed with ACK lysis buffer if necessary.

The following antibodies were purchased at BD biosciences: The following antibodies were purchases at BD Biosciences: CD4-PerCP (RM4-5), CD105-PE-CF594 (MJ7/18), CD31-BV421 (Mec13,3), CD45-FITC (30-F11), Ly6G-FITC (1A8); Biolegend: CD11b-eFluor 450 (M1/70), CD11c-FITC (N418), CD4-BV421 (IM7), CD44-FITC (IM7), CD45-Alexa Fluor 700 (30-F11), CD8-BV510 (53-6.7), CD8-APC (53-6.7), CD206-PE/Cy7 (C068C2), CD34-PE/Cy5 (MEC14.7); eBioscience/Thermofisher scientific: CD115-PE (AFS98), CD11c-PE (N418), CD19-Pacific Blue (eBio1D3), CD19-PE/Cy7 (eBio1D3), CD25-APC (PC61.5), CD25-FITC (PC61.5), CD3e-PE/Cy5 (145-2C11), CD34-PB (RAM34), CD44-APC (IM7), CD62L-APC (MEL-14), CD62L-PB (MEL-14), CD8-PE (16-10A1). CD86-PE (GL1). F4/80-APC (BM8). Foxp3-Pacific Blue (FJK-16s). FoxP3-PE (NRRF-30), GATA-3-PE (TWAJ), Ly6C-PE (HK1.4), Ly6C-PerCP/Cy5.5 (HK1.4), NK1.1-APC (PK136), T-bet-PE/Cy7 (eBio4B10), CD11b-eVolve 605 (M1/70), CD161-PE (HP-3G10), CD86-PE/Cy5 (GL1), CD8a-PE/Texas Red (5H10), SCA-1-APC (CT-6A/6E), MHC-II-PerCP/eFluor 710 (M5/114.15.2), MHC-II-eVolve 655 (M5/114.15.2), SCA-1-PE (D7). Compensation measurements were performed using UltraComp eBeads (ThermoFisher) and ArC Amine-Reactive Compensation Beads (ThermoFisher). Cells were measured with a FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences) and a Cytoflex S flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter) and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, inc.).

#### **Real-time quantitative PCR**

RNA was extracted from adipocytes, and mechanically disrupted gWAT, interscapular brown adipose tissue (iBAT), liver, and spleen, using Trizol reagent following manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen). Thereafter cDNA was generated using RevertAid M-MuLV reverse transcriptase according to manufacturer's protocol (Thermo Scientific). Quantitative gene expression was measured using Power SYBR Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific) on a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems). Gene expression was normalized to housekeeping genes ACTB and RPLP0. A list of all primers can be found in the supplementary table (Table S1).

#### **Multiplex ELISA**

Inflammatory cytokines in blood plasma, and culture supernatant of splenocytes stimulated overnight with anti-CD3e (1 µg/mL) and anti-CD28 (0.5 µg/mL) were assessed with a T cell differentiation 17-plex Luminex bead-based assay (eBioscience, EPX170-26087-901) according to manufacturer's instructions. Metabolic syndrome related biomarkers were assessed in blood plasma with a diabetes 8-plex Luminex bead-based assay (BioRad, 171F7001M) following manufacturer's protocol. Luminex assays were measured on a MAGPIX System (Luminex).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using Graphpad Prism (version 7.01). Outliers were removed from analysis by the ROUT method (Q = 1%). For statistical comparison of 2 groups an unpaired two-tailed T-test was used. For comparison of more than 2 groups with one variable a one-way ANOVA was used. For statistical comparison of 2 treatment groups with multiple timepoints a two-way repeated measures ANOVA was used. For the comparison of multiple groups defined by two variables, a two-way ANOVA was used. After multiple comparisons, the Holm-Sidak posttest was used to calculate multiplicity adjusted p-values of individual comparisons. Differences between groups were considered statistically significant at p < 0.05.

### Acknowledgments

None.

## Funding

This work was supported by the European Union's Seventh Framework [603131 to J.K.], which was also supported by financial contribution from Academic and SME/industrial partners. We acknowledge the support from the Netherlands CardioVascular Research Initiative: the Dutch Heart Foundation, Dutch Federation of University Medical Centres, the Netherlands Organisation for Health Research and Development, and the Royal Netherlands Academy of Sciences for funding the the GENIUS II project "Generating the best evidence-based pharmaceutical targets and drugs for atherosclerosis" (CVON2017-2020).

## Author contributions

JK, devised the main outlines of the project and supervised the project. GdB synthesized ONX-0914 under supervision of BF and HO, and together advised how to handle ONX-0914. The metabolic study in ApoE\*3-Leiden mice was designed, executed and analyzed by AvD and PCNR. FHS designed, executed, analyzed the remainder of the experiments, and wrote the manuscript. ACF, IB, MK, HD, JA, PJvS and GHMvP helped carrying out most of the experiments and together with BF, HO, AvD, PCNR, and JK, gave valuable feedback to improve the studies. BF, HO, AvD, PCNR, and JK commented on the manuscript.

#### **Competing interests**

None.

### Data and materials availability

All data associated with this study are available in the main text or the supplementary materials.

#### References

**1**. GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators, Global, regional, and national age–sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013, Lancet 385, 117–171 (2015).

**2**. Z. Mallat, S. Taleb, H. Ait-Oufella, A. Tedgui, The role of adaptive T cell immunity in atherosclerosis: Fig. 1., J. Lipid Res. 50, S364–S369 (2009).

**3**. P. M. Ridker, B. M. Everett, T. Thuren, J. G. MacFadyen, W. H. Chang, C. Ballantyne, F. Fonseca, J. Nicolau, W. Koenig, S. D. Anker, J. J. P. Kastelein, J. H. Cornel, P. Pais, D. Pella, J. Genest, R. Cifkova, A. Lorenzatti, T. Forster, Z. Kobalava, L. Vida-Simiti, M. Flather, H. Shimokawa, H. Ogawa, M. Dellborg, P. R. F. Rossi, R. P. T. Troquay, P. Libby, R. J. Glynn, CANTOS Trial Group, Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease, N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 1119–1131 (2017).

**4**. A. W. Aday, P. M. Ridker, Targeting Residual Inflammatory Risk: A Shifting Paradigm for Atherosclerotic Disease, Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 6, 16 (2019).

**5**. *K.* Tanaka, The proteasome: overview of structure and functions., Proc. Jpn. Acad. Ser. B. Phys. Biol. Sci. 85, 12–36 (2009).

**6**. P. M. Kloetzel, Generation of major histocompatibility complex class I antigens: functional interplay between proteasomes and TPPII, Nat. Immunol. 5, 661–669 (2004).

**7**. B. J. Van den Eynde, S. Morel, Differential processing of class-I-restricted epitopes by the standard proteasome and the immunoproteasome, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 13, 147–153 (2001).

**8**. D. A. de Verteuil, A. Rouette, M.-P. Hardy, S. Lavallée, A. Trofimov, É. Gaucher, C. Perreault, Immunoproteasomes shape the transcriptome and regulate the function of dendritic cells., J. Immunol. 193, 1121–32 (2014).

**9**. T. Muchamuel, M. Basler, M. A. Aujay, E. Suzuki, K. W. Kalim, C. Lauer, C. Sylvain, E. R. Ring, J. Shields, J. Jiang, P. Shwonek, F. Parlati, S. D. Demo, M. K. Bennett, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, A selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 blocks cytokine production and attenuates progression of experimental arthritis., Nat. Med. 15, 781–7 (2009).

**10**. M. Basler, M. M. Lindstrom, J. J. LaStant, J. M. Bradshaw, T. D. Owens, C. Schmidt, E. Maurits, C. Tsu, H. S. Overkleeft, C. J. Kirk, C. L. Langrish, M. Groettrup, Co-inhibition of immunoproteasome subunits LMP2 and LMP7 is required to block autoimmunity, EMBO Rep. 19, e46512 (2018).

**11**. M. Basler, S. Mundt, T. Muchamuel, C. Moll, J. Jiang, M. Groettrup, C. J. Kirk, Inhibition of the immunoproteasome ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EMBO Mol. Med. 6, 226–238 (2014).

**12**. K. W. Kalim, M. Basler, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, Immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 deficiency and inhibition suppresses Th1 and Th17 but enhances regulatory T cell differentiation., J. Immunol. 189, 4182–93 (2012).

**13**. R.-T. Liu, P. Zhang, C.-L. Yang, Y. Pang, M. Zhang, N. Zhang, L.-T. Yue, X.-L. Li, H. Li, R.-S. Duan, ONX-0914, a selective inhibitor of immunoproteasome, ameliorates experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis by modulating humoral response, J. Neuroimmunol. 311, 71–78 (2017).

**14**. Y. Nagayama, M. Nakahara, M. Shimamura, I. Horie, K. Arima, N. Abiru, Prophylactic and therapeutic efficacies of a selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome for Hashimoto's thyroiditis, but not for Graves' hyperthyroidism, in mice, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 168, 268–273 (2012).

**15**. H. T. Ichikawa, T. Conley, T. Muchamuel, J. Jiang, S. Lee, T. Owen, J. Barnard, S. Nevarez, B. I. Goldman, C. J. Kirk, R. J. Looney, J. H. Anolik, Beneficial effect of novel proteasome inhibitors in murine lupus via dual inhibition of type i interferon and autoantibody-secreting cells, Arthritis Rheum. 64, 493–503 (2012).

**16**. *M.* Basler, M. Dajee, C. Moll, M. Groettrup, C. J. Kirk, Prevention of experimental colitis by a selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome., J. Immunol. 185, 634–41 (2010).

**17**. J. Li, J. Koerner, M. Basler, T. Brunner, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, Immunoproteasome inhibition induces plasma cell apoptosis and preserves kidney allografts by activating the unfolded protein response and suppressing plasma cell survival factors., Kidney Int. 95, 611–623 (2019).

**18**. D. Lievens, K. L. Habets, A.-K. Robertson, Y. Laouar, H. Winkels, T. Rademakers, L. Beckers, E. Wijnands, L. Boon, M. Mosaheb, H. Ait-Oufella, Z. Mallat, R. A. Flavell, M. Rudling, C. J. Binder, N. Gerdes, E. A. L. Biessen, C. Weber, M. J. A. P. Daemen, J. Kuiper, E. Lutgens, Abrogated transforming growth factor beta receptor II (TGF6RII) signalling in dendritic cells promotes immune reactivity of T cells resulting in enhanced atherosclerosis, Eur. Heart J. 34, 3717–3727 (2013).

**19**. A. Hermansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, D. Strodthoff, M. Wurm, E. M. Hansson, A. Nicoletti, G. Paulsson-Berne, G. K. Hansson, Inhibition of T cell response to native low-density lipoprotein reduces atherosclerosis, J. Exp. Med. 207, 1081–1093 (2010).

**20**. K. L. L. Habets, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, L. M. van Duivenvoorde, E. J. A. van Wanrooij, P. de Vos, J.-W. C. Tervaert, T. J. C. van Berkel, R. E. M. Toes, J. Kuiper, Vaccination using oxidized low-density lipoproteinpulsed dendritic cells reduces atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice., Cardiovasc. Res. 85, 622– 30 (2010).

**21**. T. Rademakers, E. P. C. van der Vorst, I. T. M. N. Daissormont, J. J. T. Otten, K. Theodorou, T. L. Theelen, M. Gijbels, A. Anisimov, H. Nurmi, J. H. N. Lindeman, A. Schober, S. Heeneman, K. Alitalo, E. A. L. Biessen, Adventitial lymphatic capillary expansion impacts on plaque T cell accumulation in atherosclerosis, Sci. Rep. 7, 45263 (2017).

**22**. C. Schmidt, T. Berger, M. Groettrup, M. Basler, Immunoproteasome Inhibition Impairs T and B Cell Activation by Restraining ERK Signaling and Proteostasis., Front. Immunol. 9, 2386 (2018).

23. A. Kitamura, Y. Maekawa, H. Uehara, K. Izumi, I. Kawachi, M. Nishizawa, Y. Toyoshima, H. Takahashi, D. M. Standley, K. Tanaka, J. Hamazaki, S. Murata, K. Obara, I. Toyoshima, K. Yasutomo, A mutation in the immunoproteasome subunit PSMB8 causes autoinflammation and lipodystrophy in humans., J. Clin. Invest. 121, 4150–60 (2011).

**24**. H. Arimochi, Y. Sasaki, A. Kitamura, K. Yasutomo, Differentiation of preadipocytes and mature adipocytes requires PSMB8, 6 (2016), doi:10.1038/srep26791.

**25**. L. van Beek, J. B. van Klinken, A. C. M. Pronk, A. D. van Dam, E. Dirven, P. C. N. Rensen, F. Koning, K. Willems van Dijk, V. van Harmelen, The limited storage capacity of gonadal adipose tissue directs the development of metabolic disorders in male C57BI/6J mice., Diabetologia 58, 1601–9 (2015).

**26**. M. C. Jong, P. C. Rensen, V. E. Dahlmans, H. van der Boom, T. J. van Berkel, L. M. Havekes, Apolipoprotein C-III deficiency accelerates triglyceride hydrolysis by lipoprotein lipase in wild-type and apoE knockout mice., J. Lipid Res. 42, 1578–85 (2001).

27. J. F. P. Berbée, M. R. Boon, P. P. S. J. Khedoe, A. Bartelt, C. Schlein, A. Worthmann, S. Kooijman, G. Hoeke, I. M. Mol, C. John, C. Jung, N. Vazirpanah, L. P. J. Brouwers, P. L. S. M. Gordts, J. D. Esko, P. S. Hiemstra, L. M. Havekes, L. Scheja, J. Heeren, P. C. N. Rensen, Brown fat activation reduces hypercholesterolaemia and protects from atherosclerosis development, Nat. Commun. 6, 6356 (2015).

**28**. H. Kimura, F. Usui, T. Karasawa, A. Kawashima, K. Shirasuna, Y. Inoue, T. Komada, M. Kobayashi, Y. Mizushina, T. Kasahara, K. Suzuki, Y. Iwasaki, T. Yada, P. Caturegli, M. Takahashi, Immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 Deficiency Improves Obesity and Metabolic Disorders., Sci. Rep. 5, 15883 (2015).

**29**. A. Kosteli, E. Sugaru, G. Haemmerle, J. F. Martin, J. Lei, R. Zechner, A. W. Ferrante, Jr., Weight loss and lipolysis promote a dynamic immune response in murine adipose tissue., J. Clin. Invest. 120, 3466–79 (2010).

**30**. S. E. Mullican, X. Lin-Schmidt, C.-N. Chin, J. A. Chavez, J. L. Furman, A. A. Armstrong, S. C. Beck, V. J. South, T. Q. Dinh, T. D. Cash-Mason, C. R. Cavanaugh, S. Nelson, C. Huang, M. J. Hunter, S. M. Rangwala, GFRAL is the receptor for GDF15 and the ligand promotes weight loss in mice and nonhuman primates, Nat. Med. 23, 1150–1157 (2017).

**31**. A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Cytokines in Atherosclerosis: Pathogenic and Regulatory Pathways, Physiol. Rev. 86, 515–581 (2006).

**32.** S. C. Whitman, P. Ravisankar, H. Elam, A. Daugherty, Exogenous interferon-gamma enhances atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice., Am. J. Pathol. 157, 1819–24 (2000).

**33**. S. Gupta, A. M. Pablo, X. c Jiang, N. Wang, A. R. Tall, C. Schindler, IFN-gamma potentiates atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice., J. Clin. Invest. 99, 2752–61 (1997).

**34.** *I.* Voloshyna, M. J. Littlefield, A. B. Reiss, Atherosclerosis and interferon-γ: new insights and therapeutic targets., Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 24, 45–51 (2014).

**35**. R. J. Aiello, P. A. Bourassa, S. Lindsey, W. Weng, E. Natoli, B. J. Rollins, P. M. Milos, Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 accelerates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19, 1518–25 (1999).

**36**. Z. H. Zhou, P. Chaturvedi, Y. L. Han, S. Aras, Y. S. Li, P. E. Kolattukudy, D. Ping, J. M. Boss, R. M. Ransohoff, IFN-gamma induction of the human monocyte chemoattractant protein (hMCP)-1 gene in astrocytoma cells: functional interaction between an IFN-gamma-activated site and a GC-rich element., J. Immunol. 160, 3908–16 (1998).

**37**. N. Bergh, E. Ulfhammer, K. Glise, S. Jern, L. Karlsson, Influence of TNF-α and biomechanical stress on endothelial anti- and prothrombotic genes, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 385, 314–318 (2009).

**38**. S. Choi, M. Park, J. Kim, W. Park, S. Kim, D.-K. Lee, J. Y. Hwang, J. Choe, M.-H. Won, S. Ryoo, K.-S. Ha, Y.-G. Kwon, Y.-M. Kim, TNF-α elicits phenotypic and functional alterations of vascular smooth muscle cells by miR-155-5p–dependent down-regulation of cGMP-dependent kinase 1, J. Biol. Chem. 293, 14812–14822 (2018).

**39**. E. Laurat, B. Poirier, E. Tupin, G. Caligiuri, G. K. Hansson, J. Bariéty, A. Nicoletti, In vivo downregulation of T helper cell 1 immune responses reduces atherogenesis in apolipoprotein E-knockout mice., Circulation 104, 197–202 (2001).

**40**. A. D. Hauer, C. Uyttenhove, P. de Vos, V. Stroobant, J. C. Renauld, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. van Snick, J. Kuiper, Blockade of Interleukin-12 Function by Protein Vaccination Attenuates Atherosclerosis, Circulation 112, 1054–1062 (2005).

41. C. E. Rockwell, J. J. Monaco, N. Qureshi, A Critical Role for the Inducible Proteasomal Subunits LMP7 and MECL1 in Cytokine Production by Activated Murine Splenocytes, Pharmacology 89, 117–126 (2012).
42. E. Ammirati, D. Cianflone, V. Vecchio, M. Banfi, A. C. Vermi, M. De Metrio, L. Grigore, F. Pellegatta, A. Pirillo, K. Garlaschelli, A. A. Manfredi, A. L. Catapano, A. Maseri, A. G. Palini, G. D. Norata, Effector Memory T cells Are Associated With Atherosclerosis in Humans and Animal Models, J. Am. Heart Assoc. 1, 27–41 (2012).

43. D. Wolf, K. Ley, Immunity and Inflammation in Atherosclerosis, Circ. Res. 124, 315–327 (2019).

**44**. C. Hetz, E. Chevet, S. A. Oakes, Proteostasis control by the unfolded protein response, Nat. Cell Biol. 17, 829–838 (2015).

**45**. D. Stewart, E. Killeen, R. Naquin, S. Alam, J. Alam, Degradation of transcription factor Nrf2 via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and stabilization by cadmium., J. Biol. Chem. 278, 2396–402 (2003).

**46**. J. Jang, Y. Wang, H.-S. Kim, M. A. Lalli, K. S. Kosik, Nrf2, a Regulator of the Proteasome, Controls Self-Renewal and Pluripotency in Human Embryonic Stem Cells, Stem Cells 32, 2616–2625 (2014).

47. N. M. Reddy, S. R. Kleeberger, T. W. Kensler, M. Yamamoto, P. M. Hassoun, S. P. Reddy, Disruption

of Nrf2 Impairs the Resolution of Hyperoxia-Induced Acute Lung Injury and Inflammation in Mice, J. Immunol. 182, 7264–7271 (2009).

48. Y. Ishii, K. Itoh, Y. Morishima, T. Kimura, T. Kiwamoto, T. Iizuka, A. E. Hegab, T. Hosoya, A. Nomura, T. Sakamoto, M. Yamamoto, K. Sekizawa, Transcription factor Nrf2 plays a pivotal role in protection against elastase-induced pulmonary inflammation and emphysema., J. Immunol. 175, 6968–75 (2005).
49. T. Rangasamy, J. Guo, W. A. Mitzner, J. Roman, A. Singh, A. D. Fryer, M. Yamamoto, T. W. Kensler, R. M. Tuder, S. N. Georas, S. Biswal, Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice., J. Exp. Med. 202, 47–59 (2005).

50. W. O. Osburn, M. S. Yates, P. D. Dolan, S. Chen, K. T. Liby, M. B. Sporn, K. Taguchi, M. Yamamoto, T. W. Kensler, Genetic or Pharmacologic Amplification of Nrf2 Signaling Inhibits Acute Inflammatory Liver Injury in Mice, Toxicol. Sci. 104, 218–227 (2008).

**51**. N. G. Innamorato, A. I. Rojo, A. J. García-Yagüe, M. Yamamoto, M. L. de Ceballos, A. Cuadrado, The transcription factor Nrf2 is a therapeutic target against brain inflammation., J. Immunol. 181, 680–9 (2008).

**52**. D. A. Johnson, S. Amirahmadi, C. Ward, Z. Fabry, J. A. Johnson, The Absence of the Pro-antioxidant Transcription Factor Nrf2 Exacerbates Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis, Toxicol. Sci. 114, 237–246 (2010).

**53**. R. K. Thimmulappa, H. Lee, T. Rangasamy, S. P. Reddy, M. Yamamoto, T. W. Kensler, S. Biswal, Nrf2 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response and survival during experimental sepsis, J. Clin. Invest. 116, 984–995 (2006).

**54**. S. Merat, F. Casanada, M. Sutphin, W. Palinski, P. D. Reaven, Western-Type Diets Induce Insulin Resistance and Hyperinsulinemia in LDL Receptor-Deficient Mice But Do Not Increase Aortic Atherosclerosis Compared With Normoinsulinemic Mice in Which Similar Plasma Cholesterol Levels Are Achieved by a Fructose-Rich Diet, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19, 1223–1230 (1999).

**55**. S. A. Schreyer, C. Vick, T. C. Lystig, P. Mystkowski, R. C. LeBoeuf, LDL receptor but not apolipoprotein *E* deficiency increases diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice, Am. J. Physiol. Metab. 282, E207–E214 (2002).

**56**. D. Gilham, E. D. Labonté, J. C. Rojas, R. J. Jandacek, P. N. Howles, D. Y. Hui, Carboxyl ester lipase deficiency exacerbates dietary lipid absorption abnormalities and resistance to diet-induced obesity in pancreatic triglyceride lipase knockout mice., J. Biol. Chem. 282, 24642–9 (2007).

**57**. M. E. Lowe, M. H. Kaplan, L. Jackson-Grusby, D. D'Agostino, M. J. Grusby, Decreased neonatal dietary fat absorption and T cell cytotoxicity in pancreatic lipase-related protein 2-deficient mice., J. Biol. Chem. 273, 31215–21 (1998).

58. J. M. Argilés, F. J. Lopez-Soriano, R. D. Evans, D. H. Williamson, Interleukin-1 and lipid metabolism in the rat., Biochem. J. 259, 673–8 (1989).

**59**. V. Almendro, N. Carbó, S. Busquets, J. López-Soriano, M. Figueras, E. Ametller, J. M. Argilés, F. J. López-Soriano, Interleukin-15 decreases lipid intestinal absorption., Int. J. Mol. Med. 15, 963–7 (2005).

**60**. M. Oñate, A. Catenaccio, G. Martínez, D. Armentano, G. Parsons, B. Kerr, C. Hetz, F. A. Court, Activation of the unfolded protein response promotes axonal regeneration after peripheral nerve injury, Sci. Rep. 6, 21709 (2016).

**61**. L. N. Guthrie, K. Abiraman, E. S. Plyler, N. T. Sprenkle, S. A. Gibson, B. C. McFarland, R. Rajbhandari, A. L. Rowse, E. N. Benveniste, G. P. Meares, Attenuation of PKR-like ER Kinase (PERK) Signaling Selectively Controls Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-induced Inflammation Without Compromising Immunological Responses., J. Biol. Chem. 291, 15830–40 (2016).

62. S. Zhu, H. Liu, H. Sha, L. Qi, D.-S. Gao, W. Zhang, PERK and XBP1 differentially regulate CXCL10 and

CCL2 production., Exp. Eye Res. 155, 1–14 (2017).

**63**. B. Hewing, A. Ludwig, C. Dan, M. Pötzsch, C. Hannemann, A. Petry, D. Lauer, A. Görlach, E. Kaschina, D. N. Müller, G. Baumann, V. Stangl, K. Stangl, N. Wilck, Immunoproteasome subunit β5i/LMP7-deficiency in atherosclerosis, Sci. Rep. 7, 13342 (2017).

64. M. Westerterp, C. C. van der Hoogt, W. de Haan, E. H. Offerman, G. M. Dallinga-Thie, J. W. Jukema, L. M. Havekes, P. C. N. Rensen, Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein Decreases High-Density Lipoprotein and Severely Aggravates Atherosclerosis in APOE\*3-Leiden Mice, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26, 2552–2559 (2006).

65. K. D. Shenk, F. Parlati, H.-J. Zhou, C. Sylvain, M. Smyth, M. K. Bennett, G. Laidig, Compounds for<br/>enzymeinhibition(2008)(availableathttps://patents.google.com/patent/US20070293465A1/en?og=2007%2F0293465).

*66. F. Péronnet, D. Massicotte, Table of nonprotein respiratory quotient: an update., Can. J. Sport Sci. 16, 23–9 (1991).* 

**67**. P. C. Rensen, M. C. van Dijk, E. C. Havenaar, M. K. Bijsterbosch, J. K. Kruijt, T. J. van Berkel, Selective liver targeting of antivirals by recombinant chylomicrons--a new therapeutic approach to hepatitis B., Nat. Med. 1, 221–5 (1995).

**68**. P. C. Rensen, N. Herijgers, M. H. Netscher, S. C. Meskers, M. van Eck, T. J. van Berkel, Particle size determines the specificity of apolipoprotein E-containing triglyceride-rich emulsions for the LDL receptor versus hepatic remnant receptor in vivo., J. Lipid Res. 38, 1070–84 (1997).



## **Supplementary figures**

Supplementary Fig. S1 LMP7 inhibition directly inhibits DC activation and causes upregulation of constitutive proteasomal active subunits. A) Bone marrow derived DCs were incubated with ONX-0914 (0-200 nM) overnight in absence or presence of LPS (100 ng/ml) and assessed by flow cytometry. B) Cell culture viability was assessed by gating as shown in 'A'. For quantification of DC viability single cells were gated like in 'A', but directly thereafter CD11c<sup>+</sup>MHC-II<sup>+</sup> cells were gated after which live DCs were gated. CD86 median fluorescent intensity of the live MHC-II<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> population was assessed as a measure for DC activation. C) Bone marrow derived DCs were incubated with ONX-0914 (0-100 nM) overnight in absence or presence of LPS (100 ng/ml) after which DC viability was determined by flow cytometry like explained in 'B', and D) expression of catalytic constitutive and immuno- proteasomal subunits, and immunoproteasomal activators were determined by qPCR. Expressed as mean ± SEM, two-way ANOVA (#) with Holm-Sidak posttest, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.



Supplementary Fig. S2 **Tregs are not increased by ONX-0914 treatment in early atherosclerosis. A**) After sacrifice CD4 T cell FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> and FoxP3<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> populations were determined with flow cytometry, gating shown for the CD4 T cell population in the spleen. Quantification of CD4 Treg populations in **B**) spleen, **C**) blood, **D**) cervical lymph nodes, and **E**) mesenteric lymph nodes. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*p < 0.05.



Supplementary Fig. S3 LMP7 inhibition does not impact splenic T cell differentiation in early atherosclerosis. (A) T cell proliferation in unstimulated or  $\alpha$ CD3/ $\alpha$ CD28 splenocyte cultures as measured by thymidine incorporation. B) Cytokine levels in supernatant of overnight  $\alpha$ CD3/ $\alpha$ CD28 stimulated splenocyte cultures. C) Overall CD4 T cell levels, D) CD4 Tem, Tcm and Th0 levels, and (C) overall CD8 T cell levels, and D) CD8 Tem, Tcm and Tc0 levels, as determined by flow cytometry. Expressed as mean ± SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*\*\*p < 0.001.



Supplementary Fig. S4 **Memory and naïve T cell effector populations in cervical lymph nodes.** Quantification of flow cytometric analysis of **A**) CD4 T cell content and **B**) memory and naïve CD4 T cell populations, (**C**) CD8 T cells and **D**) memory and naïve CD8 T cell populations in CLN. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.

Chapter 6



Supplementary Fig. S5 Cytokine levels not significantly altered by ONX-0914 treatment. A) Quantification of remaining cytokine levels in blood plasma, measured with multiplex ELISA.



Supplementary Fig. S6 **Conventional DC levels are reduced by ONX-0914 treatment.** Conventional DCs were gated by selection of CD11c<sup>+</sup>MHC-II<sup>+</sup> cells whilst activation of cDCs was assessed through expression of CD86, as determined by flow cytometric analysis of cells from **A**) spleen, **B**) cervical lymph nodes, **C**) mediastinal lymph nodes, and **D**) mesenteric lymph nodes. Expressed as mean ± SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.



Supplementary Fig. S7 **ONX-0914 treatment reduces memory T cell levels in various immune compartments.** CD4 and CD8 T cells were gated based on expression of CD4 and CD8 respectively. Thereafter, naïve and memory populations were gated based on expression of CD62L and CD44 (Naïve T cells, CD62L<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>+</sup>; Effector Memory T cells, CD44<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>-</sup>; Central Memory T cells (CD44<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup>). Quantification of CD4 and CD8 T cell populations in **A**) blood, **B**) spleen, **C**) cervical lymph nodes, and **D**) mesenteric lymph nodes. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.



Supplementary Fig. S8 **ONX-0914 increases neutrophil levels in blood and spleen.** Quantification of flow cytometric analysis of neutrophils, classical monocytes and patrolling monocytes in **A**) blood and **B**) spleen. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unpaired two tailed t-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01.



Supplementary Fig. S9 **Treatment with ONX-0914 does not lead to hepatotoxicity. A)** ALT and AST activity were assessed on blood plasma derived from blood collected at sacrifice after 7 weeks of control or ONX-0914 treatment. **B**) Hepatic Cyp3A11 expression. Expressed as mean ± SEM, **A**) 2-way repeated measures ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, **B**) two tailed t-test, no significant differences.



Supplementary Fig. S10 **TG and TC clearance from the blood is not enhanced by ONX-0914 treatment.** After 2.5 weeks of treatment, APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice received a final control or ONX-0914 injection and were fasted for 4h. **A**) Plasma triglyceride levels and **B**) cholesterol levels in plasma after 4h starvation. **C**) To determine clearance of TG and TC from the blood, VLDL like particles containing radiolabeled [<sup>14</sup>C]cholesteryl oleate and glycerol tri[<sup>3</sup>H]oleate were iv administered. Radioactivity in plasma was assessed in blood drawn at indicated time points after VLDL like particle administration, and half life time was approximated. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM **A**,**B**) (left panel), **C** (1<sup>st</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> panel from the right), two tailed T-test, **B**) (right panel) One-way ANOVA Holm-Sidak posttest, **C**) (1<sup>st</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> panel from the left) two way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001,



Supplementary Fig. S11 **Macrophage infiltrate in gWAT is WAT specific and unskewed. A**) Gene expression of macrophage related genes in gWAT. B) Ratios of gene expression of M1 marker suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (Socs3) and M2 marker arginase-1 (Arg-1) with macrophage marker CD68 in gWAT and **E**) interscapular BAT (iBAT). (**C**) Gene expression of Ly6G (neutrophils), and CD3 (T cells) in gWAT. CD68 gene expression in **D**) iBAT and **F**) liver. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, two tailed t-test, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001



Supplementary Fig. S12 **Depletion of peritoneal macrophages prevents macrophage and neutrophil infiltrate in gWAT.** gWAT from mice on WTD for 24 weeks and treated only in the final week was excised, digested and the SVF was isolated for flow cytometric analysis. **A**) Representative flow cytometry plot of live single CD45<sup>+</sup> cells gated for F480<sup>+</sup>CD206<sup>+</sup> resident macrophages and F480<sup>+</sup>CD206<sup>-</sup> infiltrating macrophages **B**) Quantification of resident and infiltrating macrophage levels. **C**) Flow cytometric gating of Ly6G<sup>+</sup> neutrophils in SVF, and (**D**) quantification of overall CD45<sup>+</sup> immune cells and neutrophils in SVF of gWAT. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, One-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01.



Supplementary fig. S14 **GDF15** is induced by ONX-0914 but is not the cause of ONX-0914 induced weight loss. A) GDF15 levels in blood plasma from two time points of the initial atherosclerosis study as assessed by ELISA. **B**) GDF15<sup>-/-</sup> mice (n=3/group) were fed WTD for 4 weeks after which mice were treated with ONX-0914 (10mg/kg, 3 times weekly) or control for a week, during which body weight was monitored. Expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, One-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak posttest, \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001.



Supplementary Fig. S13 ONX-0914 does not affect expression of pancreatic lipases or receptors involved in intestinal lipid uptake. A) Expression of pancreatic lipase (Pnlip), pancreatic lipase-related protein 2-like (Pnliprp2), and colipase (Clps) in pancreatic tissue isolated from female E3L.CETP mice on WTD for 5 weeks, treated with ONX-0914 for the final 2 weeks (10 mg/kg , 3 times weekly). B) Gene expression of the lipid transporters fatty acid binding protein-2 (Fabp2), fatty acid transfer protein 4 (Fatp4), caveolin 1 (Cav1), and NPC1-like intracellular cholesterol transporter 1 (Npc111), in intestines from female LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> females on WTD for 6 months, ip treated with ONX-0914 (10 mg/kg, 3 times weekly) in the final week. Expressed as mean ± SEM, unpaired two-tailed t-test, no significant data.

Gene	Protein	Fw primer	Rev primer
Arg1	Arginase-1	tggcagaggtccagaagaatgg	gtgagcatccacccaaatgacac
Cav1	Caveolin-1	actgagaagcaagtgtatgacgcgc	cagatgccgtcgaaactgtgtgtcc
Ccl2	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2	ctgaagccagctctctcttcctc	ggtgaatgagtagcagcaggtga
CD3e	T-cell surface glycoprotein CD3 epsilon chain	tctgctacaccagcctcaaa	atgaccatcagcaagcccaga
CD68	CD68	tgcctgacaagggacacttcggg	gcgggtgatgcagaaggcgatg
Clps	Colipase	ttgcacacacaaggccatggagaa	catagttggtgttggtgatggcgc
Cyp3a11	Cytochrome P450 3A11	cccacattcaccagtggaaaactcaag	cttgcctttctttgccttctgcctc
Fabp2	Fatty acid-binding protein	cacgtgtagacaatggaaaggagctga	aatcgcttggcctcaactccttcat
II10	Interleukin-10	gggtgagaagctgaagaccctc	tggccttgtagacaccttggtc
116	Interleukin-6	tgagactggggatgtctgtagctcat	gttgtcaccagcatcagtcccaaga
Ly6G	Lymphocyte antigen 6G	gatggattttgcgttgctctgga	gagtagtggggcagatgggaag
Npc1l1	NPC1-like intracellular cholesterol transporter 1	ctacacggcctggtcttcct	aaggggtactgtgggcaag
Pnlip	Pancreatic triacylglycerol lipase	tgggagcatcaaggatcacagtgga	gagacagtgtgagcaggacgtcttc
Pnliprp2	Pancreatic lipase-related protein 2	atgggagcttcacaaatcacagtgca	acgtttattatgggaagaggcacggg
Pparg	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma	agggcgatcttgacaggaaagacaac	aaaattcggatggccacctctttgc
Psmb10	20S proteasome subunit beta-2i	cgtctgccctttactgcccttgg	tgatcacacaggcatccacattgcc
Psmb5	20S proteasome subunit beta-5	gcctccaaactgctcgctaacatgg	gatcctgttcccctcgctgtctacg
Psmb6	20S proteasome subunit beta-1	gaatcatcattgcaggctgggaccc	tagccatagatgtacgagctcccgg
Psmb7	20S proteasome subunit beta-2	actttcttcgtccattctcagtgccc	aaccacccacagcaccattcacg
Psmb8	20S proteasome subunit beta-5i	ttccaacatgatgctgcagtaccgg	gtggaaaacatctgtcccgagagcc
Psmb9	20S proteasome subunit beta-1i	gtgccggcgtttcaccacagat	agaattttggcagctcatctcccagg
Psme1	PA28a	tttcgctttcccttcccgct	cttgctacacaggtcttcacgga
Psme2	PA28b	ggccttgctcgctttggttaag	actctctccagcaccttctcct
Slc27a4	Long-chain fatty acid transport protein 4	ctggagagctttgcacagaccttga	ctccttccgcaactctgtcttctgg
Socs3	Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3	cccaaggccggagatttcgctt	gcgggaaacttgctgtgggtga
Ucp-1	Uncoupling protein 1	ccaagctgtgcgatgtccatgtaca	aaacatgatgacgttccaggacccg
Actb	Actin beta	cttctttgcagctccttcgttgccg	aatacagcccggggagcatcgtc
RPLPO	60S acidic ribosomal protein P0	ctgagtacaccttcccacttactga	cgactcttcctttgcttcagcttt

## Table S1. Primers used for gene expression analysis. Gene expression was normalized to housekeeping genes Actb and Rplp0.



**General Discussion** 

## Background

Cardiovascular diseases form the most common cause of death in the western world with atherosclerosis as the most common etiology (1). Atherosclerosis is characterized by lipid deposition in the intima of medium to large-sized arteries, evoking pathogenic immune infiltration in the vessel wall causing low grade inflammation of the vessel wall (2-4). Development of atherosclerotic lesions spans decades and can lead to the formation of large plagues which occlude the coronary vessel lumen to such an extent that during e.g. exercise, myocardial tissue is deprived of sufficient oxygen supply leading to symptoms such as shortness of breath, nausea and fatigue, and pressure and tightness of the chest (5, 6). Although this situation of stable angina is just weakly correlated with cardiovascular death, it is associated with heart failure, increased hospitalizations, and reduced quality of life (5). Besides stable angina, atherosclerosis can also lead to the formation of vulnerable lesions, which due to plague rupture or plague erosion induce sudden formation of a thrombus (7, 8). The formed thrombus can restrict blood flow in situ, or can break away from the site of thrombus formation and clog an artery in the narrowing arterial tree (7, 8). This can lead to acute oxygen deprivation and injury of downstream tissues and underlies the life-threatening conditions of myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke (7, 8). Treatment of an acute thrombotic occlusion is aimed at restoring blood flow as quickly as possible to prevent ischemia mediated tissue damage (7), by fibrinolytic treatment or surgical removal of the clot (9). Vulnerable or occlusive atherosclerotic plaques can be surgically removed through endarterectomy (10). Impaired blood flow due to narrowed artery lumen can be restored through angioplasty and stent placement opening up the vessel lumen, or by bypass surgery redirecting blood flow (10). Restenosis is a frequently occurring phenomenon after cardiovascular surgery, making repeated interventions sometimes necessary (11).

Current treatment regimens to prevent progression of atherosclerosis and (re)occurrence of major cardiovascular events are predominantly aimed at normalizing lipid levels through adopting a healthy lifestyle, and pharmacologically by use of lipid lowering drugs such as statins (12) and PCSK9 inhibitors (13). Lowering lipid levels reduces the risk of a cardiovascular event, however in many patients statins are not well tolerated, or despite successful reduction in lipid levels, still a residual risk for a cardiovascular event is present due to unresolved inflammation (14). The recent success of the CANTOS trial, reducing major cardiovascular events through administration of a monoclonal antibody neutralizing the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  (Canakinumab) (14–16), although not approved for the treatment of atherosclerosis by the FDA, implies that modulation of the immune system is also a feasible way of treating atherosclerosis and reducing cardiovascular risk in human. Following the paradigm that lowering inflammation can reduce atherosclerosis and prevent major cardiovascular events, clinical trials with low doses of the immunosuppressant methotrexate (17) and colchicine (18) were commenced. The results from treatment with low doses of the methotrexate were rather disappointing, as cardiovascular deaths were not
**General Discussion** 

inhibited by methotrexate while negative side effects, including increased liver enzymes in circulation, a higher incidence of non-basal-cell skin cancers, and more prevalent mouth sores and oral pain, were also found in the methotrexate treated group (19). Similarly, side effects for treatment with Canakinumab and colchicine are commonly reported. In experimental models of atherosclerosis, modulation of the antigen specific immune response towards plaque constituents, including albumin (20), oxidized LDL (21, 22), Apolipoprotein-B100 (ApoB100) (23–28), collagen type VI (29), and heat shock proteins (30), have been capable of reducing atherosclerosis. These studies indicate that vaccination-based approaches against plaque antigens could be interesting to further explore for use in humans, and would likely result in fewer side effects than general immunosuppressants.

## In this thesis

In this thesis we aimed to beneficially modulate the immune response to treat atherosclerosis. Hyperlipidemia and inflammation are driving factors behind atherosclerosis, the interactions between lipids and immune system are therefore reviewed in Chapter 2. A pivotal step in atherogenesis is the attraction and activation of macrophages in the subendothelial space due to lipid retention. The Oxidized and aggregated lipoproteins induce TLR4 mediated activation of macrophages, and in combination with signals derived from antigen specific Th1 cells promote macrophages to adapt a pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype (31, 32). Due to secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and high MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecule expression, M1 macrophages attract other immune cells to the atherosclerotic lesion, sustain inflammation, and are capable of interacting with Th1 CD4 T cells and hereby have a detrimental effect in the context of atherosclerosis (33, 34). During atherosclerosis the natural immune tolerance present to self-derived plaque antigens is broken, as was elegantly shown for collagen type V (35). The ensuing autoimmune response against plaque antigens is considered to be mainly pro-atherogenic (2, 3) and is skewed towards a Th1 response (3, 4), resulting in high IFN-y and TNF- $\alpha$  levels in the atherosclerotic lesion (36). Since immune responses against (ox)LDL in the context of atherosclerosis are well documented (37, 38), we aimed to modulate the immune response against LDL in Chapter 3-5 to treat atherosclerosis. In Chapter 6 we aimed to inhibit the pathogenic Th1 response as a whole through immunoproteasomal inhibition, which surprisingly also affected lipid homeostasis and improved parameters of metabolic syndrome.

As atherosclerosis is marked by accumulation of (ox)LDL in the vessel wall leading to induction of auto-reactive (ox)LDL specific CD4 T cells (*37, 38*), an attractive treatment option would be reinstating natural tolerance to LDL, reducing pathogenic inflammation. Regulatory CD4 T cells (Tregs) are pivotal for keeping immune tolerance and were found capable of keeping autoimmune Th1 immune reactions in check (*39, 40*). Although Tregs can confer bystander immunosuppression, the immunosuppressive effect of antigen specific Tregs was found greater than that of polyclonal Tregs (*41*). A means to induce antigen specific Tregs is

Chapter 7

the administration of antigens through oral administration, which leads to antigen presentation by the intestinal tolerogenic CD11C<sup>+</sup>CD103<sup>+</sup> DC population, which favors the induction of antigen specific immune suppressive regulatory B cells (Bregs), Th3, Tr1 and inducible Tregs (iTregs) (42). Oral administration of oxLDL was previously found to reduce atherosclerosis through induction of oxLDL specific Tregs (21), however induced Treg numbers quickly decline to baseline levels (21, 43). To improve the therapeutic effect of oral oxLDL administration we hypothesized that we could first induce oxLDL specific Tregs through oral administration of oxLDL and then maintain the levels of oxLDL specific Tregs through expansion of the total Treg population. To specifically expand the Treg population IL-2 complexed to antibody clone JES6-1A12 was administered, allowing high affinity IL-2 receptor mediated growth and expansion of Tregs, but inhibiting binding to moderate and low affinity IL-2 receptors (44). Also this clonal induction of Tregs was previously found to confer atheroprotection in our lab (45).

Despite establishing elevated levels of Tregs after IL-2c treatment, coincident with lowered numbers of circulating immune cells indicative of immune suppression, only separate oxLDL treatment significantly reduced atherosclerosis. Separate IL-2c treatment and IL-2c treatment preceded by oxLDL treatment led to a trend towards atherosclerosis reduction compared to the control group, but appeared to be less effective than separate oxLDL treatment. Tregs are known to adapt to environmental cues to effectively inhibit different types of immune responses (46–48). Moreover Tregs with distinct developmental origins, being thymus derived (nTregs) or the peripherally induced iTregs, have been described to have complementary and so, distinct functions. It is possible that differential spacial localization, or intrinsic differences between Treg populations cause differential expansion of Treg populations in response to IL-2c treatment. Moreover adaptive transfer of nTregs was found to reduce iTreg numbers (49), implicating the existence of a feedback mechanism between the Treg populations, through which polyclonal expansion of non-oxLDL specific Tregs could have reduced oxLDL specific Tregs instead of expanding them. Lack of reliable markers for the different Treg populations (50) and difficulties in distinguishing antigen specific T cells make it very difficult to assess the effect of IL-2c treatment on the different Treg populations in vivo. It would be interesting to study the impact of the different Treg populations on atherosclerosis, and whether skewing of the Treg phenotype could impact atherogenesis.

The heterogeneous nature of LDL particles native LDL is not suitable for use in vaccinations. Therefore, several studies have been dedicated to finding immunogenic epitopes in ApoB100. A peptide library spanning the full ApoB100 protein was screened with human blood plasma for antibody binding to identify antibody epitopes in ApoB100 (*51*). One of the peptides recognized by human serum derived antibodies is p210 (KTTKQSFDLSVKAQYKKNKH, 3163-3182), named after the peptide number in the peptide library (*51*). Several vaccination strategies centered around p210 have been employed, successfully reducing atherosclerosis,

however the proposed mechanisms of action of p210 are divergent. P210 induced atheroprotection has been dedicated to induction of p210 antibodies (27), Bregs (52), CD4 Tregs (25, 52), and CD8 T cells (24, 53). To be therapeutically applicable, and to optimize the vaccine formulation and administration, it is important to identify the mechanism of action of vaccination with p210. Because p210 is a human ApoB100 derived sequence with 90% homology with the corresponding murine sequence we used a preclinical model with endogenous expression of human ApoB100, to allow normal thymic selection of T cell clones specific for human apoB100 and p210, and in vivo presentation of the cognate antigen for p210 specific T cell clones. Furthermore in all but one study (54) regarding p210 immunization in atherosclerosis, ApoE deficient mice were utilized. Since p210 is part of the LDL\_receptor binding site A in ApoB100 (55, 56), we inquired whether the protective effect of p210 vaccination still was observed when no LDLr was present. Therefore we used LDLr deficient and human ApoB<sup>100/100</sup> transgenic (HuBL) mice (56, 57) in the experiments described in this paper.

As shown previously (21) and confirmed in **chapter 3**, induction of tolerance towards oxLDL reduces atherosclerosis. Therefore, we first aimed to induce a tolerogenic response against p210 through oral administration (42) of p210 coupled to cholera toxin B (CTB), known to promote mucosal uptake and tolerance (58). As intranasal vaccination with CTB-p210 was previously reported to mediate atheroprotection through induction of regulatory B cells (Bregs) (52) and regulatory T cells (25), we assessed the induction of Tregs and Bregs by flow cytometry. We indeed observed an increase in IL-10 producing Bregs in PMA and Ionomycins stimulated splenocyte cultures of CTB-p210 treated HuBL mice, but did not find increased Treg levels in various immune organs. The absence of Treg induction by oral CTB-p210 administration could be caused by the absence of a CD4 T cell epitope in p210, supported by lack of p210 binding to MHC-II (I-A<sup>b</sup>) (59) and in line with in silico models of MHC-II binding (59). CTB-p210 treatment did increase p210 IgG, which also had been described in previous studies (25, 52). Despite induction of Bregs and p210 antibodies we did not observe a reduction in aortic root and brachiocephalic artery lesion size. In the only other published study in HuBL mice studying p210, intranasal CTB-p210 treatment was reported to lead to a trend towards reduced plaque formation measured by en face ORO staining of the aorta (p =0.059) (54). However, since the median lesion area of the control group was below 1% it is difficult to interpret these results.

Since the only effect of oral CTB-p210 administration we observed was induction of p210 IgG, we wanted to ensure that the absence of an effect on atherosclerosis by CTB-p210 vaccination was not due to an insufficient induction of p210 IgG levels. Therefore we performed another atherosclerosis study in which we first induced high levels of p210 IgG through vaccination with p210 coupled to pan DR epitope (PADRE) and adjuvanted with alum, and then switched the HuBL mice to a western type diet (WTD). With ELISA for p210,

Chapter 7

we confirmed that p210 antibody levels remained high until sacrifice. As alum adjuvanted vaccination with p210, with cBSA as carrier protein, was used in a similar scheme reducing atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice (24, 60, 61), reportedly via CD4 and CD8 T cells, we also assessed the induction of CD4 T cell and CD8 T cell populations upon PADRE-p210 vaccination. In accordance with binding predictions for p210 binding to murine MHC-I (H-2Kb and H-2Db) and MHC-II (59), we did not observe T cell activation or induction of regulatory T cell subsets. Although we established high p210 antibody levels over the entire course of WTD feeding, we did not observe an effect on aortic root atherosclerotic lesion size or composition of PADRE-p210 immunization.

The lack of p210 antibody induced atheroprotection in our studies could be linked to the biological function of p210 in ApoB100, as it is part of the LDLr binding site A in ApoB100 (55, 56). In line with p210 antibodies meddling with binding of ApoB100 to the LDLr, LDL uptake by cultured adipoctyes was inhibited by p210 antibodies (62). In macrophage cultures incubated with oxLDL, addition of p210 antibodies inhibited the formation of foam cells but did not limit uptake of oxLDL (62). As upregulation of cholesterol efflux gene expression in macrophages was observed after incubation with p210 IgG in another study (27), it is possible that p210 IgG can improve lipid handling of macrophages. In vivo, immunization with p210, and administration of antibodies against MDA-modified p210 reduced atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice (27), indicating that at least part of the atheroprotective effect of p210 vaccination in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice is antibody derived. Also in humans, p210 IgM and IgG levels are correlated with improved carotid intima-media thickness parameters (63-65), indicating atheroprotective properties of p210 antibodies in human. Interestingly the inverse correlations between anti-p210 IgG levels and baseline composite measures of carotid intima-media thickness disappeared when adjusted for known risk factors (63), suggesting that improved lipid handling induced by anti-p210 antibodies (27, 62) might also occur in human.

Besides induction of protective antibodies, the protective effect of vaccination with p210 formulations has been dedicated to the induction of atheroprotective T cell populations (24, 25, 53). As mentioned, we did not detect induction of CD4 T cells or CD8 T cells, in line with MHC binding and prediction. Neither did we detect an atheroprotective effect which, if T cell dependent, should not have been affected by the use of an LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> model or ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> model. This suggests that T cell responses induced by p210 vaccination are likely based on an indirect mechanism. Adjuvant properties of p210 could explain the divergent immunological effects which have been described upon administration of different p210 formulations. Actually, the heparan sulfate proteoglycan and LDLr binding properties of the LDLr binding sites of ApoB100 were used to enhance uptake of the SIINFEKL peptide, promoting cross priming of CD8 T cells (55). Furthermore, p210 coupling to FITC enhanced FITC uptake by DCs (24), showing that p210 can promote uptake of coupled proteins. In splenocyte cultures incubated with CTB-p210 but not with p210 or CTB, we observed enhanced cell death independent of the treatment group (control, CTB, CTB-p210). As flow cytometric analysis of CTB-p210

incubated cultures did not reveal activation of cytotoxic CD4 or CD8 T cells, this suggest that p210 reinforced the known pro-apoptotic properties of CTB (66). Similarly, CTB-p210 was found to induce significantly higher levels of Bregs in culture than CTB-OVA (52). Many of the studies centered around vaccination with p210 have used cBSA as a carrier protein without proving antigen specificity of the T cell responses to which the observed atheroprotection was dedicated. As immunization with cBSA itself using alum was found to reduce atherosclerosis (20), it is possible that p210 promoted the atheroprotection observed in combined p210 and cBSA immunization. Vaccination with cBSA, and the 70% homology between bovine albumin and murine albumin (accession M73993.1 vs accession BC049971.1), could have led to cross-reactive antigen specific responses against murine albumin, which is present in large quantities in atherosclerotic plagues (67). The possibility that treatment of atherosclerosis with ApoB100 derived CD4 T cell epitopes is feasible was shown by immunization (CFA used for priming, IFA for booster) with ApoB100 derived peptides, predicted to bind I-A<sup>b</sup> and thereby capable of inducing CD4 T cells (68). The enhanced IL-10 expression in aorta's of ApoB100 peptide vaccinated mice suggest that regulatory CD4 T cells were induced by vaccination although the overall FoxP3 cell levels were not increased (68). It would be interesting to assess whether this tolerogenic response towards ApoB100 peptide vaccination could still observed when vaccination was commenced in later stages of atherosclerosis development when immune tolerance towards plaque antigens like ApoB100 might have been eroded, as was observed for collagen type V (35). Induction of CD4 Treg mediated tolerance towards plaque antigens seems a promising strategy to specifically inhibit the atherosclerotic immune response. To be effective in advanced stages of atherosclerosis, probably mucosal administration of human MHC-II binding epitopes of plaque antigens in combination with tolerogenic adjuvants, like CTB, would be required.

Much less is known about the relevance of CD8 T cells in the context of atherosclerosis, although CD8 T cells are present in large quantities in the atherosclerotic plaque (69) and have an activated phenotype (70). CD8 T cells are specialized at killing of specific target cells, mediated through T cell receptor (TCR) interaction with an MHC-I/peptide complex present on the target cell. Depending on target antigen, likely reflecting which cell types were targeted, induction of antigen specific CD8 T cell responses were found to be atheroprotective (24, 71, 72) or atherogenic (73). As ApoB100 is considered one of the main plaque atherosclerosis. Cross-presentation of plaque constituents, including ApoB100, by APCs could make plaque APCs subject to killing by ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells. Because suppressed macrophage apoptosis results in increased atherosclerosis (74, 75), we hypothesized that induction of ApoB100 specific CD8 T cells, presumably promoting killing of plaque macrophages by CD8 T cells, could be therapeutically relevant. Therefore, we opted to test this hypothesis with ApoB100 derived human MHC-I (HLA-A2) restricted epitopes to be directly applicable in human, in **chapter 5**. With *in silico* prediction tools of peptide

processing and HLA-A2 binding (76-85), we selected 6 ApoB100 derived peptides to be synthesized. HLA-A2 binding was confirmed for all 6 epitopes in T2 cell binding assays, and immunogenicity was confirmed for 5 peptides by vaccination with peptide pulsed HLA-A2 transgenic DCs in HLA-A2 transgenic mice (HHD mice) (86), deficient for murine MHC-I and human ApoB100. For the atherosclerosis studies HHD mice and HuBL mice were crossbred to generate HLA-A2 and human ApoB100 transgenic mice, deficient for the LDLr to allow atherosclerosis development, and either with normal expression (HuBL-A2<sup>m+</sup>) or devoid of murine MHC-I expression (HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup>). CD8 T cells were again primed with a mixture of peptide pulsed HHD DCs, but then boosted after a week with peptide adjuvanted with poly(I:C) and  $\alpha$ CD40. This vaccination regimen was previously reported to induce neoepitopes specific CTLs that were effective in penetrating and killing tumors, indicating that this vaccination approach yields migratory and functional CTLs (87, 88). For ApoB<sub>406-414</sub>, ApoB<sub>3070-3078</sub>, and ApoB<sub>4531-4539</sub>, recall responses were detected in the spleens of ApoB100 peptide vaccinated HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup> and HuBL-A2<sup>m+</sup> mice 8-9 weeks after booster vaccination at sacrifice, indicating successful vaccination. Interestingly no CD8 T cell recall response could be detected for ApoB<sub>406-417</sub> and ApoB<sub>2356-2364</sub> in the ApoB100 peptide treated HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup> and HuBL-A2<sup>m+</sup> mice, suggesting thymic negative selection or peripheral tolerance induction towards ApoB<sub>406-417</sub> and ApoB<sub>2356-2364</sub>. Recall responses towards pooled peptides were also assessed in cultures from mediastinal lymph nodes and aortic arches from HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup> mice. Also, in cultures of cells from mediastinal lymph nodes recall responses were observed, however not in aortic arch derived cells. As enhanced effector CD8 T cells in the blood and CD8 T cell levels in the aortic arch cultures were found due to ApoB100 peptide vaccination HuBL-A2<sup>m-</sup> mice, it is very likely that ApoB100 peptide specific CD8 T cells homed to the atherosclerotic lesion. Since the ApoB100 peptides can be externally loaded on MHC-I, so without need for cross-presentation, the absence of recall responses in the aortic arch cultures could also not be dependent on defective cross-presentation. These data therefore suggest that CD8 T cell activation in to response to TCR stimuli is reduced in the plaque environment. Reduced responsiveness could be CD8 T cell intrinsic, e.g. due to chronic antigen exposure in the plaque leading to CD8 T cell exhaustion (89, 90). In line with CD8 T cell exhaustion in atherosclerosis, upregulation of the co-inhibitory PD-1 expression was observed in atherosclerosis patients (91). On the other hand, plaque cells could inhibit CD8 T cell activation, e.g. PD-L1 was found upregulated on macrophages in human lesions (92), which could provide a co-inhibitory signal to plaque CD8 T cells. In line with impaired CD8 T cell activation in the atherosclerotic environment ApoB100 peptide vaccination did not impact cellular content of the plaques, and did not affect plaque size and stability. As vaccination with ApoB100 derived CD8 T cell epitopes did induce CD8 T cell responses but did not affect atherosclerosis, vaccination with ApoB100 derived CD8 T cell epitopes does not seem to be a viable way of treating atherosclerosis. Moreover, from a safety perspective, inducing strong CD8 T cell responses towards endogenously expressed proteins might lead to autoimmunity and tissue damage in organs where the protein is endogenously expressed (93). Therefore, induction of specific tolerance towards plaque antigens or reducing overall inflammation are likely to sort better results than inducing antigen specific CD8 T cell responses for treatment of atherosclerosis.

Although currently no drugs aimed at general reduction of inflammation are approved for treatment of cardiovascular disease by the FDA and EMA, the LODOCO (94) and CANTOS (14, 95) trial have indicated that a reduction in cardiovascular risk can be achieved through immune inhibition in humans. As immunoproteasomal inhibition with ONX-0914, inhibiting immunoproteasomal catalytic subunit LMP7 and LMP2 (96), ameliorated multiple autoimmune diseases in experimental auto-immune models (96-104), we assessed the effect of ONX-0914 treatment on atherosclerosis in **chapter 6**. LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> were fed a WTD from 15 weeks of age for 7 weeks, while fed a WTD were ONX-0914 or vehicle treated. ONX-0914 treatment reduced cDC content in the spleen and reduced cDC content and activation in mesenteric lymph nodes and cervical lymph nodes, which drain the peritoneal cavity and intestines (atherosclerosis unrelated) (105) and drain the aorta and supra-aortic arteries (atherosclerosis related) (106) respectively. Furthermore, in several lymphoid organs decreased antigen experienced effector memory (Tem) and central memory (Tcm) CD4 and CD8 T cells were observed. As the enhanced activation of DCs proofed atherogenic (107), and enhanced levels of circulating Tem cells correlated with carotid intima-media thickness and circulating Tem cells were increased in patients with stable angina and acute myocardial infarction (105), it is likely that ONX-0914 induced alteration in cDC and T cell populations aided in the observed atherosclerosis reduction in the ONX-0914 treated group.

Besides developing atherosclerosis, LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice on WTD develop obesity, obesity associated metabolic syndrome, and insulin resistance (108, 109). Next to ameliorating atherosclerosis, ONX-0914 reduced body weight in multiple experiments with WTD fed LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice and APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice. White adipose tissue (WAT) mass was markedly reduced in all studies, while EchoMRI in APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice showed that lean mass was unaffected by ONX-0914 treatment. Coincident with reduced WAT mass, improved metabolic parameters such as lowered insulin levels, lowered fasting blood glucose, lowered TG levels, and in APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice also lowered cholesterol levels were observed. To our knowledge this is the first study to show that immunoproteasomal inhibition using the LMP7 and LMP2 specific inhibitor ONX -0914 has metabolic effects in addition to its immunomodulatory effects. This is likely the linked to the use of a WTD in our study, leading to obesity and development of metabolic syndrome, instead of using lean mice on chow diet in other studies applying ONX-0914 (96-104). In addition, disease-related weight loss due to induction of e.g. colitis (99), EAE (98) or arthritis (97), may have masked the metabolic effects of ONX-0914. To make sure that reduced weight (gain) in ONX-0914 treated mice was not due to (hepato)toxicity in our studies, we measured the activity of ALAT and ASAT liver enzymes in the blood, and the expression of Cyp3A11 in the liver. No indications for toxic side-effects of ONX-0914 treatment were measured.

Metabolic cage measurements with APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice did not reveal reduced food intake or increased energy expenditure upon ONX-0914 treatment. In an oral lipid loading test using LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice, the rise in TG levels after olive oil administration was blunted in the ONX-0914 treated group. Because clearance of cholesterol and triglycerides from the blood was not affected in ONX-0914 treated mice, as assessed by injection of VLDL like particles containing radiolabeled cholesteryl oleate and glycerol trioleate in APOE\*3-Leiden.CETP mice, results of the oral lipid loading test indicated reduced intestinal lipid uptake by ONX-0914 treatment. Similarly, reduced intestinal lipid uptake was observed in LMP7<sup>-/-</sup> animals (110). Reduced intestinal lipid uptake in LMP7<sup>-/-</sup> mice was dedicated to reduced pancreatic lipases Phlip and Phlrp2 expression (110), however we did not observe this upon ONX-0914 treatment. We found that ONX-0914 treatment repeatedly induced neutrophil and macrophage accumulation in white adipose tissue, likely through the upregulation of CCL2 expression we observed in mature adipocytes which were also found to express immunoproteasomal catalytic subunits. The increased levels of neutrophils and macrophages in gWAT were likely responsible for the enhanced IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  levels observed in ONX-0914 treated mice. Interestingly, patients with a loss of function mutation in PSMB8, coding for LMP7, present themselves with similar symptoms including white adipose tissue inflammation, and lipodystrophy (111).

Peritoneal macrophages (including macrophages residing in gWAT) appeared to be involved in ONX-0914 mediated reduction in intestinal lipid uptake, as clodronate liposome mediated depletion of peritoneal macrophages prior to ONX-0914 treatment led to normalization of increase in TG levels upon oral lipid loading. Therefore, we looked into literature for macrophage derived factors which were reported to induce weight loss, and identified GDF15 (112). GDF15 was indeed increased in the blood by ONX-0914 treatment, however also GDF15<sup>-/-</sup> mice lost weight upon ONX-0914 treatment, indicating that GDF15 was not mediating ONX-0914 induced weight loss. Another macrophage derived factor that has been reported to cause weight loss and reduce intestinal lipid uptake is IL-1 $\beta$  (113, 114). Interestingly, a common side effect listed on the on the information leaflet of the (atheroprotective) IL-1 $\beta$  neutralizing antibody canacinumab (Ilaris) is weight gain. Therefore, it would be interesting to investigate whether IL-1 $\beta$  mediates ONX-0914 induced weight loss.

Treatment of mice with ONX-0914 reduces atherosclerosis and considerably reduces WAT mass in obese mice fed a WTD, concomitantly improving parameters of metabolic syndrome. Because atherosclerosis is still the primary cause of death, and the obesity epidemic is feeding metabolic syndrome related diseases worldwide, immunoproteasomal inhibition could be a valuable therapeutic tool for the western world to combat both. Currently phase 1b trials in SLE patients with the immunoproteaomal KZR-616 are ongoing, with phase 2 clinical trials focused on treatment of lupus nephritis, dermatomyositis, polymyositis, autoimmune hemolytic anemia, and immune thrombocytopenia, on the docket. It would be interesting to see whether immunoproteasomal inhibition also leads to weight loss in human, and whether there are indications for reduced cardiovascular mortality.

### **Future perspectives**

The recent success of the CANTOS trial, reducing major cardiovascular events through administration of a neutralizing monoclonal antibody against the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  (Canakinumab) (14–16), implies that modulation of the immune system is also a feasible way of treating atherosclerosis and reducing cardiovascular risk in human. In line with the paradigm that lowering inflammation can reduce atherosclerosis and prevent major cardiovascular events, a clinical trial with the immunosuppressant colchicine (18) is still underway, while the immunosuppressive methotrexate treatment failed to reduce atherosclerosis (19). When successful in preventing major cardiovascular events, colchicine could become the first immunomodulatory treatment approved for use in atherosclerosis. Dependent on the success of clinical studies with immunoproteasomal inhibitors in the context of other auto-immune diseases, immunoproteasomal inhibition in clinical trials in context of atherosclerosis and obesity could be considered. Drawbacks of general immunosuppressants are obviously increased risk for infectious diseases (115, 116), but also other side effects like gastrointestinal issues, have been reported for methotrexate and colchicine which could reduce patient compliance with drug intake.

Far less side effects are to be expected with atheroprotective vaccination approaches specifically targeting plaque antigens, and especially restoring tolerance to plaque antigens. Restoring immune tolerance to plague antigens has been effective in treating atherosclerosis in pre-clinical atherosclerosis models (21, 117, 118), however has not been studied in clinical trials. In multiple sclerosis, tolerance induction towards myelin peptides in multiple sclerosis (MS) patients resulted in a decrease in antigen-specific T cell responses in a phase 1 trial (119), suggesting that tolerance induction is feasible to modulate T cell mediated autoimmunity. Currently our knowledge about the antigen specific T cell responses taking place in atherosclerosis is very limited, but is known to include CD4 T cell responses directed against LDL (38), collagen type V (35), and HSPs (29). In chapter 3 we were able to reduce atherosclerosis by oral administration of oxLDL, but could not achieve atheroprotection in chapter 4 through oral administration of the p210 peptide derived from the ApoB100 protein which is present in LDL, likely due to lack of a CD4 epitope in p210. Apart from difficulties identifying suitable CD4 T cell epitopes for tolerization, variations in human MHC alleles are not likely to allow a single epitope to bind all MHC-II molecules and could thereby only beneficial in some patients. Therefore, induction of tolerance towards complete antigens, or a selection of multiple CD4 epitopes should be considered for tolerization. Moreover, Induction of tolerance towards a combination of plaque antigens against which autoimmunity is developed would likely sort better effects than targeting a single antigen, targeting more T cell clones. Better characterization of the adaptive immune response, identifying antigens and antigenic epitopes in antigens could therefore be very beneficial for the treatment of atherosclerosis. Another major hurdle for application of tolerance induction in human, is the development of most effective, and safe tolerization regimens.

Induction of CD8 T cell responses towards p210 has been reported to reduce atherosclerosis (24, 53), however we did not observe protective effects of vaccination with p210 in **chapter 4** or strong CD8 epitopes derived from ApoB100 in **chapter 5**. Also, when successful at inducing an atheroprotective CD8 T cell response through targeting an endogenous plaque antigen, this would likely lead to auto-immunity related side effects through killing of cells expressing the antigen outside the plaque. Due to the high risk of side effects, the use of therapeutic induction of CD8 T cell responses against plaque antigens for treatment of atherosclerosis are likely limited from a safety perspective. Still vaccination approaches in experimental settings could provide very useful insights on the role of CD8 T cells in atherosclerosis.

Besides modulation of T cell responses, induction of antibodies (IgG) to several plaque antigens, has been capable of reducing atherosclerosis in pre-clinical studies. Also induction of antibodies against (epitopes) of (ox)LDL have been studied and appeared to be atheroprotective in multiple studies (23), including antibodies directed against p210 (27), and were correlated with atheroprotection (63–65) We could not confirm atheroprotective properties of p210 antibodies in **chapter 4**, probably due to utilization of LDLr<sup>-/-</sup> mice instead of ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice in our study, as p210 is part of a LDLr binding site in ApoB100 (55). Besides (ox)LDL antibodies, antibodies against collagen type VI have been reported to act atheroprotective (120). Mechanistically, antibodies were found to inhibit macrophage activation, and enhance expression of cholesterol efflux genes through binding to FC receptors (23, 27, 120, 121). Therefore, induction of antibodies against plaque antigens could be desired to treat atherosclerosis, however pathogenic activation of CD4 T cells should be limited. Through mucosal administration or use of antibody epitope mimotopes for vaccination, protective antibodies could be induced while preventing induction of proatherogenic CD4 T cells (62).

There are several viable approaches through which modulation of the immune system could be deployed to reduce atherosclerosis. General immune suppression in the form of low-dose methotrexate and colchicine are currently being tested in clinical trials for treatment of atherosclerosis and if successful will likely comprise the first immunomodulatory treatments to be available for treatment of atherosclerosis (*17, 18*). Antigen specific modulation of the immune response for treatment of atherosclerosis is further away, however pre-clinical studies have indicated that such approaches are feasible for treatment of atherosclerosis. A combination of lipid and immune management, and promoting a healthy lifestyle will likely comprise the preventive measures of the future to combat atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease.

#### References

**1**. GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators, Global, regional, and national age–sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013, Lancet 385, 117–171 (2015).

**2**. P. Libby, A. H. Lichtman, G. K. Hansson, Immune effector mechanisms implicated in atherosclerosis: from mice to humans., Immunity 38, 1092–104 (2013).

**3**. Z. Mallat, S. Taleb, H. Ait-Oufella, A. Tedgui, The role of adaptive T cell immunity in atherosclerosis: Fig. 1., J. Lipid Res. 50, S364–S369 (2009).

**4**. A. Tedgui, Z. Mallat, Cytokines in Atherosclerosis: Pathogenic and Regulatory Pathways, Physiol. Rev. 86, 515–581 (2006).

**5**. A. Eisen, D. L. Bhatt, P. G. Steg, K. A. Eagle, S. Goto, J. Guo, S. C. Smith, E. M. Ohman, B. M. Scirica, the R. R. Investigators, Angina and Future Cardiovascular Events in Stable Patients With Coronary Artery Disease: Insights From the Reduction of Atherothrombosis for Continued Health (REACH) Registry, J. Am. Heart Assoc. 5 (2016), doi:10.1161/JAHA.116.004080.

6. G. Montalescot, U. Sechtem, S. Achenbach, F. Andreotti, C. Arden, A. Budaj, R. Bugiardini, F. Crea, T. Cuisset, C. Di Mario, J. R. Ferreira, B. J. Gersh, A. K. Gitt, J.-S. Hulot, N. Marx, L. H. Opie, M. Pfisterer, E. Prescott, F. Ruschitzka, M. Sabaté, R. Senior, D. P. Taggart, E. E. van der Wall, C. J. M. Vrints, J. L. Zamorano, S. Achenbach, H. Baumgartner, J. J. Bax, H. Bueno, V. Dean, C. Deaton, C. Erol, R. Fagard, R. Ferrari, D. Hasdai, A. W. Hoes, P. Kirchhof, J. Knuuti, P. Kolh, P. Lancellotti, A. Linhart, P. Nihoyannopoulos, M. F. Piepoli, P. Ponikowski, P. A. Sirnes, J. L. Tamargo, M. Tendera, A. Torbicki, W. Wijns, S. Windecker, J. Knuuti, M. Valgimigli, H. Bueno, M. J. Claeys, N. Donner-Banzhoff, C. Erol, H. Frank, C. Funck-Brentano, O. Gaemperli, J. R. Gonzalez-Juanatey, M. Hamilos, D. Hasdai, S. Husted, S. K. James, K. Kervinen, P. Kolh, S. D. Kristensen, P. Lancellotti, A. Pietro Maggioni, M. F. Piepoli, A. R. Pries, F. Romeo, L. Rydén, M. L. Simoons, P. A. Sirnes, P. G. Steg, A. Timmis, W. Wijns, S. Windecker, A. Yildirir, J. L. Zamorano, 2013 ESC guidelines on the management of stable coronary artery disease, Eur. Heart J. 34, 2949–3003 (2013).

7. P. Libby, Mechanisms of Acute Coronary Syndromes and Their Implications for Therapy, n engl j med 21, 2004–2017 (2013).

8. T. Quillard, G. Franck, T. Mawson, E. Folco, P. Libby, Mechanisms of erosion of atherosclerotic plaques., Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 28, 434–441 (2017).

**9**. I. Y. Elgendy, A. N. Mahmoud, H. Mansoor, M. K. Mojadidi, A. A. Bavry, Evolution of acute ischemic stroke therapy from lysis to thrombectomy: Similar or different to acute myocardial infarction?, Int. J. Cardiol. 222, 441–447 (2016).

**10**. M. J. Poi, A. Echeverria, P. H. Lin, Contemporary Management of Patients with Concomitant Coronary and Carotid Artery Disease, World J. Surg. 42, 272–282 (2018).

**11**. G. de Donato, F. Setacci, M. Mele, G. Giannace, G. Galzerano, C. Setacci, Restenosis after Coronary and Peripheral Intervention: Efficacy and Clinical Impact of Cilostazol, Ann. Vasc. Surg. 41, 300–307 (2017).

**12**. L. Pisciotta, S. Bertolini, A. Pende, Lipoproteins, stroke and statins., Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol. 13, 202–8 (2015).

**13**. R. M. Stoekenbroek, M. L. Hartgers, R. Rutte, D. D. de Wijer, E. S. G. Stroes, G. K. Hovingh, PCSK9 inhibitors in clinical practice: Delivering on the promise?, Atherosclerosis 270, 205–210 (2018).

**14**. A. W. Aday, P. M. Ridker, Targeting Residual Inflammatory Risk: A Shifting Paradigm for Atherosclerotic Disease, Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 6, 16 (2019).

**15**. D. Misra, V. Agarwal, CANTOS – is selective targeting of inflammation in atherosclerosis enough?, J. R. Coll. Physicians Edinb. 48, 246–247 (2018).

**16**. P. Libby, R. J. Glynn, J. G. MacFadyen, B. M. Everett, H. Shimokawa, W. Koenig, C. Ballantyne, P. M. Ridker, T. Thuren, F. Fonseca, Modulation of the interleukin-6 signalling pathway and incidence rates of

atherosclerotic events and all-cause mortality: analyses from the Canakinumab Anti-Inflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes Study (CANTOS), Eur. Heart J. 39, 3499–3507 (2018).

**17**. B. M. Everett, A. D. Pradhan, D. H. Solomon, N. Paynter, J. MacFadyen, E. Zaharris, M. Gupta, M. Clearfield, P. Libby, A. A. K. Hasan, R. J. Glynn, P. M. Ridker, Rationale and design of the Cardiovascular Inflammation Reduction Trial: A test of the inflammatory hypothesis of atherothrombosis, Am. Heart J. 166, 199-207.e15 (2013).

**18**. S. M. Nidorf, J. W. Eikelboom, C. A. Budgeon, P. L. Thompson, Low-Dose Colchicine for Secondary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 61, 404–410 (2013).

**19**. P. M. Ridker, B. M. Everett, A. Pradhan, J. G. MacFadyen, D. H. Solomon, E. Zaharris, V. Mam, A. Hasan, Y. Rosenberg, E. Iturriaga, M. Gupta, M. Tsigoulis, S. Verma, M. Clearfield, P. Libby, S. Z. Goldhaber, R. Seagle, C. Ofori, M. Saklayen, S. Butman, N. Singh, M. Le May, O. Bertrand, J. Johnston, N. P. Paynter, R. J. Glynn, Low-Dose Methotrexate for the Prevention of Atherosclerotic Events, N. Engl. J. Med. 380, 752–762 (2019).

**20**. D. Kolbus, M. Wigren, I. Ljungcrantz, I. Söderberg, R. Alm, H. Björkbacka, J. Nilsson, G. N. Fredrikson, Immunization with cationized BSA inhibits progression of disease in ApoBec-1/LDL receptor deficient mice with manifest atherosclerosis, Immunobiology 216, 663–669 (2011).

**21**. G. H. M. van Puijvelde, A. D. Hauer, P. de Vos, R. van den Heuvel, M. J. C. van Herwijnen, R. van der Zee, W. van Eden, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Induction of oral tolerance to oxidized low-density lipoprotein ameliorates atherosclerosis., Circulation 114, 1968–76 (2006).

**22**. K. L. L. Habets, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, L. M. van Duivenvoorde, E. J. A. van Wanrooij, P. de Vos, J.-W. C. Tervaert, T. J. C. van Berkel, R. E. M. Toes, J. Kuiper, Vaccination using oxidized low-density lipoproteinpulsed dendritic cells reduces atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice., Cardiovasc. Res. 85, 622– 30 (2010).

**23**. A. Gisterå, A. Hermansson, D. Strodthoff, M. L. Klement, U. Hedin, G. N. Fredrikson, J. Nilsson, G. K. Hansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, Vaccination against T-cell epitopes of native ApoB100 reduces vascular inflammation and disease in a humanized mouse model of atherosclerosis, J. Intern. Med. 281, 383–397 (2017).

**24**. K.-Y. Chyu, X. Zhao, P. C. Dimayuga, J. Zhou, X. Li, J. Yano, W. M. Lio, L. F. Chan, J. Kirzner, P. Trinidad, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, F. Dieli, Ed. CD8+ T Cells Mediate the Athero-Protective Effect of Immunization with an ApoB-100 Peptide, PLoS One 7, e30780 (2012).

**25**. R. Klingenberg, M. Lebens, A. Hermansson, G. N. Fredrikson, D. Strodthoff, M. Rudling, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, N. Gerdes, J. Holmgren, J. Nilsson, G. K. Hansson, Intranasal immunization with an apolipoprotein B-100 fusion protein induces antigen-specific regulatory T cells and reduces atherosclerosis., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 30, 946–52 (2010).

**26**. C. Pierides, A. Bermudez-Fajardo, G. N. Fredrikson, J. Nilsson, E. Oviedo-Orta, Immune responses elicited by apoB-100-derived peptides in mice., Immunol. Res. 56, 96–108 (2013).

**27**. Z. Zeng, B. Cao, X. Guo, W. Li, S. Li, J. Chen, W. Zhou, C. Zheng, Y. Wei, Apolipoprotein B-100 peptide 210 antibody inhibits atherosclerosis by regulation of macrophages that phagocytize oxidized lipid., Am. J. Transl. Res. 10, 1817–1828 (2018).

**28**. T. Honjo, K.-Y. Chyu, P. C. Dimayuga, W. M. Lio, J. Yano, P. Trinidad, X. Zhao, J. Zhou, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, Immunization with an ApoB-100 Related Peptide Vaccine Attenuates Angiotensin-II Induced Hypertension and Renal Fibrosis in Mice., PLoS One 10, e0131731 (2015).

**29**. M. Benagiano, M. M. D'Elios, A. Amedei, A. Azzurri, R. van der Zee, A. Ciervo, G. Rombola, S. Romagnani, A. Cassone, G. Del Prete, Human 60-kDa Heat Shock Protein Is a Target Autoantigen of T Cells Derived from Atherosclerotic Plaques, J. Immunol. 174, 6509–6517 (2005).

**30**. G. H. M. Van Puijvelde, T. Van Es, E. J. A. Van Wanrooij, K. L. L. Habets, P. De Vos, R. Van Der Zee, W. Van Eden, T. J. C. Van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Induction of oral tolerance to HSP60 or an HSP60-peptide activates t cell regulation and reduces atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 2677–2683 (2007).

**31**. R. K. Singh, A. S. Haka, A. Asmal, V. C. Barbosa-Lorenzi, I. Grosheva, H. F. Chin, Y. Xiong, T. Hla, F. R. Maxfield, TLR4-dependent signaling drives extracellular catabolism of low-density lipoprotein aggregates, bioRxiv, 610162 (2019).

**32**. K. Yang, X. Liu, Y. Liu, X. Wang, L. Cao, X. Zhang, C. Xu, W. Shen, T. Zhou, DC-SIGN and Toll-like receptor 4 mediate oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced inflammatory responses in macrophages., Sci. Rep. 7, 3296 (2017).

**33**. P. Italiani, D. Boraschi, From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation., Front. Immunol. 5, 514 (2014).

**34**. A. Shapouri-Moghaddam, S. Mohammadian, H. Vazini, M. Taghadosi, S.-A. Esmaeili, F. Mardani, B. Seifi, A. Mohammadi, J. T. Afshari, A. Sahebkar, Macrophage plasticity, polarization, and function in health and disease, J. Cell. Physiol. 233, 6425–6440 (2018).

**35**. M. L. Dart, E. Jankowska-Gan, G. Huang, D. A. Roenneburg, M. R. Keller, J. R. Torrealba, A. Rhoads, B. Kim, J. L. Bobadilla, L. D. Haynes, D. S. Wilkes, W. J. Burlingham, D. S. Greenspan, Interleukin-17– Dependent Autoimmunity to Collagen Type V in Atherosclerosis, Circ. Res. 107, 1106–1116 (2010).

**36.** I. Voloshyna, M. J. Littlefield, A. B. Reiss, Atherosclerosis and interferon- $\gamma$ : new insights and therapeutic targets., Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 24, 45–51 (2014).

**37**. A. Hermansson, D. F. J. Ketelhuth, D. Strodthoff, M. Wurm, E. M. Hansson, A. Nicoletti, G. Paulsson-Berne, G. K. Hansson, Inhibition of T cell response to native low-density lipoprotein reduces atherosclerosis, J. Exp. Med. 207, 1081–1093 (2010).

**38**. S. Stemme, B. Faber, J. Holm, O. Wiklund, J. L. Witztum, G. K. Hansson, T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 3893–7 (1995).

**39**. G. H. Stummvoll, R. J. DiPaolo, E. N. Huter, T. S. Davidson, D. Glass, J. M. Ward, E. M. Shevach, Th1, Th2, and Th17 Effector T Cell-Induced Autoimmune Gastritis Differs in Pathological Pattern and in Susceptibility to Suppression by Regulatory T Cells, J. Immunol. 181, 1908–1916 (2008).

**40**. R. Liu, Q. Zhou, A. La Cava, D. I. Campagnolo, L. Van Kaer, F.-D. Shi, Expansion of regulatory T cells via IL-2/anti-IL-2 mAb complexes suppresses experimental myasthenia, Eur. J. Immunol. 40, 1577–1589 (2010).

**41**. Q. Tang, K. J. Henriksen, M. Bi, E. B. Finger, G. Szot, J. Ye, E. L. Masteller, H. McDevitt, M. Bonyhadi, J. A. Bluestone, In Vitro–expanded Antigen-specific Regulatory T Cells Suppress Autoimmune Diabetes, J. Exp. Med. 199, 1455–1465 (2004).

42. H. L. Weiner, A. P. da Cunha, F. Quintana, H. Wu, Oral tolerance, Immunol. Rev. 241, 241–259 (2011).
43. B. Arellano, D. J. Graber, C. L. Sentman, Regulatory T cell-based therapies for autoimmunity., Discov. Med. 22, 73–80 (2016).

**44**. O. Boyman, M. Kovar, M. P. Rubinstein, C. D. Surh, J. Sprent, Selective stimulation of T cell subsets with antibody-cytokine immune complexes., Science 311, 1924–7 (2006).

**45**. A. C. Foks, V. Frodermann, M. ter Borg, K. L. L. Habets, I. Bot, Y. Zhao, M. van Eck, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, Differential effects of regulatory T cells on the initiation and regression of atherosclerosis, Atherosclerosis 218, 53–60 (2011).

**46**. M. A. Koch, G. Tucker-Heard, N. R. Perdue, J. R. Killebrew, K. B. Urdahl, D. J. Campbell, The transcription factor T-bet controls regulatory T cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation, Nat. Immunol. 10, 595–602 (2009).

**47**. Y. Zheng, A. Chaudhry, A. Kas, P. deRoos, J. M. Kim, T.-T. Chu, L. Corcoran, P. Treuting, U. Klein, A. Y. Rudensky, Regulatory T-cell suppressor program co-opts transcription factor IRF4 to control TH2 responses, Nature 458, 351–356 (2009).

**48**. A. Chaudhry, D. Rudra, P. Treuting, R. M. Samstein, Y. Liang, A. Kas, A. Y. Rudensky, CD4+ Regulatory T Cells Control TH17 Responses in a Stat3-Dependent Manner, Science (80-.). 326, 986–991 (2009).

**49**. D. Haribhai, W. Lin, B. Edwards, J. Ziegelbauer, N. H. Salzman, M. R. Carlson, S.-H. Li, P. M. Simpson, T. A. Chatila, C. B. Williams, A central role for induced regulatory T cells in tolerance induction in

experimental colitis., J. Immunol. 182, 3461–8 (2009).

**50**. S. Dohnke, M. Schreiber, S. Schallenberg, M. Simonetti, L. Fischer, A. I. Garbe, A. Chatzigeorgiou, K. Kretschmer, Approaches to Discriminate Naturally Induced Foxp3+ Treg cells of Intra- and Extrathymic Origin: Helios, Neuropilin-1, and Foxp3RFP/GFP, J. Clin. Cell. Immunol. 09, 540 (2018).

**51**. G. N. Fredrikson, B. Hedblad, G. Berglund, R. Alm, M. Ares, B. Cercek, K.-Y. Chyu, P. K. Shah, J. Nilsson, Identification of immune responses against aldehyde-modified peptide sequences in apoB associated with cardiovascular disease., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23, 872–8 (2003).

**52**. S. Rattik, P. T. Mantani, I. Yao Mattisson, I. Ljungcrantz, L. Sundius, H. Björkbacka, M. Terrinoni, M. Lebens, J. Holmgren, J. Nilsson, M. Wigren, G. Nordin Fredrikson, B cells treated with CTB-p210 acquire a regulatory phenotype in vitro and reduce atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E deficient mice, Vascul. Pharmacol. 111, 54–61 (2018).

**53**. P. C. Dimayuga, X. Zhao, J. Yano, W. M. Lio, J. Zhou, P. M. Mihailovic, B. Cercek, P. K. Shah, K. Chyu, Identification of apoB-100 Peptide-Specific CD8+ T Cells in Atherosclerosis, J. Am. Heart Assoc. 6, e005318 (2017).

**54**. G. N. Fredrikson, H. Björkbacka, I. Söderberg, I. Ljungcrantz, J. Nilsson, Treatment with apo B peptide vaccines inhibits atherosclerosis in human apo B-100 transgenic mice without inducing an increase in peptide-specific antibodies, J. Intern. Med. 264, 563–570 (2008).

**55**. N. Sakamoto, A. S. Rosenberg, Apolipoprotein B binding domains: evidence that they are cellpenetrating peptides that efficiently deliver antigenic peptide for cross-presentation of cytotoxic T cells., 186, 5004–11 (2011).

**56**. J. Boren, I. Lee, W. Zhu, K. Arnold, S. Taylor, T. L. Innerarity, Identification of the low density lipoprotein receptor-binding site in apolipoprotein B100 and the modulation of its binding activity by the carboxyl terminus in familial defective apo-B100., J. Clin. Invest. 101, 1084–93 (1998).

**57**. M. F. Linton, R. V Farese, G. Chiesa, D. S. Grass, P. Chin, R. E. Hammer, H. H. Hobbs, S. G. Young, Transgenic mice expressing high plasma concentrations of human apolipoprotein B100 and lipoprotein(a)., J. Clin. Invest. 92, 3029–37 (1993).

**58**. J.-B. Sun, C. Czerkinsky, J. Holmgren, Mucosally induced Immunological Tolerance, Regulatory T Cells and the Adjuvant Effect by Cholera Toxin B Subunit, Scand. J. Immunol. 71, 1–11 (2010).

59. K. Tse, H. Tse, J. Sidney, A. Sette, K. Ley, T cells in atherosclerosis., Int. Immunol. 25, 615–22 (2013).

**60**. G. N. Fredrikson, I. Söderberg, M. Lindholm, P. Dimayuga, K.-Y. Chyu, P. K. Shah, J. Nilsson, I. Söderberg, M. Lindholm, P. Dimayuga, K.-Y. Chyu, P. K. Shah, J. Nilsson, Inhibition of atherosclerosis in apoE-null mice by immunization with apoB-100 peptide sequences., Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23, 879–884 (2003).

**61**. G. N. Fredrikson, L. Andersson, I. Söderberg, P. Dimayuga, K.-Y. Chyu, P. K. Shah, J. Nilsson, Atheroprotective immunization with MDA-modified apo B-100 peptide sequences is associated with activation of Th2 specific antibody expression., Autoimmunity 38, 171–9 (2005).

**62**. H. J. Kim, H. J. Lee, J. S. Choi, J. Han, J. Y. Kim, H. K. Na, H.-J. Joung, Y. S. Kim, B. Binas, An apolipoprotein B100 mimotope prevents obesity in mice., Clin. Sci. (Lond). 130, 105–16 (2016).

**63**. O. McLeod, A. Silveira, G. N. Fredrikson, K. Gertow, D. Baldassarre, F. Veglia, B. Sennblad, R. J. Strawbridge, M. Larsson, K. Leander, B. Gigante, J. Kauhanen, R. Rauramaa, A. J. Smit, E. Mannarino, P. Giral, S. E. Humphries, E. Tremoli, U. de Faire, J. Ohrvik, J. Nilsson, A. Hamsten, J. Öhrvik, J. Nilsson, A. Hamsten, Plasma autoantibodies against apolipoprotein B-100 peptide 210 in subclinical atherosclerosis, Atherosclerosis 232, 242–248 (2014).

**64**. P. Sjogren, G. N. Fredrikson, a. Samnegard, C.-G. Ericsson, J. Ohrvik, R. M. Fisher, J. Nilsson, a. Hamsten, High plasma concentrations of autoantibodies against native peptide 210 of apoB-100 are related to less coronary atherosclerosis and lower risk of myocardial infarction, Eur. Heart J. 29, 2218–2226 (2008).

**65**. G. N. Fredrikson, D. V. Anand, D. Hopkins, R. Corder, R. Alm, E. Bengtsson, P. K. Shah, A. Lahiri, J. Nilsson, Associations between autoantibodies against apolipoprotein B-100 peptides and vascular

complications in patients with type 2 diabetes, Diabetologia 52, 1426–1433 (2009).

**66**. M. Dastjerdi, M. Salahshoor, M. Mardani, B. Hashemibeni, S. Roshankhah, The effect of CTB on P53 protein acetylation and consequence apoptosis on MCF-7 and MRC-5 cell lines, Adv. Biomed. Res. 2, 24 (2013).

**67**. A. J. Lepedda, A. Cigliano, G. M. Cherchi, R. Spirito, M. Maggioni, F. Carta, F. Turrini, C. Edelstein, A. M. Scanu, M. Formato, A proteomic approach to differentiate histologically classified stable and unstable plaques from human carotid arteries., Atherosclerosis 203, 112–8 (2009).

**68**. K. Tse, A. Gonen, J. Sidney, H. Ouyang, J. L. Witztum, A. Sette, H. Tse, K. Ley, Atheroprotective Vaccination with MHC-II Restricted Peptides from ApoB-100., Front. Immunol. 4, 493 (2013).

**69**. J. Gewaltig, M. Kummer, C. Koella, G. Cathomas, B. C. Biedermann, Requirements for CD8 T-cell migration into the human arterial wall, Hum. Pathol. 39, 1756–1762 (2008).

**70**. J.-C. Grivel, O. Ivanova, N. Pinegina, P. S. Blank, A. Shpektor, L. B. Margolis, E. Vasilieva, Activation of T Lymphocytes in Atherosclerotic Plaques, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 31, 2929–2937 (2011).

**71**. A. D. Hauer, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, N. Peterse, P. de Vos, V. van Weel, E. J. A. van Wanrooij, E. A. L. Biessen, P. H. A. Quax, A. G. Niethammer, R. A. Reisfeld, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Vaccination Against VEGFR2 Attenuates Initiation and Progression of Atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27, 2050–2057 (2007).

**72**. E. J. A. van Wanrooij, P. de Vos, M. G. Bixel, D. Vestweber, T. J. C. van Berkel, J. Kuiper, Vaccination against CD99 inhibits atherogenesis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice, Cardiovasc. Res. 78, 590–596 (2008).

**73**. B. Ludewig, S. Freigang, M. Jaggi, M. O. Kurrer, Y.-C. Pei, L. Vlk, B. Odermatt, R. M. Zinkernagel, H. Hengartner, Linking immune-mediated arterial inflammation and cholesterol-induced atherosclerosis in a transgenic mouse model, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97, 12752–12757 (2000).

**74**. J. Liu, D. P. Thewke, Y. R. Su, M. F. Linton, S. Fazio, M. S. Sinensky, Reduced Macrophage Apoptosis Is Associated With Accelerated Atherosclerosis in Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Null Mice, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25, 174–9 (2004).

**75**. S. Yamada, Y. Ding, A. Tanimoto, K.-Y. Wang, X. Guo, Z. Li, T. Tasaki, A. Nabesima, Y. Murata, S. Shimajiri, K. Kohno, H. Ichijo, Y. Sasaguri, Apoptosis Signal-Regulating Kinase 1 Deficiency Accelerates Hyperlipidemia-Induced Atheromatous Plaques via Suppression of Macrophage Apoptosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 31, 1555–1564 (2011).

**76**. B. Peters, S. Bulik, R. Tampe, P. M. Van Endert, H.-G. Holzhütter, Identifying MHC class I epitopes by predicting the TAP transport efficiency of epitope precursors., J. Immunol. 171, 1741–9 (2003).

77. S. Tenzer, B. Peters, S. Bulik, O. Schoor, C. Lemmel, M. M. Schatz, P.-M. P.-M. Kloetzel, H.-G. H.-G. Rammensee, H. Schild, H.-G. H.-G. Holzhütter, Modeling the MHC class I pathway by combining predictions of proteasomal cleavage, TAP transport and MHC class I binding., Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 62, 1025–37 (2005).

**78**. M. Moutaftsi, B. Peters, V. Pasquetto, D. C. Tscharke, J. Sidney, H.-H. Bui, H. Grey, A. Sette, A consensus epitope prediction approach identifies the breadth of murine TCD8+-cell responses to vaccinia virus, Nat. Biotechnol. 24, 817–819 (2006).

**79**. M. Nielsen, C. Lundegaard, T. Blicher, K. Lamberth, M. Harndahl, S. Justesen, G. Røder, B. Peters, A. Sette, O. Lund, S. Buus, E. Kallas, Ed. NetMHCpan, a Method for Quantitative Predictions of Peptide Binding to Any HLA-A and -B Locus Protein of Known Sequence, PLoS One 2, e796 (2007).

**80**. B. Peters, A. Sette, Generating quantitative models describing the sequence specificity of biological processes with the stabilized matrix method., BMC Bioinformatics 6, 132 (2005).

**81**. S. Buus, S. L. Lauemøller, P. Worning, C. Kesmir, T. Frimurer, S. Corbet, A. Fomsgaard, J. Hilden, A. Holm, S. Brunak, Sensitive quantitative predictions of peptide-MHC binding by a "Query by Committee" artificial neural network approach., Tissue Antigens 62, 378–84 (2003).

**82**. C. Lundegaard, O. Lund, M. Nielsen, Accurate approximation method for prediction of class I MHC affinities for peptides of length 8, 10 and 11 using prediction tools trained on 9mers, Bioinformatics 24,

1397–1398 (2008).

**83**. M. Nielsen, C. Lundegaard, P. Worning, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. L. Lauemøller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, S. Lise, L. Øller, K. Lamberth, S. Buus, S. Brunak, O. L. E. Lund, Reliable prediction of T-cell epitopes using neural networks with novel sequence representations, Protein Sci. 12, 1007–1017 (2003).

**84**. C. Lundegaard, K. Lamberth, M. Harndahl, S. Buus, O. Lund, M. Nielsen, NetMHC-3.0: accurate web accessible predictions of human, mouse and monkey MHC class I affinities for peptides of length 8-11., Nucleic Acids Res. 36, W509-12 (2008).

**85**. J. Sidney, E. Assarsson, C. Moore, S. Ngo, C. Pinilla, A. Sette, B. Peters, Quantitative peptide binding motifs for 19 human and mouse MHC class I molecules derived using positional scanning combinatorial peptide libraries., Immunome Res. 4, 2 (2008).

**86**. S. Pascolo, N. Bervas, J. M. Ure, A. G. Smith, F. A. Lemonnier, B. Pérarnau, HLA-A2.1-restricted education and cytolytic activity of CD8(+) T lymphocytes from beta2 microglobulin (beta2m) HLA-A2.1 monochain transgenic H-2Db beta2m double knockout mice., J. Exp. Med. 185, 2043–51 (1997).

**87.** H.-I. Cho, E. Celis, Optimized Peptide Vaccines Eliciting Extensive CD8 T-Cell Responses with Therapeutic Antitumor Effects, Cancer Res. 69, 9012–9019 (2009).

**88**. K. Barrios, E. Celis, TriVax-HPV: an improved peptide-based therapeutic vaccination strategy against human papillomavirus-induced cancers, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 61, 1307–1317 (2012).

89. C. L. Day, D. E. Kaufmann, P. Kiepiela, J. A. Brown, E. S. Moodley, S. Reddy, E. W. Mackey, J. D. Miller, A. J. Leslie, C. DePierres, Z. Mncube, J. Duraiswamy, B. Zhu, Q. Eichbaum, M. Altfeld, E. J. Wherry, H. M. Coovadia, P. J. R. Goulder, P. Klenerman, R. Ahmed, G. J. Freeman, B. D. Walker, PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression, Nature 443, 350–354 (2006).
90. D. L. Barber, E. J. Wherry, D. Masopust, B. Zhu, J. P. Allison, A. H. Sharpe, G. J. Freeman, R. Ahmed, Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection, Nature 439, 682–687 (2006).
91. M. K. Owa, S. C. Wang, Y. X. Dai, S. O. Wang, J. M. Owa, T. W. Owan, PD 1, and Tim 2 Pathways.

**91**. M.-K. Qiu, S.-C. Wang, Y.-X. Dai, S.-Q. Wang, J.-M. Ou, Z.-W. Quan, PD-1 and Tim-3 Pathways Regulate CD8+ T Cells Function in Atherosclerosis., PLoS One 10, e0128523 (2015).

92. R. Watanabe, T. Shirai, H. Namkoong, H. Zhang, G. J. Berry, B. B. Wallis, B. Schaefgen, D. G. Harrison, J. A. Tremmel, J. C. Giacomini, J. J. Goronzy, C. M. Weyand, Pyruvate controls the checkpoint inhibitor PD-L1 and suppresses T cell immunity, J. Clin. Invest. 127, 2725–2738 (2017).

**93**. J. Q. Russell, G. J. Morrissette, M. Weidner, C. Vyas, D. Aleman-Hoey, R. C. Budd, Liver damage preferentially results from CD8(+) T cells triggered by high affinity peptide antigens., J. Exp. Med. 188, 1147–57 (1998).

94. S. J. Kottoor, R. R. Arora, The Utility of Anti-Inflammatory Agents in Cardiovascular Disease, J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther. 23, 483–493 (2018).

**95**. P. M. Ridker, B. M. Everett, T. Thuren, J. G. MacFadyen, W. H. Chang, C. Ballantyne, F. Fonseca, J. Nicolau, W. Koenig, S. D. Anker, J. J. P. Kastelein, J. H. Cornel, P. Pais, D. Pella, J. Genest, R. Cifkova, A. Lorenzatti, T. Forster, Z. Kobalava, L. Vida-Simiti, M. Flather, H. Shimokawa, H. Ogawa, M. Dellborg, P. R. F. Rossi, R. P. T. Troquay, P. Libby, R. J. Glynn, CANTOS Trial Group, Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease, N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 1119–1131 (2017).

**96**. M. Basler, M. M. Lindstrom, J. J. LaStant, J. M. Bradshaw, T. D. Owens, C. Schmidt, E. Maurits, C. Tsu, H. S. Overkleeft, C. J. Kirk, C. L. Langrish, M. Groettrup, Co-inhibition of immunoproteasome subunits LMP2 and LMP7 is required to block autoimmunity, EMBO Rep. 19, e46512 (2018).

**97**. T. Muchamuel, M. Basler, M. A. Aujay, E. Suzuki, K. W. Kalim, C. Lauer, C. Sylvain, E. R. Ring, J. Shields, J. Jiang, P. Shwonek, F. Parlati, S. D. Demo, M. K. Bennett, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, A selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 blocks cytokine production and attenuates progression of experimental arthritis., Nat. Med. 15, 781–7 (2009).

98. M. Basler, S. Mundt, T. Muchamuel, C. Moll, J. Jiang, M. Groettrup, C. J. Kirk, Inhibition of the immunoproteasome ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EMBO Mol. Med. 6,

226-238 (2014).

**99**. K. W. Kalim, M. Basler, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, Immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 deficiency and inhibition suppresses Th1 and Th17 but enhances regulatory T cell differentiation., J. Immunol. 189, 4182–93 (2012).

**100**. R.-T. Liu, P. Zhang, C.-L. Yang, Y. Pang, M. Zhang, N. Zhang, L.-T. Yue, X.-L. Li, H. Li, R.-S. Duan, ONX-0914, a selective inhibitor of immunoproteasome, ameliorates experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis by modulating humoral response, J. Neuroimmunol. 311, 71–78 (2017).

**101.** Y. Nagayama, M. Nakahara, M. Shimamura, I. Horie, K. Arima, N. Abiru, Prophylactic and therapeutic efficacies of a selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome for Hashimoto's thyroiditis, but not for Graves' hyperthyroidism, in mice, Clin. Exp. Immunol. 168, 268–273 (2012).

**102**. H. T. Ichikawa, T. Conley, T. Muchamuel, J. Jiang, S. Lee, T. Owen, J. Barnard, S. Nevarez, B. I. Goldman, C. J. Kirk, R. J. Looney, J. H. Anolik, Beneficial effect of novel proteasome inhibitors in murine lupus via dual inhibition of type i interferon and autoantibody-secreting cells, Arthritis Rheum. 64, 493–503 (2012).

**103**. *M. Basler, M. Dajee, C. Moll, M. Groettrup, C. J. Kirk, Prevention of experimental colitis by a selective inhibitor of the immunoproteasome., J. Immunol.* 185, 634–41 (2010).

**104.** J. Li, J. Koerner, M. Basler, T. Brunner, C. J. Kirk, M. Groettrup, Immunoproteasome inhibition induces plasma cell apoptosis and preserves kidney allografts by activating the unfolded protein response and suppressing plasma cell survival factors., Kidney Int. 95, 611–623 (2019).

**105**. E. Ammirati, D. Cianflone, V. Vecchio, M. Banfi, A. C. Vermi, M. De Metrio, L. Grigore, F. Pellegatta, A. Pirillo, K. Garlaschelli, A. A. Manfredi, A. L. Catapano, A. Maseri, A. G. Palini, G. D. Norata, Effector Memory T cells Are Associated With Atherosclerosis in Humans and Animal Models, J. Am. Heart Assoc. 1, 27–41 (2012).

106. D. Wolf, K. Ley, Immunity and Inflammation in Atherosclerosis, Circ. Res. 124, 315–327 (2019).

**107.** D. Lievens, K. L. Habets, A.-K. Robertson, Y. Laouar, H. Winkels, T. Rademakers, L. Beckers, E. Wijnands, L. Boon, M. Mosaheb, H. Ait-Oufella, Z. Mallat, R. A. Flavell, M. Rudling, C. J. Binder, N. Gerdes, E. A. L. Biessen, C. Weber, M. J. A. P. Daemen, J. Kuiper, E. Lutgens, Abrogated transforming growth factor beta receptor II (TGF6RII) signalling in dendritic cells promotes immune reactivity of T cells resulting in enhanced atherosclerosis, Eur. Heart J. 34, 3717–3727 (2013).

**108.** S. Merat, F. Casanada, M. Sutphin, W. Palinski, P. D. Reaven, Western-Type Diets Induce Insulin Resistance and Hyperinsulinemia in LDL Receptor-Deficient Mice But Do Not Increase Aortic Atherosclerosis Compared With Normoinsulinemic Mice in Which Similar Plasma Cholesterol Levels Are Achieved by a Fructose-Rich Diet, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 19, 1223–1230 (1999).

**109**. S. A. Schreyer, C. Vick, T. C. Lystig, P. Mystkowski, R. C. LeBoeuf, LDL receptor but not apolipoprotein *E* deficiency increases diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice, Am. J. Physiol. Metab. 282, E207–E214 (2002).

**110.** H. Kimura, F. Usui, T. Karasawa, A. Kawashima, K. Shirasuna, Y. Inoue, T. Komada, M. Kobayashi, Y. Mizushina, T. Kasahara, K. Suzuki, Y. Iwasaki, T. Yada, P. Caturegli, M. Takahashi, Immunoproteasome subunit LMP7 Deficiency Improves Obesity and Metabolic Disorders., Sci. Rep. 5, 15883 (2015).

**111.** A. Kitamura, Y. Maekawa, H. Uehara, K. Izumi, I. Kawachi, M. Nishizawa, Y. Toyoshima, H. Takahashi, D. M. Standley, K. Tanaka, J. Hamazaki, S. Murata, K. Obara, I. Toyoshima, K. Yasutomo, A mutation in the immunoproteasome subunit PSMB8 causes autoinflammation and lipodystrophy in humans., J. Clin. Invest. 121, 4150–60 (2011).

**112**. S. E. Mullican, X. Lin-Schmidt, C.-N. Chin, J. A. Chavez, J. L. Furman, A. A. Armstrong, S. C. Beck, V. J. South, T. Q. Dinh, T. D. Cash-Mason, C. R. Cavanaugh, S. Nelson, C. Huang, M. J. Hunter, S. M. Rangwala, GFRAL is the receptor for GDF15 and the ligand promotes weight loss in mice and nonhuman primates, Nat. Med. 23, 1150–1157 (2017).

**113.** T. Matsuki, R. Horai, K. Sudo, Y. Iwakura, IL-1 plays an important role in lipid metabolism by regulating insulin levels under physiological conditions., J. Exp. Med. 198, 877–88 (2003).

**114.** J. M. Argilés, F. J. Lopez-Soriano, R. D. Evans, D. H. Williamson, Interleukin-1 and lipid metabolism in the rat., Biochem. J. 259, 673–8 (1989).

**115.** A. Ibrahim, M. Ahmed, R. Conway, J. J. Carey, Risk of Infection with Methotrexate Therapy in Inflammatory Diseases: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis., J. Clin. Med. 8 (2018), doi:10.3390/jcm8010015.

**116.** P. L. Thompson, S. M. Nidorf, Anti-inflammatory therapy with canakinumab for atherosclerotic disease: lessons from the CANTOS trial., J. Thorac. Dis. 10, 695–698 (2018).

**117.** R. Maron, G. Sukhova, A.-M. Faria, E. Hoffmann, F. Mach, P. Libby, H. L. Weiner, Mucosal Administration of Heat Shock Protein-65 Decreases Atherosclerosis and Inflammation in Aortic Arch of Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Deficient Mice, Circulation 106, 1708–1715 (2002).

**118.** A. C. Park, G. Huang, E. Jankowska-Gan, D. Massoudi, J. F. Kernien, D. A. Vignali, J. A. Sullivan, D. S. Wilkes, W. J. Burlingham, D. S. Greenspan, Mucosal Administration of Collagen V Ameliorates the Atherosclerotic Plaque Burden by Inducing Interleukin 35-dependent Tolerance, J. Biol. Chem. 291, 3359–3370 (2016).

**119**. A. Lutterotti, S. Yousef, A. Sputtek, K. H. Sturner, J.-P. Stellmann, P. Breiden, S. Reinhardt, C. Schulze, M. Bester, C. Heesen, S. Schippling, S. D. Miller, M. Sospedra, R. Martin, Antigen-Specific Tolerance by Autologous Myelin Peptide-Coupled Cells: A Phase 1 Trial in Multiple Sclerosis, Sci. Transl. Med. 5, 188ra75-188ra75 (2013).

**120.** J. Su, H. Zhou, X. Liu, L. Shi, Z. Li, K. Li, W. Wu, Z. Xiao, M. Zhao, Collagen Vi Antibody Induces Regression of Atherosclerosis by Activation of Monocytes/Macrophages Polarization and Lipid Efflux inApoE-/- Mice, Atheroscler. Suppl. 32, 11 (2018).

**121**. M. Zhao, M. Wigren, P. Dunér, D. Kolbus, K. E. Olofsson, H. Björkbacka, J. Nilsson, G. N. Fredrikson, FcyRIIB Inhibits the Development of Atherosclerosis in Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Deficient Mice, J. Immunol. 184, 2253–2260 (2010).



Nederlandse Samenvatting

# Achtergrond

Hart- en vaatziekten vormen de meest voorkomende doodsoorzaak in de westerse wereld met atherosclerose als de dominante etiologie. Atherosclerose wordt gekenmerkt door afzetting van lipiden in de intima van middelgrote tot grote slagaders, wat leidt tot immuuncel accumulatie in de vaatwand en een pathogene chronische ontsteking in de vaatwand. De ontstekingsreactie versterkt de ophoping van vetten en stimuleert daarmee de vorming van laesies. De ontwikkeling van een atherosclerotische laesie duurt meestal tientallen jaren. De vorming van grote plaques kan het lumen van de kransslagaders zodanig afsluiten dat tijdens inspanning de zuurstoftoevoer naar onderliggend myocardweefsel onvoldoende is, wat kan leiden tot symptomen zoals kortademigheid, misselijkheid en vermoeidheid, en druk op de borst. Alhoewel deze situatie van stabiele angina maar zwak gecorreleerd is met cardiovasculaire sterfte, is stabiele angina wel geassocieerd met hartfalen, verhoogde ziekenhuisopnames, en verminderde kwaliteit van leven. Naast stabiele angina kan atherosclerose ook leiden tot de vorming van kwetsbare laesies, die ten gevolge van scheuring van de plaque of erosie van de endotheel laag op de plaque, de vorming van een trombus kunnen veroorzaken. De gevormde trombus kan de bloedstroom in situ beperken, of kan losbreken van de plaats van trombus formatie en de slagader in de vernauwende vertakkingen van de slagaders verstoppen. In beide gevallen kan een acuut zuurstoftekort in achterliggende weefsels ontstaan wat ten grondslag ligt aan de levensbedreigende situaties zoals een hartinfarct en ischemische beroerte. Behandeling van een acute verstopping van de slagaders is gericht op het zo snel mogelijk herstellen van de bloedstroom, door fibrinolytische behandeling of chirurgische verwijdering van de trombus, om weefselbeschadiging door zuurstoftekort te voorkomen. Ter voorkoming van cardiovasculaire gebeurtenissen kunnen kwetsbare of occlusieve atherosclerotische plagues operatief worden verwijderd door middel van endarterectomie. Verder kan de verminderde bloedstroom ten gevolge van een vernauwd slagaderlumen worden hersteld door te dotteren en een stent te plaatsen die het vatlumen open houdt, of door bypasschirurgie die de bloedstroom omleidt. Restenose is een vaak voorkomend fenomeen na cardiovasculaire chirurgie, waardoor herhaalde interventies soms noodzakelijk zijn.

Huidige behandelingsregimes om progressie van atherosclerose en (her)optreden van cardiovasculaire gebeurtenissen te voorkomen zijn voornamelijk gericht op het normaliseren van lipide niveaus door een gezonde levensstijl en door het gebruik van lipide verlagende middelen zoals statines en PCSK9 remmers. Verlaging van de lipiden niveaus verlaagt het risico op een cardiovasculaire complicatie, maar bij sommige patiënten worden statines niet goed verdragen of is therapietrouw een probleem, wordt het lipide niveau niet voldoende verlaagd, of blijft er ondanks succesvolle verlaging van lipide niveaus een verhoogd risico aanwezig voor een cardiovasculaire gebeurtenis ten gevolge van een onopgeloste ontstekingsreactie. Het recente succes van de CANTOS-studie, waarin cardiovasculaire complicaties werden gereduceerd door toediening van een monoklonaal antilichaam dat het pro-inflammatoire cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  neutraliseeert (Canakinumab), impliceert dat modulatie

van het immuunsysteem ook een haalbare manier is om atherosclerose te behandelen, en het cardiovasculaire risico in de mens te verminderen. In navolging van het paradigma dat het verlagen van de ontsteking atherosclerose kan verminderen en zware cardiovasculaire complicaties kan voorkomen, zijn klinische onderzoeken met lage doses van de immunosuppressiva methotrexaat en colchicine in de context van atherosclerose gestart. De resultaten van de behandeling met lage doses methotrexaat waren echter teleurstellend, cardiovasculaire sterfte werd niet geremd door behandeling met methotrexaat, terwijl negatieve bijwerkingen, waaronder verhoogde leverenzymen in de bloedsomloop, een hogere incidentie van huidkanker (niet basaalcelcarcinoom) en meer voorkomende mondzweren en orale pijn, werden gevonden in de met methotrexaat behandelde groep. Ook voor canakinumab en colchicine worden veel voorkomende bijwerkingen beschreven. In experimentele modellen van atherosclerose, is de modulatie van de antigeen-specifieke bestanddelen, immuunrespons naar plaque waaronder albumine, geoxideerd LDL, Apolipoproteïne-B100 (ApoB100), collageen, en heat shock-proteïnes, in staat om atherosclerose te verminderen. Deze specifieke immuun modulatie zal waarschijnlijk resulteren in veel minder bijwerkingen dan algehele immuun suppressie, en zou daarom interessant zijn om verder te onderzoeken voor gebruik in de mens.

## In dit proefschrift

In dit proefschrift hebben we ernaar gestreefd om de immuunrespons voor de behandeling van atherosclerose gunstig te moduleren. Hyperlipidemie en ontsteking zijn de drijvende factoren achter atherosclerose. De interacties tussen lipiden en het immuunsysteem zijn daarom samengevat in hoofdstuk 2. Omdat lipiden niet water oplosbaar zijn, worden lipiden (en andere niet water oplosbare stoffen) vervoerd in het bloed verpakt in lipoproteïnen. Lipoproteïnen vervoeren onder meer vetzuren en cholesterol, wat belangrijke bouwstenen zijn voor onder andere celmembranen, en ze vervullen daarmee een belangrijke fysiologische rol. Door een hoge concentratie lipoproteïnen in het bloed kunnen er echter op bepaalde plekken in het arterieel vaatstelsel ophopingen van lipoproteïnen in de vaatwand ontstaan. Dit is een cruciale stap in de ontwikkeling van atherosclerose omdat dit zorgt voor het aantrekken van macrofagen naar de plaats in de vaatwand, waar lipoproteïnen zich ophopen. De geoxideerde en geaggregeerde lipoproteïnen activeren macrofagen, wat samen met andere pro-inflammatoire factoren in de atherosclerotische omgeving ervoor zorgt dat macrofagen een pro-inflammatoir fenotype aannemen. Door afgifte van ontstekingsbevorderende cytokinen en chemokines trekken pro-inflammatoire macrofagen andere immuuncellen aan naar de atherosclerotische laesie, en houden op deze manier de ontsteking op gang.

Opname van grote hoeveelheden plaque materiaal door dendritische cellen en macrofagen en presentatie van deze plaque materialen, gecombineerd met de aanwezigheid van costimulerende moleculen op antigeen presenterende cellen, stimuleren de interactie met Th1 CD4 T helper cellen die specifiek reageren op plaque antigenen. Op deze manier wordt gedurende de ontwikkeling van atherosclerose de van nature aanwezige immuun tolerantie voor lichaamseigen eiwitten in de plaque gebroken. De daaruit voortvloeiende autoimmuunachtige reactie tegen plaque eiwitten wordt atherosclerose stimulerend beschouwd. Onder andere de hoge IFN-y en TNF-a niveaus in de atherosclerotische laesie, die karakteristiek zijn voor Th1 immuun reacties, zijn gecorreleerd met verergering van atherosclerose. Omdat immuunreacties tegen al dan niet geoxideerd LDL goed gedocumenteerd zijn in de context van atherosclerose, hebben we de immuunreactie tegen LDL op verschillende manieren gemoduleerd in **hoofdstuk 3-5** om atherosclerose te verminderen. In **hoofdstuk 6** probeerden we de pathogene immuunreactie als geheel te remmen door immunoproteasomale remming, wat verrassend genoeg ook verbeterde parameters van metabool syndroom en lipide homeostase induceerde.

Omdat atherosclerose wordt gekenmerkt door accumulatie van LDL in de vaatwand, wat leidt tot inductie van onder meer auto-reactieve (ox)LDL-specifieke CD4 T-cellen, zou het aantrekkelijk zijn om de natuurlijke tolerantie voor LDL herstellen, waardoor de pathogene ontsteking wordt verminderd en atherosclerose geremd. Omdat regulatoire CD4 Tcellen (Tregs) cruciaal zijn voor het behoud van immuuntolerantie en in staat om autoimmuun reacties te verminderen wilden we Tregs vermeerderen om atherosclerose te bestrijden in **hoofdstuk 3**. Voor de immunosuppressieve functie van Tregs is het niet perse nodig dat Tregs een antigeen specifiek herkennen, maar het immunosuppressieve effect van antigeen specifieke Tregs is wel groter dan dat van Tregs die een niet gerelateerd antigen herkennen. Een mogelijkheid voor inductie van antigeen specifieke Tregs is de orale toediening van antigenen. Via deze route wordt het toegediende antigen opgenomen en gepresenteerd door een tolerogene dendritische cel populatie in de darmen, waardoor inductie van onder meer antigeen specifieke induceerbare Tregs (iTregs) kan worden bevorderd. Via orale toediening van geoxideerd LDL werd eerder al atherosclerose verminderd door inductie van oxLDL-specifieke Tregs. Na de laatste behandeling met geoxideerd LDL nemen de Treg aantallen echter snel af tot controle niveaus. Het therapeutische effect van orale toediening van geoxideerd LDL zou daarom mogelijk verbeterd kunnen worden door de Treg aantallen kunstmatig hoog te houden na het induceren van geoxideerd LDL specifieke Tregs. Daarom hebben we muizen na orale toediening van geoxideerd LDL, behandeld met IL-2 gekoppeld aan een antilichaam (JES6-1A12). IL-2 is een belangrijke groeifactor voor regulatoire T cellen maar kan ook veel andere cellen aanzetten tot groei en celdeling. De meeste cellen hebben echter een andere receptor voor IL-2 dan Tregs. Door het koppelen van IL-2 aan JES6-1A12 blijft binding gewaarborgd aan de hoge affiniteit receptor voor IL-2 die aanwezig is op Tregs, maar wordt binding van IL-2 aan andere IL-2 receptoren verhinderd. Daarmee leidt toediening van IL-2 gekoppeld aan JES6-1A12 tot specifieke vermeerdering van Tregs.

Ondanks dat IL-2 behandeling inderdaad leidde tot verhoogde Tregs niveaus in onze studie, samenvallend met verlaagde aantallen circulerende immuuncellen wat een geslaagde immunosuppressie aangeeft, resulteerde alleen behandeling met geoxideerd LDL in een

significante reductie in atherosclerose. De reden voor het uitblijven van een additief effect van orale toediening van geoxideerd LDL en IL-2 is lastig aan te wijzen doordat antigeen specifieke Tregs moeilijk te onderscheiden zijn van andere Tregs, en omdat er geen sterke kenmerken zijn om verschillende Treg populaties, iTregs en Tregs geproduceerd in de thymus (nTregs), van elkaar te onderscheiden. Wel is aangetoond dat er een negatieve terugkoppeling bestaat tussen nTregs en iTregs door de transfusie van nTregs, wat leidde tot een reductie van iTregs. Het zou daarom kunnen dat IL-2 behandeling in plaats van het vergroten van de geoxideerd LDL specifieke Treg cellen, deze cellen juist heeft onderdrukt door het vergroten van de nTreg populatie. Na het specifiek stimuleren van geoxideerd LDL specifieke Tregs lijkt non-specifieke expansie van Tregs niet gunstig voor het behandelen van atherosclerose.

Door de heterogene en slecht gedefinieerde samenstelling van intact LDL is het niet geschikt voor gebruik in vaccins. Daarom zijn een groot aantal onderzoeken gewijd aan het vinden van immunogene epitopen in ApoB100, aanwezig in LDL, om te gebruiken voor modulatie van de immuunrespons tegen LDL. Een peptidebibliotheek die het volledige ApoB100eiwit overspant, werd gescreend met humaan bloedplasma voor antilichaambinding om delen in ApoB100 te identificeren die worden herken door antilichamen. Eén van de peptiden die werd herkend door antilichamen uit humaan serum is p210, genoemd naar het peptidenummer in de peptidenbibliotheek. Verschillende vaccinatiestrategieën met p210 gebleken in het verminderen van atherosclerose. ziin succesvol maar de werkingsmechanismen van p210 die zijn gerapporteerd zijn uiteenlopend. In lijn met de identificatie van p210 is bescherming tegen atherosclerose gekoppeld aan het opwekken van p210 antilichamen, maar ook gekoppeld aan inductie van regulatoire B cellen, regulatoire CD4 T cellen, en CD8 T-cellen. Voor therapeutisch toepasbaarheid, en om de vaccinformulering en toediening te optimaliseren, is het belangrijk om het werkingsmechanisme van immuunmodulatie met p210 te identificeren.

Omdat p210 een humaan ApoB100 afgeleide sequentie is met 90% homologie met de overeenkomstige sequentie in de muis hebben we een experimenteel model met endogene expressie van humaan ApoB100 gebruikt. Dit kan de selectie van T cel klonen specifiek voor menselijk apoB100 en p210 in de thymus beïnvloeden, en maakt de in vivo presentatie van het volledige p210 mogelijk. Zoals eerder getoond en herhaald in hoofdstuk 3, zorgt het opwekken van tolerantie voor geoxideerd LDL voor verminderde atherosclerose. Daarom hebben we eerst p210 gekoppeld aan cholera toxine B (CTB), waarvan bekend is dat het opname via de slijmvliezen verbeterd en tolerantie bevordert, oraal toegediend. Zoals al eerder beschreven na nasale toediening van CTB-p210, leidde orale CTB-p210 administratie tot hogere aantallen regulatoire B cellen en p210 antilichamen, maar observeerden wij geen verhoging in Tregs wat wel werd gezien na nasale toediening van dit vaccin. Orale behandeling met p210-CTB resulteerde in dit experiment niet in verminderde atherosclerose. Om te bekijken of hogere p210 antilichaam niveaus wel atheroprotectief zouden werken, hebben we vervolgens muizen gevaccineerd met p210 gekoppeld aan een sterk CD4 T cel epitoop (pan-DR-epitoop, PADRE) en in combinatie met aluminiumhydroxide. Aluminiumhydroxide is een adjuvans dat zorgt voor een depot effect waardoor antigenen langer gepresenteerd worden en het versterkt ook de fagocytose van antigenen door antigen presenterende cellen. De koppeling van een B cel epitoop aan een CD4 T cel epitoop induceert T cel hulp voor een versterkte antilichaam productie. Door eerst hoge antilichaam levels tegen p210 op te wekken met 3 vaccinaties met tussenposen van 3 weken, alvorens muizen op westers dieet te zetten, zorgden we ervoor dat gedurende het complete proces van atherogenese hoge antilichaam levels aanwezig waren. Echter ook in deze studie konden we geen effect vinden van vaccinatie met p210 op atherosclerose parameters. In experimenten in een ander atherosclerose model (ApoE deficiënte muizen), was toediening van p210 echter wel effectief in het reduceren van atherosclerose. Ook in de mens zijn p210 IgM en IgG niveaus gecorreleerd met verbeterde (kleinere) intima-media dikte van de carotiden, wat wijst op atheroprotectieve eigenschappen van p210-antilichamen in de mens.

Het ontbreken van door p210-antilichaam geïnduceerde atherobescherming in onze studies zou kunnen komen door de biologische functie van p210 in ApoB100. In gekweekte adipocyten werd namelijk LDLr gemedieerde LDL opname geremd door p210 antilichamen, wat verklaard kan worden doordat p210 onderdeel uit maakt van LDLr binding plaats A in ApoB100. Verder tonen verschillende studies dat p210 antilichamen de vorming van schuimcellen kan voorkomen, onder andere door de verhoogde expressie van genen die gelinkt zijn aan de verwerking en van cholesterol. In onze studies naar p210 vaccinatie hebben we in plaats van ApoE deficiënte muizen, LDLr deficiënte muizen gebruikt. Het ontbreken van de interactie tussen p210 en de LDLr door afwezigheid van de LDLr in het door ons gebruikte atherosclerose model, zou het ontbreken van een effect van p210 antilichamen kunnen verklaren.

Naast de inductie van beschermende antilichamen, wordt het beschermende effect van vaccinatie met p210-formuleringen verklaard door de inductie van atheroprotectieve T cel populaties. Wij konden echter geen inductie van CD4 T cel of CD8 T cel populatie detecteren. Dit zou te wijten kunnen zijn aan een gebrek aan sterke T cel epitopen in p210, wat bevestigd lijkt te worden door in silico predictie modellen voor MHC-I binding, die voorspellen dat p210 niet goed kan binden aan MHC-I en MHC-II, een voorwaarde voor een goede T cel activatie. De eerder beschreven T cel effecten na immuun modulatie met verschillende p210 formuleringen zou verklaard kunnen worden door een adjuvans functie van p210. Koppeling van p210 aan een fluorescent eiwit (FITC) verhoogde namelijk eerder de opname van FITC in dendritische cellen. Verder werden de bindingeigenschappen van de LDLr bindingsplaatsen in ApoB100, die binding met heparansulfaat proteoglycanen en de LDLr mogelijk maken, gebruikt om de CD8 T cel reactie tegen een peptide te versterken door het peptide te koppelen aan de LDLr bindingsplaatsen afkomstig van ApoB100. Ook zagen wij in celkweken van de milt dat incubatie met CTB-p210, maar niet met p210 of CTB leidde tot verhoogde cel dood. Aangezien CTB in hoge concentraties in de cel apoptose teweeg kan brengen, lijkt p210 ook hier een adjuvans functie vervuld te hebben. Veel van de vaccinatie studies met p210 die een reductie aan atherosclerose hebben geweten aan stimulatie van verschillende T cel populaties hebben ook cationisch runderserum albumine als dragereiwit gebruikt voor de vaccinaties met p210. Aangezien vaccinatie met cationisch runderserum albumine afzonderlijk al eerder leidde tot een reductie in atherosclerose, zou adjuvans functie van p210 mogelijk dit effect versterkt kunnen hebben in studies waarin cationisch runderserum albumine gebruikt werd als dragereiwit.

Het verminderen van atherosclerose door vaccinatie met van ApoB100 afgeleide CD4 T cel epitopen blijkt wel mogelijk, aangezien immunisatie met ApoB100 afgeleide peptiden die voorspeld zijn aan MHC-II te binden, leidde tot een reductie in atherosclerose. Vaccinatie met deze CD4 T cel epitopen leidde tot een verhoogde IL-10-expressie in aorta's van ApoB100-peptide-gevaccineerde muizen wat suggereert dat regulerende CD4-T-cellen werden geïnduceerd door vaccinatie, alhoewel de totale FoxP3-cel levels niet waren verhoogd. In deze studie werd vaccinatie echter aangevangen voordat extensieve atherosclerotische laesies waren gevormd. In een klinische setting zou vaccinatie in eerste instantie waarschijnlijk plaats vinden in risicogroepen en mensen die al zware plaque vorming hebben. Daarom zou het interessant zijn om te beoordelen of deze tolerogene en protectieve immuun reactie op ApoB100 afkomstige CD4 epitoop vaccinatie nog steeds kan worden bewerkstelligd als pas met vaccinatie wordt begonnen als atherosclerose al reeds aanwezig is. Gedurende de ontwikkeling van atherosclerose wordt namelijk de immuun tolerantie tegen plaque antigenen afgebroken, wat zou kunnen leiden tot een andere, misschien wel pathogene, immuunreactie na vaccinatie met CD4 epitopen van plague antigenen in latere stadia atherosclerose ontwikkeling. Het aanbieden van deze CD4 T cel epitopen in een meer tolerogene setting, zoals een mucosale toediening in combinatie met tolerogene adjuvans, zou een aantrekkelijke strategie kunnen zijn om plaque antigen specifieke CD4 Tregs op te wekken om de atherosclerotische immuunrespons te remmen.

Er is veel minder bekend over de relevantie van CD8 T-cellen in de context van atherosclerose, hoewel CD8 T-cellen in grote hoeveelheden aanwezig zijn in de atherosclerotische plaque en daar een geactiveerd fenotype lijken te hebben. CD8 T-cellen zijn gespecialiseerd in het doden van specifieke cellen die herkend worden aan een specifiek peptide gepresenteerd op MHC-I via interactie met de T-cel receptor (TCR) op de CD8 T cel. Het algemene beeld is dat CD8 T cellen, door afgifte van inflammatoire cytokines vooral atherosclerose bevorderen. Bepaalde antigen specifieke CD8 T cel reacties zijn echter geïdentificeerd die atherosclerose remmen. Omdat ApoB100 wordt beschouwd als een van de belangrijkste plaque antigenen, wilden we de rol van ApoB100-specifieke CD8 T-cellen in atherosclerose beoordelen. Presentatie van plaque-bestanddelen, waaronder ApoB100 door antigen presenterende cellen in de plaque, zou antigen presenterende cellen vatbaar kunnen maken voor het dood maken door ApoB100-specifieke CD8 T-cellen. Omdat verminderde celdood van macrofagen resulteert in toegenomen atherosclerose, stelden we de hypothese dat het vermeerderen van ApoB100-specifieke CD8 T-cellen het doden van plaquemacrofagen door CD8 T-cellen zou kunnen bevorderen en daarmee therapeutisch relevant kan zijn.

Daarom hebben we deze hypothese getest in een gehumaniseerd muismodel met muizen met transgene expressie van humaan ApoB100 en MHC-I (HLA-A2), en hebben deze muizen geïmmuniseerd met van humaan ApoB100 afkomstige CD8 T cel epitopen die op humaan

MHC-I (HLA-S2) kunnen worden gepresenteerd in **hoofdstuk 5.** Aan de hand van modellen voor peptideverwerking en HLA-A2-binding, selecteerden we 6 van ApoB100 afkomstige peptiden die voorspeld waren gepresenteerd te worden op HLA-A2. HLA-A2-binding werd bevestigd voor alle 6 peptiden. Door middel van toediening van dendritische cellen beladen met de peptiden konden we in HLA-A2 transgene muizen zonder humaan ApoB100, ook voor 5 van de 6 peptiden een peptide specifieke CD8 T cel reactie opwekken. Daarna hebben we in atherosclerose studies met muizen die humaan ApoB100 en HLA-A2 tot expressie brengen atherosclerose studies gedaan. Opnieuw activeerden we initieel CD8 T-cellen met peptide beladen dendritische cellen. Na een week kregen de muizen een booster vaccinatie met poly(I: C) en een CD40 stimulerend antilichaam. Dit vaccinatieregime was eerder effectief in het induceren van specifieke CD8 T cellen tegen neo-epitopen uit tumoren. De CD8 T cellen geactiveerd door deze vaccinatie waren effectief in het penetreren en doden van tumoren, wat aangeeft dat deze vaccinatieaanpak migrerende en functionele CD8 T cellen oplevert.

Voor ApoB 406-414, ApoB 3070-3078 en ApoB 4531-4539, werden immuunspecifieke CD8 T cellen gedecteerd in de milt van ApoB100-peptide gevaccineerde muizen, 8-9 weken na boostervaccinatie bij opoffering, wat aangeeft dat de vaccinatie succesvol was. Interessant genoeg konden we in deze studie geen ApoB 406-417 en ApoB 2356-2364 specifieke CD8 T cellen detecteren in de met ApoB100 peptide behandelde muizen. Het zou kunnen dat endogene expressie van humaan ApoB100 in deze muizen heeft geleid tot negatieve selectie in de thymus of inductie van perifere tolerantie van ApoB 406-417 en ApoB 2356-2364 specifieke CD8 T cel klonen. In mediastinale lymfeknopen waren ook ApoB100 peptide specifieke CD8 T cellen aanwezig maar dit konden we niet detecteren in de aortabogen, een plek met veel atherosclerose formatie. Het verhoogde percentage effector CD8 T cellen in het bloed, en het verhoogde CD8 T cel percentage in de aorta na vaccinatie met de CD8 T cel epitopen, en eerder behaalde resultaten met dit immunisatieregime, suggereert dat het zeer aannemelijk is dat ApoB100 peptide specifieke CD8 T cellen circuleerden in het bloed en ook naar de plaque migreerden. Het zou kunnen dat de plaque omgeving ervoor zorgt dat CD8 T cellen minder effectief reageren op stimulatie van de T cel receptor door de ApoB100 peptiden. Dit zou een CD8 T cel intrinsiek effect kunnen zijn. Chronische antigeen blootstelling in de plaque zou kunnen leiden tot CD8 T cel uitputting. In overeenstemming met CD8 T cel uitputting produceren CD8 T cellen afkomstig uit de plaque minder cytokines en werd verhoogde expressie van het activatie remmende PD-1 waargenomen bij atherosclerosepatiënten. Aan de andere kant werd ook verhoogde expressie van het activatie remmende PD-L1 gevonden op macrofagen uit menselijke laesies, waarmee activatie van CD8 T cellen in de plaque geremd zou kunnen worden door andere cellen in de plague omgeving.

In lijn met de afwezigheid van detecteerbare CD8 T cel activatie door de ApoB100 peptiden in de aortabogen, zagen we geen verschil in cellulaire inhoud van de plaques en de grootte en stabiliteit van de plaque in behandelde en onbehandelde muizen. Omdat vaccinatie met deze van ApoB100 afgeleide CD8 T cel epitopen wel duidelijke CD8 T cel reacties opwekte maar dus geen invloed had op atherosclerose, lijkt vaccinatie met van ApoB100 afgeleide CD8 T cel epitopen niet effectief om atherosclerose te behandelen. Bovendien zou het opwekken van een sterke CD8 T cel reactie tegen een endogeen eiwit kunnen leiden tot auto-immuniteit en weefselbeschadiging in organen waarin het eiwit endogeen tot expressie wordt gebracht. Daarom zal de inductie van specifieke tolerantie tegen plaque-antigenen of het verminderen van de algehele ontsteking waarschijnlijk effectiever zijn voor de behandeling van atherosclerose dan het induceren van antigeen-specifieke CD8 T cel reacties.

Alhoewel momenteel geen geneesmiddel gericht op het vermindering van ontsteking is goedgekeurd voor de behandeling van atherosclerose door de FDA en EMA, hebben de LODOCO en CANTOS klinische studies aangetoond dat een reductie in cardiovasculair risico kan worden bereikt door remming van het immuunsysteem. Omdat remming van het immuunsysteem via remming van het immunoproteasoom met specifieke remmer ONX-0914 het ziektebeeld in meerdere experimentele auto-immuun modellen verbeterde, hebben we effect van behandeling met ONX-0914 op atherosclerose bestudeerd in hoofdstuk 6. Het immunoproteasome is een proteasoom-variant die vooral aanwezig is in immuuncellen, maar ook tot expressie gebracht kan worden door inflammatoire signalen zoals interferon-y. Proteasomen breken het overgrote deel van de eiwitten af die moeten worden afgebroken in de cel. Daartoe bevatten proteasomen 3 verschillende catalytische subunits die na verschillende aminozuren eiwitten kunnen knippen. Immunoproteasomen en normale proteasomen verschillen in deze katalytische subunits, waardoor de verschillende proteasomen door afbraak van eiwitten ook verschillende peptides creëren. Meer peptides gecreëerd door het immunoproteasome kunnen goed binden aan MHC-I. Daarmee is het immunoproteasome belangrijk voor het mogelijk maken van CD8 T cel reacties. Meer recent hebben gen-deletie studies en studies met specifieke immunoproteasoom remmers laten zien dat het immunoproteasoom betrokken is bij de regulatie van veel meer celprocessen in immuuncellen, zoals cytokine productie, proliferatie en differentiatie. Hoe immunoproteasoom remming precies leidt tot immunosuppressie is niet precies duidelijk. Er zijn echter aanwijzingen dat door de remming van het immunoproteasome, door ophoping van niet gevouwen-, slecht gevouwen-, geoxideerde-, en geubiquitineerde eiwitten de ongevouwen eiwit reactie wordt gestart. Voor sommige eiwitten waarvan de hoeveelheid omhoog gaat gedurende de ongevouwen eiwit reactie is een immunosuppressieve werking bekend. Het is mogelijk dat op deze manier activatie van immuun cellen wordt beperkt die stimuli uit de omgeving niet goed kunnen verwerken, waarmee mogelijk onnodige immuun gemedieerde weefselschade voorkomen wordt. In lijn met de eerder gerapporteerde immunosuppressieve werking van ONX-0914, werd de hoeveelheid en activatie van conventionele dendritische cellen verminderd door ONX-0914 behandeling. Verder waren in verschillende immuun compartimenten verminderde niveaus van geheugen CD4 en CD8 T cellen zichtbaar. Omdat de verhoogde activatie van DCs en verhoogde niveaus van circulerende geheugen T cellen gecorreleerd zijn met meer atherosclerose, zullen de waargenomen veranderingen in dendritische cellen en T cellen geïnduceerd door ONX-0914, waarschijnlijk bij hebben gedragen aan de verminderde atherosclerose gezien in met ONX-0914 behandelde groep.

Naast het ontwikkelen van atherosclerose ontwikkelen de LDLr deficiënte muizen die we gebruikt hebben in hoofdstuk 6 op westers dieet, obesitas, metabool syndroom en insulineresistentie. Naast het verbeteren atherosclerose, verminderde ONXvan 0914 het lichaamsgewicht in meerdere experimenten met WTD gevoede muizen. De massa van wit vetweefsel was aanzienlijk verminderd in alle onderzoeken, terwijl de vetvrije massa niet werd beïnvloed door de behandeling met ONX-0914. Samenvallend met de vermindering in wit vet, zagen we verbeteringen in metabole parameters zoals verlaagde insulineniveaus, verlaagde bloedglucose na vasten, verlaagde TG-spiegels, en verlaagde cholesterol gehaltes in het bloed. Voor zover bekend bij ons, is dit de eerste studie die aantoont dat remming van het immunoproteasoom met behulp van de LMP7-en LMP2- specifieke remmer ONX-0914 behalve zijn immuun modulerende effecten ook metabole effecten heeft. Dit is waarschijnlijk gekoppeld aan het gebruik van een westers dieet in onze studie, wat leidt tot obesitas en de ontwikkeling van metabool syndroom, in plaats van het gebruik van magere muizen op een normaal dieet in andere onderzoeken met ONX-0914. Bovendien is ONX-0914 veel getest in andere ziektemodellen waarin gewichtsverlies door het opgewekte ziektebeeld aanwezig is, zoals in arthritis of colitis modellen, waardoor het effect van ONX-0914 op gewichtsverlies in deze studies misschien gemaskeerd is geweest.

Gewichtsverlies bleek niet afhankelijk van verminderde voedselinname of verhoogd energieverbruik wat we bepaalden in metabole kooien. Verder zagen we in deze studie ook geen versnelde klaring van cholesterol en vetzuren uit in de bloedbaan toegediende op VLDL lijkende deeltjes. Bij orale toediening van olijfolie werd echter een verminderde verhoging van de triglyceride niveaus in het bloed vastgesteld in ONX-0914 behandelde muizen. Omdat de klaring van cholesterol en triglyceriden uit het bloed eerder niet was verhoogd, duiden deze resultaten op verlaagde lipidenopname in de darmen door ONX-0914 behandeling. Evenzo werd verminderde opname van lipiden in de darmen waargenomen in dieren zonder expressie van LMP7. In LMP7 deficiënte muizen werd verminderde lipide opname geweid aan een verlaagde expressie van lipases uit de pancreas. Dit observeerden wij echter niet. Wij observeerden dat ONX-0914 herhaaldelijk leidde tot accumulatie van neutrofielen en macrofagen in wit vetweefsel. Mature vetcellen geïsoleerd uit gonadaal wit vetweefsel bleken ook immunoproteasomale katalytische subunits tot expressie te brengen en verhoogden expressie van CCL2 na incubatie in kweek met ONX-0914. CCL2 is zeer potent in het aantrekken van immuuncellen. Daarom zou de verhoogde expressie van CCL2 in vetweefsel na behandeling met ONX-0914 zeer waarschijnlijk bij hebben gedragen aan de accumulatie van neutrofielen en macrofagen in wit vetweefsel. Interessant is dat patiënten met een verlies van functiemutatie in het PSMB8 gen, dat codeert voor het LMP7 eiwit, zichzelf presenteren met vergelijkbare symptomen zoals ontsteking van het witte vetweefsel en sterk verminderde opbouw van vetweefsel. Behandeling met ONX-0914, na het doden van macrofagen in de buikholte met clodronate liposomen, leidde niet tot verminderde triglyceride niveaus in het bloed zoals het geval was met ONX-0914 apart. Daarmee lijkt het effect dat wij zien op lipide opname in de darm afhankelijk te zijn van macrofagen. Er zijn meerdere factoren die door macrofagen geproduceerd kunnen worden waarvan is beschreven dat ze of gewichtsverlies of verminderde opname van vetten in de darm kunnen bewerkstelligen, zoals GDF15, IL-15 en IL-1 $\beta$ . Aangezien we in muizen zonder expressie van GDF15 ook gewichtsverlies observeerden door behandeling met ONX-0914, lijkt GDF15 niet betrokken bij het gewichtsverlies tot stand gebracht door ONX-0914. Een veel voorkomende bijwerking van het (atheroprotectieve) IL-1 $\beta$  neutraliserende antilichaam canacinumab (Ilaris) is gewichtstoename. Het zou daarom interessant zijn om te onderzoeken of IL-1 $\beta$  verantwoordelijk was voor het door ONX-0914 veroorzaakte gewichtsverlies.

We hebben aangetoond dat de behandeling van muizen met ONX-0914 atherosclerose en de witte vet massa aanzienlijk vermindert, en parameters van metabool syndroom verbetert. Atherosclerose als wereldwijde doodsoorzaak nummer 1, en de wereldwijde obesitas epidemie die leidt metabool syndroom gerelateerde ziekten, vragen om effectieve therapieën. Ons onderzoek wekt de suggestie dat immunoproteasomale inhibitie een waardevol therapeutisch hulpmiddel zou kunnen zijn voor deze gezondheids dilemma's. Op dit moment zijn fase 1b-onderzoeken bij SLE-patiënten met de immunoproteasoom remmer KZR-616 bezig, met fase 2 klinische onderzoeken gericht op de behandeling van lupus nefritis, dermatomyositis, polymyositis, auto-immuun hemolytische anemie en immuuntrombocytopenie, op de planning. Het is interessant om in de gaten te houden of immunoproteasomale remming in deze patiënten groepen ook leidt tot gewichtsverlies en of er aanwijzingen zijn voor verminderde cardiovasculaire mortaliteit.

## Toekomstperspectieven

Het recente succes van de CANTOS-studie, waarin zware cardiovasculaire gebeurtenissen vermindert werden door toediening van een neutraliserend monoklonaal antilichaam tegen het pro-inflammatoire cytokine IL-1β (Canakinumab), laat zien dat modulatie van het immuunsysteem ook in de mens een haalbare manier is om atherosclerose te behandelen en het cardiovasculaire risico te verminderen. In overeenstemming met het paradigma dat het systemisch verlagen van ontsteking atherosclerose kan verminderen en belangrijke cardiovasculaire gebeurtenissen kan voorkomen, zijn klinische onderzoeken met lage doses van de immunosuppressiva methotrexaat en colchicine bezig. Indien succesvol, zouden lage dosis methotrexaat en colchicine de eerste op immunomodulatie toegespitste goedgekeurde behandelingen voor atherosclerose kunnen worden. Afhankelijk van het succes van de klinische onderzoeken met immunoproteasomale remmers in de context van andere autoimmuunziekten, zouden klinische studies met betrekking tot immunoproteasomale remming voor behandeling van atherosclerose en obesitas kunnen worden overwogen. Nadelen van algemene immunsuppressiva zijn natuurlijk de verhoogde vatbaarheid voor infectieziekten, maar methotrexaat en colchicine zijn ook andere bijwerkingen gemeld, zoals gastrointestinale problemen. Vervelende bijwerkingen van medicatie die voor langere tijd gebruikt moeten worden, leiden tot verminderde therapietrouw van de patiënt.

Aan vaccinatiebenaderingen om atherosclerose te verminderen die specifiek zijn gericht op het moduleren van de immuunreactie tegen plaque-antigenen, en met name het herstellen van tolerantie voor plaque-antigenen, zullen waarschijnlijk veel minder bijwerkingen vast zitten. In preklinische atherosclerose modellen is het induceren van tolerantie tegen plaque antigenen, waaronder (geoxideerd) LDL en ApoB100 afkomstige peptiden, effectief geweest in het reduceren van atherosclerose, maar heeft nog geen vervolg gevonden in klinische studies. Het opwekken van tolerantie voor myeline afkomstige peptiden leidde bij multiple sclerose (MS) patiënten in een afname van antigeen specifieke T cel reacties tegen de myeline peptiden in een fase 1 onderzoek. Dit onderzoek laat zien dat het haalbaar is om autoimmuniteit te doorbreken in de mens met gerichte tolerogene vaccinatie strategieën. Momenteel is onze kennis over de antigeen specifieke T-celreacties die plaatsvinden in atherosclerose echter zeer beperkt maar zijn er CD4 T cel reacties tegen onder andere LDL. collageen type V en HSP's in humane atherosclerose gerapporteerd. In hoofdstuk 3 waren we in staat atherosclerose te verminderen door het opwekken van tolerantie voor geoxideerd LDL door orale toediening van geoxideerd LDL. We konden echter geen bescherming tegen atherosclerose bereiken door de orale toediening van het p210-peptide, afkomstig van het ApoB100-eiwit dat aanwezig is in LDL. Het is waarschijnlijk dat een atheroprotectief effect van orale p210 administratie uit bleef door het ontbreken van een CD4 T cel epitoop in p210. Dit is direct ook een moeilijkheid voor het ontwikkelen van een tolerogeen vaccin voor de behandeling van atherosclerose. De identificatie van geschikte CD4 T-cel epitopen voor tolerisatie is lastig en door de vele variaties in menselijke MHC-allelen zullen veel epitopen slechts bij een deel van de patiënten het MHC-II kunnen binden, en dus effectief kunnen zijn. Daarom zal voor tolerantie inductie voor de behandeling van atherosclerose moeten worden overwogen om met (delen van) plague antigenen, of meerdere CD4 T cel epitopen te vaccineren. Het gebruik van verschillende plaque antigenen en meerdere epitopen voor vaccinatie zou ook meer T cel klonen kunnen moduleren, wat waarschijnlijk een sterker effect teweeg zal brengen dan het tolerogeen moduleren van een enkele T cel kloon. Betere karakterisatie van de adaptieve immuunrespons in humane atherosclerosis, zoals identificatie van antigenen en antigene epitopen zou daarmee zeer gunstig kunnen zijn voor de behandeling van atherosclerose. Een andere belangrijke hindernis voor het toepassen van tolerantie-inductie bij de mens is de ontwikkeling van de meest effectieve en veilige tolerantieregimes.

Naast het moduleren van de CD4 T cel respons, zijn er studies die laten zien dat vaccinatie met p210 en runderserum albumine als dragereiwit resulteerde in verminderde atherosclerose via activatie van CD8 T cellen. Wij konden echter geen beschermende effecten van vaccinatie met p210 onderscheiden, en zagen geen activatie van CD8 T cellen door vaccinatie met p210 in **hoofdstuk 4**. Verder zagen we ook geen reductie in atherosclerose in muizen gevaccineerd met CD8 T cel epitopen, wat wel leidde tot sterke CD8 T cel activatie, in **hoofdstuk 5**. Naast dat we geen atheroprotectief effect konden onderscheiden van vaccinatie met ApoB100 afkomstige CD8 T cel epitopen, is activatie van CD8 T cellen tegen plaque antigenen waarschijnlijk geen goed idee voor behandeling van atherosclerose. Door het opwekken van een CD8 T cel reactie tegen endogeen tot expressie komende eiwitten

bestaat de kans op weefselschade op plekken waar het eiwit endogeen wordt geproduceerd. Vaccinatiestrategieën met CD8 T cellen in een experimentele omgeving kunnen echter nog steeds zeer bruikbare inzichten verschaffen over de rol van CD8 T-cellen in atherosclerose.

Naast modulatie van T-cel responsen, is inductie van antilichamen (IgG) tegen verschillende plaque-antigenen in staat geweest om atherosclerose in preklinische studies te verminderen. Ook antilichamen tegen (epitopen) van (ox)LDL, waaronder p210, resulteerden in verlaagde atherosclerose in preklinisch studies. Wij konden de atheroprotectieve eigenschappen van p210-antilichamen in **hoofdstuk 4** niet onderschrijven. Mogelijk is dit een gevolg van het gebruik van LDLr deficiënte muizen in onze studie doordat p210 deel uitmaakt van de LDLr bindingsplaats in ApoB100 in plaats van ApoE deficiënte muizen gebruikt in andere studies. Van p210 antilichamen en andere antilichamen tegen LDL is beschreven dat het de klaring van LDL kan versnellen en daarmee het circulerende cholesterol kan verlagen, wat dan weer leidde tot verminderde atherosclerose. Als dit inderdaad het mechanisme vormt waarmee antilichamen gericht tegen LDL atherosclerose verminderen, is het de vraag of deze antilichamen nog een additioneel gunstig effect hebben in combinatie met huidige en toekomstige lipide verlagende therapieën. Van antilichamen tegen collageen type VI werd gevonden dat het activatie van macrofagen kan remmen en expressie van cholesterol effluxgenen kan bewerkstelligen door te binden aan FC-receptoren. Onze kennis van de effecten en de werkingsmechanismen van deze antilichamen op atherosclerose is nog zeer beperkt, maar er zijn indicaties dat antilichamen gericht tegen plaque antigenen atheroprotectief kunnen werken. Via mucosale toediening van (delen van) plague antigenen zouden tegelijkertijd therapeutisch gunstige antilichamen en tolerogene regulatoire CD4 T cellen opgewekt kunnen worden, en activatie van pathogene CD4 T cel en CD8 T cel types voorkomen kunnen worden.

Er zijn verschillende uitvoerbare benaderingen waarmee modulatie van het immuunsysteem kan worden ingezet om atherosclerose te verminderen. Algemene immunosuppressie in de vorm van lage dosis colchicine wordt momenteel getest in klinische studies voor de behandeling van atherosclerose, en zal indien succesvol waarschijnlijk de eerste op immunomodulatie toegespitste behandelingen vormen die beschikbaar komen voor de behandeling van atherosclerose. Antigen-specifieke modulatie van de immuunrespons voor behandeling van atherosclerose is verder weg, maar preklinische studies hebben aangegeven dat dergelijke benaderingen mogelijk zijn voor de behandeling van atherosclerose. Een combinatie van lipide- en immuun management, en het bevorderen van een gezonde levensstijl zullen waarschijnlijk de preventieve maatregelen van de toekomst omvatten om atherosclerose en hart- en vaatziekten te voorkomen.



**Curriculum Vitae** 

**Scientific Publications** 

**PhD Portfolio**
### **Curriculum Vitae**

Frank Schaftenaar werd op 24 februari 1986 geboren te Utrecht. In 2004 behaalde hij zijn gymnasium diploma aan het Blaucapel College in Utrecht. In het najaar van 2004 begon hij aan de studie Biomedische Wetenschappen in Utrecht. Tijdens zijn bachelor stage ambieerde hij nog een professionele basketbal carriere, wat leidde tot een lichte studievertraging, en uiteindelijk het behalen van de Bachelor of Science titel in begin 2010. Toen bleek dat een professionele basketbalcarriere er toch echt niet in zat, begon hij september 2010 aan de master "Biology of Disease" in Utrecht.

Zijn eerste masterstage liep hij bij de afdeling Pathobiology van de Faculteit Diergeneeskunde van de Universiteit Utrecht onder leiding van dr. W.J. Bakker en prof. dr. A. de Bruin. Tijdens deze stage in het veld van fundamenteel kanker-onderzoek onderzocht hij welke transcriptiefactor-bindingsplaatsen van invloed zijn op de activatie van de VEGFA promotor onder invloed van transcriptiefactor E2F7. Deze stage resultereerde in een co-auteurschap van een publicatie in *the EMBO journal*. In 2012 voerde hij een tweede wetenschappelijke stage uit bij het Centrum Infectieziektebestreiding van het Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu onder begeleiding van S.K. Rosendahl Huber en Dr. J. Van Beek. Daar zette hij een dendritische cell – CD8 T cell co-culture protocol op om de effectiviteit van gemodificeerde CD8 T cell epitopen afkomstig van het influenza virus te testen.

Zijn masterscritptie voerde hij eind 2012 wederom uit bij de afdeling Pathobiology van de Faculteit Diergeneeskunde van de Universiteit Utrecht onder begeleiding van dr. ir. M.J.M. Toussaint en prof. dr. A. de Bruin, met also onderwerp het de rol van ischemie en reperfusie in de ontwikkeling van leverkanker. Met het afronden van de master thesis behaalde hij eind 2012 de Master of Science titel.

Van februari 2014 tot oktober 2018 werkte hij als promovendus bij de afdeling BioTherapeutics van het Leiden Academic Centre for Drug research, begeleidt door dr. G.H.M van Puijvelde en prof. dr. J. Kuiper.

Vanaf 16 april 2019 is hij terug in dienst bij de afdeling BioTherapeutics van het Leiden Academic Centre for Drug research als onderzoeker, onder prof. dr. J. Kuiper.

# **Scientific Publications**

**F.H. Schaftenaar**, V. Frodermann, J. Kuiper, E. Lutgens, Atherosclerosis: the interplay between lipids and immune cells., *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 27, 209–15 (2016). (Review)

**F.H. Schaftenaar**, J. Amersfoort, H. Douna, M.J. Kröner, G.H.M van Puijvelde, I.Bot, J. Kuiper. Protection from atherosclerosis induced by oxLDL tolerization is not reinforced by polyclonal Treg induction. Manuscript submitted.

**F.H. Schaftenaar**, J. Amersfoort, H. Douna, M.J. Kröner, P.J. van Santbrink, A.C. Foks, G.H.M van Puijvelde, I. Bot, Johan Kuiper. Vaccination with ApoB100 derived peptide p210 does not provide atheroprotection in LDLr deficient, hApoB100/100 transgenic mice. Scientific Reports, accepted.

**F.H. Schaftenaar**, J. Amersfoort, H. Douna, M.J. Kröner, A.C. Foks, I. Bot, B.A. Slütter, G.H.M. van Puijvelde, J.W. Drijfhout, J. Kuiper. Induction of HLA-A2 restricted CD8 T cell responses against ApoB100 peptides does not affect atherosclerosis in a humanized mouse model. Manuscript submitted.

**F.H. Schaftenaar**, A.D. van Dam, G. de Bruin, J. Amersfoort, H. Douna, M.J. Kröner, P.J. van Santbrink, A.C. Foks, G.H.M van Puijvelde, I. Bot, B.I. Florea, H.S. Overkleeft, P.C.N. Rensen, J. Kuiper. Immunoproteasomal inhibition with ONX-0914 attenuates atherosclerosis and reduces white adipose tissue mass and metabolic syndrome. Manuscript submitted.

J. Amersfoort, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, H. Douna, P. J. van Santbrink, M. J. Kröner, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, P. H. A. Quax, J. Kuiper, I. Bot, Lipocalin-2 contributes to experimental atherosclerosis in a stage-dependent manner., *Atherosclerosis* 275, 214–224 (2018).

H. Douna, J. Amersfoort, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, S. Kroon, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, J. Kuiper, A. C. Foks, Bidirectional effects of IL-10+ regulatory B cells in Ldlr-/- mice., *Atherosclerosis* 280, 118–125 (2019).

J. Amersfoort, H. Douna, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, A. C. Foks, M. J. Kröner, P. J. van Santbrink, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, I. Bot, J. Kuiper, Defective Autophagy in T Cells Impairs the Development of Diet-Induced Hepatic Steatosis and Atherosclerosis., *Front. Immunol.* 9, 2937 (2018).

H. Douna, J. Amersfoort, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, M. J. Kröner, M. G. Kiss, B. Slütter, M. A. C. Depuydt, M. N. A. Bernabé Kleijn, A. Wezel, H. J. Smeets, H. Yagita, C. J. Binder, I. Bot, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, J. Kuiper, A. C. Foks, B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator stimulation protects against atherosclerosis by regulating follicular B cells, *Cardiovasc. Res.* (2019), doi:10.1093/cvr/cvz129.

E. Kritikou, J. van Duijn, J. E. Nahon, T. van der Heijden, M. Bouwman, C. Groeneveldt, **F. H.** Schaftenaar, M. J. Kröner, J. Kuiper, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, I. Bot, Disruption of a CD1dmediated interaction between mast cells and NKT cells aggravates atherosclerosis., *Atherosclerosis* 280, 132–139 (2019).

B. G. M. W. Weijts, W. J. Bakker, P. W. A. Cornelissen, K. H. Liang, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, B. Westendorp, C. A. C. M. T. De Wolf, M. Paciejewska, C. L. G. J. Scheele, L. Kent, G. Leone, S. Schulte-Merker, A. De Bruin, E2F7 and E2F8 promote angiogenesis through transcriptional activation of VEGFA in cooperation with HIF1, *EMBO J.* 31, 3871–3884 (2012).

E. Kritikou, G. H. M. van Puijvelde, T. van der Heijden, P. J. van Santbrink, M. Swart, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, M. J. Kröner, J. Kuiper, I. Bot, Inhibition of lysophosphatidic acid receptors 1 and 3 attenuates atherosclerosis development in LDL-receptor deficient mice., *Sci. Rep.* 6, 37585 (2016).

A. B. Ouweneel, M. Hoekstra, E. J. van der Wel, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, O. S. C. Snip, J. Hassan, S. J. A. Korporaal, M. Van Eck, Hypercholesterolemia impairs megakaryopoiesis and platelet production in scavenger receptor BI knockout mice., *Atherosclerosis* 282, 176–182 (2019).

J. van Duijn, E. Kritikou, N. Benne, T. van der Heijden, G. H. van Puijvelde, M. J. Kröner, **F. H. Schaftenaar**, A. C. Foks, A. Wezel, H. Smeets, H. Yagita, I. Bot, W. Jiskoot, J. Kuiper, B. Slütter, CD8+ T-cells contribute to lesion stabilization in advanced atherosclerosis by limiting macrophage content and CD4+ T-cell responses., *Cardiovasc. Res.* 115, 729–738 (2019).

## **Phd Portfolio**

#### Courses

- 2015 Data Management Course for PhD students
- 2014 LACDR Introductory Course on Drug Research & PhD Education Program
- 2014 Introduction to teaching and supervision for LACDR PhD students
- 2014 Time management, self -management
- 2014 Communication in Science
- 2014 Proefdierkunde

#### Presentations

- 2019 Genius consortium meeting, Amsterdam, Nederland
- 2018 International atherosclerosis society (IAS), Toronto, Canada
- 2018 Scandinavian Atherosclerosis Society (SSAR), Humlebæk, Denemarken
- 2018 LACDR Spring Symposium, Leiden, Nederland
- 2017 Rembrandt Symposium, Noordwijkerhout, Nederland
- 2017 Scandinavian Atherosclerosis Society (SSAR), Humlebæk, Denemarken
- 2017 LACDR Spring Symposium, Leiden, Nederland
- 2016 LACDR Spring Symposium, Leiden, Nederland
- 2016 Vaccination in Atherosclerosis consortium meeting, Trolleholm, Zweden
- 2015 Rembrandt Symposium, Noordwijkerhout, Nederland
- 2015 LACDR Spring Symposium, Leiden, Nederland
- 2014 Vaccination in Atherosclerosis consortium meeting, Leiden, Nederland
- 2014 LACDR Spring Symposium, Leiden, Nederland